Neuroticism Related Differences during Processing of Controlled Cognitive Tasks

Rahmi Saylik

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Brunel University College of Health and Life Sciences Department of Life Sciences Psychology Division

January 2017

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis has not been, and will not be submitted, in whole or in part to another University for the award of any other degree. One study (Chapters 6) presented in this thesis have been already published and two studies (chapter 2 and chapters 3-5) which are still in preparation to be submitted in the following journals:

Szameitat, A. J., Saylik, R., & Parton, A. (2016). Neuroticism related differences in the functional neuroanatomical correlates of multitasking. An fMRI study. *Neuroscience Letters*, *635*, 51-55

Szameitat, A. J., Saylik, R., & Parton, A. (2017). Neuroticism related differences during cognitive processing of dual tasks. *Cognition and Emotion*, (*in preparation*)

Szameitat, A. J., Saylik, R., & Parton, A. (2017). Neuroticism related differences during processing of standard working memory tasks. *Turk psikoloji dergisi*, (*in preparation*)

CONTENTS

D	ECLA	ARATION	1
С	ONT	ENTS	2
A	CKN	OWLEDGEMENT	6
A	BSTF	ACT	7
L	IST C	F FIGURES	8
L	IST C	F TABLES	11
1	Ch	apter – Literature Review	14
	1.1	Overview	14
	1.2	Understanding Personality and Neuroticism	16
	1.2	1 Personality	16
	1.2	2 Neuroticism	17
	1.2	3 Relationship between Neuroticism trait and Anxiety trait	18
	1.2	4 Neuroticism in Personality Models	19
	1.2	5 Summary of Personality and Neuroticism	20
	1.3	Understanding Working Memory	21
	1.3	1 Phonological loop (PL), visuospatial sketchpad (VSSP) and episodic buffer	21
	1.3	2 Central executive system (CES)	23
	1.3	3 Executive functions in Dual-task PRP paradigms	27
	1.3	4 Neuroimaging Evidence Regarding Working Memory and PRP Dual Tasks	35
	1.3	5 Summary of working memory	40
	1.4	Effects of neuroticism on working memory	41
	1.4	1 Arousal based theory in relation to neuroticism	41
	1.4	2 Neuroticism in relation to arousal based theory and trait anxiety theories	44
	1.4	3 Processing efficiency theory (PET)	45
	1.4	4 Attentional control theory (ACT)	47
	1.4	5 Dual mechanism of Control (DMC) theory	51
	1.4	6 Summary of the theories in relation to neuroticism	53
	1.5	Neuroticism and Working Memory: Empirical Evidence	54
	1.5 pro	1 Behavioural evidence about neuroticism related differences during cog cessing of WM tasks	nitive 54
	1.5 Wo	2 Neuroimaging Evidence about Neuroticism Related Differences during Process rking Memory Tasks	ing of 65
	1.6	Summary of Literature Review	69

1.7	The	Current Study Outlines and Aims	70
1.7	7.1	Introduction to the current research	70
2 Cł	napte	r - Neuroticism related differences during processing of standard w	orking
memor	ry tas	ks	73
2.1	Intr	oduction	73
2.2	Me	thods	76
2.2	2.1	Participants	76
2.2	2.2	Materials	77
2.2 (CA	2.3 ANTAE	Cognitive Stimuli: Cambridge Neuropsychological Tasks Automated 3)78	Battery
2.2	2.4	Procedure	81
2.3	Dat	a analysis	82
2.4	Res	ults	83
2.5	Disc	cussion	86
3 Cl	napte	r – Neuroticism related differences during processing of Dual task:	Task
order	coord	lination	90
3.1	Intr	oduction	90
3.2	Me	thods	96
3.2	2.1	Participants	96
3.2	2.2	Exclusion criteria for selection of high and low neurotics	97
3.2	2.3	Stimuli	97
3.2	2.4	Tasks	97
3.2	2.5	Procedure	99
3.2	2.6	Data analysis	101
3.3	Res	ults	101
3.3	8.1	Single task	101
3.3	8.2	PRP effect	102
3.3	8.3	Dual task combinations costs	103
3.3	8.4	SOA effect on dual task combination costs	104
3.3	8.5	Random task	106
3.3	8.6	Error rates	109
3.4	Disc	cussion	111
4 Cl	napte	r – Neuroticism related differences during processing of dual task w	vith
neutra	l stim	nuli	117
4.1	Intr	oduction	117

Z	1.2	Met	hods	119
	4.2.2	1	Participants	119
	4.2.2	2	Exclusion criteria for selection of high and low neurotics	120
	4.2.3	3	Stimuli	120
	4.2.4	4	Tasks	120
	4.2.	5	Procedure	120
	4.2.	6	Data analysis	121
2	1.3	Resu	ults	122
	4.3.3	1	Single task	122
	4.3.2	2	PRP effect	122
	4.3.3	3	Dual task combination costs	124
	4.3.4	4	SOA effect on dual task combination cost	125
	4.3.	5	Error rates	126
2	1.4	Disc	ussion	127
5	Cha	apter	r - Neuroticism related differences during processing of Dual task: Ta	sk
set	mair	ntena	ance	131
5	5.1	Intro	oduction	131
5	5.2	Met	hods	137
	5.2.	1	Participants	137
	5.2.2	2	Exclusion criteria for selection of high and low neurotics	137
	5.2.3	3	Tasks	137
	5.2.4	4	Perceived stress level questionnaire	140
5	5.3	Resu	ults	143
	5.3.3	1	Single Task	143
	5.3.2	2	PRP Effect Regarding Response Mapping (S-R loading) Manipulation	144
	5.3.3	3	Effect of Stimuli and Response Mapping (S-R loading) Manipulation Regarding	Dual
	Task	Com	hbination Costs	146
	5.3.4	4	Effect of stimuli degradation regarding PRP effect and combination of dual task 152	costs
	5.3.	5	Error rates in dual tasks	154
	5.3.0	6	Perceived Stress level regarding high and low neurotic participants	156
5	5.4	Disc	sussion	158
6	Cha	apter	r – Neuroticism related differences in the functional neuroanatomical	
COI	rrelat	es of	f dual task processing. An fMRI study	166
6	5.1	Intro	oduction	166

	6.2	Me	thods	171
	6.2.	1	Participants	171
	6.2.	2	Tasks	172
	6.2.	3	Design of measurement	174
	6.2.	4	Scanning Procedure	174
	6.2.	5	Data Analysis	175
	6.3	Res	ult	176
	6.3.	1	Behavioural Results	176
	6.3.	2	FMRI Data	177
	6.3.	3	Neuroimaging Results	177
	6.4	Disc	sussion	179
7	Cha	apte	r – General discussion	184
	7.1	Ove	rview	184
	7.2	Neu	roticism scale and selection of study sample	185
	7.3	Effe	ct of neuroticism and processing efficiency	187
	7.3. cog	1 nitive	Does the effect of neuroticism cause lower processing efficiency in all tasks?	difficult 189
	7.4	Effe	ct of high neuroticism level on CES functions	192
	7.4.	1	Effect of neuroticism on standard WM tasks performance	192
	7.4.	2	Effect of neuroticism on dual task performance	193
	7.4.	3	Does increased arousal level always impair demanding task processing?	202
	7.5	Neu	roimaging findings	206
	7.6	Con	clusion and further directions	208
R	eferen	ices.		210
A	PPEN	DIC	'ES	249

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Pursuing a PhD is a process that requires devoutness, patience and life discipline. These features which are a truly life changing experience for me are needed for growing as a person and as a scientist. I would not able to achieve this to culminate this thesis without the support and guidance that I received from several special people.

First and foremost, I would like to thank Dr. André Szameitat and Dr. Andrew Parton for their excellent supervision and for being most rigorous critics of my work. They have been always supportive, encouraging and inspiring whenever I was confused, stuck or over-excited. Dr. Szameitat has been literally my role model as a scientist and he leads me to love this science. I cannot thank my supervisors enough for taking this PhD journey with me. I would also like to thank Professor Teako Wydell who always support me and help me to find my great supervisor Dr. Andre Szameitat, without her guidance I would not able to complete this PhD. Also, I would like to thank Dr. Osman Kurtkan Kapicioglu who has been supportive and encouraging for me since my undergraduate years.

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my mother Seyyide Shehe Saylik, my father Seyda M. Tahir Saylik, my sisters and brothers for their support, encouragement and patience throughout my PhD journey. I would also like to thank my colleagues and friends Dr. Erhan Aydin, Miss Pauldy Otterman, Mr. Evran Raman, Mr. Karol Wereszczynski, Mr. Sermet Can, Mr. Shahin Gunes, Mr. Nurullah Yildiz and Mr. Adnan Kral and all my other friends and colleagues who were always with me in this journey.

Last but not least, my thanks and appreciations go to, The Ministry of Higher Education in the Republic of Turkey for sponsoring this project and providing a stimulating and supportive environment.

ABSTRACT

It is suggested that neuroticism impairs cognitive performance mostly in difficult tasks i.e. WM tasks, but not so much in easier tasks. However, behavioural, and functional neuroanatomical correlates of detrimental effect of neuroticism in relation to central executive system (CES) during cognitive tasks particularly in multitasking still unknown. I aim at investigating behavioural and functional neuroanatomical correlates of single- and dual-task performance in high and low neurotics. The general hypothesis is that high neurotics will show a poorer performance on processing of cognitive tasks as compared to low neurotics. From a screened population, I select low neurotics (below 6) and high neurotics (over 16) on 24 item Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ) neuroticism scale. First empirical study was consisted of three standard WM tests. The result of this study showed that high neurotics had lower performance when the task heavily requires CES such as switching and inhibition. Next empirical studies were consisted of dual tasks based on PRP paradigm. In dual task studies, in addition to SOA manipulation SOA (0 and1000ms), task demand manipulated either by presentation of task order or task set maintenance. The results show that high neurotics considerably slower when SOA is short. Further, it has been observed dual task cost differences between high and low neurotics increase as the demand increase either by random tasks or task set maintenance as evident by lower processing efficiency in high neurotics. Also, high neurotics perceived higher stress level as the task demand increase. In the final study, I assessed brain activity by means of functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) in low and high neurotics while they were performing a demanding dual-task and the less demanding component tasks as single-tasks. Imaging data showed that high neurotics showed less dual-task specific activation in lateral and medial prefrontal cortices. In conclusion, I conclude that high levels of neuroticism impair behavioural performance in demanding tasks with higher perceived stress level, and that this impairment is accompanied by reduced activation of the task-associated brain areas.

Key words: Neuroticism, Personality, Multitasking, dual-task performance, prefrontal cortex attentional control theory, working memory

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1 shows processing of two tasks in long and short SOA manipulations. RSB-Model
is for the psychological refractory period
Figure 1-2 shows the relationship between performance and arousal as an inverted U shape
curve
Figure 2-1 shows an example of the SOC task with one move. The top pattern must be
copied in the bottom pattern. Thus, the participant moves the green ball into the empty
location on the right79
Figure 2-2 an example of an SWM task with 8 boxes. Blue token in the left bottom is the
target. Participants look for blow tokens by touching yellow tokens
Figure 2-3 shows an example of the IED set shifting task Panel A. shows an easy condition
of the intra-dimensional task. Panel B. shows a condition of the extra-dimensional task81
Figure 3-1 shows dual task experimental design including audio shown in green box and
visual tasks shown in yellow box. Finally, the dual task was a combination of the two single
tasks shown in the blue box
Figure 3-2 Shows mean PRP effect (ms) for high neurotics (High-N, blue column) and low
neurotics (Low-N, red column). The PRP effect is derived from the subtraction of RT2 short
and long SOA (DT0-DT1000). The mean PRP effect is taken from the average of the PRP
of auditory =>visual and visual=>auditory103
Figure 3-3 Shows response times for high neurotics (High-N, blue line) and low neurotics
(Low-N, red line). Single Task is the average of both single tasks. Dual Task is the average
of both dual-task response orders (response times were taken from the second task of the
dual task104
Figure 3-4 Shows response times regarding SOA effects on neuroticism. DT cost is derived
by subtracting ST from DT (DT-ST,) for the short and long SOA separately. Response times
of DT0-ST and Dt1000-ST for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N, blue
line) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N, blue line)106
Figure 3-5 Repeated order trials were taken from RND trials which have same orders.
Switched orders indicate the orders that shifted in the RND trials. First response times of
repeat orders and switch orders for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N,
blue line) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N, blue line)108

Figure 3-7 Show error rates from repeated to switched trials. Error rates of repeated trials and switched trials (R2) for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low Figure 4-1 Shows auditory and visual two-choice response tasks in PRP-type dual task study. Auditory single task is shown in green outline box. Visual single task is shown in blue outline box. Finally, dual tasks are shown in red outline box......121 Figure 4-2 Shows mean PRP effect (ms) for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N, blue column) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N, red column). PRP effect is derived from subtraction of RT2 short and long SOA (DT0-DT1000). Mean PRP effect is taken from average of PRP effects for each condition (tone=>circles and circles=>tone). Figure 4-3 show response times for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N, blue line) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N, red line). Single Tasks is the average of both single tasks. Dual Tasks is the average of both dual-task response orders (response Figure 4-4 show SOA effects on neuroticism. DT cost is derived by subtracting ST from DT (DT-ST,) for short and long SOA separately. Response times of DT0-ST and Dt1000-ST for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N, blue line) and low levels of neuroticism Figure 5-1 An example of the degraded stimuli presented in the three choice dual task

effects between the group and S-R mapping manipulation for RT 1. Panel B shows the interaction effects between the group and response mapping manipulation for RT 2......152 Figure 5-6 the dual task cost is derived by subtracting the single tasks from the dual tasks 3nd and 3dd separately, and thus the dual task cost is created for RT1 and RT2 respectively. In both panels the difference between the dual task costs from 3dd to 3nd for the short and long SOA tasks is compared to present the interactions between the groups and degradation effect. Panel A shows the interaction effects between the groups and degraded stimuli manipulation for RT 1. Panel B shows the interaction effects between the groups and degraded stimuli manipulation for RT2.....154 Figure 5-7 shows perceived stress level scores in high and low neurotics along the S-R mapping manipulation......158 Figure 6-1 Imaging data. higher dual-task specific activation in the left lateral prefrontal cortex (left panel, circled area) and medial prefrontal cortex (right panel) for low compared to high neurotics as assessed by the contrast [DT – ST Auditory – ST Visual] low Neurotics - [DT - ST Auditory - ST Visual]high Neurotics. Maps thresholded at p < .005

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1 Shows outcome measures of (Dependent Variables (DV)) cognitive tasks83 Table 2-2 Number of errors and successfully completed stages for participants with high Table 2-3 Response times (initial and subsequent moves) and number of moves (mean moves) for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N,) and low levels of **Table 2-4** shows the error rates and searching strategy for participants with high levels of Table 3-1 Response times for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N,) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Single Tasks is the average of both single tasks.101 Table 3-2 Response times of short SOA and long SOA for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Short SOA is the average of both 0 SOA dual-task response orders (response times were taken from the second task auditory=>visual/visual=>auditory in the dual-task). Likewise, the Long SOA is the average of both 1000ms SOA dual-task response orders (auditory=>visual/visual=>auditory). The PRP effect is derived from the subtraction of RT2 short and long SOA (DT0-DT1000). 102 Table 3-3 show descriptive statistics regarding neuroticism effect on SOA manipulation. DT cost is derived by subtracting ST from DT (DT-ST) for short and long SOA separately. Response times of DT0-ST and Dt1000-ST for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N).104 Table 3-4 shows descriptive statistics regarding neuroticism effect on repeated and switched trials for RT1 and RT2. Repeated and switched trials are derived from random tasks. Response times of repeated trials and switched trials for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N).106
Table 3-5 shows descriptive statistics regarding error rates for participants with high levels
 of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Single Task is the average of both single tasks. Dual Task is the average of both dual-task response orders (response Table 3-6 shows descriptive statistics regarding neuroticism effect on repeated and switched trials for error rates in response 1 and 2. Repeated and switched trials are derived from random tasks. Error rates of repeated trials and switched trials for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N)......110

 Table 4-1 Response times for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N,) and low

 levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Single Tasks is the average of both auditory and visual single

 tasks

 122

Table 4-2 Response times of short SOA and long SOA for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Short SOA is the average of both 0 SOA dual-task response orders (response times were taken from the second task tone=>circles/circles=>tone in the dual-task). Likewise, Long SOA is the average of both 1000ms SOA dual-task response orders (tone=>circles/circles=>tone). PRP effect is derived from subtraction of RT2 short and long SOA (DT0-DT1000)122 Table 4-3 show descriptive statistics regarding SOA effects on neuroticism. DT cost is derived by subtracting Single task (RTs) from Dual Task (RT2) for short and long SOA separately. Response times of (DT0 RT2-ST) and (DT1000 RT2-ST) for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N)......125
Table 4-4 shows descriptive statistics regarding error rates for participants with high levels
 of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Single Tasks is the average of both single tasks. Dual Tasks is the average of both dual-task response orders (response Table 5-1 Response times for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N,) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Single Task is the average of both single tasks......143 Table 5-2 Response times of PRP effects for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). PRP Effect is derived by subtraction of long SOA dual-task response orders from Short SOA response orders (response times were taken from the second task)......144 Table 5-3 Response times of short SOA for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Short SOA response times were presented from the first and second task (visual=>auditory) in the dual-task......146 Table 5-4 Response times of long SOA for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Long SOA is the average of both 1000 SOA dual-task response orders (response times were presented from the first and second Table 5-5 Error rates of short SOA and long SOA for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Response times were taken

Table 5-6 shows average score for perceived stress level for High N and Low N participants

 along dual tasks.
 157

 Table 6-1 Areas exhibiting significantly higher dual-task specific activation in low neurotics

 compared to high neurotics (contrast [DT0 – ST Auditory – ST Visual] low Neurotics –

 [DT0 – ST Auditory – ST Visual] high Neurotics). Notes. BA Brodmann's area. x, y, z MNI

 coordinates of local peaks.
 t/p(uncorr) voxel-level t-value and uncorrected p-value of local

 peaks.
 178

1 Chapter – Literature Review

1.1 Overview

Personality refers to characteristic patterns of behaviours, emotions and temperament and how these traits differ among individuals (Allport, 1961, p. 28; Engler, 2009). Therefore, people's perceptions, interpretations and reactions are guided by their personality traits (Allport, 1961, p. 28; Engler, 2009). One personality trait is neuroticism. It is one of the major personality traits and refers to emotional instability and an inclination to worry, as well as clinical anxiety and other psychological disorders (Eysenck, 1978). Because high neurotics are more anxious, they encounter more problems compared to low neurotics in their daily lives such as in the workplace or school (Eysenck & Cookson, 1969). For example, studies have shown that they are less successful regarding their maths skills, and more reactional when they encounter averse stimuli (i.e. during an argument) (Eysenck & Cookson, 1969), and in multitasking situations such as walking while talking (LeMonda, Mahoney, Verghese, & Holtzer, 2015). In the field of experimental psychology, these findings have led neuroticism to become one of the most widely investigated traits among the personality traits, generally during emotional tasks and latterly during cognitive tasks. Therefore, plenty of behavioural and neuroimaging studies can be found about the relationship between neuroticism and emotion (Canli et al., 2001; Eisenberger, Lieberman, & Satpute, 2005). However, the studies in relation to cognitive process and neuroticism are relatively few in number. Those empirical studies generally found out that high neurotics are negatively affected during the presentation of emotional images, videos etc. as compared to low neurotics (Canli et al., 2001; Eisenberger et al., 2005). The general results in terms of neuroticism and cognitive tasks can be interpreted as follows: high neurotics were observed to perform less well during working memory tasks such as an n-back task (Studer-Luethi, Jaeggi, Buschkuehl, & Perrig, 2012) and while multitasking (dual task: performing two tasks concurrently) (Corr, 2003; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). However, research on the detrimental effects of neuroticism in relation to working memory (WM), particularly during multitasking, is limited and somewhat inconclusive. For example, while it has been shown that high neurotics encounter interference in one experiment, in another experiment this result could not be confirmed (Corr, 2003; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). Importantly, the behavioural and neural association between components of working memory (i.e. executive functions and slave systems) and neuroticism is still unknown. Therefore, the broad aim of this thesis is to investigate neuroticism related differences during

standard WM tasks and particularly PRP dual task processing. As neuroticism is one of the main precipitating factors of psychological disorders such as anxiety and depression, it is important to understand cognitive processing in high and low neurotics because this will contribute to the identification of treatments that can help to alleviate the cognitive deficits associated with neuroticism. Furthermore, it will contribute to a deeper understanding of the behavioural performance and neural correlation of the cognitive system.

I assessed neuroticism in a comprehensive manner to shed light upon neuroticism in relation to cognitive processing. Therefore, I utilized some reliable methods. Firstly, I used Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Battery (CANTAB) tasks, which include well standardized and validated working memory tests (SWM: spatial working memory test, IED: set shifting test, and SOC: stocking of Cambridge). While WM tasks have previously been used to investigate the general performance of high and low neurotics, Cantab tests were designed to measure specific working memory functions. Based on the literature, as a starting point, I selected three tests of Cantab, and using this group of WM tasks, I aimed to explore neuroticism related differences in relation to functions of the central executive system and the visuospatial component of WM. Furthermore, my investigation aims to provide deep insights into the cognitive system in high and low neurotics. Therefore, I decided to design a set of experiments that are mainly dual tasks.

There are several types of dual tasks and they are usually a combination of two WM tasks e.g (Baddeley, 1997; Baddeley, 1996a). Thus, while each WM task is performed as a single task, they are performed in rapid succession in dual tasks. For example, the literature shows that generally high neurotics are worse than low neurotics in dual task processing (Corr, 2003; Flehmig, Steinborn, Westhoff, & Langner, 2010; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). However, the results are rather inconclusive and it has not been determined where in cognitive processing the impairment occurs (Corr, 2003; Flehmig et al., 2010; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). One reason for that is that in those studies the dual task was usually a combination of two WM tasks and the researchers often measured the general performance in high and low neurotics. Thus, the researchers did not elaborate where the impairment occurred in high neurotics during dual task processing. Different from those dual tasks, one popular method is psychological refractory period (PRP) dual task paradigms. This is when two tasks are performed simultaneously or in close temporal proximity (Pashler, 1994a). The processing of the second task will be delayed until the processing of the first task has been completed (Pashler, 1994a). This delay is caused by a mental channel called a 'bottleneck'

in the response selection stage because while the two tasks can be processed in parallel during the perception and motor stages, they can only be handled one at a time in the response selection stage (Pashler, 1994a). In addition to PRP's popularity in the field, this method allows for examining the results comprehensively (Szameitat, Schubert, Müller, & Von Cramon, 2002; Szameitat, Schubert, & Müller, 2011). Thus, I will be able to find out why and how the interference occurred during the task processing in high and low neurotics.

As this thesis is based on understanding neuroticism related differences during cognitive task processing, the review of the current literature consists of several sections. First, I present neuroticism and discuss neuroticism related traits. Second, I present a WM model and discuss the role of the WM components, particularly the central executive system. I present these two sections in advance because the next sections are about neuroticism related cognitive theories and empirical evidence. For a better understanding, the subsequent sections, firstly neuroticism and working memory should be understood. The subsequent chapters are empirical and focus on the processing of working memory tasks, mostly dual tasks in high and low neurotics. Each empirical chapter includes either behavioural or neuroimaging data collected from participants with high and low neurotics. The last chapter presents a general assessment of the results and the conclusion.

1.2 Understanding Personality and Neuroticism

This section provides information about definitions, and well-known models of personality in relation to neuroticism. Firstly, personality is defined and subsequently two models of personality, the Big three (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975) and the Big five, (Costa & McCrae, 1985) and their measures are explained in a brief manner.

1.2.1 Personality

Personality is conceptualized in terms of individual distinctions including behavioural patterns, and emotional and cognitive activities (Engler, 2009; Engler, 2013; Mischel, Shoda, Smith, & Mischel, 2004). Thus, personality is usually described as typical behavioural patterns, affects and thoughts that are moderated by dominant personality features (Allport, 1961, p. 28; Engle 2009; Carver and Scheier 2000). There are various type of personalities and each type of personality can be called a personality trait (e.g. neuroticism or extraversion are different personality traits) (Allport, 1961; Carver, Sutton, & Scheier, 2000; Engler, 2009).

1.2.2 Neuroticism

The etymology of neuroticism is nerves and it means weakness of nerves in the Greek language (S. B. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1978). Neuroticism is a type of personality trait that refers to a constant inclination towards negative emotions and higher levels of anxiety (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; S. B. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1978). It is broadly assumed to be a risk factor for psychiatric disorders (S. B. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1978; Lahey, 2009; Osorio, Cohen, Escobar, Salkowski-Bartlett, & Compton, 2003; Watson & Clark, 1984). Emotionally strong reactions together with lower adjustment skills cause high neurotics to behave unreasonably (H.J. Eysenck and Eysenck, 1975). If neurotic individuals have to be defined with a word, it would be "worrier", someone who feels permanent apprehension and fears that something might go wrong, which leads to extremely anxious reactions to these thoughts (Eid & Diener, 1999; H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975; Flehmig et al., 2010).

Among the personality traits neuroticism has the strongest biological basis because it has been suggested that neuroticism is a psychological trait of profound public health significance (Trull & Widiger, 2013). One potential reason for that might be neuroticism associates with emotional instability (S. B. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1978). In detail, neuroticism is described by being emotional instability therefore while neurotics can behave optimistically, social, or happy (i.e. when there is no stressors) whereas in some cases they may act quite responsive, anxious due to higher level of arousal (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986). It is believed that because of this emotional instability high level of neuroticism is the main precipitation factor of many mental and physical disorders such as anxiety, depression, bipolar etc (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986). Moreover, well known personality related theories (i.e. arousal based theory, attentional control theory, dual mechanism of control) have proposed considerable cognitive impairments during processing of various emotional and working memory tasks in high neurotics rather than in extravert and psychotic people (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Indeed, empirical studies has confirmed that high level neuroticism leads significant cognitive impairments in various cognitive tasks (i.e. working memory tasks, dual tasks) in compared to other personality traits such as extraversion, psychoticism (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Therefore, apparently, neuroticism is a predictor of the quality of our lives (Trull & Widiger, 2013). Achieving a full understanding of the mechanisms through which neuroticism is linked to cognitive impairments, should be a top priority for

research (Trull & Widiger, 2013). Knowing why neuroticism leads cognitive impairments should lead to improved understanding of commonalities among people (Trull & Widiger, 2013). It should be noted that, I do not intend to mean that other personality traits such as extraversion or psychoticism do not deserve investigation. I mean, in terms of cognitive tasks processing these personality traits (i.e. extraversion and psychoticism) have not been associated with a considerable cognitive impairment and they are not stronger predictor of varied psychological disorders as neuroticism. One potential reason for taht, in contrast to neuroticism, these traits somehow associates with stable pattern of characters (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; Szymura & Nęcka, 1998). For example, when neuroticism is not involved, extraversion is manifested by being social, talkative, and energetic (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986). Similarly, when neuroticism is not involved, Psychoticism is manifested by being anti-social behaviors and risk taking (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986). These patterns of features in extraversion and psychoticism rather stable (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986). In other words, these patterns of characters dominantly observed in people with high level extraversion or psychoticism (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986). Therefore, because of stability in other personality traits, arousal level may act normal and do not has a considerable impact on their cognitive mechanism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; Szymura & Necka, 1998). Finally, as neuroticism has high prevalence and impact on our society, I preferred to investigate neuroticism rather than other personality traits.

In earlier studies, it was often assumed that highly extrovert participants were low neurotics because of a strong negative correlation between neuroticism and extraversion (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; Szymura & Nęcka, 1998). However, recent studies with larger samples have shown that a considerable portion of participants show high extraversion as well as high neuroticism, indicating that high extraversion is not identical to low level neuroticism (Bianchi & Laurent, 2016). Therefore, to investigate high and low neuroticism, recent studies prefer to select participants from top and bottom quartiles in the neuroticism scale (Bianchi & Laurent, 2016).

1.2.3 Relationship between Neuroticism trait and Anxiety trait

Anxiety is the major descriptor of neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; S. B. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1978; Jorm, 1989). While neuroticism is the most commonly used term, other terms have been used in the literature to describe the same or very closely related personality

traits, such as trait anxiety, negative affectivity, or emotional arousability (Jorm, 1989). Because some researchers have proposed their own theories and classified personality traits in different ways, traits identical or similar to neuroticism are differently named (Jorm, 1989). For example, according to H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, (1986) neuroticism is similar to trait anxiety. Cattel (1969) used term trait anxiety instead of neuroticism in his personality theory. Therefore, different terms are usually related to different measurements (Jorm, 1989). For example, the differences between the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ) (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975) and the State and Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) (Spielberger, 1983) is that while the EPQ assesses several personality traits (i.e. neuroticism, extraversion, introversion and psychotics) (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975), the STAI is specifically focused on trait anxiety and current anxiety level (Spielberger, 1983). In this context neuroticism seems to be equivalent to trait anxiety because both terms refer to an inclination towards negative affectivity and anxiety (Jorm, 1989). The correlation between these trait measurements varies from .71 to .81 (Jorm, 1989). Therefore, trait anxiety and neuroticism are assumed to be tapping similar personality traits (Fahrenberg, 1992; Gray, Braver, & Raichle, 2002; Jorm, 1989).

Furthermore, the detrimental effect of both neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967) and trait anxiety (M. W. Eysenck, Derakshan, Santos, & Calvo, 2007) is taken to be a manifestation of worry and arousal during the processing of tasks. Thus, while there may be some conceptual differences between the personality traits of neuroticism and trait anxiety, interestingly they have both been described as negatively affecting cognitive performance (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012). Importantly, for neuroticism and trait anxiety it has been proposed that the mechanisms of how and why performance is negatively affected are virtually identical, i.e. it is a consequence of worrying and arousal during the processing of tasks (Bishop, 2007; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012). Consequently, theories of how neuroticism affects cognitive performance and how trait anxiety affects cognitive performance are very similar and have frequently been used interchangeably, i.e. applied to the respective other domain (e.g. neuroticism-based studies have used trait-anxiety theories to explain their findings,) (Bishop, 2007; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; Gray et al., 2002; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012).

1.2.4 Neuroticism in Personality Models

In the field of psychological research two distinctive personality models are broadly applied: Eysenck Personality Giant Three (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975) and Big Five (Costa & McCrae, 1985). While the two models differ in terms of the numbers of personality traits, importantly for the current project, they agree that neuroticism is one trait, and they also conceptualise it in a very similar way. In more detail, according to H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, (1975) there are three traits: extraversion, neuroticism and psychoticism. On the other hand, the Five Factor Model, known as the Big Five (Costa & McCrae, 1985), includes five traits: Extraversion, Agreeableness, Conscientiousness, Neuroticism, and Openness to Experience. These two models use the same term, neuroticism, to describe a constant inclination towards negative affectivity. However, to measure their personality traits H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, (1975) use the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ) and Costa and McCrae, (1985) use the Five Factor Inventory (FFI). In both measures, term neuroticism shares many common aspects with each other and they are highly correlated (r=0.7-0.9) and reliable (P<0.01) (Zawadzki, Strelau, Szczepaniak, & Śliwińska, 1998). However, the EPQ has been tested in 34 countries and the neuroticism traits are found to be highly correlated in terms of reliability and validity in all countries (Francis, Brown, & Philipchalk, 1992; Saggino & Lauriola, 1999). In particular, the reliability and consistency of the EPQ has been replicated in many countries including Turkey (Karanci, Dirik, & Yorulmaz, 2007) and the UK (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975; S. B. Eysenck, Eysenck, & Barrett, 1985). Therefore, I prefer to use the EPQ in this study because my study samples are from an international university (UK: Brunel University London) and a national university (Turkey: Dicle University, Diyarbakir).

1.2.5 Summary of Personality and Neuroticism

Neuroticism is described as an inclination towards negative affectivity and other psychological disorders (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986). Traits similar or identical to neuroticism are named differently in other personality measurements such as trait anxiety (Jorm, 1989). Generally, the detrimental effects of these terms (i.e. neuroticism, trait anxiety or negative affectivity) are used as a manifestation of arousal and worry during cognitive task processing (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). It has been suggested that cognitive processing, particularly in working memory performance (i.e. dual tasks), is negatively influenced by high levels of neuroticism (Corr, 2003). I aim to investigate the effect of neuroticism on working memory (WM) and dual tasks and therefore, before describing theories that describe this relationship in detail, I need to introduce the concept

of WM in a general sense. Therefore, below, in the section 1.3., I discuss working memory in order to provide a better understanding of the theories and studies of neuroticism in relation to cognitive processing.

1.3 Understanding Working Memory

In this section the concept of working memory is provided. I will present working memory (WM) here in order to aid a better understanding of neuroticism related cognitive theories and empirical studies which are investigated neuroticism related differences during processing of WM tasks because these investigations generally based on the WM model of A. D. Baddeley & Hitch, (1974). Later, I discuss the main components of working memory that are strongly associated with the current study through recent related theories.

Working memory (WM) refers to a mechanism for temporarily maintaining and manipulating information. The idea of cognitive processing of temporarily stored information is based on the concept of short term memory (originally called primary memory), which is only about maintenance. This was then extended to also include the processes needed for the manipulation of information to make it WM (Baddeley, 1997; Baddeley, 1986; Engle, 2002; Miyake & Shah, 1999).

One of the first WM models was proposed by Baddeley & Hitch in 1974. Their model includes two basic short term stores (the phonological loop and visuospatial sketchpad), an episodic buffer and a central executive system. In this model, the short term systems are complemented by a control system, the central executive system (CES), which controls, regulates, manipulates and integrates information. Such functionality is usually required in complex cognitive tasks such as multitasking.

1.3.1 Phonological loop (PL), visuospatial sketchpad (VSSP) and episodic buffer

As indicated above, two components of short term memory are supervised by the central executive system but these storages (the phonological loop and visuospatial sketchpad) have their own independent repositories. The phonological loop consists of two components (the phonological store and an articulatory rehearsal processes), and it deals with auditory and verbal information. The visuospatial sketchpad, which also consists of two components (the visual cache and inner subscribe) is involved in encoding, storing and retrieving visuospatial information (Baddeley & Hitch, 1974; Baddeley, 1997; Baddeley, 1986).

The phonological store is associated with the mind's ear, meaning when one reads verbal information they hear it in their mind, whereas the articulatory rehearsal process is associated with the mind's voice, which means when one repeats the information internally (Baddeley, 1997; Baddeley, Allen, & Hitch, 2011; Baddeley, 1986). For example, when a verbal stimulus is presented, it will be acoustically/phonologically encoded, which refers to echoic memory (Baddeley, 1997). The information is converted into sounds and maintained in an echo-box in the phonological store (Baddeley, 1997; Baddeley, 1996b). Therefore, if not refreshed, the information decays in approx. 2 seconds (Baddeley, 1997; Baddeley, 1986). Thus, to avoid losing information, the articulatory rehearsal becomes active to refresh information by rehearsing it via the internal voice (Baddeley, 1997; Baddeley, 1996b; Gathercole & Baddeley, 1990). When the rehearsal process is completed then the information maintains in the phonological loop and this process is repeated until the memory task is completed (Baddeley, 1997; Baddeley, 1986; Baddeley, 1996b).

Visuospatial sketchpad storage is associated with encoding and temporarily storing visual and spatial information. Therefore, it consists of two processes, which are visual and spatial processes. In other words, this storage deals with the encoding of what and where information. The visual process involves encoding and storing an object's colour, shape etc. The spatial process involves encoding and storage has been divided into two components, which are the visual cache and inner scribe. The visual cache is a relatively passive component that deals with storing visual information. The inner scribe is a dynamic component that deals with the retrieval and rehearsal of information. For example, when a visuospatial stimulus is presented, it is maintained in the visual cache. If not refreshed by the inner scribe, the information decays in a few seconds. After storing information in the visual cache, visuospatial information is retrieved by the inner scribe (Baddeley, 1986; Baddeley, 2007; Baddeley, 2012).

The episodic buffer is a relatively new component of working memory, which has an assistive role for storage systems. It is assumed to bind together information from PL and VSSP to provide a coherent percept. (e.g. one has a representation of the visual and auditory information about a person). Therefore, it manages to combine information that includes auditory, verbal, and spatial information in the working memory. Also, it is supposed to be storage for complicated information, i.e. prolonged episodes or events (Baddeley et al., 2011; Baddeley, 2000; Baddeley, 2007; Baddeley, 2012).

A very important further component of WM is the central executive system. Because this is central to this study, I will assess it in a separate subsection.

1.3.2 Central executive system (CES)

The central executive system (CES) plays a supervisory role in the short term memory components (Baddeley, 1996b; Baddeley, 2007; Baddeley, 2012). This control system manages the dismissal and elimination of information in the store of short term components (Baddeley et al., 2011; Baddeley, 1996a; Baddeley, 2012). CES is as a supervisory controller favours the storage systems to work efficiently in workspaces of mental processes (Baddeley, 2012). Furthermore, it assigns which component of short term memory - either the phonological loop or visuospatial sketchpad - is recruited for information (Baddeley, 1986; Baddeley, 1996a; Della Sala, Baddeley, Papagno, & Spinnler, 1995). It manages the integration and cooperation of the other components, the episodic buffer, phonological loop, and visuospatial sketchpad (Baddeley, 1996a; Della Sala et al., 1995). Finally, it allocates cognitive resources to deal with the integration, regulation, manipulation, transformation, and suppression of mental representations (Baddeley et al., 2011; Baddeley, 1986). Because the CES is at the centre of WM, it is involved in many cognitive functions (Baddeley, 1986; Shipstead, Redick, & Engle, 2012; Shipstead, Harrison, & Engle, 2015). Although the location of the CES is supposed to be divisible in the brain, the frontal lobe areas seem to be strongly associated with this system (D'Esposito et al., 1995; D'Esposito & Postle, 2002; Jonides et al., 1993). Even on such a very coarse and unspecific anatomical level, the consensus is that the CES functions are sub-served by a fronto-parietal network (Della Sala et al., 1995; D'Esposito et al., 1995; D'Esposito & Postle, 2002; Hare, O'Doherty, Camerer, Schultz, & Rangel, 2008; Ruthruff, Miller, & Lachmann, 1995; Salmon et al., 1996).

The current concept of CES relies on two proposals (Baddeley, 1997; Baddeley, 1998; Baddeley, 2012; Salmon et al., 1996). The first proposal is that the CES acts as an attentional controller and the second proposal is that the CES has limited attention (Baddeley, 1998; Baddeley, 2012; Salmon et al., 1996). Therefore, when investigating the CES in relation to cognitive task processing, an ideal task could involve higher attention as well as concurrent performance for divided attention (Baddeley, 1998; Salmon et al., 1996). In this context, dual task processing requires extensive use of CES and thus it is one of the distinctive ways

of investigating the role of executive functions in a direct way (Baddeley 1996, 1998). In these types of dual tasks, research usually combines two memory tests (i.e. a visuospatial tasks and auditory tasks) and participants are required to perform these tasks concurrently (Baddeley, 1996a; Salmon et al., 1996). Therefore, dual task experiments are widely used to explore the role of CES based on the main assumption that performing two tasks concurrently places a demand on the CES (Baddeley, 1996a; Baddeley, 1998). For example, in a dual task study conducted by Baddeley (1996), one task was a random generation task that was supposed to disturb the operation of the CES. In the task the participants were required to generate sequences of letters and they were instructed to generate those letters in as a random order as possible. The second task was a Wisconsin card sorting test (WCST). In this test, there are two ways of sorting the cards, either based on colours or numbers. Initially they were instructed to sort the cards based on the colours. Following that the experimenter changed the card sorting criteria and they were instructed to sort the cards based on their numbers. The participants performed these two tasks separately as single tasks. Under dual task conditions, both tasks were combined and thus the participants were required to perform dual tasks in rapid succession. As a result, when the participants performed these tasks concurrently the task processing was significantly impaired. Because both tasks (RNG and WCST) (each individually by itself) demand the CES, the amount of impairment was greater for the dual task. In another experiment, a dual task was studied that consisted of a memory span task and an RNG (Baddeley, 1996a). The task demands were manipulated either by increasing the load on the memory span or by reducing the time limit for responses in the RNG task. The first task was an RNG task (demand on the CES) involving key pressing. In this task, the participants were required to produce numbers in an order in a certain time (0.5, 1 or 2 sec.). The task demands were increased as a sequence of numbers had to be generated from in 2 sec. and then 0.5 sec. The second task was a memory span task. In this task, the participants were required to recall sequences ranging from one item to eight items (demands PL). Baddeley (1996) found that increasing task demand in memory span tasks does not influence RNG processing. However, increasing the demand on RNG influenced task processing negatively in both tasks. This result indicates that task demand in the CES causes a considerable impairment during task processing whereas when demand increases in storage systems, the CES remains relatively unaffected (Baddeley, 1996a).

According to Baddeley, the CES does not need to be a totally unitary system; it can be divisible into functions to some degree, such as switching, inhibition, updating, planning etc. (Baddeley, 1998; Baddeley, 2012). Switching refers to shifting from one task to another (Baddeley, 1996a; Monsell, 2003). Inhibition refers to avoiding other distractors and keeping the focus of attention on the required target (Friedman & Miyake, 2004; Miyake et al., 2000). Updating refers to temporarily maintaining the task related context and instructions until the task has been executed (Miyake et al., 2000). Planning refers to the evaluation and selection of a sequence of task related information (Shallice, 1982). According to Baddeley (1996) task demand can be increased specifically on one of the CES functions. For example, he explored the role of the switching function of the CES, which is differentiated from general WM demand (Baddeley, 1996a). In the first task (RNG) the participants were asked to press keys in one second. In the second task the participants were either required to recite the letters from alphabet only each second or alternate between letters and numbers. Thus, in one dual task condition, the participants performed RNG for the first task and recited the alphabet in the second task. In another dual task condition, the participants performed RNG as the first task and alternated between letters or numbers. As a result, when the dual task consisted of RNG and reciting the alphabet, random generation by key pressing was not affected. Because RNG demands CES and the task of reciting the alphabet does not, task processing in RNG remains relatively unaffected. However, when the dual task consisted of RNG by key pressing with an alternating task, the randomness in the RNG was considerably reduced, because in this study both tasks demand the CES (RNG and the alternating task). Specifically, the alternating task places extra demand on the switching function. Higher interference occurred in the processing of the both tasks (dual task with higher switching demand) compared to the previous dual task condition (dual task with lower switching demand).

A dual task combining two memory tasks has also been widely applied to compare two groups such as high and low neurotics (Corr, 2003; M. W. Eysenck, Payne, & Derakshan, 2005; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). Because neuroticism is supposed to have a detrimental effect mainly on CES, high neurotics usually show higher task impairment compared to low neurotics, and this is evident either in their longer response times (Corr, 2003) or higher error rates (Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). In particular, if one of the tasks involve the central executive system (i.e. dual task: Corsi block and WCST) in dual task performance, high neurotics show higher task impairment compared with when the dual task consists of two

tasks that are associated with slave systems (i.e. dual task: corsi block and articulatory suppression) during dual task processing (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2005).

Another impressive study about the function of CES was conducted by Miyake et al. (2000). It relied on Baddeley's (1974) WM model. He used latent variable analysis to determine the main functions of the central executive system. He selected several standard WM tasks that have been proposed for investigating central executive functions by various researchers (Baddeley, 1996a; Smith & Jonides, 1999). 137 participants performed several tasks including the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST), and the Tower of Hanoi (TOH). He suggested that three main functions of the CES correlate with each other but obviously, they can be divisible. These are the shifting, inhibition and updating functions of CES. As briefly mentioned above the switching function is one of main control processes in the CES. It fulfils the function of shifting attention between tasks, and scheduling sub-tasks to execute related instructions. The switching function plays a pivotal role in dual task coordination and WCST task processing (Miyake et al., 2000; Monsell, 2003). Inhibition is described as the ability to avoid an automatic or dominant response to respond to necessary stimuli. Thus, it can be imagined as an attentional controller to prevent disruption or interference from task irrelevant activities and keep the focus of attention on task relevant activities (Friedman & Miyake, 2004; Miyake et al., 2000). It has been suggested that the inhibition function actively works during WCST and TOH processing (Miyake et al., 2000). Finally, the updating function fulfils maintenance of task related context, instructions and coding representations during task processing (Miyake et al., 2000). It has been suggested that the updating function is also involved in storage systems (Friedman & Miyake, 2004; Miyake et al., 2000). The updating function may be activated in dual tasks to maintain a number of stimuli and the task related context (Miyake et al., 2000). For instance, in a spatial working memory task (SWM) the location of a number of items needs to be maintained (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; Miyake et al., 2000). Similar to the study by Miyake et al., (2000), I have selected similar tests from the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery (CANTAB) (i.e. WCST is similar to IED set shifting; SOC is similar to TOH). In this way, I aim to test the detrimental effect of neuroticism in relation to the CES functions. I have also included a SWM task identical to the Corsi block because I want to test the effect of neuroticism in relation to visuospatial storage as well.

The relationship between neuroticism and the performance of these types of dual tasks will be elaborated in more detail below in section 1.5. In what follows, I will discuss the CES functions more generally and describe the paradigm I used to investigate the effects of neuroticism on the CES functions, namely the paradigm of the psychological refractory period (PRP).

1.3.3 Executive functions in Dual-task PRP paradigms

The research described in the last section used dual-tasks mainly to delineate which potential components of the Baddeley model (1974) are demanded by different tasks, and whether certain components are independent of each other. While these tasks are perfectly suited to those purposes, they are not ideal for the current study. In the current study, in which I aim to understand the effect of neuroticism on the CES demands in dual-task performance, i.e. multitasking, it would be beneficial to use an experimental design that allows for perfect control of the temporal concurrency of the tasks. One paradigm fulfilling this purpose is the psychological refractory period (PRP paradigm). Therefore, I will use this paradigm in most of my study.

In PRP dual task procedures, the concurrent performance of two tasks (R1 and R2) which are required two stimuli (S1 and S2) that are presented in a rapid succession with an interval between two tasks (stimulus onset asynchrony [SOA]) (see figure 1.1.) (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Meyer & Kieras, 1997a; Pashler, 1993; Schubert & Szameitat, 2003). The general finding is that the response to the second stimulus is prolonged in dual task processing as compared to single task processing. This prolongation depends on the duration of SOA, which is the so-called PRP effect (De Jong, 1995b; Logan & Gordon, 2001; Telford, 1931). Thus if SOA is short a higher PRP effect is observed (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Meyer & Kieras, 1997a; Pashler, 1993).

The reason for the delay in the processing of the second task is explained by one of the most prominent PRP theory, called the response selection bottleneck (RSB) theory. According to the RSB-theory, the processing of a task requires three main stages, which are perception, response selection and motor execution (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Ruthruff et al., 1995; Salvucci & Taatgen, 2008; Tombu & Jolicœur, 2005). The perception stage involves perception and external analysis of the stimulus, whereas the response selection stage is associated with decision processes about the requirements of the task and the execution of a proper reaction (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Ruthruff et al., 1995; Salvucci & Taatgen, 2008; Tombu & Jolicœur, 2005). Finally, the motor response stage involves the fulfilment of the

actual response (e.g. responding by finger pressing) (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Ruthruff et al., 1995; Salvucci & Taatgen, 2008; Tombu & Jolicœur, 2005). According to this model, the response selection stage has firmly serial procedure and this is the reason why a bottleneck is constituted when two tasks are processed simultaneously. It has been suggested that the response selection stage can process only one task at a time and, thus, this constitutes a bottleneck within the processing of dual tasks (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Ruthruff et al., 1995; Salvucci & Taatgen, 2008; Tombu & Jolicœur, 2005). Because the response-selection processing of the second task has to wait until the response-selection processing of the first task has finished, the response time for the second task is prolonged (see figure 1.1.) (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Marois & Ivanoff, 2005; Schubert & Szameitat, 2003). In other words, in PRP dual-tasks with short SOAs, the two tasks interfere with each other at the stage of the bottleneck, because they compete in terms of processing (De Jong, 1993; Marois & Ivanoff, 2005; McCann & Johnston, 1992; Pashler, 1989; Pashler & Johnston, 1989; Schubert & Szameitat, 2003; Schumacher et al., 1999). It has been shown that the CES is involved in managing the information streams of the two tasks and in resolving the interference between them (De Jong, 1995b; Logan & Gordon, 2001; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Meyer & Kieras, 1997b).

In PRP dual tasks, the PRP effect, response times and error rates for each task can be analysed separately. This allows for determining where the impairment occurs in dual task processing (Pashler, 1994b; Schubert, 2008; Szameitat et al., 2011). Therefore, by comparing high and low neurotics in dual task processing, I will able to determine whether impairment occurs in the bottleneck, by looking at the response times and error rates in the dual task costs.

A further advantage of the PRP paradigm for the current study is that performing a PRP dual task demands the CES (i.e., one can create a complex CES-demanding task by combining two very basic (probably) non-CES-demanding tasks) (De Jong, 1995b; Logan & Gordon, 2001; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Meyer & Kieras, 1997; Szameitat et al., 2016). By using this paradigm, task processing in a single task that is basically very simple and does not require a significant executive function and a dual task that requires extensive use of executive functions can be compared (De Jong, 1995b; Logan & Gordon, 2001; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Meyer & Kieras, 1997b; Szameitat, Vanloo, & Müller, 2016). This comparison allows for exploring the CES and non-CES tasks. In particular, it has been suggested that the inhibition, switching and updating functions of the central executive system might play a pivotal role

during processing in the bottleneck stage (De Jong, 1995a; Logan & Gordon, 2001; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Meyer & Kieras, 1997; Szameitat et al., 2016). Accordingly, inhibition is assumed to be used to avoid processing the second task until the first task is processed in the bottleneck and switching is supposed to be used to shift the focus of the bottleneck from the first task to the second task. Also, updating may be used to maintain the first and second task related context and rules until both tasks are processed (De Jong, 1995a; Logan & Gordon, 2001). This assumption is worthy of consideration because these main functions of the central executive system proposed by Miyake et al. (2000) fit well with the overall explanation of the executive functions in PRP dual tasks (Szameitat et al., 2016). The notion that PRP tasks also activate the fronto-parietal network sub-serving executive functions (De Jong, 1995b; Dux, Ivanoff, Asplund, & Marois, 2006; Schubert & Szameitat, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2016). Thus, the WM related brain activations and PRP dual task related activations are located in the same regions (Schubert & Szameitat, 2003).

Therefore, I took the PRP paradigm as a measure of the central executive functions (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Sigman & Dehaene, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). The high experimental control and elaborate theories (e.g. RSB-theory (Pashler, 1984), executive-process interactive control (EPIC: Mayer and Krieas, 1997), Executive Control of Visual Attention (ECTVA: (Logan & Gordon, 2001)) allow for understanding more exactly where in their mental processing the problems of high neurotics are located. Therefore, the paradigm is extremely well controlled and understood and thus it may allow for a detailed understanding of possible impairments caused by neuroticism.



Figure 1-1 shows processing of two tasks in long and short SOA manipulations. RSB-Model is for the psychological refractory period.

To understand better the role of these functions regarding dual tasks, I should point out a distinctive factor called preparation processes (Szameitat et al., 2016). Preparation processes require mental processes just before task execution (Szameitat et al., 2016). PRP dual task studies suggest that preparation requires the switching function of the central executive system to switch the bottleneck to the first anticipated task (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2016). Thus, better preparation requires a better switching function and this leads to reduced dual task cost during task performance (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2016). Also, the inhibition function needs to be used to avoid second task processing until the first task is processed (Logan & Gordon, 2001). Note that, it has been suggested that preparatory processes are more likely to be associated with choice response tasks because they have a higher load to be prepared and a higher chance of an increased preparation process due to the multiple choices (De Jong, 1995b; Szameitat et al., 2016).

There are few remarkable behavioural studies (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003) that investigate the PRP paradigm in relation to CES. The experimental design and findings of these studies are helpful to understand the role of the executive functions in PRP dual tasks. These behavioural studies found that PRP dual task processing involves the switching, inhibition and updating functions (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003). For example, in dual task processing, the second task, which is the interrupted task, has to be avoided by inhibition function until the first task is processed, and then the processed task should be shifted to interrupted tasks via the switching function (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). Moreover, all of these tasks related

schedules and contexts need to be monitored by the updating function (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003). For example, De Jong (1995b) conducted a series of dual task experiments with fixed and random task orders that required the extensive use of the executive functions. In fixed order tasks, the task orders were always either visual and then auditory (V-A) or auditory and then visual (A-V). Thus, the fixed order task was V-A, V-A, V-A, V-A... or A-V, A-V, A-V, A-V... However, in the random task, the task order was presented interchangeably, and thus the random task presentation was, for example, V-A, A-V, V-A, A-V, A-V, V, A... Participants were required to respond to randomly presented stimuli based on certain cues, and thus they could decide on their response sequence. He found that the dual task cost was considerably higher when the tasks order unpredictable and random. According to De Jong (1995b) one reason for higher dual task cost is the demand on the switching and inhibition functions. Because the task order was random, the task scheduling order needed to be rearranged each time. Thus, demand on the inhibition function was dominant because the interrupted task has to wait until the first task processed (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). The demand on the switching function was dominant as well because the focus of attention had to be switched from one task (which was processed in the bottleneck) to the other task (the interrupted task that needed to be reinstated) (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016).

Those findings were later investigated further using neuroimaging studies. For example, Szameitat et al., (2002) conducted a dual task including fixed and random conditions to investigate the central executive system. Participants were required to respond to fixed dual task modalities in a changeless order (i.e. A, V-A, V-A, V-A or A-V, A-V, A-V). On the other hand, similar to the study of De Jong (1995b) the task order was presented pseudo-randomly in the random dual task condition (e.g. V-A, A-V, V-A, A-V, A-V, V, A), which increased the role of the switching and inhibition function. Participants were required to perceive the order of presentation of the stimuli and then give the proper response. The dual task cost was found to be higher in fixed and random tasks compared to single tasks. Furthermore, the dual task cost was considerably greater in random dual tasks than in the fixed dual task conditions due to the higher demand on the central executive function without increasing the memory load. These results indicate that the load on the central executive functions places additional demand for each task in random conditions (Szameitat, Lepsien, von Cramon, Sterr, & Schubert, 2006; Szameitat et al., 2002). Thus, the processing of each

task takes longer in the bottleneck because task related information and the subtask order need to be rearranged each time (which is heavily associated with switching and inhibition) and updated in the serial processing of the task order (Stelzel, Kraft, Brandt, & Schubert, 2008a; Szameitat et al., 2002). These findings of Szameitat et al., 2002 later confirmed by a further study of Szameitat and his colleagues in 2006. Szameitat Lepsien, von Cramon, Sterr and Schubert, (2006) investigated neural correlates of task order coordination in dual tasks. In this study participants performed three choices reaction tasks. They required to detect location of a square (right, left or middle) and respond accordingly in visual tasks whereas in auditory tasks they required to detect a tone whether it is high, low, or moderate Hz and respond accordingly. Participants performed dal tasks with fixed and random orders. The results showed that dual task order coordination associates with prefrontal lobe activations (i.e. IFG, MFG) and higher activations in the regions were observed as the demand on task order increase. These findings suggest that dual task order coordination requires a profound use of executive functions which associates with prefrontal regions.

Complementing the study of Szameitat, et al., (2002), which investigated task coordination, particularly associated with the switching, inhibiting and updating functions of central bottleneck, Stelzel, et al., (2008) explored the effect of task coordination and maintenance. The study consisted of random and fixed dual tasks with a manipulated set size from two to four choices stimuli-response (S-R) mappings. In the dual tasks, participants were required to respond to one of four digits presented in the centre of the screen by pressing either one of four (4-choice tasks) or two buttons (2-choice tasks) on the keyboard. Similarly, they had to respond to one of four auditory stimuli with different HZ frequencies by pressing one of four buttons (4-choice tasks) or two buttons (2-choice tasks) on the keyboard. Accordingly, it was found that the dual task cost was greater either with a higher set size or random task. However, the effect of dual cost for maintenance was associated with the premotor cortex bilaterally and the left anterior insular cortex, whereas the cost related to the random task involved the inferior frontal sulcus (IFS) and the middle frontal gyrus (MFG). These results indicate that the task demand, in particular on the switching and inhibition function of the central executive system and the demand, particularly on the maintenance function (or updating function of the central executive system) of working memory cause higher dual task costs. Thus they both influence the processing in the central bottleneck but they are associated with different regions of the brain.

Consequently, in dual tasks, the CES demand can be increased either by a random task (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2002), which is called task coordination, or S-R mapping manipulation, which is called task set maintenance (Allain, Carbonnell, Burle, Hasbroucq, & Vidal, 2004; Stelzel et al., 2008a; Szmalec, Vandierendonck, & Kemps, 2005). When the S-R mapping is increased, the participants were required to make a choice among more choices than before (Szmalec et al., 2005). Because the response selection stage is a decisional process, when the response choices increase, this is associated with the response selection stage, which is the locus of the CES and bottleneck (Allain et al., 2004; Bunge, Klingberg, Jacobsen, & Gabrieli, 2000; Szmalec et al., 2005). Therefore, increasing demand by S-R mapping manipulation is associated with higher demand on the three CES functions (Szmalec et al., 2005) and this causes a higher dual task cost as in the random task (Stelzel et al., 2008a). However, the weight of the switching, inhibition and updating functions in S-R mapping manipulation changes as compared to random tasks with two choices. While the weight of switching and inhibition is higher in the random tasks (De Jong, 1995b), the weight of the updating function also seems to be higher in S-R mapping manipulation in dual tasks (Stelzel et al., 2008a). The reason for that is, the number of stimuli associated with the switching and inhibition functions are higher. Also, while in the random dual tasks there are always two S-R mappings involves in updating function, increasing S-R mapping manipulation in the dual task requires a higher number of choices and the task related context to be updated (Stelzel et al., 2008a). Taken together, performing dual tasks with either random task order or higher S-R mappings do increase demand on the three CES functions. While the weight of inhibition and switching is greater in random tasks, the weight of the updating function is relatively greater in S-R mapping manipulation.

Sigman and Dehane, (2005) elaborated characterization of bottleneck during processing of dual task. In the study while tone discrimination task (i.e. high and low tone) remain constant, visual tasks were number comparison tasks which are manipulated by using three different factors. These are notation task (the participants were required to decide whether the presented number is in Arabic or it is a spelled word), distance tasks (i.e. the participants were required to decide whether the number is larger or smaller than 45), and complexity task (the participants were required to either respond one time or two times in the task). The authors aimed to increase demand in each stage of dual task processing by these manipulations. It has been found that when the task demand is increased in

perceptual or central stages (i.e. in the first task which is visual task) participants took longer time to process task 1 and task 2 in dual task performance whereas when the demand is increased in motor stage, this only leads longer RTs in the first task. According to the authors, bottleneck processing might be active and it involves in executive functions in the dual task processes. Moreover, these executive functions seem to be start to engage at starting point response selection just after perceptual stage in the first task processing. In other words, executive functions involve in dual tasks in between perception and bottleneck to schedule task orders and resolve interference. In line with these findings, Sigman and Dehane, (2006) investigated executive functions which involve in dual task processing by conducting a similar series of experiments. Participants performed dual tasks with various manipulations. It has been shown that participants become slower as SOA decrease. According to the authors the potential reason for that is the bottleneck involve in active processes and requires executive functions which schedule task orders (task setting) and resolve interference (task disengagement). It has been suggested while 'task setting' involves at the beginning of response selection stage to select appropriate task, 'task derangement' involve at the end of response selection stage to inhibit first task and switch the focus of attention on the second task (see figure 1-2). As it is indicated before task setting (updating, and switching) and task disengagement (switching and inhibition) strongly associates with three main function of central executive system. As results, this measure of behavioral costs reflects not only the PRP, i.e., the waiting of the second task for the first task to being processed, but also the executive functions which schedule the task processing at the bottleneck (De Jong, 1995; Luria and Meiran, 2003; Marois and Ivanoff, 2005; Sigman and Dehaene, 2005).



Figure 1-2 The model of Sigman and Dehane (2006) which supposes that a first central decision is required to select which task to perform first. They refer to this stage as task setting. A second postulate is task disangagement that

there is a temporary inhibition of the response to the second task, implying that it cannot be executed until the first task has been disengaged, as observed in task-switching paradigms (Sigman and Dehane, 2006).

So far, I have shown that the dual task PRP paradigm is supported by empirical and theoretical studies. It has been suggested that PRP dual task demand can be manipulated through the inhibition, switching and updating functions of the CES. Therefore, I used the PRP dual task paradigm in most of my studies to investigate the detrimental effect of neuroticism on the CES functions. Because in this section, I generally discussed behavioural evidence, in the next subsection, I will mainly discuss neuroimaging studies in relation to WM and PRP dual tasks.

1.3.4 Neuroimaging Evidence Regarding Working Memory and PRP Dual Tasks

In this section, three points related to neural correlates of WM are presented. First, I present findings of neuroimaging studies in standard WM tasks, PRP tasks, and other types of dual tasks. I present studies that give more detailed information about dual task related areas such as the Lateral Prefrontal Cortex (LPFC) (i.e. Inferior Frontal Gyrus (IFG), the inferior frontal junction (IFJ), the Middle Frontal Gyrus (MFG)) and the Anterior Cingulate Cortex (ACC). Secondly, I discuss specific working memory task demand (i.e. the demand on CES functions) and nonspecific demand on the tasks (i.e. task difficulty by degrading stimuli). Finally, I discuss the direction of neural activation in the brain during the task processing (i.e. lower or higher activation) by giving examples from related empirical studies.

A considerable number of magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) investigations have shown that cognitive processing of WM tasks is associated with a greater blood-oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) signal in PFC, particularly in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (VLPFC), the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and the parietal cortex (PAR) (for reviews, see (D'Esposito et al., 1995; D'Esposito & Postle, 2002; Wager & Smith, 2003). For instance, one of the early neuroimaging studies that demonstrated that PFC is engaged during the processing of spatial working memory tasks was conducted by Jonides, Koeppe, Awh, Minoshima, & Mintum (1993) on monkeys. More specifically, the right Brodmann's area 47 (inferior frontal gyrus) was activated in the PFC during task processing. Also, several researchers have suggested that the PFC may also be activated in humans during cognitive processing of working memory tasks. For example, various studies have conducted delayed response tasks to investigate the functional neuroanatomical correlates of mental spatial representations (Baker, Frith, Frackowiak, &
Dolan, 1996; Goldman-Rakic, 1996; Sweeney et al., 1996) as well as non-spatial (i.e., letters, words, faces, objects) information (Paulesu, Frith, & Frackowiak, 1993; Salmon et al., 1996; Smith, Jonides, & Koeppe, 1996). Furthermore, various studies have investigated demanding and complex tasks such as dual tasks and n-back tasks (Petrides, Alivisatos, Evans, & Meyer, 1993; Petrides, Alivisatos, Meyer, & Evans, 1993; Salmon et al., 1996; Smith et al., 1996). These studies have consistently demonstrated greater LPFC activity in working memory tasks in comparison to single tasks.

The DLPFC and ACC are significant structures in the prefrontal cortex. They are associated with the CES (Carter et al., 1998; Carter et al., 2000; Devinsky, Morrell, & Vogt, 1995) and are influenced by personality (Canli et al., 2001; Eisenberger et al., 2005). Several neuroimaging studies have found that the DLPFC and ACC are dissociable during task processing (Baker et al., 1996). DLPFC activity is associated with the maintenance and manipulation of information in the absence of ACC activity in working memory (Baker et al., 1996). ACC activity is stronger than DLPFC activity when a task is associated with divided attention or when dealing with a dominant response. For example, in a Stroop task, sometimes the word and the colour are congruent (i.e. blue printed in blue ink) and sometimes they are incongruent (i.e. blue printed in red ink). Participants are often slower when they read a word automatically during incongruent conditions, which leads to higher ACC activation (Baker et al., 1996). In line with this, MacDonald et al. (2000) found that the roles of the DLPFC and ACC in cognitive control are disassociated. In this study participants performed a Stroop task associated with the switching and inhibition functions (congruent vs incongruent). The results show that while the DLPFC (i.e. BA 9) is associated with representing and maintaining task demand on the CES, the ACC (BA; 24, 32) is associated with the monitoring of errors and overcoming proponent response or response conflict. In addition, Cabeza & Nyberg, (2000) found that the ACC was strongly activated when participants performed working memory tasks such as problem solving, or verbal/numeric and spatial tasks. More specifically, while the caudal ACC is strongly activated during demanding working memory tasks, it is not activated during simple tasks (Paus, Koski, Caramanos, & Westbury, 1998). Therefore, it is presumed that the caudal ACC is affected by working memory demand during cognitive control because it is one of the important components of the cognitive control mechanism in the frontal lobe. Thus, in normal subjects, increased demands in working memory lead to greater activity in the caudal ACC during the processing of working memory tasks (Botvinick, Braver, Barch, Carter, &

Cohen, 2001; Bush, Luu, & Posner, 2000; Carter et al., 1998; Carter et al., 2000; Miltner, Braun, & Coles, 1997; Posner & DiGirolamo, 1998).

Although research aims of other dual tasks (i.e. which are combination of two WM tasks) and PRP dual tasks (i.e. which focus on bottleneck) are different, they both have common findings about dual task related areas in terms of neuroimaging studies. Therefore, various researchers have conducted dual task paradigms to explore the role of WM components (i.e. CES and slave systems) (Della Sala et al., 1995; Norman & Bobrow, 1975) or dual task bottlenecks in relation to the CES (De Jong, 1995b; Dux et al., 2006; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Pashler, 1994b; Schubert & Szameitat, 2003; Stelzel et al., 2008a). The common findings in these studies are that the dual task related areas are mainly associated with greater neural activation in the lateral prefrontal cortex (LPFC; for task coordination: MFG, IFG, IFS; and maintenance: premotor cortex and left anterior insular cortex) during dual task processing (Dux et al., 2006; Erickson et al., 2005; Schubert & Szameitat, 2003; Stelzel et al., 2003; Stelzel et al., 2008a; Szameitat et al., 2002) and medial prefrontal cortex (medPFC; maintenance and error execution: ACC and medSFG) (Carter et al., 2000; MacDonald, Cohen, Stenger, & Carter, 2000).

The researchers investigated dual task related areas usually by subtracting single task activations from a dual task (Adcock, Constable, Gore, & Goldman-Rakic, 2000; Bunge et al., 2000; Szameitat et al., 2011). For example, Bunge, et al. (2000) tested 8 participants to investigate the neural basis of the CES. Participants were required to perform either a short term memory task including 5 words or a sentence read separately as a single task. Thus, in one single task (such as the reading phase), participants were required to read sentences and decide whether the statement was right or wrong. The other single task was a recalling phase; 5 sentences were presented and participants were required to recall the last word of each sentence. In the dual task condition, participants were required to recall the last word of the sentences while in the scanner. They found greater LPFC activations (covered from the right MFG to left IFG and extended in the bilateral anterior cingulate) in the dual tasks than in the single tasks but there were no additional activations in the LPFC. In other words, the same regions were activated in both the single and dual tasks but the activations were greater in these regions during the dual task processing.

Furthermore, PRP dual task studies have repeatedly found activations in the IFG, MFG, IFS and IFJ in relation to the PRP effect. According to Szameitat et al., (2016) the MFG, IFG and IFJ are associated with central bottleneck processing during dual task performance. In more detail, they have suggested that while the IFG is associated with switching, the MFG is associated with the inhibition function of the central executive system. For example, Schubert & Szameitat, (2003) conducted a PRP dual task experiment with eleven participants to investigate the neural correlates of interference in overlapping dual tasks. Participants were asked to determine a target square from three squares presented to them. They were asked to identify a pitch tone, whether it was high, moderate or low. While participants were required to perform these tasks separately as single tasks, they performed both tasks under varied SOA conditions, 50, 125, and 200ms in the dual task. Thus, the participants were required to avoid the second task until the first task had been processed by the inhibition function and then to switch the focus of attention and reinstate the second task processing via the switching function (Schubert & Szameitat, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2016). These two functions are dominantly needed for temporal coordination of dual task performance (Schubert & Szameitat, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2016). Accordingly, (Schubert & Szameitat, 2003) they found that the main focus of dual task related activations is covered with the left inferior frontal junction (IFJ) (i.e. MFG (BA 9, 46), IFG (BA 6, 9, 46)). Further PRP dual task studies found that the left IFJ (i.e. BA 9) (Dux et al., 2006; Schubert & Szameitat, 2003), left IFG (i.e. BA 9, 44, 6), left IFS (i.e. BA 9, 44, 6), and right MFG (i.e. BA 9, 6) (Stelzel et al., 2008a; Szameitat et al., 2006) are associated with dual tasks. Accordingly, these results suggest that the switching and inhibition functions of the CES are linked to the LPFC, which mediates temporal coordination of two tasks during dual task processing.

The findings in relation to CES functions (switching and inhibition) and LPFC (IFG, MFG) have been confirmed in standard WM tasks as well such as the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) (i.e. right MFG (BA, 46, 44), left MFG (46, 9); IFG (BA,44, 45, 46); right ACC (BA, 9, 32) (Goldberg et al., 1998), or the Go-/No Go paradigm (Konishi et al., 1999) (i.e. left IFG (BA, 44, 45); bilateral IFS (BA 44, 45); left ACC (BA, 32).

While the majority of studies identify the lateral and medial prefrontal cortex as being related to dual task performance (D'Esposito et al., 1995; Goldberg et al., 1998; Schubert & Szameitat, 2003), some studies have failed to show this kind of association (Adcock et al., 2000; Klingberg, 1998). For example, Adcock et al., (2000) conducted a dual task study to

investigate executive functions, which involved two types of dual tasks. The first dual task consisted of an auditory verbal categorization task (NOUN) and a visuospatial task (SPACE). In the auditory task the participants listened to a list of nouns and were required to categorize the nouns (such as fruit or vehicle). In the visuospatial task, participants were presented with two rotated boxes and one target box above. They were asked to decide which box was identical to the target box. The second dual task consisted of the same auditory task and a face identification task as the visual task. In the visual task, participants were required to identify which rotated face was identical to the target face. The participants also performed each of these tasks separately as single tasks. The results failed to show neural activations for the executive function in the brain. One reason for this inconsistency among the findings might be because of the paradigm that was used (Szameitat et al., 2002; Szameitat et al., 2002). Therefore, participants may process the task without task interference in these experiments (Szameitat et al., 2002).

One point that should be raised is the potential reasons for higher and lower neural activations in dual task related areas during task processing. There are two factors that may affect neural activation differently (Szameitat et al., 2016). These are crosstalk and preparation processes (Szameitat et al., 2016). The term crosstalk is known as output conflict and it occurs when a stimulus that shares common aspects with the second stimulus causes an informational interference in the processing of the second task (Navon & Miller, 1987). It has been suggested that if the crosstalk is higher during the processing of the tasks, it is required to be resolved by avoiding one of the two tasks (Szameitat et al., 2016). In this case, greater activation in dual task related regions can be expected in the LPFC as the crosstalk increases (Herath, Klingberg, Young, Amunts, & Roland, 2001; Szameitat et al., 2016). However, crosstalk is mainly linked to simple-response tasks (Szameitat et al., 2016), and therefore in a demanding multiple choice task, crosstalk would be rather a weak factor (Szameitat et al., 2016). On the other hand, preparation refers to mental processes for switching the tasks just before task execution (Szameitat et al., 2016). As explained in section (1.3.3) preparation processes considerably affect interference. If dual task interference is exacerbated by preparation processes, the participant requires more and better preparation to reduce the dual task cost. If one had a better preparation during dual task performance this leads lower dual task cost and higher dual task specific activations (De

Jong, 1995a; Szameitat et al., 2016). However, if one does not prepare well during a demanding dual task performance, this may cause higher dual task cost which accompanied with lower neural activations in dual task related areas (Szameitat et al., 2016).

Another issue is related to the disassociation between specific working memory task demand and nonspecific demand on the tasks. It has been suggested that demand in working memory is disassociated from task difficulty in the brain (i.e. degrading stimuli make a task difficult at the perceptual level but not at WM) (Barch et al., 1997). It is important to understand this differentiation because I aim to test the effect of neuroticism in relation to CES demand and task difficulty in my study sample. For example, Barch et al., (1997), conducted a neuroimaging study to explore the disassociation between demand in working memory and task difficulty that is created by stimuli degradation. It has been indicated that stimuli degradation makes the task difficult but this difficulty is not associated with WM task demand, because degradation makes the task difficult at the perceptual level. The results demonstrated that increased demands on working memory lead to impairments in processing of the tasks, which are accompanied by higher DLPFC activation (left MFG; left IFG (BA; 46, 9)). However, task difficulty by degrading stimuli was associated with higher activation in the ACC (e.g. BA; 8), and other regions of the frontal cortex. These results show a disassociation between task difficulty and WM demand.

In summary, the majority of the neuroimaging studies indicate that WM processing and dual task processing is associated with higher activations in the fronto-parietal regions such as the LPFC (DLPFC and VLPFC; IFG, MFG) and ACC.

1.3.5 Summary of working memory

Working memory (WM) is described as a mechanism for temporarily maintaining and manipulating information (Baddeley, 1986). It consists of storage systems and the CES (Baddeley, 1986). To explore WM in relation to cognitive task processing, there are several standard WM tests (i.e. WCST, Corsi Block, TOH) and dual task paradigms that can be designed for CES investigations (Miyake et al., 2000). Among the dual task paradigms, the PRP paradigm is one of the best ways to investigate CES regarding task processing. The reason for that is that it is generally very well investigated and understood empirically. It is very detailed and advanced mental models are available (e.g. RSB-theory, EPIC, ECTVA). Neuroimaging studies show that the fronto-parietal areas, particularly the LPFC, are associated with WM and PRP dual tasks. As a starting point, I used the standard WM tasks

such as identical tasks with WCST, TOH and SWM to test the neuroticism effect on the CES and VSSP. Furthermore, I used the PRP dual task paradigm extensively with varied manipulations to test the effect of neuroticism on the CES functions.

1.4 Effects of neuroticism on working memory

So far, I have described the concepts of neuroticism and WM, and the PRP dual task paradigm in relation to CES. In this section, I have discussed a few theories in relation to neuroticism. First I started with a theory (Arousal based theory) that is directly linked to neuroticism. Next, I made an argument that this theory is not well explained. Furthermore, I indicated the advantage of theories about trait anxiety and their explicit link with neuroticism. Following that, I discussed trait anxiety theories in relation to neuroticism.

1.4.1 Arousal based theory in relation to neuroticism

Yerkes–Dodson (1908) suggested an interactional model of performance and arousal during task processing. While performance refers to the accomplishment of a given task regarding response times and error rates, arousal refers to being alert physically and mentally (Yerkes & Dodson, 1908). According to Yerkes & Dodson (1908), the relationship between performance and arousal can be described by an inverted U shape (Fig. 1.2). Accordingly, the central nervous system is positively influenced by a moderately increased physiological arousal level for ideal task performance (Yerkes & Dodson, 1908). On the other hand, if arousal levels either overly exceed or drop below the optimal threshold this leads to diminished performance during task processing (Yerkes & Dodson, 1908). Furthermore, this model distinguishes tasks as simple and difficult or complex tasks and thus the arousal level increases according to the task demand or complexity (Bruya, 2010; Sanders, 1983). A very difficult task may lead to a higher stress level and arousal that negatively influence higher cognitive control to coordinate, maintain and execute during the task processing (Bruya, 2010; Sanders, 1983).



Figure 1-3 shows the relationship between performance and arousal as an inverted U shape curve

Based on this approach, Eysenck, (1967) assessed the physiological correlates of neuroticism regarding cognitive processing. He suggested that arousal and performance are linked by an inverted U-shaped function, i.e. performance is optimal at an intermediate level of arousal and deteriorates if arousal becomes too high or too low (Yerkes & Dodson, 1908). According to H. J. Eysenck (1967) and H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, (1986), worry plays an important role in higher arousal level in high neurotics. Because high neurotics are 'worriers', they feel stressed easily, which may exacerbate a higher arousal level in difficult tasks (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Therefore, Eysenck (1967) suggests that high neuroticism results in a lower arousal activation threshold so that the inverted U-shaped function is skewed to the left, i.e. in the direction of lower arousal (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012). As a consequence, people with high levels of neuroticism have their optimal performance at lower arousal levels (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Translating this into the context of experimental tasks, it means that neuroticism has no effect on easy tasks, which result in low levels of arousal, because high and low neurotics do not differ in their relationship between arousal and performance (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012). However, for more demanding tasks, high neurotics show greater elevated levels of arousal, which limit their performance, while low neurotics may be at their best performance (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012). This proposal is supported by previous research showing an interaction between task difficulty (easy/hard) and neuroticism (low/high) such that the detrimental effects of neuroticism on cognitive performance are more pronounced for hard tasks (Corr, 2003; Poposki, Oswald, & Chen, 2009; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). One domain where this situation frequently

occurs is multitasking, or dual-task performance. Here, the individual tasks are often easy, and so neuroticism has no major effect on their separate performance as single tasks (Pashler, 1994b). However, in a multitasking situation, i.e. when two or more tasks have to be performed at the same time, the tasks become much more demanding even if the single-tasks are very easy and basic (Corr, 2003; Pashler, 1994b). In line with this, previous research on multitasking has shown that high levels of neuroticism negatively affect multitasking performance more than single-task performance (Corr, 2003; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012).

According to Eysenck (1967), a higher arousal level in high neurotics causes greater cardiovascular activities than in low neurotics. This physiological difference can be observed by using either objective or subjective measures (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Higher cardiovascular activities cause high neurotics to perceive the task as more difficult than low neurotics (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Therefore, after a difficult task is completed, if high neurotics score the task difficulty, they should report higher task difficulty than low neurotics (Poposki et al., 2009). In line with that, several empirical studies have used self-report measures in high and low neurotics (Poposki et al., 2009). The results show that high neurotics perceive higher stress than low neurotics in multitasking performance (Poposki et al., 2009).

Finally, it is known that the limbic system is associated with emotional processes (Canli et al., 2001). Because performing a difficult task causes higher arousal, which is a stressful situation for high neurotics, the arousal based theory of Eysenck (1967) suggests higher neural activations in the limbic system (i.e. amygdala) during difficult task performance in high neurotics. This assumption might be valid for emotional task processing, because in these tasks threatening emotional stimuli may cause higher stress (Canli et al., 2001). However, there is not much evidence in relation to cognitive processing that support this argument in high neurotics. The amygdala, and medial prefrontal cortex (PFC) are assumed to be neural correlates of high neuroticism during the processing of emotional information (Chan, Goodwin, & Harmer, 2007; Haas, Omura, Constable, & Canli, 2007). High neurotics often show increased amygdala activations during emotional processing of negative faces (Chan, Harmer, Goodwin, & Norbury, 2008). However, the majority of studies about cognitive task processing in high neurotics have reported LPFC activations during WM task processing (Bishop, 2007; Dima, Friston, Stephan, & Frangou, 2015). I will discuss the neuroimaging studies in relation to neuroticism in section 1.5.2.

1.4.2 Neuroticism in relation to arousal based theory and trait anxiety theories

This section is linked to section 1.2.4, where I discussed the relationship between neuroticism and trait anxiety. In that section, I concluded that despite the conceptual differences between neuroticism and trait anxiety they tap into similar personality traits. In this section, I discuss the limitations of arousal based theory in relation to Neuroticism. Following by that, I assess the advantages of trait anxiety theories because it would be suitable to utilize from these theories in relation to cognitive processing in high and low neurotics.

One concern that has been raised about Eysenck's theory (1967) (arousal based theory in relation to neuroticism) relates to the type of tasks. This theory only indicates that high neurotics have task impairment in difficult tasks, which leads to unanswered questions. For example, are high neurotics vulnerable to general task difficulty or is it specific to working memory? It is known that WM demand is differentiated from general task demand (Barch et al., 1997). If Eysenck (1967) (arousal based theory in relation to neuroticism) refers to general task demand, then one can assume that high neurotics will perform worse in any kind of demanding task that is not even associated with WM than low neurotics. This differentiation is not explicitly indicated in the theory; however, few empirical studies have assessed this theory in relation to WM task processing (Corr, 2003; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). In this context, if the term task difficulty refers to working memory demand then the question is, are WM components all equally influenced by neuroticism? Which component of working memory (Visuospatial storage, Phonological loop or CES) is influenced by the detrimental effect of neuroticism?

On the other hand, trait anxiety theories provide valuable assumptions regarding task processing in relation to trait anxiety. The relationship between the terms neuroticism and trait anxiety is assessed in section 1.2.3. For example, there are a few theories in relation to trait anxiety, which are presented below, such as processing efficiency (PET) (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992), attentional control theory (ACT) (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) and dual mechanism of control (DMC) (Braver, 2012). In the theoretical papers, several neuroticism studies refer to high neurotics as high trait anxiety subjects (M. W. Eysenck (1979) suggested that it is reasonable to assume that high neurotic are high anxiety subjects, in the PET and ACT theories high neurotic individuals are assumed to be high trait anxiety subjects

(M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Similarly, studies that have investigated cognitive processing in neurotics (using EPQ or FFI) have interpreted their results by relying on this trait anxiety theories (Flehmig et al., 2010; Robinson & Tamir, 2005; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). The empirical studies are also in line with this suggestion, as they have found that both high neuroticism and high trait anxiety are observed with similar behavioural and neural findings during WM task processing (Bishop, 2009; Dima et al., 2015). Therefore, I consider that it would be suitable to utilise trait anxiety theories in this thesis because of their detailed and comprehensive assumptions.

As a summary, the reason for using anxiety theories in neuroticism studies is that there are no neuroticism theories available that have the same level of elaboration.

1.4.3 Processing efficiency theory (PET)

Eysenck & Calvo (1992) proposed a processing efficiency theory to explain the association between neuroticism/trait anxiety and task performance based on Baddeley & Hitch's (1974) working memory model. Before discussing PET assumptions, as a reminder, it is necessary to briefly consider the concept of a working memory system, which refers to a mechanism for temporarily maintaining and manipulating information. This WM model consists of two basic short term stores (the phonological loop and the visuospatial sketchpad), and a central executive system. The phonological loop and visuospatial sketchpad refer to temporarily storing auditory and visual/spatial stimuli respectively. The CES acts as an attentional controller that controls, regulates, manipulates and integrates information. Such functionality is usually required in complex cognitive tasks such as multitasking. Thus, PET relies on two main assumptions. The first assumption is that worry and arousal as a manifestation of neuroticism/trait anxiety cause impairment during WM task processing. The second assumption is that the impairment is associated with the CES whereas it is not associated with the storage systems of WM.

The first assumption suggests that the main causes of task impairment in high neurotics are worry and higher arousal level, which lead to greater task irrelevant activities in demanding WM task processing, because worry and arousal level are increased by stressful situations (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992). In detail, according to Kehman (1973) and Sarason (1988), greater worry and arousal level leads to higher task irrelevant activities during cognitive

processing. Because in high neurotics worry and arousal level easily increase, the task demand is higher for high neurotics than low neurotics (Sarason, 1988; Sarason, Sarason, & Pierce, 1990). Consequently, high neurotics have to deal with task related information as well as task irrelevant mental activities, and therefore they perform worse than low neurotics on WM tasks (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; Revelle & Michaels, 1976). Cognitive resources have to be shared between task irrelevant activities and task related information, and therefore task processing may be impaired due to a scarcity of cognitive resources (Sarason, 1988). Taken together, the reason why high neurotics demonstrate slower task processing is because worry and a higher arousal level cause task irrelevant mental activities that overlap with the task relevant activities (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992).

The second assumption is focused on the components of working memory. It is suggested that the adverse effect of neuroticism (i.e. worry, arousal) cause extra demand on some working memory components only (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992). The considerable detrimental effects of neuroticism have an impact on the central executive system rather than on other storage components (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck & Byrne, 1992). The reason why neuroticism mainly impairs CES is because worry interferes with attention (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012). As indicated, the CES is like an attentional controller (Baddeley, 1996a), and thus it requires higher sustained attention (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012). When task demand increases, worry causes task irrelevant activities (worrisome thoughts) that overlap with task relevant activities during the processing of resources (Flehmig et al., 2010; Sarason et al., 1990). Because the resources of the WM system are consumed by task irrelevant activities, processing of the task is impaired (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; Flehmig et al., 2010; Sarason et al., 1990). In other words, a higher proportion of attentional resources are allocated for the CES, and as a consequence task processing is impaired when task difficulty is associated with the CES (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992). Empirical studies show that if two tasks are associated with the CES, then high neurotics have a greater impairment than low neurotics, compared to when performing two VSSP tasks in high and low neurotics (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2005; MacLeod & Donnellan, 1993). (Related empirical studies will be presented in section 1.5.1).

Furthermore, because worry is supposed to be related to inner words (M. W. Eysenck & Byrne, 1992), the phonological loop storage may also have a minor impairment but the

visuospatial sketchpad may remain unaffected (M. W. Eysenck & Byrne, 1992; M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992). One potential reason for that is because worry involves in inner words activity, which may contribute to task irrelevant activities rather than encoding visual representations in the VSSP (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992).

Overall, according to the assumptions of PET, high neurotics are believed to be associated with worry, which physiologically causes a greater arousal level than in low neurotics (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992). Thus high neurotics are slower on WM task processing because their worry and arousal lead to task irrelevant mental activities that overlap with the task relevant activities. The other assumption is that the processing of WM tasks is impaired due to the load on the central executive system (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992). As a result, worry and arousal mainly influence the CES in high neurotics, and thus when task demand is associated with the CES, a considerable impairment is observed during task processing (M. W. Eysenck, 1985).

Although this theory proposes that the detrimental effect of neuroticism negatively influence CES, it does not include any assessment of the functions of the CES. As discussed earlier, the CES has various functions such as switching and inhibition. Relying on this theory, one cannot know whether the detrimental effect of neuroticism/trait anxiety disturbs all of these functions equally or just certain functions. Recent studies indicate that the lack of information about the functions of the CES in relation to neuroticism/trait anxiety is a weakness of the theory (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007).

1.4.4 Attentional control theory (ACT)

Attentional control theory was proposed by Eysenck, Derakshan, Santos, & Calvo, (2007) and later developed by Derakshan & Eysenck, (2009). The theory was built on the strengths of PET and aims to overcome its weakness by providing more precise assumptions related to the impact of anxiety on the cognitive processing of the CES functions (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Therefore, this theory includes the assumptions of PET in addition to new assumptions. The core of this theory is based on the assumption that arousal and worry, as a manifestation of neuroticism/trait anxiety, have a negative impact on attentional control, which leads to detrimental effects on the functions of the central executive system (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009). This theory consists of several assumptions.

The first assumption of ACT relies on the differences between effectiveness of performance and efficiency of processing (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009). Effectiveness of performance refers to the quality of the task performance such as response accuracy whereas processing efficiency addresses the association between higher accuracy (effectiveness of the performance) and faster response times (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Thus, processing efficiency requires using resources or effort optimally (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). According to Flehmig et al. (2010) the relationship between processing efficiency and performance effectiveness is based on a speed accuracy trade-off, which indicates the interaction between response times and error rates (i.e. sacrificing speed for accuracy). High neurotics may spend higher effort on achieving the task accurately by sacrificing speed or vice versa (Flehmig et al., 2010). In this context, high neurotics still have lower processing efficiency because they use a larger amount of cognitive resources to achieve the task either more accurately or faster by ignoring either speed or accuracy (Flehmig et al., 2010; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). For example, one study reported that high neurotics become slower on a task processing as expense of accuracy (Flehmig et al., 2010; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003) and another study reported slower reaction times with higher accuracy (Robinson & Tamir, 2005). The results can be explained by the speed accuracy trade-off. In other words, their strategy is, performing task either accurately or faster therefore their attention is increased on either accuracy or speed whereas they ignore one of the them (e.g. when they focus on accuracy they ignore speed) (Flehmig et al., 2010). However, in processing efficiency, speed and accuracy are balanced and they will be high if performance effectiveness (accuracy) is greater with faster response times as indication of using cognitive resources efficiently (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). On the other hand, processing efficiency will reduce if performance effectiveness is low (lower accuracy) with slower RTs as an indication of a higher usage of resources (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Thus, greater processing efficiency reflects faster RTs with higher accuracy (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Taken together, according to the ACT it can be assumed that high neurotics will have a greater impairment in processing efficiency than in performance effectiveness because of task irrelevant activities in demanding WM tasks (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; Derakshan & Eysenck, 2010; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). This is important to understand because significantly higher accuracy with a slower speed or vice versa indicates using a speed accuracy trade-off strategy than higher processing efficiency.

Therefore, when the experimental results are assessed regarding task processing, one has to consider this point.

The second assumption concerns two attentional systems; top-down and bottom up processes (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). The top down goal driven system is associated with the prefrontal lobe and it is involved in the regulation of attention whereas the bottom-up stimulus driven system is associated with the temporal-parietal and ventral frontal cortex and it is involved in the determination of relevant stimuli, especially when the stimulus is salient and unattended (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009). Accordingly, there is often a stable interaction between the top down and bottom up systems (Pashler, Johnston, & Ruthruff, 2001). However, according to ACT, in high neurotics, the stable interaction of the system is impaired due to neuroticism because worrisome thoughts enhance the impact of the bottom up process over the top down process (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). For example, regarding high neurotics, under demanding conditions, an increased level of worry and arousal may awaken an anxiety state, and thus one will fail to supress task irrelevant activities that negatively influence task processing (Power & Dalgleish, 1997). Therefore, the focus of attention increases towards task irrelevant mental activities (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; Power & Dalgleish, 1997). Thus the anxiety state will cause pressure on goal directed systems in favour of stimulus directed systems (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). This assumption helps in understanding a potential reason for task impairment in high neurotics.

The third assumption relates to the functions of the CES in relation to effect of neuroticism (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Accordingly, the detrimental effects of neuroticism have an impact on certain CES functions rather than storage components because task irrelevant activities interfere with attention during the processing of information (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Furthermore, because worrisome thoughts are supposed to be related to inner words, the phonological loop storage may also have a minor impairment (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). The reason for that is that worry is associated with verbal activities, and thus worrisome thoughts may influence the processing of resources by interfering with attention (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). On the other hand, the visuospatial sketchpad is supposed to remain unaffected because worry does not usually involve storing visual and spatial representations (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Although PET suggests that worrisome thoughts impair cognitive processing in the CES, it remains relatively imprecise because the CES is responsible for carrying out various functions including the following: task coordination,

manipulation, shifting attention between tasks, and monitoring and updating the context of working memory tasks (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; Smith & Jonides, 1999). Therefore, it is significant to consider which functions are actually impaired due to the effect of neuroticism during the cognitive processing of the task. The predictions of ACT try to shed light upon this aspect of CES functions (see Eysenck, et al., 2007). To explain this mechanism in more detail, Eysenck, et al., (2007) referenced a model developed by Miyake, Friedman, et al., (2000) and Friedman & Miyake (2004). As described in section 1.3, Miyake et al. (2000) found evidence for three main functions of the central executive system: inhibition, switching and updating (see Eysenck, et al., 2007; Friedman and Miyake 2004). First, inhibition refers to the suppression of task irrelevant stimuli that can potentially cause interference (M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). In other words, inhibition is supposed to work when a dominant or automatic response needs to be supressed (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). This is called negative attentional control (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Second, the switching function refers to flexibility in shifting attention between two tasks, operations or mental sets (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009). Third, the update function refers to refreshing and monitoring mental representations during the processing of tasks (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; Miyake et al., 2000). According to ACT, the inhibition, switching and updating functions of the CES are impaired rather than other CES functions due to high neuroticism (arousal, worry) during the processing of demanding cognitive tasks (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). However, because the updating function is associated with short term memory storage as well, the impairment would be rather minor or indirect on this function (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). As a result, arousal and worry as a manifestation of high neuroticism have adverse effects on attentional control and these adverse effects result in the impairment of the aforementioned functions, particularly the switching and inhibition functions (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). This is probably the most important assumption of ACT. When the experimental paradigm is set up, this assumption has to be considered in order to understand the processing of a demanding task in high neurotics.

Finally, originally ACT proposed, the detrimental effect of neuroticism on WM task processing causes increased activation in the cognitive control regions such as the LPFC (DLPFC and VLPFC) (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). However, this assumption could not be

confirmed by the empirical studies (Bishop, 2007; Bishop, 2009; Braver, Gray, & Burgess, 2007) because it has been suggested that high neuroticism/trait anxiety leads inefficient recruitment of cognitive resources which leads decreased activations in cognitive control regions (Bishop, 2009; Dima et al., 2015). Following the study of Bishop (2009) which found decreased activation during N-Back task in high neurotics, ACT (M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011) suggests, if high neurotics do not put sufficient effort into the task, they may show decreased activations as compared with low neurotics. I will assess the empirical evidence in detail in 1.5.2.

As a summary, ACT provides detailed assumptions regarding cognitive processing in relation to neuroticism/trait anxiety. Greater task impairment may be observed in high neurotics. Worry increases the arousal level, which increases task irrelevant activities in high neurotics. Task irrelevant activities interfere with attention and thus high neurotics are inclined towards a bottom up goal driven system. It is assumed that the detrimental effect of neuroticism impairs three main functions (switching, inhibition and updating). When task processing is assessed, processing efficiency should be considered rather than performance effectiveness. Regarding this thesis, these predictions are quite important because when I design the experimental paradigms and assess the results, these assumptions should be considered in order to understand the detrimental effect of neuroticism in task processing.

1.4.5 Dual mechanism of Control (DMC) theory

Braver, et al. (2007) suggested a theory called dual mechanisms of control, which includes two distinct control mechanisms regarding cognitive processing during a demanding task. Proactive control is believed to be associated with the early selection of attentional focus, which refers to the selection of task related information without delay and processing it with limited capacity (Braver et al., 2007). For example, the maintenance of goal related information, response preparation and other task requirements are selected and processed during the processing of a demanding task (Fernandez-Duque & Johnson, 1999). Thus, it represents sustained representation of task relevant goals (Fernandez-Duque & Johnson, 1999). In other words, the focus of attention is on task related information when the proactive control mechanism is active (Braver et al., 2007). Therefore, if one is inclined to use the proactive mechanism, task processing will be efficient (Braver et al., 2007). On the other hand, reactive control is believed to be associated with transient representations of stimulus related activities so it is activated only when needed such as a late correction character

(Braver et al., 2007). According to this theory, proactive control is associated with top down processes and reactive control is associated with bottom up processes (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012). The top down goal driven system is linked with proactive control, is associated with the prefrontal lobe (cognitive control regions), and is involved in the regulation of attention (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012). The bottom-up stimulus driven system is linked with reactive control and is associated with the temporal-parietal and ventral frontal cortex (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012). It is involved in the determination of relevant stimuli, especially when the stimulus is salient and unattended (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012). Accordingly, if participants encounter a conflict or difficulties because of task irrelevant activities in a demanding task, reactive control activities may be revealed temporarily to fix the difficulty during task processing (Braver, 2012). Therefore, the focus of attention will be on task irrelevant activities during demanding task processing (Braver et al., 2007; Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012). If one is inclined to use a reactive control mechanism, it is likely that a higher impairment in task processing will be observed because higher task irrelevant activities have to be suppressed first (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012).

According to this model, high neurotics may have task impairment when task demand is associated with the CES such as dual tasks (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002). The reason for that is because of using the control mechanisms in unstable way (Braver, 2012). For example, under a demanding condition increased arousal level and worry activate reactive control in high neurotics and thus they will first deal with task irrelevant activities that are threatening the task processing (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002). Therefore, at first, they fail to employ cognitive resources for task related activities (Power & Dalgleish, 1997). In other words, their attention will increase to deal with the task irrelevant situation (that is threatening the processing task), and thus the detrimental effect of neuroticism will cause pressure on the proactive control system in favour of the reactive control system (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002).

DMC suggests lower neural activation in the cognitive control regions in high neurotics because of insufficient recruitment of cognitive resources (Braver, 2012). The reason for that is that high neurotics are more inclined to use the reactive control mechanism in demanding cognitive tasks (Braver, 2012). In detail, proactive control is associated with the cognitive control regions whereas reactive control is associated with default networks (i.e. medial PFC, posterior cingulate/precuneus, lateral parietal cortex, left inferior temporal lobe and the amygdala) (Braver, 2012; Broyd et al., 2009; Gray et al., 2002). The default network is

suggested to be negatively correlated with attentional tasks (Braver, 2012; Broyd et al., 2009). In particular, when a cognitively demanding task has to be processed efficiently, which requires proactive control, the cognitive control regions are activated and the default network regions tend to be less active (Braver, 2012; Burgess & Braver, 2008; Drevets & Raichle, 1998). However, in high neurotics, the reactive control mechanism may increase activations in default regions and impair cognitive processing by supressing the activation of the cognitive control areas (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Burgess & Braver, 2008; Gray et al., 2002).

Taken together, high neurotics are inclined towards reactive control and therefore in demanding tasks they perform worse during task processing because they cannot implement cognitive resources for task relevant activities. Low neurotics are inclined towards proactive control and therefore they select task relevant activities earlier on because they have a lower arousal level and less worry. Consequently, high neurotics have lower activation in the cognitive control regions compared to low neurotics during demanding cognitive tasks (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002).

1.4.6 Summary of the theories in relation to neuroticism

In section 1.4., I introduced arousal based theory in relation to neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967), PET (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992), ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) and DMC (Braver et al., 2007). Eysenck (1967) suggested that high neurotics perform worse than low neurotics on difficult tasks because of a higher arousal level compared with low neurotics. However, the definition of task difficulty was not assessed in this theory. PET (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992) suggests that high neurotics perform worse on WM tasks when task demand is associated with the CES because task irrelevant activities interfere with attention during the processing of tasks. This theory provides more detailed assumptions than arousal based theory of neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967). However, the theory (PET) evaluates the CES as a unitary system, and thus which functions of the CES are impaired by the detrimental effect of neuroticism is not assessed. ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) is built on PET and provides more detailed assumptions about the detrimental effect of neuroticism on task processing. ACT suggests that high level neuroticism impairs certain functions of the CES, which are switching, inhibition and updating (M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). The stable balance of the top-down and bottom up goal driven systems is broken in high neurotics because of higher arousal and worry so they are inclined towards the bottom up goal driven system (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Therefore, high neurotics cannot implement cognitive resources for task related information early on, because they increase their attention towards task irrelevant activities (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Consequently, task processing is impaired in demanding tasks, which leads to lower processing efficiency (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). High neurotics may spend higher effort achieving the task, and in this case they sacrifice either speed or accuracy (i.e. they may sacrifice speed for higher accuracy and thus they may have lower error rates with faster RT) (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). DMC (Braver et al., 2007) assesses task processing in high and low neurotics with proactive and reactive control mechanisms. Similar to the interpretation of ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007), high neurotics are inclined towards reactive control, which is linked to the bottom up goal driven system (Braver et al., 2007). Therefore, they focus on dealing with task irrelevant activities during demanding tasks because of a higher arousal level and worry (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002). Low neurotics are inclined towards proactive control, which is linked to the top down goal driven system (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002). Therefore, low neurotics successfully select and process task relevant activities because their arousal and worry level is lower than high neurotics (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002). DMC indicates whether people use reactive control. If so, then lower neural activation in the cognitive control regions occurs whereas if they use proactive control higher neural activation occurs in the cognitive control regions during demanding task processing (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002). Therefore, high neurotics can be expected to have lower neural activation during demanding WM task processing (Bishop, 2009; Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002).

1.5 Neuroticism and Working Memory: Empirical Evidence

In this section, I will present the behavioural and neuroimaging findings in relation to neuroticism and WM. In particular, because this thesis includes behavioural and one imaging PRP dual task experiments, I preferentially focus on dual task studies.

1.5.1 Behavioural evidence about neuroticism related differences during cognitive processing of WM tasks

This section consists of two subsections. In the first subsection, I discuss studies that specifically investigated neuroticism related differences in WM task processing. I develop

the discussion through the results and their possible limitations. In the second subsection, I discuss studies conducted with normal participants in terms of neuroticism related differences. I discuss their results in terms of neuroticism based on the theoretical background.

1.5.1.1 Empirical studies related to WM task processing in high and low neurotics

In this subsection, I have divided the studies into two groups. The first group of studies suggests that high neurotics have considerable impairments in dual tasks whereas high and low neurotics perform similarly on single and easy tasks. In the second group of studies, I assessed some studies that include inconclusive results. Also, I discuss a few studies that found either no relationship or a positive relationship between task performance and neuroticism level.

The majority of studies found a detrimental effect during the processing of cognitive tasks associated with a high level of neuroticism. For example, according to Eysenck, (1982), high neurotics perform similarly to low neurotics on relatively easy tasks such as visual search tasks or basic mathematical problems whereas if task demands are increased such as in WM tasks, this will diminish cognitive processing in high neurotics. In line with that, Cox-Fuenzalida, Swickert, & Hittner, (2004) probed the effect of neuroticism on vigilance task processing with 194 participants by manipulating the tasks from simple to complex tasks. Participants were required to perform an auditory vigilance task, which consisted of a sequence of digits that were presented by way of earphones. They were instructed to find odd–even–odd sequences of digits (the signal, e.g. 7–8–3). In the easy task, participants were given 2s for digit determination whereas in the difficult task they were given 0.8s. As a result, while the high neurotics performed better than the low neurotics on the simple task, their performance was significantly impaired in the difficult task. Further studies found similar results regarding the adverse effect of neuroticism on monitoring and vigilance task performance i.e. when task presentation is speeded (Mayer, 1977), AB tasks (a letter string task and a colour recognition task) (MacLean & Arnell, 2010), and probe colour tasks i.e. when the set size is only moderately increased (Bredemeier, Berenbaum, Most, & Simons, 2011).

While the above studies used a variety of different simple and difficult tasks, there is also more specific evidence from dual-task studies that supports the adverse effect of neuroticism in relation to cognitive processing. Because each dual task study has a different paradigm, I consider it helpful to present a few studies here. For example, Poposki et al., (2009) tested 152 subjects to investigate the relationship between neuroticism and extraversion personality trait on multitasking performance. Participants performed four different tasks that were presented at the same time. Participants completed the tasks one by one. After task completion they filled out a survey that asked them how anxious or tense they felt during the multitasking performance. The authors concluded that neuroticism causes detrimental effects on multitasking performance and the effect is mediated by anxiety. Similarly, Osorio et al., (2003) investigated the effect of neuroticism on selective attention by performing a kind of dual task experiment. Participants listened to a paragraph with one ear, and a word list with the other ear. The 87 subjects were required to iterate the paragraph that was presented to one of their ears and at the same time they were requested to ignore the words that were presented to the other ear. Both the paragraph and word list included stressful (emotional) and neutral versions. While performing this task, they were also asked to respond to a visual probe task. The authors indicated that the performance in low neurotics was not diminished by the distractor task, while the high neurotics were somehow negatively influenced by the distractors. Also, the impairment was higher when the task included stressful distractors. The high neurotics performed worse than the low neurotics on the dual task and using emotional stimuli may exacerbate the impairment in high neurotics. Studer-Luethi et al., (2012) investigated the influence of neuroticism and conscientiousness on nback dual task processing with 112 participants. Participants performed the n-back task as a single task. However, in the dual task, they performed a visual n-back task (which included sequential presentation of single blue squares at one of eight different locations on the computer screen) and an auditory task (which included a series of 8 letters). Although the participants were trained on task performance, neurotics, compared to the controls, were found to have lower processing efficiency (higher RTs and error rates) in the task processing of demanding dual tasks whereas they were more successful in accomplishing single simple tasks. Further dual task studies in relation to neuroticism with different experimental designs produced similar results (Corr, 2003; M. W. Eysenck & Nazanin, 1998; Leon & Revelle, 1985; Poposki et al., 2009; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012; Szymura & Nęcka, 1998; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003).

Taken together, the first group of studies found that neuroticism impairs working memory during dual tasks and in other demanding WM task processing (Corr, 2003; M. W. Eysenck

& Nazanin, 1998; Leon & Revelle, 1985; Poposki et al., 2009; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012; Szymura & Nęcka, 1998; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003) whereas neuroticism has no adverse effects on simple and easy tasks (Corr, 2003; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012; Szymura & Nęcka, 1998; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003) because performing an easy task is not stressful (H. J. Eysenck, 1967).

I should point out that a few of the studies that are indicated above include inconclusive results as well. These studies usually performed a series of behavioural experiments. While some of the experiments resulted in findings that are in line with my statements, one or two of the experiments remained inconclusive. For example, Szymura & Necka (1998 & 2003) probed both high level neuroticism and extraversion traits (high extraversion participants were taken as low neurotics) regarding the processing of a single task and multitasking conditions. In the single task they used a DIVA probe test (i.e. which is a signal detection task that includes one target letter and other letters as distractors) only (Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). Each probe letter was presented either for 650ms or 850ms or 1000ms to create stressful and easy conditions in the latter study. In the dual task the participants performed probe tasks and a falling bar task. The participants were required to respond to the appropriate letter on the screen while they controlled the position of a falling bar up in the middle by pressing mouse buttons. In the dual task condition, the set size changed from 3 to 5 letters. Although their first experiment revealed non-significant results between the groups both in terms of the response latencies and response accuracy, subsequently the majority of the experiments revealed significant results generally in terms of response accuracy. In one experiment, when they increased the set size in the dual task condition, the high neurotics had higher response latencies and error rates. One potential reason for such results in the first experiment might be the speed accuracy trade-off strategy (Flehmig et al., 2010). Because the first dual task experiment was rather easy the high neurotics performed similarly by spending higher effort. In the subsequent experiments, the task difficulty increased respectively (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). In the first tasks, high neurotics may focus on RTs during the task performance as a strategy so that they did higher number of errors and they were still not better than low neurotics regarding RTs as well. In the last experiment, the task difficulty increased by set size and by stimuli presentation time (i.e. 1000 ms and 650ms) (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Because this experiment was rather difficult, the worry and arousal levels exceeded the activation threshold in the high neurotics (see section 1.4.1) (H. J. Eysenck, 1967), and thus despite using the speed accuracy tradeoff strategy they had higher errors and RTs. From this point of view, the results are in line with both the arousal based theory of neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967), which suggests an activation threshold for arousal, and ACT (M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011), which suggests lower processing efficiency in high neurotics. Therefore, in both series of experiments the authors concluded that the high neurotics had lower processing efficiency compared to the low neurotics in terms of multitasking performance. Moreover, in a series of experiments, Corr (2003) investigated whether neuroticism influences procedural learning during dual task conditions. Participants performed a procedural learning task as a single task whereas in the dual task condition they performed a procedural learning task with either a mental arithmetic test or a nonsense syllable count task concurrently (Corr, Pickering, & Gray, 1995; Corr, 2003). While one experiment showed a higher impairment in high neurotics compared with low neurotics regarding RTs and error rates, the results could not be replicated in the subsequent experiments. Generally, it was concluded that while procedural learning remained intact under the single task condition, it was impaired under the dual task condition specifically in high neurotics (Corr, 2003). According to Corr, (2003), the reason why the result could not be replicated in the second experiment is because the task experiment was not demanding, so the participants could easily perform the task due to a lack of sufficient stressors. Another study that can be assessed as inconclusive was conducted by Robinson and Tamir (2005). The authors conducted a series of choice RT task experiments. They found no correlation between elevated levels of neuroticism and either means RT or response accuracy. However, a significant positive correlation was found between elevated neuroticism and the RT standard deviation. Thus, they concluded that task irrelevant activities lead to deficits during the processing of tasks in high neurotics. According to the authors, RTs positively correlated with standard deviation (i.e. slow = more variable) and it can be an indicator of efficient task processing. Because the standard deviations of the RTs are stable during task processing, it is a good indicator of individual difference in the study sample. Therefore, the results are more likely to show lower processing in high neurotics than in low neurotics. Taken together, despite the occasional odd findings, the general conclusion of these studies was support for the adverse effect of neuroticism on dual task processing. Therefore, the studies seem to be in line with the arousal based theory of neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967) and ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). The reason why high neurotics did not differ in terms of task processing might be because the task was not enough difficult. Therefore, when task processing in high and low neurotics is investigated, the task difficulty factor should be considered.

In contrast to the aforementioned findings, one study, an unpublished doctoral dissertation, found no association between high and low neurotics during cognitive processing of WM tasks regarding RTs and accuracy (Delbridge, 2000). In this study participants performed three tasks (a reference task, a situational judgment test, and a logic puzzle-solving test) sequentially in a certain time. The author assumed that personality traits would predict multitasking performance due to task irrelevant activities. In particular, neuroticism is assumed to be highly correlated with deficits in multitasking performance. However, the hypothesis could not be confirmed because a high level of neuroticism was not found to be associated with impairment to multitasking performance. In contrast to other studies, this study suggests that high and low neurotics do not differ on cognitive task processing. According to Delbridge (2000), the nonsignificant results may be because the participants were given a longer time to perform the tasks sequentially.

Interestingly, one study found that high neurotics were worse regarding accuracy but better regarding RTs compared to low neurotics during cognitive task processing. Flehming et al., (2010), recruited 99 participants to test the reaction time in neurotics during serial mental addition and comparison tasks. Participants were asked to find out the result of the addition task and they had to decide whether the number was larger or smaller than another number next to the addition task by pressing specified buttons. In contrast to the previous findings, they found that high neurotics processed the task faster than low neurotics. However, at the same time, high neurotics made more errors. These results can be interpreted based on 'narrowing attention' which is proposed by (Easterbrook, 1959). According to Easterbrook, (1959) the high neurotics may have focused on only a certain part of the task by narrowing their attention. For example, they may have ignored accuracy and focused on RTs as a speed accuracy trade-off strategy (Flehmig et al., 2010; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). They may have used a different speed-accuracy criterion, but their "overall performance" (processing efficiency) might have been the same (Flehmig et al., 2010). Thus, they were not necessarily better at all (Flehmig et al., 2010; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). Therefore, high neurotics may narrow their attention to accomplish a task faster but they might neglect accuracy (Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003).

However, there are several important questions regarding set size, task priority, neuroticism scores and sample size in terms of the aforementioned studies, which may have caused such inconsistency in the results. For example, generally, the studies manipulated the set size to

create easy and difficult multitasking conditions (Cox-Fuenzalida, Swickert, & Hittner, 2004; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). However it is not assessed whether an increased set size (i.e. in the number of letters) led to increased demand on the central executive system or working memory storage. Therefore, the question is, do high neurotics achieve lower response accuracy or higher reaction times due to the load on their working memory in terms of short term storage or the central executive functions? Secondly, some studies do not indicate which task was the primary task and which was the secondary task (e.g. Szymura and Wodniecka 2003; Corr 2003; Studer-Luethi, Jaeggi, Buschkuehl and Perrig, 2012). The response order in task processing is important because this allows for understanding whether the primary task or secondary task was impaired in dual task processing. There is an argument about response order in relation to neuroticism. For example, Easterbrook (1959) suggested that the secondary stimulus was impaired in high neurotics, because they focused on the first task due to narrowing their attention (i.e. first come, first served). Accordingly, the detrimental effect of neuroticism increased their attention on first task and thus the second task was ignored. On the other hand, ACT suggests that task impairment depends on the saliency of the task (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). If the first task is salient and the second task is periphery, then the second task is impaired (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). If the second task is the most salient, then the first task will be impaired (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Thirdly, they did not use selective samples because the neurological and psychiatric history of the participants, their current mood state, and their consumption of alcohol or caffeine were not assessed as exclusion criteria. (Studer-Luethi, et al., 2012; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003 but see Chan, et al., 2007). It is important to consider the exclusion criteria because arousal level may be influenced by caffeine, alcohol, or mood state in high neurotics. For example, it has been found that caffeine may have an additive effect on neurotics so the consumption of caffeine may damage their performance (Craig, Humphreys, Rocklin, & Revelle, 1979). Also, participants' history in terms of psychiatric and neurologic disorders may considerably affect the reliability of a study (i.e. depressed participants probably will be high on the neuroticism scale as well, and in this case we cannot know whether the impairment is because of neuroticism or depression (Chan et al., 2007; Chan et al., 2008). Furthermore, in some studies, participants were randomly invited and took personality tests and the median of the neuroticism scale across the sample was used to divide the participants into two groups, high (i.e. scores over 12 on the neuroticism scale) and low (i.e. scores below 12) neurotics (see Corr, 2003; Osorio, et al., 2002; Robinson &

Tamir, 2005; but see Szymura & Wodniecka 2003). For instance, although scores over 12 might be reasonable for high neurotics, scores below 12 are quite high to classify people as low neurotics, because people who score over 10 on a neuroticism questionnaire may show neurotic symptoms (Chan et al., 2007; H. J. Eysenck, 1991; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Therefore, moderate neurotics were also placed in low neurotic groups (H. J. Eysenck, 1991; H. J. Eysenck, 1991; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). This may be one of the crucial factors that may negatively affect the reliability of some of the findings. Therefore, in this thesis I will deal with these problems as well.

So far, generally, the literature has demonstrated that a high level of neuroticism is associated with impairment in difficult, stressful or demanding working memory tasks due to neuroticism related effects (Braver, 2012; H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). The question is then, what kinds of task demands in WM tasks are really demanding for neurotics? Or what stimulation conditions can cause impairment in the central cognitive mechanisms of neuroticism. Although in a few dual task studies that are related neuroticism, the results interpreted based on ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) and PET (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992), they did not assess these CES functions in relation to the detrimental effect of neuroticism. Therefore, for a reasonable explanation, I have utilised a few studies that investigated task demand and the central executive mechanism with normal and non-selective samples. To investigate the integration between task demand and neuroticism, I first investigated general task demand and WM task demand. Subsequently, I presented task demand in WM components i.e. in the CES and in the storage systems.

1.5.1.2 Empirical studies that are useful for the current study

Previous empirical studies with normal participants have demonstrated a disassociation between WM task demand and general task difficulty in WM tasks. Accordingly, task difficulty can be increased without increasing the demand in WM and thus that type of task difficulty disassociated from WM task demand. For example, Barch, et al. (1997), conducted a functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) study to examine the disassociation between demands placed on working memory and increased task difficulty in other processes apart from working memory. Eleven healthy participants performed probe tasks. Participants were required to respond to the letter 'X' but only when it followed the letter 'A' among a series of letters. Working memory demand was higher when the time interval was short between letters and lower when the time interval was longer. Furthermore, they degraded stimuli by removing %80 of pixels from the image of the letters to increase the task difficulty, which is particularly related to perceptual process and not working memory demand. Accordingly, the authors found that a higher task demand for both the degrading task and WM demands was associated with slower reaction times and higher error rates but the influenced brain areas were dissociated. Demand on working memory leads to an impairment in processing tasks and is reflected as higher dorsolateral prefrontal lobe activation. However, increased task difficulty by stimulus degradation resulted in higher activation in the anterior cingulate, and other regions of the frontal cortex. These results show the disassociation between general task difficulty and specific task demand placed on WM. The results indicate that task difficulty and WM demand similarly affect performance (Barch et al., 1997; Liefooghe, Barrouillet, Vandierendonck, & Camos, 2008). However, they are disassociated and thus task difficulty by degrading stimuli is associated with a perceptual process whereas WM demand is associated with the CES (Barch et al., 1997). Therefore, task difficulty, even placed outside of working memory, influences task processing in non-selective healthy samples. However, this should not be the case for differentiating high and low neurotics because it has been indicated that arousal and worry impairs the CES in high neurotics (see section 1.4.5). At this point, one may suggest that if task processing is affected by arousal, anxiety or stress, any type of task difficulty could trigger stress or anxiety, which impairs task processing in high neurotics. When the ACT assumption (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) about the CES is considered, any task difficulty will result in stress, but in high neurotics, greater stress affects only the CES-functions. As a potential result, if task difficulty is increased by degrading stimuli, both high and low neurotics should have higher RTs and error rates in degraded tasks compared to nondegraded tasks but the results should not differ between high and low neurotics (the interaction would be nonsignificant). One of the experimental conditions in this thesis will relate to the disassociation between task difficulty and CES demand in high and low neurotics.

Although these kinds of investigations i.e. stimuli degradation (Barch et al., 1997) have not been done in high and low neurotic samples, as I discussed in section 1.4.5 an assumption of ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) is that arousal and worry, which are associated with neuroticism, will impair the central executive function. Accordingly, task processing is influenced only when task demand is increased on the central executive component of working memory (mainly the shifting, inhibition and updating functions). Here, I discuss the empirical evidence in favour of this assumption. The evidence comes from anxiety studies that include switching tasks (i.e. WCST) and dual tasks. For example, one of the tasks for testing the shifting function is the WCST and the Comprehensive Trail Making Test (CMT). Studies on these tests usually demonstrate that high trait anxiety subjects execute higher errors and they are slower than low anxiety trait subjects (Derakshan, Smyth, & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2005; Goodwin & Sher, 1992; Orem, Petrac, & Bedwell, 2008). Furthermore, various dual task studies have found an adverse effect of trait anxiety associated with task demand in the central executive system but not the storage system. In these studies, participants performed a corsi block task concurrently with another task related to either the phonological loop, visual sketchpad or CES (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2005; MacLeod & Donnellan, 1993). The results show that task processing is considerably impaired only when one of the tasks is associated with CES. For example, Eysenck, Payne, & Derakshan (2005) conducted a dual task study with high and low anxiety groups. Participants performed a corsi block task concurrently with one of the following tasks: articulatory suppression (PL); counting backwards (CES); or spatial tapping (VSSP). Task processing was impaired in the high anxious group when they performed the corsi block task only with the second task, which was related to the central executive system. The results show that high anxiety only impaired the function of the central executive system whereas the storage system remained intact.

I will use the PRP paradigm to test the effect of neuroticism on the CES functions. As discussed (see section 1.3.3.), single tasks are simple and do not require much executive functions whereas dual task processing requires extensive use of the CES function (De Jong, 1995b; Logan & Gordon, 2001; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Meyer & Kieras, 1997b; Szameitat et al., 2016). Importantly, task processing in single and dual tasks will allow for seeing the effect of neuroticism in CES and non-CES tasks. Regarding the PRP dual task paradigm, another way to increase demand only on functions of the CES would be manipulation in task order coordination which is called random dual task conditions (Szameitat et al., 2002). Accordingly, in this paradigm, participants need to rearrange and control the processing order permanently in order to perform the dual tasks in the correct temporal order (De Jong, 1995b; Stelzel et al., 2008a; Szameitat et al., 2002). Although this approach has not been tested in neurotic samples, it has been shown that it is strongly related to the central executive function in non-selective healthy participants (De Jong, 1995b; Stelzel et al., 2008a;

Szameitat et al., 2002). Another way to examine working memory components would be the manipulation of stimuli response (S-R) mapping (Stelzel et al., 2008a). By increasing the S-R mappings the CES demand could be increased, because response selection is a decisional process that requires the CES (Szmalec et al., 2005). Increasing the S-R mapping also makes the decision more difficult because there are more options to choose from among the stimulus (Stelzel et al., 2008a; Szmalec et al., 2005). It is commonly assumed that the components of a task set, including the stimulus and response sets, the task rules, and the task context, have to be maintained in an active state of working memory when behavioural tasks are performed (Cowan, 1999; Miller, 2000). Taken together, increasing S-R mapping places demand on the CES because it is a decisional process (Stelzel et al., 2008a; Szmalec et al., 2005). In this context, lower processing efficiency might be observed in high neurotics in higher S-R mapping dual tasks performance than in low neurotics.

So far, I have discussed several studies in terms of neuroticism. Considering the studies that have investigated the effect of neuroticism on the cognitive processing of tasks has several limitations. First, although the majority of the studies demonstrate that high neurotics performed worse than low neurotics, they do not explicitly describe which component of working memory, CES, PL, and/or VSSP, is mostly influenced by a high level of neuroticism (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). Second, the role of neuroticism in relation to the three main CES functions (shifting, inhibition and updating) has not been assessed (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Third, although a few studies indicate that a high level of neuroticism impairs performance during dual task processing, they do not address which tasks are most impaired, either Task 1 or Task 2, or both equally (LeMonda et al., 2015; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). Fourth, although it is assumed that demands on the central executive functions will lead to detrimental effects on the cognitive processing of tasks (M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011), task difficulty, which is disassociated from working memory demands, has not been tested. For example, what happens when stimuli are perpetually adjusted to be more difficult, such as degrading stimuli (Barch et al., 1997)? In this thesis, I will consider these limitations as well, and thus I aim to tackle these problems by using the PRP dual task paradigm. (See section 1.3.3. for the task order in PRP and demand manipulation in relation to the CES functions in the PRP paradigm; See also 1.3.4 about general task difficulty and WM demand). For example, I compare single (non-CES) and dual task (CES) processing in high and low neurotics with an explicit task order. Furthermore, I manipulate the task demand on CES functions through parametric

manipulation (random task) and S-R mappings. To test effect of neuroticism on general task difficulty, which is disassociated from the WM demand, I add a degraded stimulus in the dual task condition.

Most of the studies related to neuroticism seem to be partially in line with Eysenck's arousal based theory of neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967), processing efficiency (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992) and attentional control theory (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). However, the majority of those studies are unable to provide information about detailed analyses of the tasks, variability in the working memory load, task difficulty, or neuroticism without the effect of other neurological and psychological disorders (Corr, 2003; LeMonda et al., 2015; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). The study of the PRP dual task paradigm may help to shed light on this problem.

1.5.2 Neuroimaging Evidence about Neuroticism Related Differences during Processing of Working Memory Tasks

Studies related to the neural correlates of neuroticism related differences regarding cognitive processing are very rare (Dima et al., 2015; Dolcos & McCarthy, 2006) whereas there are plenty of studies regarding emotional processing (Baeken et al., 2009; Canli et al., 2001; Cunningham, Arbuckle, Jahn, Mowrer, & Abduljalil, 2010; Etkin, Egner, Peraza, Kandel, & Hirsch, 2006; Reuter et al., 2004). Therefore, in addition to investigations in relation to neuroticism, I also provide evidence from anxiety studies, which can be divided into two groups of findings. While the first group of findings support the notion that neuroticism is associated with lower activation in the fronto-parietal areas during WM processing and a resting state compared low neurotics, the studies in the second group are a few in number and suggests the reverse (higher activation). To my knowledge, no studies have investigated the neural correlates of neuroticism related differences during dual task processing.

In the first group of studies, it has been shown that high levels of neuroticism result in decreased activation in the fronto-parietal regions. For example, Dolcos & McCarthy, (2006) investigated the effect of emotional and non-emotional distractors during the processing of a delayed-response working memory task regarding personality traits. In the delayed-response task there was one memoranda (a set of pictures including the probe picture), one probe picture, and distractors (neutral, scrambled, and negative). First, the participants were required to look at the memoranda to encode and maintain the pictures in their WM. Then, they were presented with one of the distractors. Finally, the probe picture was presented and

they were required to decide whether they had seen the picture in the memoranda. As expected, decreased DLPFC (right BA 9, 46 and left 9) and VLPFC (right BA 45 and left 45, 47) activity (but stronger activity in the left regions) was found when the emotional distractors were threatening stimuli. It can therefore be interpreted that threatening emotional stimuli may increase the arousal level, which impairs task processing and reduces LPFC activity in cognitive processing. Recently, Dima et al., (2015) investigated personality related activations in the brain regions while participants performed 1, 2, and 3-N back WM tasks. Task related plasticity as effective connectivity is estimated by using dynamic causal modelling. The results showed that high levels of neuroticism result in decreased activation of the fronto-parietal executive control network, e.g. during a working memory 3 N-back task. Fronto-parietal connectivity links the right DLPFC to the right ACC and the right PAR, which are cognitive control regions. As discussed in section 1.3.4, the DLPFC and ACC are dissociable. While the DLPFC is associated with manipulation and maintenance, the ACC is activated when errors are executed in WM task processing (Baker et al., 1996; MacDonald et al., 2000). In this context, manipulation and maintenance are associated with the switching and updating functions respectively (De Jong, 1995b; Stelzel et al., 2008a; Szameitat et al., 2002) and error execution may be associated with the inhibition function (Baker et al., 1996; MacDonald et al., 2000). Therefore, these results seem to be in line with the ACT assumption in relation to the CES functions and neuroticism. In addition, it seems that in people with high levels of neuroticism the grey matter volume in the prefrontal areas (i.e DLPFC, ACC) is decreased (DeYoung et al., 2010; Kapogiannis, Reiter, Willette, & Mattson, 2013), and the prefrontal cortices are less strongly coupled with other areas by means of functional connectivity (Bjørnebekk et al., 2013; Servaas et al., 2015) during a resting state. Similarly, assuming that trait anxiety equates to neuroticism, several studies have found that trait anxiety involves inefficient activation of the cognitive control regions in the brain during WM task processing (i.e. probe tasks: detecting a target letter among the distractor letters) (Bishop, 2009; Bishop, Duncan, Lawrence, & Bishop, 2004). For example, Fales et al., (2008) investigated the neural correlates of anxiety during the cognitive processing of a 3Nback working memory task. The participant pool consisted of high and low trait anxiety groups. They watched emotional and neutral videos and then they performed the cognitive task in the scanner. The detrimental effect of trait anxiety was reflected in the cognitive control regions during the processing of the working memory task. High trait anxiety individuals were observed to have reduced sustained activity in the cognitive control regions, the right VLPFC (BA 47), compared to low anxiety individuals. The right VLPFC (BA 47)

is also known to be associated with response inhibition and interference resolution (Aron, Robbins, & Poldrack, 2004; Badre & Wagner, 2005; Braver et al., 2007; Burgess & Braver, 2008). Accordingly, these results are in line with Bishop, (2007), who suggested that anxiety may impair processing efficiency due to insufficient recruitment of working memory resources. The lateral-prefrontal areas (DLPFC, VLPFC) and the ACC have frequently been associated with executive functions (Rottschy et al., 2012), and this is consistent with my argument above, that high levels of neuroticism are associated in particular with a deficit in the executive functions. These areas (i.e. DLPFC, VLPFC, ACC) are also known to be strongly involved in the top-down regulation of attention (associated with proactive control), particularly when task processing is needed for sustained attention (Fales et al., 2008). Neuroticism can increase attention on task irrelevant stimuli and reduce the focus of attention on concurrent task demands (Basten, Stelzel, & Fiebach, 2011; Bishop, 2009; Dima et al., 2015; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011; Robinson & Tamir, 2005). Taken together, the cognitive control regions such as the DLPFC, VLPFC and ACC are associated with attentional control as part of the central executive system and they are influenced by neuroticism (Bishop, 2007; Dima et al., 2015; Fales et al., 2008). Higher task demand in cognitive tasks increases worry and arousal level, which causes higher task irrelevant activities. Because high neurotics tend to use a reactive control mechanism, they have to deal with task irrelevant activities as well as task relevant activities. Consequently, high neurotics have lower neural activation in the cognitive control regions due to a scarcity of cognitive resources.

On the other hand, the second group of studies failed to show lower activation in high neurotics and demonstrated that high neurotics have greater activation in the amygdala, ACC and parietal lobe such as during oddball task processing (Eisenberger et al., 2005), and in the amygdala and VLPFC during go-no-go task processing (Hare et al., 2008). For example, Hare et al., (2008) conducted a go-no-go task with adolescents with emotional instability who were supposed to be high neurotics. This task consisted of emotional images i.e. fearful and happy faces. Participants were required to respond to one type of emotional face i.e. fearful faces while they had to ignore other faces i.e. happy faces during the stimuli presentation. The results show increased activation in the amygdala and VLPFC in subjects who supposed to be high neurotics. There are two possible reasons for such results in task processing. One is regarding limbic system activations and the second is regarding PFC activations.

First of all, it is known that the presentation of emotional stimuli (i.e. a negative stimulus) is accompanied by higher amygdala activation in high neurotics (Canli et al., 2001; Chan et al., 2008; Di Simplicio, Norbury, Reinecke, & Harmer, 2014a; Haas et al., 2007). These studies show evidence of increased activation in the limbic system. Eysenck (1967) suggested that high neurotics have higher limbic system activation during stressful task performance (see section 1.4.1). The reason for that is, worry and an increased level of arousal, which may be related to emotional processes that influence the limbic system (Canli et al., 2001; Eisenberger et al., 2005). This assumption seems to be acceptable for emotional processing because high neurotics often show higher limbic system activation during the presentation of negative emotional stimuli (Canli et al., 2001; Eisenberger et al., 2005). Therefore, this assumption may be specified for emotional processing in high neurotics but not for cognitive processing because the cognitive studies that support this assumption are minor and consist of emotional cues.

Secondly, the task may not be difficult enough to show the detrimental effect of neuroticism. DMC suggests that high neurotics are inclined to use a reactive control mechanism that causes insufficient recruitment of WM resources, as is evidenced by lower activation in high neurotics (see section 1.4.5) (Braver et al., 2007). However, the inclination towards a reactive control mechanism in high neurotics does not mean that high neurotics always use a reactive control mechanism in all tasks (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012). The task has to be demanding enough to increase the task irrelevant activities and thus high neurotics use reactive control while low neurotics use a proactive control mechanism (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012). Consequently, the tasks in these studies that failed to show lower activation in the PFC may not have been demanding enough to reveal the detrimental effect of neuroticism, i.e. the high neurotics did not use a reactive control mechanism.

Taken together, the studies that show higher limbic system and PFC activation in high neurotics consisted of emotional stimuli and the tasks may have been found to be easy. Because the task demand was not high in these studies, high neurotics did not show lower activation in the cognitive control regions. Furthermore, because the tasks consisted of emotional stimuli high neurotics showed increased amygdala activation, which is not related to cognitive processing.

In summary, the empirical results demonstrate that a high level of neuroticism impairs the processing of WM tasks, which reflects decreased activation in the cognitive control areas

such as the DLPFC, VLPFC and ACC. The studies that failed to show this pattern of results in high neurotics often used tasks that were not difficult enough to increase the arousal level and they were consisted of emotional stimuli.

1.6 Summary of Literature Review

Neuroticism refers to an inclination to negative affect and it taps the same features as trait anxiety (Jorm, 1989). It has been suggested that neuroticism negatively influences cognitive processing and thus it has a detrimental effect on WM and dual task processing (Studer-Luethi et al., 2012). The arousal based theory of Eysenck, (1967) suggests that high neurotics perform worse than low neurotics on difficult tasks due to a higher level of arousal. Furthermore, recently ACT (Eysenck et al., 2007) has suggested that the detrimental effect of neuroticism most likely influences the CES functions. To explore the CES functions in relation to neuroticism, the PRP dual task paradigm may be employed because generally it is very well investigated and thus it is understood theoretically and empirically. Regarding empirical studies, most of the previous research on neuroticism has focused on the effect of emotional cues and negative/positive memories in relation to neuroticism whereas research on working memory task processing in relation to neuroticism is limited. While several researchers are now implementing WM tasks, much of the related dual tasks remain relatively unexplored. Theoretically, it is suggested that a high level of neuroticism impairs the central executive system (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) and is accompanied by lower neural activation in the cognitive control network during cognitive tasks (Dima et al., 2015). Some investigations have highlighted the role of the detrimental effect of neuroticism during the processing of WM and dual tasks, yet it is unclear which component and function of WM is responsible for the decrements that occur due to neuroticism. Also, there is no study that shows what is occurring within the brain during dual task processing in high and low neurotics. It is important to gain a clear understanding of neuroticism related differences during the cognitive processing of dual tasks, especially if we assume that high-level neuroticism leads to deficits that contribute to poor dual task processing. To understand neuroticism in relation to working memory well validated standard tests can be used. Among the dual task methods, the PRP dual paradigm is a well-controlled paradigm and it fits neatly with Miyake et al.'s (2000) findings, which suggest that there are three main functions, switching, inhibition and updating. In this way, we can find where task impairments occur in high neurotics as compared to low neurotics.

1.7 The Current Study Outlines and Aims

In this section, I will outline my research aims, hypotheses, methods and results. Firstly, a brief introduction will be given regarding the general research aim, and the hypothesis and methods. Subsequently, a brief overview of each chapter will be presented. Finally, I draw a short conclusion regarding the current research in chapter 7.

1.7.1 Introduction to the current research

To investigate my current research, I asked the question, "What are the behavioural and neural correlates of neuroticism related differences during the processing of controlled cognitive tasks, particularly dual tasks?" Here, it is important to explain cognitive processes and why I preferred to use term 'controlled cognitive process'. Cognitive process refers to composition of mental operations which involve in thoughts, experience and the emotions. Generally, there are two categories of cognitive processing which is automatic and controlled processes. While an automatic process is capable of occurring without the need for attention, and the awareness of the initiation or operation of the process, and without drawing upon general processing resources or interfering with other concurrent thought processes, a controlled process controlled processes are defined as a process that is under the flexible, intentional control of the individual, that he or she is consciously aware of, and that are effortful and constrained by the amount of attentional resources available at the moment. For example a guitarist can play with guitar with an automatic process. Because working memory tasks and dual task performance requires attention and a considerable mental effort, in this thesis the term cognitive processing is refers to controlled cognitive processing.

Based on the information given above, the general hypothesis to be tested is that high neurotics will have lower performance in cognitive tasks which demands switching, inhibition and updating functions and will show lower neural activation in the fronto-parietal areas as compared to low neurotics. To that end, I conducted a series of experiments with high and low neurotics. The experimental findings of each chapter led to the design of the next study. Thus, the current research consists of seven chapters. The first chapter includes the literature review. The next five chapters are empirical chapters (the fifth: fMRi study), and the last chapter includes a general discussion and conclusion. In total this study consists of seven chapters.In chapter 1, I elaborate neuroticism related studies and potential studies that may be useful for investigating neuroticism in relation to cognitive processing. The

assessment of the studies and current predictions is developed based on the related theories (i.e. arousal based theory of neuroticism, PET and ACT).

In chapter 2, I use a series of tests, SWM (VSSP), SOC (inhibition), and IED (switching and inhibition) associated with different functions or components of WM from the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery (CANTAB) by manipulating the task difficulty. I aim to investigate the behavioural correlates of individuals who scored high on the neuroticism scale in the cognitive processing of those Cantab tasks. One reason for the inclusion of the SWM is that I aim to test the specificity of the predictions in my design. In other words, I want to test whether neuroticism really affects only CES, and not the slave systems. Because PL might be influenced slightly, I chose the VSSP. The hypothesis to be tested was that high neurotics will have worse performance than low neurotics in the processing of cognitive tasks associated with the CES functions.

In chapter 3, in contrast to the Cantab tasks, I use the PRP dual-task paradigm including single tasks and dual tasks (includes fixed and random conditions), which can be made more complex by manipulating the SOA and through parametric manipulation (random task) compared to single tasks. The chapter aims to explore neuroticism-related differences in the PRP-paradigm. The hypothesis to be tested is that individuals with high scores on the neuroticism scale of the EPQ will have poorer performance compared to individuals with lower scores on neuroticism in the dual task experiment.

In Chapter 4, the stimuli are consisted of circles (visual stimuli) and beep tones (auditory stimuli). The previous dual task study (chapter 3) included faces and syllables. The stimuli in chapter 3 as such were rather neutral. However, because they were "social" (faces and syllables) they may have had an emotional/social component for some of the participants. Therefore, I aim to replicate the results of chapter 3. Based on this, I have designed a new experiment that includes non-emotional stimuli. Therefore I have replaced the male and female faces with yellow and blue circles; syllables to beeps. The hypothesis to be tested is whether high neurotics will have higher dual tasks costs in dual task processing, similar to my previous results.

In Chapter 5, I aim to investigate the effect of the load placed on the central executive system by increasing the number of S-R mappings in high and low neurotics during the cognitive dual task processing. Also, I aim to test whether the dual task cost occurs due to increased
demands specifically on the CES, or whether there is any other kind of difficult situation that may cause this cost during the processing of the dual task. Finally, I use a questionnaire to investigate the perceived stress level in high and low neurotics. The hypothesis to be tested is whether high neurotics will have higher dual task cost compared with low neurotics, as the load increases during processing of the dual tasks; however, when the tasks become difficult for both groups the cost differences will be constant.

In Chapter 6, it is known that neuroticism impairs cognitive performance mostly in difficult tasks, but not so much in easier tasks. However, the functional neuroanatomical correlates of these performance impairments are unknown. I asked, "what are the neural correlates of neuroticism related differences in the PRP dual task paradigm?" To test this, I assessed brain activity by means of functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) in low and high neurotics while they were performing a demanding dual-task and the less demanding component tasks as single-tasks.

In Chapter 7, I assess the findings of the empirical chapters and interpret their results. Furthermore, I indicate the importance of the study and directions for future research.

2 Chapter - Neuroticism related differences during processing of standard working memory tasks

2.1 Introduction

The first experiment was designed to explore the cognitive correlates of neuroticism by relating differences in scores across a group to neuropsychological tasks. Eysenck (1967) suggested that high neurotics perform worse on difficult tasks compared with low neurotics. ACT suggests more specifically that the detrimental effect of neuroticism mainly impairs three CES functions (switching, inhibition and updating) (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Empirical studies have found evidence that neuroticism negatively influences WM task processing such as in dual tasks (see section 1.5.1) (Corr, 2003; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). Although these studies are informative, they did not specifically split the WM components in relation to the effect of neuroticism. In other words, the effects of neuroticism on standard WM tasks could reflect its effects on slave systems and specific CES functions (i.e. switching, inhibition, updating) (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Thus, one needs to understand exactly whether neuroticism has a detrimental effect on the CES or the slave systems as well.

Miyake et al. (2000) specified the main functions of the CES (switching, inhibition and updating) by using a few standard WM tests (see section 1.3.2). A few studies have investigated the effect of anxiety on specific components of WM using dual task experiments (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2005). However, in this chapter, I investigate the effect of neuroticism upon single standard WM tasks using the EPQ scale (Eysenck, 1975) as a relatively direct measure of neuroticism. Because ACT suggests that the detrimental effect of neuroticism is generally associated with these CES functions, I select similar tests to Miyake et al. (2000) (i.e. tests similar to the Wisconsin card sorting test (WCST) and Tower of Hanoi (TOH)). I select a SWM task as well because I want to test whether neuroticism specifically affects the CES only, and not the slave systems. As PL might be influenced slightly (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007), I have chosen the task associated with VSSP. Therefore, this study aims to not only replicate previous findings but also provide a new insight into the effect of neuroticism on components of WM. As the tasks that I have selected are similar to the WCST, TOH, and Corsi Block, I will briefly outline the findings for these tests in relation to the CES functions to clarify the rationale for this study.

The IED set shifting task is a computerized version of the WCST (Grant & Berg, 1948; Ozonoff et al., 2004). This type of task is considered to be the gold standard in terms of measuring the executive system (Baddeley, 1996a; Gamboz, Borella, & Brandimonte, 2009). These tasks are believed to measure the switching and inhibition functions of CES (Baddeley, 1996a; Goldberg & Gold, 1995; Shallice, 1982; Stratta et al., 1997). The IED set shifting task consists of coloured shapes (figures) and white lines (Ozonoff et al., 2004). The participant responds to one stimulus set (shape or lines) and learns from feedback which particular stimulus within that set they should respond to (Dickinson, Potter, Hybels, McQuoid, & Steffens, 2011; Ozonoff et al., 2004). After several trials a shift in the rules determining the feedback occurs (Dickinson et al., 2011; Ozonoff et al., 2004). There are two possible types of set shift in the task: intra-dimensional and extra-dimensional (Dickinson et al., 2011). An intra dimensional shift occurs when participants are required to switch from one exemplar to another within the same cognitive set, e.g. responding to a different shape within the shape set (Baddeley, 1996a; Dickinson et al., 2011). In an extradimensional shift the participant has to respond to the other stimulus set, e.g. lines instead of shapes (Ozonoff et al., 2004). The extra-dimensional shift is associated with conceptual flexibility, which means the ability to switch from one concept or cognitive set to another (Dickinson et al., 2011). It has been suggested that this task is strongly associated with the switching and inhibition functions (Friedman & Miyake, 2004; Miyake et al., 2000; Mullane & Corkum, 2007). Relying on this information, ACT suggests that if the task involves the switching and inhibition functions there will be a detrimental effect of neuroticism (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009). Therefore, I hypothesize that high neurotics will perform worse than low neurotics on IED set shifting tasks.

The SOC task is a computerized version of tower tasks such as the tower of London and tower of Hanoi (Ozonoff et al., 2004). In this task, participants are presented with two displays (on the top and bottom of the screen), each with three colours distributed across three columns (Ozonoff et al., 2004). Participants are required to copy the configuration in the upper display by moving the balls in the lower display to match the configuration (Ozonoff et al., 2004). Participants are required to complete the task with the minimum number of moves (either 2 moves or 5 moves) indicated on the screen (Ozonoff et al., 2004). The task becomes more complicated and difficult as the minimum number of moves increases (Ozonoff et al., 2004). Miyake, et al. (2000) suggest that tower tasks may be associated with the inhibition function because participants use a perceptual strategy, 'which

involves simply making a next move that will bring the current state perceptually closer to the goal state'. Thus, Miyake et al. (2000) suggest that most people use a perceptual strategy for the tower of Hanoi (TOH) task and this strategy makes the task less demanding. Therefore, they suppose that tower tasks (including SOC tasks) should be taken as a measure of inhibition function (Miyake et al., 2000). If the task becomes highly demanding then it is more likely to be associates with the planning (the evaluation and selection of a sequence of thoughts and actions to achieve a desired goal) function of the central executive system (Miyake et al., 2000). However, there are differences between the tower of Hanoi and SOC task that may indicate that the SOC is a measure of the pure planning function (Ozonoff et al., 2004). For example, the TOH consists of a set of discs lined up like a pyramid. Participants are asked to copy a given specific configuration of the discs (Miyake et al., 2000; Ozonoff et al., 2004). Participants can only move one disc each time and they are not allowed to place a disc above a smaller one (Miyake et al., 2000; Ozonoff et al., 2004). The task requires a perfect minimum move solution (Ozonoff et al., 2004). Therefore, in contrast to the SOC, the TOH includes not only the planning function but also rule following and procedural learning, whereas the SOC involves a purer measure of the planning function of the CES (Ozonoff et al., 2004). Taken together, both inhibition and planning are functions of the central executive system and thus impairment during the processing of the SOC task can be interpreted as the task involving the central executive system (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992). Although such an interpretation would be applicable in terms of PET (Eysenck & Calvo, 1992), ACT specifically indicates that if the task involves the three main functions such as inhibition then anxiety impairs the task processing (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). In this view, it is important to explain the differences between similar tasks. Because the assumption of ACT regarding the inhibition function is based on the findings of Miyake et al., (2000), who used tower tasks to contribute to their findings, I suppose that the SOC task is associated with the inhibition function to some extent in addition to the planning function. Thus, I hypothesize that high neurotics will perform worse as the task difficulty increases compared to low neurotics.

Finally, the spatial working memory task (SWM) is a type of searching task. Participants are required to search for the tokens that are hidden in the boxes. They are required to remember each box they visit so that they do not search in the visited boxes again (Steele, Minshew, Luna, & Sweeney, 2007). The task demand increases as the number of boxes increases from 4 to 6 and then 8 and thus participants are required to maintain more locations of the boxes

as the task demand increases (Steele et al., 2007). This task is a popular measure of visuospatial recall (Vandierendonck, Kemps, Fastame, & Szmalec, 2004). While it is strongly associated with the visuospatial sketchpad, it is associated less with the central executive system (Vandierendonck et al., 2004). According to ACT, WM storage systems (specifically the visuospatial sketchpad) do not suffer from a processing impairment in relation to neuroticism (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007).

Taken together, the following tasks were selected for the study: IED set shifting tasks, SOC, and SWM. To that end, I compared high and low neurotics regarding their performance in the cognitive processing of these tasks.

The hypotheses to be tested are as follows:

- I. High and low neurotics do not differ on the SWM task processing because SWM is associated with VSSP.
- II. High neurotics have higher impairments in terms of processing SOC tasks because they are associated with the inhibition function.
- III. High neurotics have greater impairments in IED set shifting tasks as compared to low neurotics because IED set shifting tasks are associated with the switching and inhibition functions.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Participants

To create extreme groups of high and low neurotics (High-N and Low-N, respectively), I screened participants using the 24-item neuroticism scale of the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ; Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975). Five participants were excluded because of current or previous depression or anxiety disorders according to the history of past or current psychiatric or neurologic disorders questionnaire. From the people screened using the neuroticism scale of EPQ, 45 people was selected to take part in the final experiment: 24 (12 female) were in the High-N group (mean EPQ score=18.10, range=16–24) and 21 (8 female) were in the Low-N group (mean EPQ score= 3.52, range=1–6). The two groups were roughly matched for age (High-N = 21.21 and Low-N=22.86) and gender (HN: 50% female, LN: = 40%). All of the participants were right-handed as assessed by the Edinburgh Inventory (Oldfield, 1971) and had normal or corrected to normal vision. Before participant gave written informed consent. The participants were paid £10

for participating for one hour. The study was approved by the Department of Life Sciences ethics committee at Brunel University.

2.2.2 Materials

2.2.2.1 Ishihara colour-blindness test (Ishihara, 1987)

This test used six plates from which the participants had to distinguish coloured numerals presented on a background of an alternative colour; the last plate had no numeral printed on it (see Appendix C). The response had to be given within three seconds. This test was administered to ensure that any effects found using the CANTAB were not due to a vision deficiency.

2.2.2.2 Additional materials

A medical questionnaire and alcohol and caffeine consumption survey were also used; copies can be found in Appendices A and B respectively.

2.2.2.3 Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) (Beck, Epstein, Brown, & Steer, 1988)

The BDI is a 21-item self-report inventory validated for measuring the severity of depression (Beck, Steer & Garbin, 1988) and for detecting possible depression in healthy populations. Scores range from 0 - 63 and a score of 15 or over indicates possible depression. The inventory is composed of items relating to symptoms of depression such as feelings of guilt, hopelessness and irritability and physical symptoms such as fatigue (DSM IV-TR, 2000). The BDI's validity is well-established with samples from different populations and it has yielded adequate reliability estimates, with a mean coefficient alpha of 0.81 for non-psychiatric subjects (Beck, Steer, Ball & Ranieri, 1996).

2.2.2.4 EPQ (Eysenck Personality Questionnaire) (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975)

The Eysenck personality questionnaire (EPQ) (see Appendix D) consists of three personality dimensions and a lie scale. Psychoticism includes 25, extraversion 21 and neuroticism 24. Neuroticism is characterized by a high level of negative affect such as depression and anxiety (see section 1.2.2). Scoring over 10 is an indication of neuroticism symptoms (see Eysenck, 1991). However, because I investigate high and low neuroticism, I focused on extreme samples of high and low neuroticism. Based on previous studies, participants were selected who scored over 15 (high neuroticism) and below 6 (low neuroticism) on the scale (Chan,

Harmer and Goodwin, 2008; Chan, Goodwin and Harmer, 2007; Portello, Harmer, Flint, Cowen, and Goodwin, 2005).

2.2.3 Cognitive Stimuli: Cambridge Neuropsychological Tasks Automated Battery (CANTAB)

The current study includes three CANTAB tasks, which were: (a) Stocking of Cambridge (SOC), (b) Spatial Working Memory task (SWM); (c) Intra-Extra Dimensional Shift task (IED). The administered tasks are described briefly below.

2.2.3.1 Stocking of Cambridge (SOC)

The SOC is designed as a spatial planning task that is also suggested to be associated with the inhibition function. In this task, two displays are presented on a screen, one located at the top and the other located at the bottom. Each display contains three coloured balls. The participants are required to look at the top pattern (configuration) and copy that pattern in the bottom pattern by moving the coloured balls to their proper location on the touch screen (make the bottom pattern same as the top pattern) (see figure 2.1.). The participants touch the required balls and then touch the position of where the ball should be moved. Copying the top pattern is restricted by limited moves. Therefore, the number of moves indicates the task difficulty. The easiest condition is copying the pattern with one move. Thus, the task difficulty increases from one move to five moves, which is the most difficult condition. The time spent completing the task and the number of moves used is the results measures. There are four outcome measures (dependent variables). The initial move refers to the first move RTs that is successful for each pattern. Subsequent moves refer to successful moves RTs that were made after the first move for each pattern. The mean moves refer to the mean of the total successful moves in a task set (i.e mean of moves in 2 move SOC task). The minimum SOC moves refer to the total number of successful moves in the task (Ozonoff et al., 2004).



Figure 2-1 shows an example of the SOC task with one move. The top pattern must be copied in the bottom pattern. Thus, the participant moves the green ball into the empty location on the right

2.2.3.2 Spatial/visual Working Memory Task (SWM)

A Spatial Working Memory Task (SWM) is a self-ordered searching task. Subjects are asked to find hidden tokens in a spatial array of coloured boxes on the screen (see figure 2.2.). Subjects are informed that visited boxes that contain a token will not hold a token again in the same trial and thus they should seek another token which is previously not emptied boxes. Once they find a token they must place it in the column to the right of the screen. In this task, no feedback is given. The difficulty of the task is manipulated by increasing the number of boxes. Firstly, tokens are hidden in four boxes and subsequently the number of boxes is increased to six and then eight. The task assesses the accuracy of spatial/visual working memory with the following outcome measures: 'Within-search errors' (the number of times a participant revisits a box already found to be empty during the same search); 'between errors' (the number of times a participant revisits a box in which a token has already been found within a given trial); and total errors (total number of errors during the whole task) (Owen, Downes, Sahakian, Polkey & Robbins, 1990).



Figure 2-2 an example of an SWM task with 8 boxes. Blue token in the left bottom is the target. Participants look for blow tokens by touching yellow tokens.

2.2.3.3 Intra-Extra Dimensional Shift Task (IED)

IED is an attentional set shifting task that is a computerized analogue of the Wisconsin card sorting test (Grant & Berg, 1948). This task measures the participants' ability in terms of rule acquisition and switching, which is associated with flexibility of attention. The task consists of nine stages and each stage has a maximum of 50 trials. There are two stimuli: one is colour-filled shapes and the other is white lines in a display (see figure 2.3). While a simple stimulus is only consists of one dimension, either a shape or a line (i.e. panel A), a compound stimulus includes both dimensions, shapes and lines (i.e. panel B) (Ozonoff et al., 2004).

In the task, there are two rules. The first rule is called an intra-extra dimensional shift and participants should respond to shapes while ignoring lines. The second rule is an extra-intra dimensional shift; therefore, they should respond to lines while ignoring shapes. When the experiment started, the participants were required to touch the patterns to learn which rule they should follow. For example, if the shifts are intra-extra dimensional, then the relevant dimension is shapes and participants should respond to shape discrimination. If the shifts are extra-intra dimensional they should respond to line discrimination. When participants follow a rule, it changes after six correct responses and then the other rule starts. In this case, participants were required to switch the rule and respond to the task based on the new rule. Feedback was given after each response and thus the participants could learn the correct

responses and after six correct responses a new compound stimulus was displayed, still varying along the same two dimensions, shape and line. The feedback for correct responses was a high auditory tune in the colour green, whereas a low auditory tune was given for incorrect responses in the colour red, simultaneously with the participant's response (Ozonoff et al., 2004).

The task has four outcome measures. It assesses errors, and the numbers of trials and stages completed. Mainly, the primary outcome measures are "stages completed", which refers to successfully completing one of the tasks set (i.e. making 6 correct responses either in the intra-dimensional or extra-dimensional section) (total number of stages completed successfully); "EDS errors" (errors made at the stage where the participant is required to make an extra-dimensional shift); "total errors (adjusted)" (aggregate number of errors made in the task across all stages attempted, adjusted by adding 25 for each stage not attempted due to premature failure); and "total trials (adjusted)" (total number of trials completed in all stages attempted, adjusted by adding 50 for each stage not attempted due to premature failure).



Intradimensional shifts (shapes are relavant)

Extradimensional shifts (Lines are relevant)

Figure 2-3 shows an example of the IED set shifting task Panel A. shows an easy condition of the intra-dimensional task. Panel B. shows a condition of the extra-dimensional task.

2.2.4 Procedure

All of the participants were given time to read and sign their written informed consent forms (see Appendix E for consent form) and were tested individually in a cubicle room. First, the participants were given a medical questionnaire and a caffeine consumption survey, an

Ishara colour test and a BDI. Based on the questions, I employed the following exclusion criteria: presence of any past or current major medical, neurological or psychiatric illness that might have diminished cognitive functioning; use of psychoactive medication; consumption of alcohol; consumption of \geq 8 cups or \geq 900mg caffeine; scoring over 15 in the Beck depression inventory (BDI) (Beck et al., 1988); and colour blindness (Ishihara, 1987). Thus, eligible participants were selected. The participants were given the EPQ and were informed how to complete the questionnaire. Later, the participants were seated in front of the CANTAB computer, which is an Advantech personal computer (Model PP-120-RT) with a 10 ½ in. touch-screen monitor. The SOC, SWM and IED tasks were presented to the participants in a counterbalanced order.

The CANTAB tasks started with the practice session to introduce the participants to the touch screen and eliminate sensorimotor or comprehension difficulties that might restrict collecting valid data from the participants. After the participants had completed practice task, they continued to the three main tasks, the SOC, IED and SWM. The participants were instructed verbally from the script and some tasks were demonstrated by the experimenter. When the participants were not clear how to proceed, appropriate instructions were given. To eliminate order effect, the CANTAB tasks were counterbalanced. Finally, on completion of all of the tasks, a debriefing form was issued.

2.3 Data analysis

If not otherwise noted, in the following analyses, an analysis independent t test was used. The significance for all effects was reported at p < .05 (two tailed) unless otherwise stated. The grouping variable was EPQ- Neuroticism with the levels high and low neuroticism. The testing variables were the task conditions. See Table 2.1 for a summary of the outcome measures for the individual CANTAB tasks. In all independent t test analysis Levene's test for equality of variances were considered. It should be noted that Levene's test for equality of variances are reported when it is significant, otherwise, when it is not significant, the results were reported with normal independent t test results. Therefore, in the current chapter, because Levene's test for equality of variances were not significant, the results reported with independent t tests results only.

Cognitive task	Measures/DVs
Spatial Working Memory (SWM)	Within errors
	Between errors
	Strategy
Intra-Extra Dimensional Shift (IED)	EDS errors
	IED Stages completed
	IED Total errors (adjusted)
	IED Total trials (adjusted)
Stocking of Cambridge (SOC)	Initial 2, 3, 4, and 5 moves
	Mean 2, 3, 4, and 5 moves
	Subsequent 2, 3, 4, 5 moves
	SOC Min. Moves

Table 2-1 Shows outcome measures of (Dependent Variables (DV)) cognitive tasks

2.4 Results

I calculated independent t test for each outcome measure in each task with neuroticism as a between group factor factors. The IED set shifting task (which associates with switching and inhibition function for testing hypothesis III) variables demonstrated that high neurotics significantly differed from low neurotics in the processing of the IED set shifting task. The high neurotics made more errors than the low neurotics during the processing of the extradimensional set shifting; [EDS errors, t (45) = 9.25; p < .01]. Furthermore, the high neurotics had a higher total number of errors across the tasks, i.e. the high neurotics always made more errors than the low neurotics p < .01]. The high neurotics performed considerably higher numbers of trials to achieve the tasks compared to the low neurotics [total trials (adjusted), t (45) = 8.93; p < .01]). Additionally, the numbers of successfully completed tasks were higher among the low neurotics compared to the high neurotics [stages completed main effect, t (45) = 7.36; p < .01]) (see table 2.2). Taken together, these results indicate that, although the high neurotics took more trials to achieve a task, they still had more errors and a lower number of successfully completed tasks.

Group Statistics					
	Groups	No	Mean	SD	Std. Error Mean
	HIGH N	24	10.38	10.16	2.07
EDS errors	LOW N	21	3.52	4.34	.94
	HIGH N	24	8.54	.83	.17
IED stages completed	LOW N	21	9.00	.00	.00
IED total errors	HIGH N	24	18.38	11.45	2.33
	LOW N	21	10.76	5.66	1.23
IED total errors adjusted	HIGH N	24	23.58	19.83	4.04
	LOW N	21	10.76	5.66	1.23
	HIGH N	24	81.88	18.18	3.71
IED total trials	LOW N	21	69.71	13.85	3.02

Table 2-2 Number of errors and successfully completed stages for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N,) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N).

Tabular from in table 2-2 is also presented in the form of boxplot graphs to assist clearly see mean and standard deviations in high and low neurotic groups.





Regarding the SOC tasks (which strongly associates with planning function and weakly associates with inhibition function for testing hypothesis II.), the independent t test results

demonstrated that the high and low neurotics did not differ with regard to either the number of moves or the total time for task completion p>.05 (see table 2.3.). All pairwise comparisons were non-significant for RTs: [all t (45) < (largest: 3.50/ lowest: .10), all p > (largest: .10/ lowest .93)] and for number of moves: [all t (45) < (largest: 3.50/ lowest: .10), all p > (largest: .10/ lowest: .93)]. However, generally, based on the mean values, the high neurotics were numerically faster, with a higher mean number of moves, and less accurate than the low neurotics. These results may indicate that the high neurotics used a compensatory strategy (speed-accuracy trade off) to achieve the task faster while ignoring error execution. Taken together, all of the variants showed that both the high and low neurotics performed the SOC tasks from the easy version (two moves) to the difficult version (5 moves) and they did not differ statistically (p> .05) either in terms of RTs or accuracy (number of moves that they attempted to achieve the tasks). However, despite the nonsignificant results regarding the SOC tasks, numerically, the high neurotics had faster reaction times with lower accuracy.

Group Statistics					
	Groups	No	Mean	SD	Std. Error Mean
	HIGH N	24	1305.81	887.45	181.15
SOC Initial 2move	LOW N	21	1574.15	1018.39	227.72
	HIGH N	24	3811.62	2466.57	503.48
SOC Initial 3move	LOW N	21	3730.75	3020.33	675.36
	HIGH N	24	6484.83	3837.66	783.36
SOC Initial 4move	LOW N	21	9179.95	7271.48	1625.95
	HIGH N	24	8907.95	6731.68	1374.10
SOC Initial 5move	LOW N	21	13530.50	9233.17	2064.60
	HIGH N	24	2.08	.28	.05
SOC Mean 2move	LOW N	21	2.05	.22	.05
	HIGH N	24	3.12	.33	.06
SOC Mean 3move	LOW N	21	3.07	.18	.04
	HIGH N	24	5.21	.98	.20
SOC Mean 4move	LOW N	21	4.95	.55	.12
	HIGH N	24	6.56	1.73	.35
SOC Mean 5move	LOW N	21	5.98	1.15	.25
	HIGH N	24	133.25	216.25	44.143
SOC Subsequent 2move	LOW N	21	117.10	209.77	46.90
SOC Subsequent 3move	HIGH N	24	145.32	328.04	66.96

	LOW N	21	250.25	474.54	106.110
SOC Subsequent 4move	HIGH N	24	1188.25	1658.76	338.59
	LOW N	21	1204.53	1485.13	332.08
	HIGH N	24	500.51	585.33	119.48
SOC Subsequent 5move	LOW N	21	747.28	989.71	221.30
SOC Min. Moves	HIGH N	24	9.20	2.28	.46
	LOW N	21	10.00	1.41	.31

Table 2-3 Response times (initial and subsequent moves) and number of moves (mean moves) for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N,) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N).

Similarly, to test effect of neuroticism on visuospatial sketchpad (hypothesis I), in dependent t test used to analyse results of SWM tasks. The results show no differences were found regarding any variables of SWM p> .05 between groups. Thus, all of the comparisons were non-significant. (all t (45) < (.05), all p >.47) (see table 2.4). These results indicate that the high and low neurotics performed similarly on the spatial working memory tasks from the easy to the difficult versions.

Group Statistics						
	Groups	No	Mean	SD	Std. Error Mean	
	HIGH N	24	16.83	12.30	2.51	
SWM between errors	LOW N	21	16.62	17.60	3.84	
	HIGH N	24	18.29	12.58	2.57	
SWM tot. errors	LOW N	21	17.00	17.91	3.90	
SWM within errors	HIGH N	24	1.17	2.03	.41	
	LOW N	21	.90	1.26	.27	

Table 2-4 shows the error rates and searching strategy for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N,) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N).

2.5 Discussion

The results show that the high neurotics had a greater impairment than the low neurotics during the IED set shifting task processing. Despite the higher number of trials they had higher errors when they made an extra-dimensional shift and also across the entire task (total errors). The high and low neurotics did not differ statistically on the SOC task processing regarding either RTs or accuracy. However, numerically, the high neurotics were faster with lower accuracy. Finally, the high and low neurotics did not differ on the SWM task processing because they had similar accuracy across all conditions.

Eysenck (1967) suggests that high neurotics perform difficult tasks worse than low neurotics. Furthermore, ACT suggests a more specified assumption that high neuroticism impairs certain functions of the CES (switching, inhibition and updating) but not the storage systems. The results demonstrate that the assumption of Eysenck, (1967) cannot be generalized regarding task difficulty for SWM and partially for SOC, because despite the increasing task demand in these tasks, the high and low neurotics did not differ in terms of their performance. Based on the inverted U curve, Eysenck (1967) suggests that if the task is very easy or very difficult, high and low neurotics may perform similarly. The reason for that is that if the task is easy the arousal level may not reach the threshold level even in high neurotics. If the task is very difficult, then the arousal level may exceed the threshold in both high and low neurotics. Thus, in both cases, high and low neurotics may perform similarly ranges from 0 (very easy) to 10 (very difficult), as soon as a task is more difficult than level from 5 to 8, high and low neurotics differ in their performance. Below 5, high and low neurotics are the same, because the task difficulty is not high enough to differentiate them.

This interpretation might account for the results of the SOC task but not those of the SWM task. It has been suggested that normal subjects perform easily in the SWM two and four box tasks. However, they suffer due to task difficulty when searching 5 or 6 boxes on the screen (Steele et al., 2007; Vandierendonck et al., 2004). In the current study, the SWM task is started by searching from 2 boxes to 8 boxes. In other words, in the SWM task, the demand increased by searching tokens from 2 to 4; 4 to 6 and 6 to 8 boxes. Thus, the participants had to maintain more box locations as the demand increased (Steele et al., 2007; Vandierendonck et al., 2004). Therefore, it seems that the task difficulty was well manipulated. This task is more likely to be associated with the visuospatial storage of working memory (Baddeley, 1996a; Vandierendonck et al., 2004). Furthermore, this finding is supported by theories such as ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) and PET (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992) because these theories suggest that if a task is associated with VSSP then high neurotics perform the same as low neurotics.

The interpretation of task difficulty may be approachable for SOC tasks for two reasons. First, numerically, the high neurotics were faster but less successful on task completion. The high neurotics may have narrowed their attention for faster task processing and they may neglect the error execution in the task (speed-accuracy trade-off) (Easterbrook, 1959). It is known that higher error rates are related to an impairment of the inhibition function, because avoiding errors requires inhibiting the proponent task until the necessary task has been executed (Carter et al., 2000; MacDonald et al., 2000). Second, SOC task processing is associated with the inhibition function (Miyake et al., 2000; but see Oznonoff et al, 2004), and furthermore ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) suggests that high neuroticism impairs task processing if the task is associated with inhibition. Considering these two points regarding the SOC, because the task was not optimally difficult, the arousal level may not have exceeded the activation threshold in the high neurotics (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967) and thus both the high and low neurotics had a statistically similar performance. Another potential reason is that the SOC may not be strongly associated with the inhibition function but rather the planning function as the load increases (Ozonoff et al., 2004). Therefore, neuroticism did not impair the task processing because the increased task demand was associated with planning and not with inhibition (Ozonoff et al., 2004). Miyake et al. (2000) suggest that the TOH task processing is associated with inhibition. However, the TOH seems to be more demanding than the SOC regarding the inhibition function because the TOH includes more rules and procedures compared to the SOC (Ozonoff et al., 2004). For instance, the TOH and SOC require copying a pattern with a certain number of moves (Ozonoff et al., 2004). In addition, the TOH is a pyramidal shape and thus it requires copying the pattern by selecting a disc which has the proper size. (i.e. a big size disc cannot be placed on a small disc for completion of the pyramid) (Ozonoff et al., 2004). Taken together, the results are more likely to be in line with ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007), which suggests that the CES functions (switching, inhibition and updating) are influenced by the detrimental effect of neuroticism. It is also indicated that high and low neurotics do not differ either in their reaction times or task accuracy in the processing of visual repository (H. J. Eysenck, 1967).

It has been suggested that high levels of neuroticism will cause impairment in processing efficiency and performance effectiveness during the processing of tasks, if they involve the switching and inhibition functions (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Considering this assumption, I hypothesized that high neurotics will differ considerably in favour of low neurotics during the processing of IED set shifting tasks. The results obviously demonstrate that the high neurotics made more errors both in the extra-dimensional shifts (EDS errors) and across all of the tasks. Also, they performed a greater number of trials to learn the tasks than the low neurotics, and they successfully completed

less number of stages. As mentioned, the IED set shifting task has been used as a measure of executive functions (Delis, Kaplan, & Kramer, 2001; Gamboz, et al., 2009 but see Stratta, et al., 1997). It has been suggested that this task is strongly associated with the switching (Miyake et al., 2000) and inhibition functions (Mullane & Corkum, 2007). Therefore, the higher error rates made by high neurotics indicate that a high level of neuroticism impairs task processing that involves not only the switching but also the inhibition function of the central executive system (Eysenck et al, 2007). For example, in the IED set shifting task, the participants were required to switch their attention from one rule to another (Ozonoff et al., 2004). Likewise, they had to switch their attention from the inter-dimensional stage to the extra-dimensional stage (Ozonoff et al., 2004). To do that, they were also required to inhibit previous task relevant information, which had become task irrelevant information (Baddeley, 1996a; Mullane & Corkum, 2007; Ozonoff et al., 2004). Therefore, the high neurotics may not have been able to successfully switch the focus of their attention from one dimension to another and inhibit irrelevant responses and thus they made more errors. Relying on this knowledge, my hypothesis confirms reports of attentional control theory, which states that the detrimental effect of neuroticism is associated with the switching and inhibition functions of the CES in the IED set shifting task.

Altogether, the present experiment results demonstrate that highly neurotic participants showed reduced performance when the task demand involved the CES in terms of switching and inhibition. On the other hand, if the task included demand in storage systems, the high neurotics performed similarly to the low neurotics. In the next study, the construction of the cognitive system in relation to neuroticism will be examined in regard to processing efficiency, and I will use the PRP dual task experimental paradigm. In the next study, I will test whether the current findings regarding the central executive system (i.e. switching, inhibition and updating) are specific to the aforementioned tasks or whether similar impairments can be found in dual task processing that involves the central executive system.

3 Chapter – Neuroticism related differences during processing of Dual task: Task order coordination

3.1 Introduction

ACT suggests that high neuroticism impairs task performance in demanding WM tasks, which are associated with the three CES functions, whereas it does not have a major influence on the storage systems (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). In line with that, the previous study (chapter 2) shows that high neurotics had higher task impairment when the task mainly demanded the switching and inhibition functions whereas high and low neurotics performed similarly on the VSSP task. Worry and higher arousal level are the most prominent features of high neurotic/trait anxiety individuals (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Thus, worry increases the arousal level, which causes task irrelevant activities that interfere with attention during task processing (M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Because high neurotics use a reactive control mechanism (a bottom up process) their attention focuses on task irrelevant activities (Braver, 2012). Therefore, they cannot inhibit or suppress task irrelevant activities and switch their attention to task relevant activities (Braver, 2012; Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009).

Although I found that Eysenck's (1967) assumption in relation to task difficulty could not be generalized for all of the tasks, I still consider one assumption regarding the arousal level threshold in high neurotics. The detrimental effect of neuroticism is only revealed when the arousal level exceeds the activation threshold (H. J. Eysenck, 1967). For that to be the case, a cognitive task has to be sufficiently demanding (H. J. Eysenck, 1967). For example, some researchers suppose that the SOC task is associated with the inhibition function but the results regarding the SOC tasks were non-significant in chapter 1. I conclude that one potential reason for that result is because the SOC task may not have been demanding enough in relation to the inhibition function (Corr, 2003; Flehmig et al., 2010). Therefore, a task should be demanding enough to investigate the detrimental effect of neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967).

Considering both the assumption of ACT (related to CES functions) (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) and the arousal based theory of neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967) (related to arousal threshold) together, a task should be associated with the CES functions and it should be

demanding enough to arouse high neurotics during the task processing. According to Baddeley (1996, 1997), dual task experimental paradigms are one of the best ways to investigate the CES because in this way demand is placed on the CES functions (see section 1.3). Relying on this suggestion, a few studies have used a combination of two standard WM tasks as dual tasks to investigate anxiety related differences during task processing. Regarding this study, I found that the PRP dual task paradigm is more approachable than using a combination of two WM tasks because it allows for investigating task processing with various demand manipulations (i.e. a comparison of dual task (demand on CES) and single tasks (demand in non-CES task) (Szameitat et al., 2016). In other words, PRP dual task processing has been found to be strongly associated with the CES functions (switching, inhibition and updating) whereas single tasks are rather simple and do not require the CES (see section 1.3.3) (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003). Furthermore, it has been theoretically (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Pashler, 1994b) and empirically (De Jong, 1993; Marois & Ivanoff, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016) well investigated.

In this study, I investigate the processing of two tasks by using different sensory modalities that draw upon distinct sections of WM storage, the phonological loop (auditory) and the visuospatial sketchpad (visual). The independence of the input and storage of information means that if there is a cost in performing them concurrently, it is likely to be due to the existence of a bottleneck at the response selection stage (Pashler, 1994b). The participants react to the visual and auditory stimuli respectively using their right and left hand fingers (Pashler, 1994b). It should be noted that using the two hands may actually not be perfect but it is a practical solution for task performance; the two hands are somewhat coupled and not fully independent of each other (Pashler, 1994b). That is why some studies have used manual-vocal output. However, this means that strictly speaking, interference could also arise from the output/motor stages (Pashler, 1994b).

Based on the knowledge given in the paragraphs above, this chapter consists of a dual task study that investigates whether interference in the PRP dual task paradigm produces greater performance costs in high neurotics compared to low neurotics. The PRP dual task paradigm is more cognitively demanding than performing tasks individually and specifically requires greater use of executive functions such as switching, inhibition and updating (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2016). Thus, in this study, I manipulated the task demand in three ways. To this end, first, I compared the reaction times and error rates in single and dual tasks for high and low neurotics. Furthermore, I manipulated the task

demand in the dual tasks through SOA manipulation (short and long SOA) and task order manipulation (fixed and random tasks).

In the first manipulation, I compared high and low neurotics regarding their performance in single and dual tasks. The single task requires one response and it is relatively simple. Because the single task is not demanding and requires so little in terms of central executive demand (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Pashler, 1993; Pashler, 1994b; Pashler et al., 2001), according to the arousal based theory of neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967), PET (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992) and ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) high and low neurotics will not differ regarding their RTs and error execution. Earlier studies have indicated that high and low neurotics had similar RTs and error rates in single tasks (Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). On the other hand, the dual task requires two responses and it is relatively demanding (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Pashler, 1993; Pashler, 1994b). As explained in the literature review section (see 1.5.2), there is a general consensus that the locus of the performance bottleneck in the PRP paradigm is at the response selection stage in the CES (Pashler, 1993; Pashler, 1994b). Therefore, while two tasks can be processed in parallel through the perceptual and motor response stages, only one task can be processed at a time in the bottleneck stage (Pashler, 1994b). When two tasks are performed simultaneously they compete during the bottleneck stage and thus the processing of the second task starts when the processing of the first task ends (Jiang, 2004; Szameitat et al., 2011). Although both tasks may be influenced, the bottleneck always causes a delay, particularly in the completion of task 2 (Pashler, 1994b). The use of the switching, inhibition and updating functions plays a pivotal role during bottleneck processing compared to single tasks (see section 1.3.3) (Luria & Meiran, 2003). Therefore, because the dual task is relatively demanding and the demand is mainly associated with the CES functions, high neurotics should have a higher impairment in the dual task processing compared to the low neurotics (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). I will use the term 'dual task combination costs' to assess the results in relation to the single and dual task processing in high and low neurotics. Therefore, to derive a dual task cost, I will subtract the single task RTs from the dual task second RTs (Szameitat et al., 2011). The hypothesis to be tested is, high and low neurotics have a similar performance in the single task because it is a non-CES task whereas high neurotics have a considerable task impairment compared with low neurotics in the dual task (dual task combination costs) because it demands the CES.

Secondly, in this study, the magnitude of the task demand increased along the task coordination by SOA (0 and 1000ms SOA) variations. Increasing task demand by the SOA manipulation may place a pure demand on the bottleneck that is linked to the CES because no additional stimuli are inserted. Thus, the demand increase is undertaken completely by SOA manipulation on the CES, which is associated with the preparatory process and bottleneck. When the SOA is short, higher stimuli competition in the bottleneck causes a delay in the processing of the second stimulus (Jiang, 2004; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2011). However, when the SOA is long there is more time for using the switching functions (Monsell, 2003) so the CES demand is lowered in this condition (Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2011). It has been suggested that if the SOA is short, the task demand is considerably higher compared to long SOA tasks (Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005) because there is no time given for preparation of the switching and inhibiting tasks. Therefore, when the SOA is short (0 ms.), task processing requires higher use of the CES functions compared to long SOA tasks (Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005). According to Monsell, (2003) inhibition is needed in the switching tasks. For example, in dual task processing switching is needed to shift the focus of the bottleneck from the first task to the second task and inhibition is also required to suppress the second task processing until the first task has been processed in the bottleneck (De Jong, 1995a; Logan & Gordon, 2001; Szameitat et al., 2016). Comparisons of second RTs for long and short SOAs indicates PRP effect which is evident by delay in processing of RT2 in short SOA task (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Pashler, 1994a). In other words, the PRP effect is derived by substation of RT2 short SOA from RT2 long SOA as evidence of a delay in bottleneck processing (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Pashler, 1994a). The CES functions for the switching, inhibition and updating of task related rules and context may encounter pressure due to the limited time during the bottleneck process (Luria & Meiran, 2005). A potential reason for that is the preparatory process occurring during dual task processing (see section 1.3.3) (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). Generally, people are able to prepare an S-R mapping in a long SOA dual task (i.e. 1000 ms) (Monsell, 2003). However, when two tasks are presented in very rapid succession (or simultaneously such as 0 ms.) the response preparation process may cause an additional delay in the processing of the task, which is not present when the interval between the presentations of the two stimuli is increased (De Jong, 1995b; Logan & Gordon, 2001; Luria & Meiran, 2003). This additional delay will further exacerbate the dual task costs beyond those incurred by the central bottleneck stages (Logan & Gordon, 2001). Therefore, it follows that when two tasks are presented simultaneously (e.g. with SOA 0) a highest dual task cost will be observed due to maximizing the demand on the bottleneck and preparation limits (Logan & Gordon, 2001). Therefore, in this experimental design, in half of the dual task conditions, the two tasks were presented simultaneously, which is relatively demanding and stressful (Luria & Meiran, 2003). In the other half, the tasks were presented with a longer (1000 ms) SOA, which is relatively less demanding and stressful (Luria & Meiran, 2003). In this context, high neurotics have a greater dual task cost compared to low neurotics because the detrimental effect of neuroticism causes a greater processing time being expended on task irrelevant activities. In high neurotics, this increased dual task cost should be maximal for short SOAs and should be most pronounced in the RTs for the second task, which previous PRP studies have shown is more greatly affected (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Pashler, 1994a). In contrast, when the SOA is relatively long the dual task cost between high and low neurotics should be smaller than in short SOA, because there is additional time to prepare S-R mappings and processing in the bottleneck. Logan & Zbrodoff, (1982) suggest that the minimum required SOA for second task processing to be least affected would be between 400 and 600 ms in dual tasks. Therefore, it has been suggested that when SOA is set to 1000 ms. (as in the current study) then the two tasks can be processed with a much reduced overlap (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Pashler, 1994a). As a consequence, I hypothesize that the dual task cost differences between high and low neurotics will be higher in short SOA tasks than long SOA tasks because the longer SOA will minimize the detrimental effect of neuroticism during the preparatory process and bottleneck stage.

Finally, I manipulated the task demand specifically on the switching and inhibition functions. To support the conclusions drawn from comparing the STs to the DTs and the long and short SOAs, it is useful to complement the current experimental logic with a parametric manipulation on the dual-task specific demands on the switching and inhibition functions of the CES. As noted in the literature review (see sections 1.3.3 and 1.5.1), inserting additional stimuli may increase the load not only in the central executive system but also in the storage systems of working memory (Szameitat et al., 2002). One previously validated method of targeting central executive load is presenting dual tasks in a random order (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Stelzel et al., 2008a; Szameitat et al., 2002). The random order requires rearrangement of the S-R mappings as soon as the presentation order is altered and so the central executive load is increased without a contamination effect on other systems (Szameitat et al., 2002). These increased demands

show as switch costs, i.e. prolonged RTs in switched trials (which the order of the current dual-task trial changed) as compared to repeated trials (the order is the same as in the previous trial) (Luria & Meiran, 2005). In detail, fixed order tasks are visual and then auditory (V-A) or auditory and then visual (A-V) and thus the task is always either V-A or A-V. I assessed whether the fixed dual task is associated with the CES functions (Szameitat et al., 2016). In the random condition, the CES demand increased more in terms of the switching and inhibition functions (De Jong, 1995b). In the random task, the tasks were presented randomly such as V-A, A-V, V-A, A-V, A-V, V-A. Therefore, sometimes the order was repeated (repeated orders), and sometimes the task order was switched (switched orders). The participants were required to use the switching and inhibition functions extensively because the task order presentation came unexpectedly and they had to rearrange the task related context and rules each time (see section 1.3.3) (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005). De Jong, (1995b) found that the demand on the switching and inhibition functions is higher in random tasks than in fixed dual tasks. Because in a fixed dual task the presentation of the task order does not change, the participants implement the same scheduling strategy during the task processing (De Jong, 1993; De Jong, 1995b). However, in a random condition, the participants have to rearrange the scheduling strategy whenever the presentation of the task order changes (De Jong, 1995b). Therefore, the task demand is higher in a random condition than in fixed order dual tasks because the requirement to frequently rearrange the task coordination places a higher demand on the switching and inhibition functions (De Jong, 1993; De Jong, 1995b). For example, in a random task one trial (i.e. A-V: auditory=>visual) they had to suppress the second task (visual task) until the first task (auditory task) had been processed, and then they had to inhibit a previous online task (auditory) and switch their focus of attention from the first task (auditory task) to the second task (visual task). In the next trial (i.e. V-A: visual => auditory), this arrangement was totally changed and thus the inhibition and switching functions had to be implemented in reverse (Luria & Meiran, 2005). De Jong (1995) suggests that task processing is automatically set in the bottleneck mechanism. There might be more than one switching in this condition (De Jong, 1993; De Jong, 1995b). When the first task comes, the second task is automatically set for processing in fixed task (De Jong, 1995b). However, in a random dual task, when the task order is switched the wrong task is set for processing because of that automaticity (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2005). Therefore, this also has to be switched for the correct responses (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2005). This switching is involved in inhibition of the wrong task as well (De Jong, 1993; Szameitat et al., 2016). Luria & Meiran, (2003) separated trials as repeated order and switched order trials in a random task. It has been suggested that comparison of repeated and switched trials allows for a strong insight into the relation between the roles of switching and inhibition (Luria & Meiran, 2003). Based on this information, to understand the role of the switching and inhibition functions, RTs in switched orders are compared with RTs in repeated orders. In the current study, I tested whether high and low neurotics differ in terms of the amount of switch costs by comparing repeated orders and switched orders in high and low neurotics, as ACT suggests that the detrimental effect of neuroticism mainly influences the switching and inhibition function of the CES during cognitive task processing (see section 1.4.5). Random tasks are known to be strongly associated with switching and inhibition (see sections 1.3.3). Therefore, I hypothesize that the switching cost will be higher in high neurotics compared with low neurotics.

In the current study I propose the following hypotheses:

- I. High neurotics will show a greater PRP effect compared to low neurotics
- II. High neurotics will show a higher dual task combination cost than low neurotics in the processing of dual tasks whereas no difference will be found between the groups in single tasks.
- III. The dual task combination cost differences between high and low neurotics will be greater for short SOA than long SOA tasks.
- IV. The switching cost will be higher in high neurotics compared to low neurotics in a random task (switched trials vs repeated trials).

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Participants

To create extreme groups of high- and low-neurotics (High-N and Low-N, respectively), I screened 400 participants using the 24-item neuroticism scale of the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ; Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975). From those screened, 43 were selected and agreed to participate in the study. Three participants were excluded due to a self-reported history of depression or anxiety disorders, and one participant was subsequently excluded due to invalid data collection (data failed to record) in the dual task study. In the last instance, 39 people remained who completed the final experiment: 22 (11 female) were in the High-N group (mean EPQ score=18, range=16–24) and 17 (9 female) were in the Low-N group (mean EPQ score= 3.89, range=0–6). The two groups were approximately matched for age

(High-N = 21.36 and Low-N=23.50) and gender. All of the participants were right-handed as assessed by the Edinburgh Inventory (Oldfield, 1971) and had normal or corrected to normal vision. Each participant gave written informed consent and was paid £10. The study was approved by the Department of Life Sciences ethics committee at Brunel University.

3.2.2 Exclusion criteria for selection of high and low neurotics

To assess mood, personality, family background and life experience, participants were interviewed using the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (Hamilton, 1967) and completed the following questionnaires: the Beck Depression Inventory (Beck et al., 1988), the EPQ (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975), a history of past/current psychiatric or neurologic disorders questionnaire, alcohol consumption inventory, and a caffeine consumption inventory. People were excluded who had the presence of any past or current major medical, neurological or psychiatric illness that might have diminished their cognitive functioning; used psychoactive medication; had consumed alcohol before the study; consumed \geq 8 cups of coffee/tea (or \geq 900mg caffeine); scored over 15 in the Beck depression inventory (BDI), or showed colour blindness (Ishihara, 1936; Ishihara, 1987).

3.2.3 Stimuli

120 faces (60 female) were used in the visual task conditions. The images were black and white. Each image was presented for 345 ms. In the auditory task condition, there were 60 syllable stimuli, which comprised 30 different /haha/ and /yaya/ double-syllables. Each syllable was 345 ms long.

3.2.4 Tasks

Participants had to perform single-tasks and dual-task conditions in separate blocks. In the study the experiment session started with practice blocks for each condition before the main experiment started.

3.2.4.1 Single tasks (ST)

The visual single task consisted of 60 trials divided into 2 blocks of 30 trials each. A trial in the VIS condition started with a blank grey screen for 350 ms., followed by a fixation cross period of 300 ms. and the presentation of a male or female face for 345 ms. The overall trial duration depended on the response speed of the participant. Following each trial, either error feedback ("Error") or a fixation cross was displayed (300 ms). Thus, the interval between

the last response and the onset of next stimulus (Response-Stimulus-Interval, RSI) was always 1300ms. The key mapping was set 'N' for responding to male faces and 'M' for responding to female faces. A trial in the auditory single task was identical to the visual single task except for the following. After the fixation period, a syllable haha or yaya tone was presented for ~345ms. The key mapping was set 'X' for responding to 'ha\ha' and 'Z' for responding to 'ya\ya' syllables.

3.2.4.2 Dual tasks (DT)

There was a fixed and a random dual task condition. The fixed dual task condition was presented either with long SOA or short SOA tasks in separate blocks. The random condition was presented with short SOA in separate blocks.

3.2.4.2.1 Fixed dual tasks

The study included two fixed dual tasks, which were DT 0 SOA and DT 1000 SOA. The fixed order dual task consisted of four blocks and each block included 30 trials. Thus there was 120 fixed order dual task trials in total.

In the short SOA dual tasks, the DT (syllable=>face) consisted of 1 block of 30 trials that included a syllable and a face (syllable=>face) that were presented simultaneously. DT (face=> syllable) was identical to DT (syllable=>face) except for the order of the stimuli, which were reversed.

In the long SOA dual tasks, DT (visual=>auditory) SOA1000 was identical to DT (visual=>auditory) SOA 0 except for 1000 SOA because the faces were presented at first and after 1000ms SOA the second syllables were presented. Similarly, DT (auditory =>visual) 1000 was identical to DT (auditory =>visual) SOA 0 except for the order of the stimuli; the syllables were presented first and after 1000ms SOA the second faces were presented.

Generally, in the dual task condition, the timing for the stimuli onset is described as short and long SOA tasks. The trial started with a fixation cross for 300 ms. The stimuli were presented and the response registration was started. The stimulus duration was 300ms for the faces and 300ms for the syllables. Responses were registered for a maximum of 4000ms, starting from the onset of the first stimulus (i.e. from item 2 on this list). At SOA0, this leaves 4000ms to respond to both stimuli. At SOA1000, the available time to respond is 4000ms to stimulus1 and 3000ms to stimulus 2 (all durations relative to onset of stimulus). Response registration was terminated either after 4000ms or after the number of required responses had been registered. Thus, the trial duration depended on the response speed of the participant. Then, either error feedback ("Error") or a fixation cross (which blends neatly into the fixation cross of item 1 of the next trial) was displayed. The duration of this error feedback / fixation cross was 300 ms. Thus, the interval between the last response and the onset of the next stimulus (Response-Stimulus-Interval, RSI) was always 1300ms. In total, a trial could last, at the maximum, for: 1000ms + 4000ms + 300ms = 5300ms.

3.2.4.2.2 Random tasks (RND)

The random tasks included four blocks and each block consisted of 30 trials. In this condition the task order varied randomly from trial-to-trial. The task order was counter balanced such that in 50% of the trials (syllable=>face) and in the other half (face => syllable). In the random task condition, the faces were cued with either blue or yellow coloured frames. In the RND task, face => syllable had a blue frame and in the syllable=>face trials there was a yellow frame. Both stimuli, the syllable and the face, were presented simultaneously. Furthermore, the characteristics of the random tasks were identical to the short SOA fixed order dual task.

3.2.5 Procedure

At the start of the study, all of the participants were read the information sheet and gave written consent to participate (see appendix E). After completing the screening procedure, participants who scored either over 16 or below 6 on the EPQ-R Neuroticism scale were invited to participate in the main study. After completion of the questionnaires related to the exclusion criteria (see section 3.2.1) the experiment started. While sitting on the chair in the cubicle room, the participants performed a PRP-type dual task consisting of two-choice response tasks, one auditory and one visual, in addition to the single tasks (Fig. 3.1.). There were two sessions, the practice and study sessions.



Figure 3-1 shows dual task experimental design including audio shown in green box and visual tasks shown in yellow box. Finally, the dual task was a combination of the two single tasks shown in the blue box.

In the practice session the participants performed the single, fixed order and random dual task conditions separately for around 15 minutes. After the practice session had been completed, the main study conditions started. The participants performed each task separately and all of the single and dual task conditions were counterbalanced across the study.

The visual single task participants viewed the male and female faces. The participants responded with their right index finger to the male face by pressing the N button and with the right middle finger to the female face by pressing the M button on the keyboard. In the auditory single task, the participants had to respond to the syllable 'ha ha' with their left index finger by pressing X and to the syllable 'ya ya' with the left middle finger by pressing the Z button on the keyboard. The other characteristics of the procedure were identical to the conditions of the VIS.

In the fixed dual task condition, the participants had to perform both tasks in each trial. Both stimuli (auditory and visual) were either presented simultaneously (SOA 0) or with an SOA of 1000. Participants were instructed in which order to respond (auditory \Rightarrow visual or visual \Rightarrow auditory) for the upcoming tasks. For example, in the auditory \Rightarrow visual condition, the participants had to respond first to the auditory task and then, immediately, to the visual task. For the 1000ms SOA condition the required response order was always identical to the

order of presentation. For example, in the auditory⇒visual condition, the auditory task was presented first and thus the participants had to respond to the auditory task and after 1000 ms. the visual task was presented and the participants had to respond immediately to the visual task. Participants were instructed to respond to both tasks as fast and as accurately as possible. All other characteristics were identical to the single-task conditions.

In the random task condition, the response order was cued by the frame colour; either a blue or yellow frame in which the face was presented in the SOA 0 condition. If the frame was yellow, the participants responded to the syllable and then the face and if the frame was blue the participants responded to the face and then the syllable. For that purpose, both stimuli (auditory and visual) were presented simultaneously. The other characteristics of the procedure were identical to the short SOA fixed dual task. At the end of the study all of the participants were given a debriefing form (see appendix F).

Overall the study took one hour for each participant.

3.2.6 Data analysis

If not otherwise noted, in the following analyses, an analysis of variance (ANOVA) mixed design was used. The significant effects for the AVOVA tests were reported at p<.05 unless otherwise stated. The between-subject independent variable was Neuroticism (High-N vs. Low-N). The within-subject variables were the different task conditions and these varied between analyses. They will be described in the Results section. The dependent variables were the response times and error rates. In the all ANOVA tests Levene's test for equality of variances were considered. Because Levene's test for equality of variances were always not significant, normal ANOVA results were reported.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Single task

Group Statistics						
	Groups	Ν	Mean RT	Std.	Std.	Error
			(ms)	Deviation	Mean	
SINGLE TASK	High N	22	579	90	19.30	
	Low N	17	544	68	16.02	

Table 3-1 Response times for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N,) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Single Tasks is the average of both single tasks.

Independent t tests revealed insignificant differences between high and low neurotics for the average auditory and visual single tasks [t (39) = 1.41; p > .05]. These results indicate that the high and low neurotics did not differ in a statistically significant way in terms of their reaction times in the single tasks (see table 3.1.).

3.3.2 PRP effect

Descriptive Statistics				
	Groups	RT2 Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν
Short SOA (0ms)	High N	1466	303	22
	Low N	1219	217	17
	High N	848	240	22
Long SOA (1000 ms)	Low N	734	190	17

Table 3-2 Response times of short SOA and long SOA for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Short SOA is the average of both 0 SOA dual-task response orders (response times were taken from the second task auditory=>visual/visual=>auditory in the dual-task). Likewise, the Long SOA is the average of both 1000ms SOA dual-task response orders (auditory=>visual/visual=>auditory). The PRP effect is derived from the subtraction of RT2 short and long SOA (DT0-DT1000).

To test first hypothesis (hypothesis I: high neurotics will show a greater PRP effect compared to low neurotics) I calculated a 2x2 factorial ANOVA with the within-subject factor SOA (0 vs. 1000ms) and the between subject factor group (High N vs Low N). The results show that on average the high neurotics were slower than the low neurotics [main effect neuroticism; F(1, 38) = 6.12; p < .05]. Furthermore, a PRP-effect was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs in the short SOA compared to the long SOA [main effect SOA; F(1, 38) = 298.25; p < .05]. Finally, the PRP-effect was larger for the high neurotics than for the low neurotics, as is evident by the interaction between the group and SOA [F(1, 38) = 4.24; p < .05] (see table 3.2). The significant interaction confirms my first hypothesis and shows that indeed the high neurotics had higher DT costs in the form of PRP effect than the low neurotics (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3-2 Shows mean PRP effect (ms) for high neurotics (High-N, blue column) and low neurotics (Low-N, red column). The PRP effect is derived from the subtraction of RT2 short and long SOA (DT0-DT1000). The mean PRP effect is taken from the average of the PRP of auditory =>visual and visual=>auditory.

3.3.3 Dual task combinations costs

In this section, I present the interaction effects between the RT of the single and dual tasks and the neuroticism levels. Because I took variables from the dual tasks and single tasks and then explored the interaction with neuroticism, I call these analyses 'the dual task combination costs'. Regarding the dual task cost, I only present analyses of RT 2 because this seems to be the most sensitive measure (Pashler, 1994a; Schubert & Szameitat, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2011). To test the second hypothesis (high neurotics will show a higher dual task combination cost than low neurotics in the processing of dual tasks whereas no difference will be found between the groups in single tasks), I calculated a 2x2 factorial ANOVA with the within-subject factor dual task cost (dual-task RT2 vs Single task) and the between subject factor group (High-N vs Low-N). The results show that on average the high neurotics were slower than the low neurotics [main effect neuroticism; F(1, 38) = 5.61; p < 100.05]. Furthermore, the dual task combination cost was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs in the short SOA compared to the single task [main effect dual task combination costs F (1, 38) = 323.09; p < .05]. Finally, the dual task combination cost was larger for the high neurotics than for the low neurotics compared to the single task, as is evident by the interaction between the group and dual task combination costs [F (1, 38) = 6.07; p < .05] (see table 3.2). The significant interaction confirms my second hypothesis and

shows that indeed the high neurotics had higher dual task costs in the form of so-called dual task combination-costs than the low neurotics (see figure 3.3.).



Figure 3-3 Shows response times for high neurotics (High-N, blue line) and low neurotics (Low-N, red line). Single Task is the average of both single tasks. Dual Task is the average of both dual-task response orders (response times were taken from the second task of the dual task

Descriptive Statistics				
	Groups	RT2-ST Mean	Std. Deviation	N
		(ms)		
DT (SOA 0) -ST	high	886	248	22
	low	681	196	17
DT (SOA 1000) ST	high	268	189	22
DT (SOA 1000) -ST	low	195	141	17

3.3.4 SOA effect on dual task combination costs

Table 3-3 show descriptive statistics regarding neuroticism effect on SOA manipulation. DT cost is derived by subtracting ST from DT (DT-ST) for short and long SOA separately. Response times of DT0-ST and Dt1000-ST for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N).

Table 3-3 were also shown in the form of boxplot to assist configure mean and SD through tasks in high and low neurotics.



Figure 3-4 shows dual task combination costs (short and long SOA tasks) regarding mean and SD for participants high (pink box) and low (blue box) in neuroticism level. Note that different scales have been used for each variable.

In this section, I present the interaction effects between the SOA manipulations and the neuroticism levels, not with respect to the PRP effect (section 3.3.2) but with respect to the dual-task combination costs in the long and short SOA tasks. The dual task combination costs have been calculated by subtracting the single tasks RTs from the dual task RT2. Similar to the previous analyses, to test third hypothesis (the dual task combination cost differences between high and low neurotics will be greater for short SOA than long SOA tasks) I calculated a 2x2 factorial ANOVA with the within-subject factor SOA (short vs long) and the between subject factor group (High-N vs Low-N). The results show that on average the high neurotics had a greater dual task cost compared to the low neurotics during the dual task processing [neuroticism main effect F (1, 38) = 7.95; p < .05]. The dual task combination cost was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs in the short SOA compared to the long SOA task [main effect SOA; F(1, 38) = 298.25; p < .05]. Finally, the dual task combination cost was larger for the high neurotics than the low neurotics as the SOA decrease, as is evident by the interaction between the group and SOA [F(1, 38) = 4.24;p < .05] (see table 3.3). The significant interaction confirms my third hypothesis and shows that indeed the high neurotics had higher DT costs in the short SOA in the form of dual task combination costs than the low neurotics (see figure 3.4.).



Figure 3-5 Shows response times regarding SOA effects on neuroticism. DT cost is derived by subtracting ST from DT (DT-ST,) for the short and long SOA separately. Response times of DT0-ST and Dt1000-ST for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N, blue line) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N, blue line).

3.3.5 Random task

Descriptive Statistics					
	Groups	Mean	Std. Deviation	N	
Papating order PT1	High-N	1411.98	282.96	22	
Repeating order RTT	Low-N	1269.79	258.42	17	
Switching order RT1	High-N	1666.98	282.96	22	
	Low-N	1400.00	258.15	17	
Repeated trials RT2	High N	1740.12	322.55	22	
	Low N	1551.00	299.46	17	
Switched trials RT2	High N	2002.10	303.02	22	
	Low N	1711.81	377.24	17	

Table 3-4 shows descriptive statistics regarding neuroticism effect on repeated and switched trials for RT1 and RT2. Repeated and switched trials are derived from random tasks. Response times of repeated trials and switched trials for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N).



Figure 3-6 shows dual task costs in repeated and switched trials for RT1 and RT2 in random task regarding mean and SD for participants high (pink box) and low (blue box) in neuroticism level. Note that each result has been presented with a different scale.

To test the fourth hypothesis 'The switching cost will be higher in high neurotics compared to low neurotics in a random task (switched trials vs repeated trials)', I calculated a 2x2 factorial ANOVA with the within-subject factor RND (RT 1 switched trials vs. RT 1 repeated trials) and the between subject factor group (High-N vs Low-N). The results for RT1 show that on average the high neurotics were slower than the low neurotics [main effect neuroticism; F (1, 38) = 6.31; p < .05]. Furthermore, switching cost in the RND trials was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs in the switched trials compared to the repeated trials [main effect RND trials; F (1, 38) = 52.73; p < .01]. Finally, the switching cost was larger for the high neurotics than for the low neurotics, as is evident by the interaction between the group and RND trials [F (1, 38) = 5.56; p < .05] (see table 3.4). The significant interaction confirms my fourth hypothesis and shows that indeed the high neurotics had higher switching costs in the RND trials than the low neurotics (Figure 3.5).


Figure 3-7 Repeated order trials were taken from RND trials which have same orders. Switched orders indicate the orders that shifted in the RND trials. First response times of repeat orders and switch orders for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N, blue line) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N, blue line).

Same analyses were calculated for the RT2 switched trials vs. the RT 2 repeated trials. The results for RT2 show that on average the high neurotics were slower than the low neurotics [main effect neuroticism; F(1, 38) = 6.57; p < .05]. Furthermore, switching cost in the RND trials was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs in the switched trials compared to the repeated trials [main effect RND trials; F(1, 38) = 36.17; p < .05]. Finally, although there was a trend that shows the switching cost was larger for the high neurotics than for the low neurotics, the interaction did not reach statistically significant level between the group and RND trials [F(1, 38) = 2.66; p = .1] (see table 3.4). The result is in support of my fourth hypothesis as evident by the trend that shows that indeed high neurotics had higher switching costs in the RND trials than low neurotics (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3-8 Second response times of repeat orders and switch orders for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N, blue line) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N, blue line).

3.3.6 Error rates

I have used independent t test for analysis error rates in high and low neurotics for fixed and random dual task combination costs. Although these results shown below are not directly related my hypothesis, they are helpful to interpret results from above section (3.3.5, 3.3.4, and 3.3.2).

Descriptive Statistics					
	Groups	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν	
Single Task	High N	.053	.038	20	
	Low N	.062	.039	17	
Dual Task (SOA 0)	High N	.075	.047	20	
	Low N	.085	.131	17	
Dual Task (SOA1000)	High N	.075	.059	20	
	Low N	.059	.050	17	

Table 3-5 shows descriptive statistics regarding error rates for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Single Task is the average of both single tasks. Dual Task is the average of both dual-task response orders (response times were taken from the second task in the dual-task).

For the single tasks, as expected, the high and low neurotics did not differ regarding the error rates [t (39) = -.55; p > .05]. This result indicates that high and low neurotics execute a similar number of errors during the processing of single tasks.

To test second and third hypotheses in terms of error rates in high and low neurotics I used independent t test. The error rates in the fixed dual task performance for the high and low neurotics did not differ statistically; (main effect group: [F(1, 38) = .06; p > .05]; main effect SOA: [F(1, 38) = 3.56; p < .05]; interaction: [F(1, 38) = 1.60; p > .05]) (see table 3.5).

Descriptive Statistics					
	Groups	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν	
Repeated order R1	High-N	.053	.049	22	
Repeated order K1	Low-N	.052	.054	17	
Switched order R1	High-N	.089	.068	22	
	Low-N	.066	.072	17	
Repeated order R2	High N	.090	.051	22	
	Low N	.070	.055	17	
Switched order R2	High N	.120	.080	22	
Switchied order 162	Low N	.070	.050	17	

Table 3-6 shows descriptive statistics regarding neuroticism effect on repeated and switched trials for error rates in response 1 and 2. Repeated and switched trials are derived from random tasks. Error rates of repeated trials and switched trials for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N).

A comparable analysis of the error rates by independent t test in the RND trials for R1 (repeated order/Switch order) for the high and low neurotics is revealed the same general pattern of combination cost results which supports results related to hypothesis 4. However, the results did not always (RND trials: repeated order/Switched order is significant) reach statistical significance (main effect neuroticism: [F (1, 38) = .43; p > .05]; main effect RND trials: [F (1, 38) = 38; p <.05]; interaction: [F (1, 38) = 1.95; p =1.15]). Furthermore, the cost differences between high and low neurotics regarding error rates in the RND trials (R2) (repeated order/Switched order) revealed the same general pattern of combination cost results. However, the significance level remained (RND trials: repeated order/Switch order is significant) at the threshold of statistical significance (main effect neuroticism: [F (1, 38) = .43; p = .07]; main effect RND trials: [F (1, 38) = 7.30; p <.05]; interaction: [F (1, 38) = .43; p = .06]) (see table 3.6 and see figure 3.7).



Figure 3-9 Show error rates from repeated to switched trials. Error rates of repeated trials and switched trials (R2) for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N).

3.4 Discussion

In line with the earlier findings related to the classical PRP effect (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Pashler, 1994a; Pashler, 1994b; Pashler et al., 2001), I observed the PRP effect during the processing of the tasks in all of the participants. Also, the task demand manipulation showed that the participants become slower as the demand increased. Further results showed that the high neurotics had a greater PRP effect, dual task combination cost, and switching cost than the low neurotics but the high and low neurotics did not differ statistically in the single tasks. The high neurotics showed higher task impairment as the demand increased respectively in the dual task combination cost (single/dual task), SOA (long/short), and parametric (random) manipulations. In line with these results, a general pattern of combination costs (for averaging short and long SOA dual tasks), and switching costs regarding RTs was found for the error rates, which, however, did not always reach a significant threshold for combination costs and remained at the significance threshold for switching costs.

The first hypothesis was that high neurotics have a greater PRP effect than low neurotics in dual task processing. This hypothesis is confirmed because I found that the high neurotics had a considerably larger PRP effect than the low neurotics. As indicated, the bottleneck can process each task one at a time when two tasks are presented simultaneously and this is why a delay occurs during the processing of the tasks (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Pashler, 1994b). Therefore, the results indicate that although both high and low neurotics encounter a delay

due to the bottleneck, the delay is longer in high neurotics. This additional delay may be caused by worry and a higher arousal level, which leads to task irrelevant activities during dual task processing in high neurotics (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). It has been suggested that task demand on the CES causes reduced processing efficiency due to the detrimental effect of neuroticism when such tasks are performed in high neurotics (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007).

To understand whether this additional delay in high neurotics is caused by task demand I compared the group's performance regarding their reaction times on the single and dual tasks, which is referred to as the dual task combination cost results. I assessed the single task as a simple task that requires virtually no CES function whereas the dual task was a demanding task that required extensive use of the CES functions (De Jong, 1995b; Monsell, 2003). The hypothesis was that high neurotics have a greater cost on the dual task whereas the high and low neurotics do not differ on the single task. These results showed that while the high and low neurotics both showed profound dual-task costs, i.e. a slowing of DTs compared to STs, these dual-task costs were considerably higher in the high neurotics. These results are in line with arousal based theory (H. J. Eysenck, 1967) and ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) as they suggest that high neurotics show task impairment in demanding tasks (H. J. Eysenck, 1967) if they are associated with the CES functions (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) whereas high and low neurotics do not differ on simple tasks. These results provide a good insight into task processing in high and low neurotics compared with other studies that used two standard WM tasks as a dual task (Corr, 2003; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2005; Robinson & Tamir, 2005; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). Those studies usually used two standard memory tasks as dual tasks while one of these tasks was used as the single task (Baddeley, 1996a; Della Sala et al., 1995). This single task is somehow associated with WM (Baddeley, 1996a; Della Sala et al., 1995). However, Miyake et al. (2000) suggest that these types of dual tasks are not associated with the three main CES functions (switching, inhibition and updating). In this view, my results distinctively differentiate from those studies because I compared a single task (supposed to be non-CES) and a dual task (CES demands) in high and low neurotics. It is suggested that PRP dual task processing is strongly associated with the three main CES functions (switching, inhibition and updating) (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). I used a single task that was a very simple task requiring one response and the demand on the CES functions was minimized. The dual task was a combination of two

simple tasks that were presented concurrently (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). This dual task was relatively demanding and required extensive use of the CES functions (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). Taken together, the results are in line with ACT (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009) and the arousal based theory of neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967), which suggests that high neurotics show higher impairment than low neurotics in dual tasks compared to single tasks.

The third hypothesis was that high neurotics have a greater impairment than low neurotics as the SOA decreases in dual task processing. The results confirmed this hypothesis by showing a strong interaction between neuroticism and SOA manipulation. Thus, the dual task combination cost differences between the high and low neurotics became larger as the SOA decreased, as is evident from the higher dual task cost in high neurotics. Several studies have suggested that there is competition for processing by the bottleneck when the SOA is short in dual task performance (Jiang, 2004). This competition becomes more intensive as the SOA decreases, and thus a higher dual task cost occurs due to the delay in processing task 2 while task 1 remains relatively unaffected (Jiang, 2004; Szameitat et al., 2011). According to De Jong, (1995a), when the SOA is long, the demand on the switching and inhibition functions is lower, and therefore the participants have an optimal time to switch tasks and inhibit irrelevant contexts. However, in the short SOA there is not time to be prepared sufficiently for switching one task and inhibiting other task (De Jong, 1995b; Monsell, 2003). The results demonstrated that the high neurotics were slower than the low neurotics, as is evident by the higher cost in both the long and short SOA tasks. Furthermore, the cost in the high neurotics became more pronounced in the short SOA tasks and thus the differences between the high and low neurotics reached a greater level in the short SOA tasks in favour of the low neurotics. In detail, when the SOA was increased to 1000ms, even though the high neurotics were still slower than the low neurotics, the differences between the groups did not reach a statistically significant level because the performance of the high neurotics relatively improved compared to the short SOA tasks. Also, the performance of the low neurotics also improved, but the improvement was bigger in the high neurotics. Higher task impairment was also found regarding error rates (Baker et al., 1996; MacDonald et al., 2000). Generally, the high neurotics, numerically, executed higher error rates than the low neurotics. It has been suggested that efficient task processing requires faster RTs and lower error rates. In this context, the results indicate that as the SOA decreased in the dual

task, the high neurotic participants showed a greater impairment in terms of processing efficiency of the tasks compared to the low neurotics. On the other hand, when an optimal time was given such as 1000ms SOA for the dual task processing, their performance relatively improved. It should be noted that numerically, in the short SOA tasks low neurotics made higher number of errors than the low neurotics and in the long SOA task the high neurotics made more errors than the low neurotics. However, these results were not significant. They may indicate that the high and low neurotics used different speed accuracy trade-off strategies but for the high neurotics using the strategy was not enough to compensate for the interference of task irrelevant activities during the task processing. Therefore, the low neurotics still had higher processing efficiency than the high neurotics. Other evidence for this interpretation is the analysis of the error rates in RND task below. It shows that the task demand increased and thus the high neurotics became worse in all conditions regarding error rates.

The last hypothesis was that high neurotics have higher switching costs than low neurotics in random condition trials. The results confirmed this hypothesis by showing that the high neurotics had higher task impairment in terms of both reaction times and error rates. In detail, there were the repeated order trials which the trials remain with same order and the switching order trials which task order changed. Comparisons of repeated and switched order trials in high and low neurotics show that high neurotics become slower and execute more errors than low neurotics. The results indicate that the high neurotics became slower and made more errors than the low neurotics in the switched trials compared to the repeated trials. The random condition was relatively the most demanding and stressful condition because it was performed with short SOA with an unexpected order (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003). Thus, it required higher control demand in relation to the switching and inhibition functions. According to Luria & Meiran, (2003) there is an ambiguity in the random condition that increases the demand on the switching function. The participants were required to resolve this ambiguity by consuming more time in the control processes than in the repeated order tasks (Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005). Finding higher RTs in switching cost trials as compared to repeated order trials is strong evidence that the participants encountered higher demand on the switching function because they struggled with the subtask order information during the online control (Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005). Also, De Jong (1995b) suggests that the bottleneck mechanism (preparation) is automatically set to the task which came first in the last trial. Thus, if the

order changes in the current trial, the bottleneck is set to the wrong task and has to be switched once more (De Jong, 1993; De Jong, 1995b). In other words, in a switching order trial, there is one more switching operation of the bottleneck involved (De Jong, 1993; De Jong, 1995b). This switching may involve inhibition of the task and loading the S-R mapping. According to Luria & Meiran (2003 and 2005), in repeated task orders participants may take advantage of the setting the tasks automatically. Therefore, RTs and error rates may be higher in switched order trials than in repeated order trials (Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005). I found that the high neurotics were slower with higher error rates than the low neurotics in both the repeated and switched trials. Furthermore, the slowness and higher error rates were more pronounced in the switching trials than the repeated trials compared to the low neurotics. Taking into account ACT, which assumes that increased demand in the central executive system leads to an impairment in the processing of working memory tasks (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007), because the task demand is considerably higher on the switching and inhibition functions, the impairment in the high neurotics became more pronounced compared to the low neurotics during the switching trials. In particular, if the task demand associated with the three main functions of the CES, (i.e. shifting, inhibition and updating), the task processing considerably impairs in high neurotics compared with low neurotics (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). In this study, the random dual task condition was mainly associated with shifting but it also involved the inhibition and updating functions (Stelzel, Kraft, Brandt, & Schubert, 2008b; Szameitat et al., 2002; Szameitat et al., 2016). Because both tasks were presented randomly and simultaneously the participants had to use the switching and inhibition functions extensively during the switching trials and also they need to update task related context (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2005).

So far, the results in the present experiment indicate that high neurotics are slower and execute more errors than low neurotics as the CES demand increases. Moreover, the results show that when the demand increases on the switching and inhibition functions, the cost in high neurotics becomes more pronounced compared to low neurotics. According to the arousal based theory of neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967) and ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007), worry and a higher level of arousal cause task irrelevant activities in high neurotics during the processing of resources in demanding tasks. ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) suggests that task irrelevant activities interfere with attention during resource processing; therefore, they impair the three main functions of the CES (inhibition, switching and

updating). Taken together, an increase in CES demand is sufficient to show impairments in high neurotics in task processing. Because generally high neurotics are considerably slower and make more errors, task impairment in high neurotics can be concluded to be the result of lower processing efficiency. In the next study, I am going to replicate this study with different stimuli. The reason for that is that I used faces and syllables in the present experiment. The stimuli as such were rather neutral but they were social (faces and syllables) so that they may include some emotional cues. As indicated in section 1.7.1, task processing may be influenced by emotional cues and thus it may have an emotional/social component for high neurotics.

4 Chapter – Neuroticism related differences during processing of dual task with neutral stimuli

4.1 Introduction

The third experiment aimed to replicate the previous dual task findings (chapter 3) using a modified design. Replication of the results is important because it assures that results are valid and reliable which highlights generalizability of the results by using non-emotional stimuli; thus it provides new insights for next research.

The previous dual task consisted of faces and syllables which are potentially emotional stimuli. However, in the present study, I used non-emotional stimuli. Therefore, instead of faces, circles have been used as visual stimuli and instead of syllables, beep tones have been used as auditory stimuli. Below, I review previous cognitive studies that show emotional stimuli may influence RTs in high neurotics (Bishop, Duncan, Brett, & Lawrence, 2004; Dolcos & McCarthy, 2006; Hare et al., 2008). I argue that these studies show a potential contamination effect of emotional stimuli in cognitive processing, which may have affected the result of the previous study (see Chapter 3). In these studies, the effect of emotional stimuli in relation to neuroticism level are investigated either explicitly (i.e. participants are asked to recognize the emotional face whether it is happy or sad or angry) or implicitly (participants asked to decide whether a presented emotional face is the male or female) (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). In the previous dual task study (chapter 3), in visual single task, I asked participants to decide whether the presented face is male or female. In auditory single task, I asked participants to decide whether the syllable is ha/ha or ya/ya. Although these stimuli were not intentionally selected as emotional stimulus, they are social stimuli and so may include emotional cues. Further, this study is similar to the previous studies that measured effect of emotions implicitly. Therefore, in this chapter, I aim to exclude a possible effect of emotional stimuli and show the differences between high and low neurotics are really because of lower processing efficiency in cognitive processing of the task.

My prediction is that high neurotics will have lower processing efficiency than low neurotics in demanding cognitive tasks because higher CES demand increase worry and arousal levels in high neurotics thus detrimental effect of neuroticism impairs CES functions. However, some studies found that using emotional stimuli in cognitive tasks may cause higher task impairment than when using neutral stimuli (Bishop et al., 2004; Dolcos & McCarthy, 2006; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). For example, two separate studies (MacLeod & Rutherford, 1992; Mogg, Bradley, Williams, & Mathews, 1993) conducted an emotional Stroop task with high and low neurotics. Their emotional Stroop task includes emotional and neutral stimuli. The results showed high neurotics were considerably slower than low neurotics when the task includes negative emotional stimuli compared to neutral stimuli. Another study conducted by Eysenck & Byrne (1992) is a visual search task. In this task participants required to found a certain face among the other faces. The results showed that high neurotics were slower when the target face had a happy expression as compared to a neutral one. Dolcos & McCarthy, (2006) conducted a delayed-response working memory task to explore effect of emotional stimuli in cognitive task processing (See section 1.5.2). The task includes neutral and negative emotional faces. Participants were found with lower processing efficiency when the task includes negative emotional stimuli than when the task includes neutral stimuli. These results may indicate emotional stimuli may contribute impairments in WM task processing. General interpretation for such results is that high neurotics more incline to affectivity; therefore they have selective attention bias towards emotional stimuli (Di Simplicio et al., 2014a; Di Simplicio, Norbury, & Harmer, 2012; Di Simplicio et al., 2014). Focusing on emotional stimulus may trigger worry that increase arousal level and thus it causes impairment in demanding cognitive tasks in high neurotics (Power & Dalgleish, 1997; Barnhofer & Chittka, 2010).

As Eysenck, (1967) suggested in high neurotics, higher arousal level cause task impairment in difficult task. Moreover, ACT indicates using of emotional stimuli in cognitive tasks may negatively influence task processing in high neurotics due to selective attention toward emotional stimuli (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). However, in this study, I would like to show greater task impairment in high neurotics is because of higher cognitive task demand (CES demand) and the impairment is not associated with emotional stimuli. As a consequence, in the dual task study (chapter 3) selective attention in high neurotics may have some effects on the results due to the stimulus i.e. that may influence on RTs in high or low neurotics. Therefore, in this chapter, I aim to exclude a possible effect of emotional stimuli and show the differences between high and low neurotics are really because of lower processing efficiency in cognitive processing of the task.

Taken together, the reason why faces and voices are changed to non-emotional stimuli is because it is known that emotional stimulus such as faces and voices influence cognitive processing in high neurotics (Canli, 2004). In chapter 3, the PRP dual task study is well controlled and it is unlikely that high and low neurotics differed, because in that study the male and female faces selected randomly without intending emotional induction.

I aimed to replicate the previous dual task experiment results. To do so I formulate three hypotheses as following:

- I. PRP effect which indicates differences between RT2 in short and long SOA tasks will be grater in high neurotics than low neurotics.
- II. High neurotics will have higher dual task cost (dual task combination of cost) comparing low neurotics during processing of dual tasks particularly in second task whereas no significant differences will be found on single tasks.
- III. The dual task combination cost differences between high and low neurotics will be greater during processing of short SOA than long SOA particularly in the second task.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Participants

To create extreme groups of high- and low-neurotics (High-N and Low-N, respectively), I screened 345 students using the 24-item neuroticism scale of the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ; Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975) in Turkey/Diyarbakir Dicle University campus. From the selected participants as high and low neurotics, five participants were excluded because of current or previous depression or anxiety disorders (2 High N and 3 Low N). Two participants were excluded because neurological disorders according to history of past or current psychiatric or neurologic disorders questionnaire (2 High N). Finally, from the N screened people, 42 people took part in the final experiment: 20 (7 female) were in the High-N group (mean EPQ score=18, range=16–24) and 22 (9 female) in the Low-N group (mean EPQ score= 3.89, range=0-6). The two groups were closely matched for age (High-N = 21.36 and Low-N=23.50) and gender. 40 participants were right handed and two participants were left handed as assessed by the Edinburgh Inventory (Oldfield, 1971). All participants had normal or corrected to normal vision. Before participation each participant gave written informed consent. Participants were paid 10TRY for 1-hour participation. The study was approved by the Department of Life Sciences ethics committee at Brunel University.

4.2.2 Exclusion criteria for selection of high and low neurotics

The exclusion criteria were identical to chapter 2 and 3.

4.2.3 Stimuli

There were two circles (blue and yellow) used in visual task conditions. Each circle was presented for 345 ms. In the auditory task condition, there were two pitch tones; high and low pitch tones. High pitch tones had 700Hz and low pitch tone had 400Hz. Each pitch tone was 345 ms long.

4.2.4 Tasks

There were single tasks that include auditory and visual single tasks. Fixed order dual tasks include short SOA tasks and long SOA tasks.

4.2.4.1 Single task

The task from the previous study (chapter 3) was used with the following changes. In this study visual stimuli (males and female faces) were changed to blue and yellow circles and syllables ("ha-ha" and "ya-ya") were changed to high and low pitch tones. In the visual single task, there were three blocks and each block consisted of 25 trials. In total visual single task consisted of 75 trials. The auditory single task was identical to the visual task with regards to blocks and trials. For the auditory task, the key mapping was 'X' for responding to the 'low pitch' and 'C' for responding to the 'high pitch' tones. For the visual task key mapping was sat 'N' for yellow circles and 'M' for blue circles.

4.2.4.2 Dual task

Participants performed a PRP-type dual task, consisting of two 2 alternative forced choice response tasks, one auditory and one visual (Fig. 1.). All conditions were identical to previous dual task study (chapter 3) except following changes. Dual tasks were comprised of the two single tasks described above. There were eight blocks of 25 trials. Four blocks employed short SOAs (two blocks for Circle=>Tone and two blocks for tone=>circle tasks) and four long SOAs (with same structure as short SOA blocks). The random task was not present in this experiment.

4.2.5 Procedure

The procedure was identical to previous dual task (chapter 3) except following changes. The experiment took places in a cubicle room that is located in medical school of Dicle University/Turkey. Participants filled Turkish version of EPQ and all other screening

documents. Following by that participants performed a PRP-type dual task (similar as in chapter 3), which consist of two-choice response tasks, one auditory and one visual (Fig. 4.1.). In visual single task, participants were required to press 'N' for yellow circles and they have to press 'M' for blue circles. In auditory single task, they are required to press 'X' for low pitch and 'C' for high pitch tones. In dual tasks participants have to perform both single tasks either in a rapid succession (1000ms SOA) or simultaneously (0ms SOA).



Figure 4-1 Shows auditory and visual two-choice response tasks in PRP-type dual task study. Auditory single task is shown in green outline box. Visual single task is shown in blue outline box. Finally, dual tasks are shown in red outline box.

4.2.6 Data analysis

If not otherwise noted, in the following analyses, either an independent t tests or mixed designs ANOVAs were used. Significance for t tests was calculated two-tailed and all effects were reported at p< .05 unless otherwise stated. The between-subject independent variable was EPQ-Neuroticism with the levels high and low neuroticism. The within-subject variables were the different task conditions and varied between analyses. They will be described in the Results section. The dependent variables were response times and error rates. In the all ANOVA tests **Levene's test** for equality of variances were considered. Because **Levene's test** for equality of variances were always not significant, normal ANOVA results were reported.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Single task

Group Statistics						
Groups N Mean RT Std. Std. Er						
				Deviation	Mean	
Single Task	High N	20	551	76	16.99	
~~~ <u>~</u> ~~~~	Low N	22	522	69	14.75	

Table 4-1 Response times for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N,) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Single Tasks is the average of both auditory and visual single tasks.

In line with the results reported in chapter 3, independent t tests demonstrated, although high neurotics were 29 ms slower than low neurotics on average, high and low neurotics did not significantly differ in reaction times average between auditory and visual single tasks [t (42) = 1.69; p > .05] (see table 4.1).

Descriptive Statistics					
	Groups	Mean RT	Std. Deviation	Ν	
Short SOA (0)	High N	1330	286.69	20	
	Low N	1141	274.57	22	
Long SOA (1000 ms)	High N	712	200.13	20	
	Low N	640	137.06	22	

## 4.3.2 PRP effect

Table 4-2 Response times of short SOA and long SOA for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Short SOA is the average of both 0 SOA dual-task response orders (response times were taken from the second task tone=>circles/circles=>tone in the dual-task). Likewise, Long SOA is the average of both 1000ms SOA dual-task response orders (tone=>circles/circles=>tone). PRP effect is derived from subtraction of RT2 short and long SOA (DT0-DT1000)



Figure 4-2 shows single and dual task costs in the form of boxplot regarding mean and SD for participants high (pink box) and low (blue box) neuroticism level. Note that each result has been presented with a different scale.

To test first hypothesis (PRP effect which indicates differences between RT2 in short and long SOA tasks will be grater in high neurotics than low neurotics), I calculated a 2x2 factorial ANOVA with the within-subject factor RT2 SOA (0 vs. 1000ms) and the between subject factor group (High-N vs Low-N). PRP effect is derived by subtraction RT2 long SOA from RT2 short SOA. Results showed that on average high neurotics were slower than low neurotics [neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40) = 3.9; p < .05]. Furthermore, a PRP-effect was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs in the short SOA as compared to the long SOA [SOA main effect, F (1, 40) = 443.95; p < .05]. Finally, the PRP-effect was larger for the high neurotics than for the low neurotics, as evident by the interaction between group and SOA [F (1, 40) = 4.89; p < .05] (see table 4.2). The significant interaction confirms the first hypothesis by replicating the previous results (see section 3.3.2) and shows that indeed high neurotics have higher DT costs in form of a PRP effect than low neurotics regardless emotional stimuli effect (see figure 4.2).



Figure 4-3 Shows mean PRP effect (ms) for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N, blue column) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N, red column). PRP effect is derived from subtraction of RT2 short and long SOA (DT0-DT1000). Mean PRP effect is taken from average of PRP effects for each condition (tone=>circles and circles=>tone).

#### 4.3.3 Dual task combination costs

In this section, I present interaction effects between RTs of single and RT2 dual tasks with short SOA and neuroticism levels. Regarding dual task cost, I only present analyses of RT 2 because majority of PRP studies found significant effects of RT 2. To test the second hypothesis (High neurotics will have higher dual task cost (dual task combination of cost) comparing low neurotics during processing of dual tasks particularly in second task whereas no significant differences will be found on single tasks), I calculated a 2x2 factorial ANOVA with the within-subject factor task (DT0 (RT2) vs Single task (RT)) and the between subject factor group (High-N vs Low-N). Results showed that on average high neurotics were slower than low neurotics [neuroticism main effect, F(1, 40) = 4.39; p < .05]. Furthermore, the cost in RT2 was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs in the short SOA as compared to the single task [SOA main effect, F(1, 40) = 373.09; p < .05]. Finally, the dual task cost (RT2) was larger as compared to single task for the high neurotics than for the low neurotics, as evident by the interaction between group and SOA [F (1, 40) = 4.84; p < .05]. The significant interaction confirms the second hypothesis and shows that indeed high neurotics have higher dual task costs in form of a combination costs than low neurotics (see figure 4.3).



Figure 4-4 show response times for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N, blue line) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N, red line). Single Tasks is the average of both single tasks. Dual Tasks is the average of both dual-task response orders (response times were taken from the second tasks in dual task).

Descriptive Statistics						
	Groups	Mean RT	Std. Deviation	Ν		
DT (SOA 0) -ST	High N	778	235	20		
	Low N	619	232	22		
DT (SOA 1000) -ST	High N	618	164	20		
	Low N	483	225	22		

## 4.3.4 SOA effect on dual task combination cost

Table 4-3 show descriptive statistics regarding SOA effects on neuroticism. DT cost is derived by subtracting Single task (RTs) from Dual Task (RT2) for short and long SOA separately. Response times of (DT0 RT2-ST) and (DT1000 RT2-ST) for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N).

In this section, I present interaction effects between SOA manipulations and neuroticism levels. Dual task cost is calculated by subtracting single tasks from dual task RT2 for each SOA separately and then I explored interaction between SOA and neuroticism. Similar to previous analyses, to test the third hypothesis (The dual task combination cost differences between high and low neurotics will be greater during processing of short SOA than long SOA particularly in the second task), I calculated a 2x2 factorial ANOVA with the within-subject factor dual task cost (SOA 0 Dual Task RT2-Single task RT vs SOA 1000 Dual Task RT2-Single task RT) and the between subject factor group (High-N vs Low-N). Results

showed that on average high neurotics have greater dual task cost compared to low neurotics [Neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40) = 4.94; p < .05]. Dual task combination cost was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs in the short SOA as compared to the long SOA task [SOA main effect, F (1, 40) = 378.82; p < .05] Finally, the dual task combination cost was (RT2) larger at the lower SOA than for the high neurotics than for the low neurotics, as evident by the interaction between group and SOA [F (1, 40) = 5.24; p < .05] (see table 4.3). The significant interaction confirms my third hypothesis and shows that indeed high neurotics have higher costs at the short SOA in the form of dual task combination costs than low neurotics (see figure 4.4.).



Figure 4-5 show SOA effects on neuroticism. DT cost is derived by subtracting ST from DT (DT-ST,) for short and long SOA separately. Response times of DT0-ST and Dt1000-ST for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N, blue line) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N, red line).

## 4.3.5 Error rates

Descriptive Statistics						
	Groups	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν		
Single Task	High N	.035	.026	20		
Single Tubk	Low N	.046	.051	22		
Dual task (SOA 0)	High N	.048	.066	20		
	Low N	.051	.035	22		
Dual task (SOA 1000)	High N	.090	.075	20		

	Low N	.198	.178	22

Table 4-4 shows descriptive statistics regarding error rates for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Single Tasks is the average of both single tasks. Dual Tasks is the average of both dual-task response orders (response times were taken from the second task in the dual-task).

Regarding single tasks, as it was expected, high and low neurotics were not differentiated statistically regarding error rates [F (1, 40) = 2.58; p > .05]. This result indicates that high and low neurotics roughly execute similar number of errors during processing of single tasks (see table 4.4).

Regarding dual tasks, a comparable analysis of error rates to error rates in chapter 3 revealed the similar general pattern of results regarding error rates in dual task costs which support my hypotheses (1-3), however it did not reach statistical significance (main effect group: [F (1, 40) = 1.68; p > .05]; main effect SOA: [F (1, 40) = 22.97; p < .05]; interaction: [F (1, 40) = 1.70; p > .05]) (see table 4.4).

## 4.4 Discussion

In line with the previous dual task study, I found PRP effect in all participants. Also, participants became slower as the task demand increased from single task to dual task and from long SOA tasks to short SOA task. I found high neurotics had larger PRP effect than low neurotics. Further, high neurotics had higher task impairment than low neurotics as the demand increase respectively in dual task combination costs (single/dual task), SOA (long/short). Regarding error rates, numerically, low neurotics made more errors than high neurotics based on the mean values however high and low neurotics did not statistically and significantly differ.

In this study, I removed face and syllable stimuli that may have a potential emotional effect during task processing in high neurotics. It has been suggested emotional stimulus may trigger stress that increase worry and arousal level in high neurotics (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; Power & Dalgleish, 1997). It is suggested that worry and higher arousal level impairs task processing in high neurotics (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). One important question was whether worry and arousal level is increased because of any influence of emotional stimuli or it is because of pure demand on CES functions. According to Eysenck (1967) higher arousal and worry are more likely to associates with emotions in limbic system. In this context, it is reasonable if emotional stimuli increase worry and arousal level and cause task

impairments. In line with that Eysenck et al., (2007) suggested emotional stimuli in cognitive task processing may have a considerable side effect regarding task performance in high neurotics. A few empirical studies showed that high and low neurotics may differently influenced by emotional stimuli in cognitive tasks (Bishop et al., 2004; Dolcos & McCarthy, 2006). Also, several emotional studies showed that when emotional stimuli (male and female faces) presented, high neurotics faster while responding negative emotional stimuli and slower to respond positive emotional stimuli (Canli et al., 2001; Haas et al., 2007). Using such stimuli in a cognitive task may affect response times in high neurotics, because the experimental procedure is very similar i.e. participants decide whether an affective face is male or female in emotional tasks thus effect of emotions is investigated in implicit way (Chan et al., 2007). However, in my study, I suggested task impairment in high neurotics is because of higher task demand on CES functions that is impaired by detrimental effect of neuroticism. In this view, worry and arousal increase task irrelevant activities and it interferes with attention thus task processing impairs (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Therefore, because stimuli that I used are not emotional, the results replicate my statement. I discuss results regarding response times and error rates separately below.

Current results replicated the findings reported in experiment two (chapter 3) in terms of reaction times of high and low neurotics on PRP effect and dual task combination costs; (single/dual task) and (short/long SOA). Thus the results can be concluded that dual task cost differences between high and low neurotics are not attributable to emotional stimuli in the task. Also, replication of the previous results with different sample and different stimuli confirmed that high neurotics were slower than low neurotics on dual task processing (demand CES) as compared to single tasks (virtually no CES demand). This result indicates detrimental effect of neuroticism impairs CES functions in high neurotics as comparing low neurotics during task processing (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009). Further, high neurotics had greater PRP effect than low neurotics. This may indicate high neurotics may encounter higher level of interference during bottleneck processing. High neurotics were observed with a considerable higher dual task cost on processing short SOA dual tasks than long SOA task as comparing low neurotics. These results indicate that when dual task restricted by SOA that makes the task more stressful and difficult, high neurotics considerably slowed down as compared to low neurotics on processing of dual task. Altogether, these results are same as the results reported in chapter 3. This means that task impairment in high neurotics is caused

by higher demand on CES functions and it is not associated with a possible effect emotional cue in the previous tasks.

Regarding overall error rates, although high and low neurotics did not reach significant results, low neurotics made higher errors than high neurotics. Such results are often explained by speed accuracy trade-off strategy in theoretical and empirical studies. It has been suggested high neurotics may focus one aspect of the experiment to accomplish the task (Flehmig et al., 2010) (see section 1.5.1). The reason for that is high neurotics use a speed accuracy criterion that focus accuracy while ignoring response times (Flehmig et al., 2010). Easterbrook's (1959) suggested that high level of neuroticism may leads people to narrow their attention during a dual task processing. They narrow their attention either on accuracy or response times (Easterbrook, 1959; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). In such case, high neurotics some times are quite slower but with higher accuracy (Flehmig et al., 2010). However, this is usually not enough for a higher processing efficiency in demanding cognitive tasks regarding high neurotics (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). In the current results, I observed that low neurotics had higher error rates than high neurotics; however the results were not strong enough to differentiate high and low neurotics. Relying on the theoretical view, high neurotics may use a different speed accuracy criterion and rather focus on task accuracy (Flehmig et al., 2010). Because, task irrelevant activities considerably interfere with attention during processing of cognitive resources, focusing on accuracy did not help to be significantly better than low neurotics (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009).

It has been indicated that task processing is automatically set in the bottleneck mechanism in dual task processing (De Jong, 1993; De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003). Accordingly, in fixed dual task processing, when first task comes the second task is automatically sat for processing (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005). Because participants performed fixed dual tasks only in this study, high neurotics may get a slight benefit of that automaticity by using speed and accuracy criterion. One strong evidence comes from previous dual task results (chapter 3); because the current results regarding error rates are similar as the previous results. In chapter 3, when demand on CES is maximized by random tasks, high neurotics were worse than low neurotics in error rates as well as in response times because advantage of setting tasks automatically were removed. Therefore, because task become very difficult for high neurotics, cognitive resources in high neurotics entirely consumed thus they were worse in response times and error rates. This study is the key to the support of previous results because this replication involves the process of repeating the previous dual task study by using the same methods, with different subjects, and modified experimental design. For example, the study took place in Dicle University (Turkey) with a new and larger sample. Therefore, is important for some reasons, such as including assurance that results are valid and reliable, generalizability of task impairment in high neurotics in relation to CES demand. Further, it helps to guide for direction of next study by combining previous and current results.

In conclusion, I found high neurotics had greater impairment as task demand increase from single task to dual task and from long SOA dual tasks to short SOA dual tasks. The results replicate the previous dual task study that assures the results are valid and reliable. Thus, the results showed that task impairment is because of higher CES demand but not any effect of emotional stimuli in this study. In the next study, I increase task demand on CES functions by S-R mapping manipulation. Further, I explore detrimental effect of neuroticism in relation to CES and non-CES demand. Finally, I investigate perceptual task difficulty in high and low neurotics.

# 5 Chapter - Neuroticism related differences during processing of Dual task: Task set maintenance

#### 5.1 Introduction

Response selection is defined as a decisional stage for execution of a proper reaction (Szmalec et al., 2005). Based on this point of view, response selection is found to be associated with the CES but not the WM storage systems (Allain et al., 2004; Bunge et al., 2000; Hegarty, Shah, & Miyake, 2000; Szmalec et al., 2005). In dual tasks, the components of the tasks set are supposed to include response selections, which are stimulus-response mappings, task rules, as well as the content of the task. These features of the tasks set are called task set maintenance (Stelzel et al., 2008a) and they have to be processed by the CES functions in the online state of working memory (Miller, 2000; Cowan, 1999; Logan & Gordon, 2001; Meiran, 1996; Rogers & Monsell, 1995). As discussed previously, the locus of the bottleneck is response selection and performing two choices in reaction tasks concurrently requires extensive use of the three main functions (switching, inhibition and updating) during this stage (De Jong, 1995; Logan & Gordon, 2001; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Meyer & Kieras, 1997; Szameitat et al., 2016). Accordingly, inhibition is required to avoid processing the second task until the first task has been processed in the bottleneck and switching is needed to shift the focus of the bottleneck from the first task to the second task (De Jong, 1993; De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003). Also, updating is involved in maintaining the first and second task related contexts and rules until both tasks have been processed (De Jong, 1995a; Logan & Gordon, 2001). According to Szamelec et al., (2005) increasing stimuli response mapping is mainly associated with three main functions in the response selection stage because the response selection stage is a decisional stage for execution of a proper reaction. In this context, increasing stimuli response (S-R) mappings (S-R load) places a higher demand on the three main functions of the CES. In other words, two choice dual task processing is associated with switching, inhibition and updating. If the task involves three or four choices then the number of items that should be switched, inhibited and updated increases considerably. Consequently, a higher dual task cost occurs during the task processing because of the higher demand on these functions. For example, Szamelec et al., (2005) explored the effect of S-R load in dual tasks (see section 1.5.2.). One condition in the study included fixed dual tasks with a manipulated set size from two to four choice S-R mappings. In the dual tasks, the participants were required to respond to one of four digits presented in the centre of the screen by pressing either one of four (4-choice tasks) or two buttons (2-choice tasks) on the keyboard. The authors found that increasing the S-R load in a dual task dramatically increases the dual task cost. In chapters 3 and 4, I showed that the higher dual task cost in high neurotics compared to low neurotics is due to an impairment of the switching, inhibition and updating functions. Relying on this information, this study is designed to investigate the effect of the S-R load placed on the central executive system in high and low neurotics during the cognitive processing of dual tasks. The task demand is increased by S-R loading manipulation across the experiment. Thus, the task demand increases from a one choice single task to two, three and four choice reaction dual tasks. Increased demand on task set maintenance due to a larger task set size in dual tasks may be a factor that causes additional cost in high neurotics during cognitive processing of the dual task.

Note that because the single task was not a dual task and required virtually no CES functions, I assess this task separately in the results. I use it to derive dual task combination costs and I aim to show that there was no difference between the high and low neurotics in the single task processing as the easiest condition. Therefore, the single tasks were always identical and required one response for each trial.

Contrary to the previous experimental design (Visual-Auditory and Auditory-Visual), in the present study, the presentation of the tasks is included one type of task order which is Visual-Auditory so that memory load increased in visual task only. In other words, in this experiment, the S-R load, which means the demand in response selection (demand CES), was increased from two to three and four choices in the visual tasks whilst the auditory tasks remained as two choices as in the previous tasks. The reason for that is that the VSSP is not involved in task impairment whereas the phonological loop (PL) storage may be partly involved at some points (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). The common point between PL and worry supposed to be that both are associated with inner words that may contribute to task irrelevant activities (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Therefore, if PL is demanding, it may contribute to task irrelevant activities in high neurotics (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). I also confirmed in the first empirical study that even though the load increased in the VSSP, no differences were found between the high and low neurotics (see section 2.3). Therefore, any higher cost in the high neurotics compared with

the low neurotics in the S-R loading manipulation will be because of demand on the CES functions.

In addition to stimuli response mapping manipulation, the task demand was increased by SOA manipulation as well. Previously, I showed that SOA manipulation increases the demand on the CES functions and thus the high neurotics had higher dual task costs as the SOA decreased (for short and long SOA see section 1.3.2 and 3.1.) (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2005). Therefore, each condition presented either with a short or long SOA. In the long SOA task, the task demand was increased only by S-R loading manipulation from two to three and four choices. In the short SOA task, the task demand was increased both by SOA (SOA 0 ms) and S-R loading manipulation.

Taken together, the short SOA tasks with S-R loading manipulation were relatively the most difficult tasks because the task demand on the CES was increased by SOA and S-R loading manipulation. These tasks, which involved a four choice dual task with a short SOA, were the most difficult because the demand on the inhibition, switching and updating functions was maximized. On the other hand, the tasks with S-R loading manipulation a long SOA were only relatively moderately difficult because the task demand was increased by S-R loading manipulation and 1000 ms SOA was set. Thus, there was more time to prepare the processes for the CES functions (switching and inhibition functions) with the long SOA tasks.

PRP dual task studies have shown that task set maintenance (S-R mappings) and task coordination (called random task) are associated with the CES. However, there are different types of demand. In chapter 3, I found that the high neurotics had a greater dual task cost compared with the low neurotics. In particular, the dual task cost was much higher during the processing of the random order task in the high neurotics compared to the low neurotics. In the random order task the demand were increased on the three main functions (see section 1.5.1). Because random task processing involves re-arrangement of the task set for each trial, a higher demand was placed on the switching and inhibition functions (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2016). However, when the demand was increased via S-R loading manipulation, it seemed that the demand on the updating function also dramatically increased (Allain et al., 2004; Stelzel et al., 2008a). In previous studies (chapter 3-4), S-R loading, task rules, as well as the content of the tasks have been updated for two choice tasks only. However, now, these features have been updated for three and four choice

tasks. According to ACT, task set maintenance is one of the main functions of the central mechanism, which is called updating (Eysenck, et al, 2007). Although it is supposed that the updating function is involved in the repository storage of working memory as well, it is commonly accepted as one of the main functions of the central executive system because the updating function is supposed to be involved in refreshing, maintaining and monitoring mental representations during the processing of the tasks (Derakshan and Eysenck, 2009; Eysenck, et al, 2007, Miyake, et al, 2000, p. 56). Therefore, in addition to increasing the demand on the switching and inhibition functions, the demand on the updating function was also increased considerably in the present study.

Regarding neuroticism related differences, attentional control theory suggests that as soon as the load on the central executive system is increased, the processing efficiency will reduce (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). However, it is well known that working memory capacity is limited for everyone (Baddeley, 1996b; Baddeley, 2000; Engle, 2002). From this perspective, I expected an inverted U curve, as Eysenck (1967) suggested, if the task very easy, as both the high and low neurotics will perform similarly. Because high neurotics have a lower arousal level threshold, they have higher task impairment in a demanding task compared to low neurotics (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck, 1985). If the task becomes very difficult then the arousal level will exceed the threshold in high and low neurotics and thus cognitive resources will be consumed in the working memory capacity of both high and low neurotics. In this case, the differences regarding the dual task costs will be constant (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck, 1985). Therefore, I expected the dual task cost to be greater in high neurotics as the task set increased to some extent. I formulated two hypotheses for my expectation: first, the dual task combination cost differences between the high and low neurotics will become larger as the load is increased by S-R loading manipulation in the long SOA tasks. Second, the dual task combination cost differences between the high and low neurotics do not become larger in the short SOA task as the load is increased by S-R loading manipulation. The reason for that is that the arousal level will exceed the activation threshold that causes task irrelevant activities in both the high and low neurotics (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Therefore, limited cognitive resources would be consumed by higher task related and task irrelevant activities in both groups (Corr, 2003; M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; Sarason, 1988; Sarason et al., 1990).

In addition, the PRP effect is not a task; it is a variable that shows the interaction between the RT2 short SOA and RT2 long SOA task (Meyer & Kieras, 1997a; Pashler, 1993; Pashler, 1994b). Because the PRP effect indicates an additional delay RT2 in the short SOA compared to the long SOA (Meyer & Kieras, 1997a; Pashler, 1994b), I assessed this form of cost with the short SOA tasks. Therefore, these variables were assessed as one of the most difficult conditions in the short SOA tasks. The hypothesis to be tested is that PRP effect cost difference between the high and low neurotics do not become larger as the load was increased by S-R loading manipulation.

In the study, I also increased the task demand in perceptual stages by adding degraded stimuli in the visual task. Stimulus degradation in cognitive studies has been investigated previously in normal subjects (e.g., Barch et al., 1997) (see section 1.3.4.). It has been indicated that stimuli degradation increases the task difficulty but is disassociated from WM demand (Barch et al., 1997; Luria & Meiran, 2005). Furthermore, it has been found that stimuli degradation does not influence the response selection stage because it is associated with perceptual processes (Rubinstein, Meyer, & Evans, 2001). One reason for that is PRP bottleneck theories suggest that while perceptual and motor execution processes can handle both tasks in parallel, the response selection stage, which is the locus of the bottleneck process, can only handle one task at a time (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Meyer & Kieras, 1997b; Pashler, 1993; Pashler, 1994a). Moreover, I found that increasing the demand on the CES functions in bottleneck processes (response selection stage) causes a higher impairment in high neurotics (chapters 2-4). In this context, the detrimental effect of neuroticism impairs the CES functions, which are associated with the response selection stage, and then if the task demand increases at the other stages the high and low neurotics should not differ because the two tasks can be processed in parallel in the other stages. However, to date there is no study that has explored increasing task difficulty that is disassociated from working memory in relation to the detrimental effect of neuroticism. Therefore, one question of interest would be whether a higher dual task cost in high neurotics is due to an impairment in the processing of the bottleneck (the CES demand) or whether it is just because of any type of task difficulty apart from the demand placed on the CES. The hypothesis to be tested is that dual task combination cost differences between high and low neurotics do not become larger as the task difficulty is increased by stimuli degradation.

Finally, according to Eysenck (1967), high neurotics perceive higher stress and task difficulty than low neurotics in demanding task performance. In line with that, PET and ACT

suggest that high neurotics will have higher scores regarding difficulty and stress level on the questionnaires after WM task performance (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). It has been suggested even though high and low neurotics may have similar cardiovascular activities, high neurotics may have higher perceived difficulty in demanding task performance because the higher sensitivity toward stressful conditions in high neurotics than low neurotics, (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Note that in the theory, with regard to task difficulty, Eysenck (1967) does not specify whether it is CES demand or non-CES demand. Therefore, increasing any type of difficulty in a cognitive task may lead to higher perceptual stress and difficulty in high neurotics. I used a subjective measure that investigates perceived stress level by scoring the task stressfulness after completion of the experiment. In this part, the participants were required to score their perceived stress and difficulty level for each task just after the experiment was completed. Regarding subjective measures, I aimed to investigate the perceived stress level differences between high and low neurotics. The hypothesis to be tested is that the high neurotics will have higher perceived stress scores than the low neurotics as the demand increased in the tasks.

Altogether, first, I aimed at testing whether the impairment in dual task processing in high and low neurotics will increase as the S-R load increase. Second, I explored whether the greater dual task cost occurred due to the CES demand or whether any kind of task demand may cause such a cost. Third, I aimed at investigating the perceived stress level differences between the high and low neurotics. To do so, I formulated several hypotheses as follows:

- I. The high and low neurotics will not significantly differ regarding processing efficiency in single tasks (general pattern as in previous single tasks).
- II. The PRP effect cost differences between the high and low neurotics will not become considerably larger as the load increases, as is evident in similar processing efficiencies.
- III. The dual task combination cost differences between the high and low neurotics should not be greater regarding RTs and error rates as the load increases in short SOA tasks (i.e. the differences between the high and low neurotics regarding processing efficiency will not be significantly larger as the load increases)
- IV. The dual task combination cost differences between the high and low neurotics should considerably increase as the load increases both for RTs and error rates in

long SOA tasks (i.e. lower processing efficiency as the load increases in high neurotics).

- V. There should be no major dual task cost differences between the high and low neurotics regarding processing of degraded and non-degraded three choices dual tasks either in RTs or in error rates.
- VI. The perceived stress level will be higher as the task demand is increased either by S-R mapping manipulation or stimuli degradation in high neurotics compared to low neurotics.

## 5.2 Methods

## 5.2.1 Participants

To create extreme groups of high and low neurotics (High-N and Low-N, respectively), I screened 300 participants using the 24-item neuroticism scale of the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ; Eysenck and Eysenck, 1975). Three participants were excluded because of current or previous depression or anxiety disorders, according to the history of past or current psychiatric or neurologic disorders questionnaire. From the N screened people, 41 people took part in the final experiment: 21 (11 female) were in the High-N group (mean EPQ score=18, range=16–24) and 20 (10 female) in the Low-N group (mean EPQ score= 3.89, range=0–6). The two groups were matched for age (High-N = 21.36 and Low-N=23.50) and gender. All of the participants were right handed as assessed by the Edinburgh Inventory (Oldfield, 1971) and had normal or corrected to normal vision. Before participation each participant gave written informed consent. Participants were paid £10 for 1 hour of participation. The study was approved by the Department of Life Sciences ethics committee at Brunel University.

## 5.2.2 Exclusion criteria for selection of high and low neurotics

The exclusion criteria were identical to the experiments in chapters 1, 2, 3 and 4.

#### 5.2.3 Tasks

The participants had to perform two choice single tasks. In the dual task conditions, the participants performed two, three and four choice visual tasks with two choice auditory tasks

in separate blocks. Finally, they completed a perceived stress questionnaire regarding the task difficulty.

## 5.2.3.1 Single tasks

In the single tasks (visual and auditory single tasks), I used only two choice reaction tasks because I aimed to create the easiest conditions (H. J. Eysenck, 1967).

# 5.2.3.1.1 Visual single task (VIS).

In the visual single task, two digits, 1 and 2, were presented. The visual single task consisted of 75 trials divided into 3 blocks of 25 trials each. A trial in the VIS condition started with a blank grey screen for 300 ms, followed by a fixation period of 300 ms. Digits 1 and 2 were presented for 300 ms. Thus, the trial duration depended on the response speed of the participant. Then, either error feedback ("Error") or a fixation cross was displayed. The duration of this error feedback / fixation cross was 300 ms. Thus, the interval between the last response and the onset of the next stimulus (Response-Stimulus-Interval, RSI) was always 1300ms.

## 5.2.3.1.2 Auditory single-task (AUD)

The auditory condition consisted of beep tones with either low (400Hz) or high (700 Hz) pitches. The auditory single task (Beep tone task) consisted of 75 trials divided into 3 blocks of 25 each. A trial in the AUD condition started with the same blank screen and fixation period as in the visual single-task. The key mapping was X for the low beep tone and C for the high beep tone on the keyboard. The other characteristics of the auditory single task were identical to the visual single task.

# 5.2.3.2 Fixed order dual task

In contrast to the previous experiments, I employed a visual =>auditory task order only as the fixed dual task condition. The main reason for that is explained in the introduction. The other reason is because there was limited time to process all of the conditions. The dual task consisted of a visual and an auditory task. The response choices were manipulated in the visual task. There was two, three and four choice visual tasks conditions that included digits 1 & 2; 1, 2 & 3 and 1, 2, 3 & 4 respectively. The auditory task always remained identical as in the single task. Each visual condition was presented with auditory tasks in separate blocks.

The dual task conditions were presented with 0 and 1000 ms. SOA manipulations. Overall, the dual task conditions consisted of 200 trials divided into 2 blocks with 50 trials in each. The rest of the conditions regarding the timing in the stimuli presentation were identical to the experiments in chapters 3 and 4.

The dual task (digit => beep tone) with a short SOA (0 SOA) (non-degraded) consisted of 3 blocks with 50 trials in each that included the presentation of digits and a beep tone (digit => beep tone) simultaneously. The first fixed dual task condition consisted of a two choice reaction task that included two digits (1 and 2) as the visual task and high and low beep tones as the auditory task (the two tasks were identical as in the single tasks). The second fixed dual task consisted of a three choice visual reaction task that included the digits 1, 2 and 3; the auditory task remained identical to the first dual task condition, as a two choice auditory reaction task. The three choice visual tasks were presented in two forms: degraded and non-degraded while the auditory task was the same as before. The degraded three choice visual tasks were identical to the non-degraded three choice visual tasks except for the presentation of each digit because the digits were shielded by a virtual square in which 75% of the pixels were randomly degraded (see Figure 5.1.). In the three choice dual tasks, the key mapping for digits 1, 2, and 3 was respectively N, M, and coma (,) on the keyboard. The key mapping for the auditory task was the same as in the single tasks (low beep tone: X and high beep tone: C). Finally, the fourth fixed dual task condition consisted of a four choice visual reaction task that included the digits 1, 2, 3 and 4; the auditory task remained identical to the previous tasks. All of the conditions of the dual task with a long SOA were identical to the dual task with a short SOA except for 1000 SOA between the presentations of the stimulus because the digits were presented at first and after 1000ms SOA a beep tone was presented. The key mapping for digits 1, 2, 3 and 4 was respectively N, M, coma (,) and full stop (.) on the keyboard. The key mapping for the auditory task was the same as in the single tasks (low beep tone: X and high beep tone: C).



Figure 5-1 An example of the degraded stimuli presented in the three choice dual task conditions.

## 5.2.4 Perceived stress level questionnaire

In this experiment a subjective measure of perceived stress level was included. There were six items that asked the participants 'how stressful and difficult was the task?'. Each item had an identical scale from 1 (very easy) to 9 (very difficult). Overall, a score from 1 to 3 indicated that the task was easy; from 4 to 6 indicated that it was moderate; and 7 to 9 indicated that it was difficult.

#### 5.2.4.1 Procedure

The first stage of the procedure was identical to the previous experiments (see experiments 2 and 3) including the screening procedure, exclusion criteria and questionnaires that had to be filled in by the participants.

After completion of the first stage, the dual task experiment started. While sitting on the chair in the cubicle room the participants performed a PRP dual task, consisting of two, three and four-choice visual, and two choice auditory tasks in separate blocks (Fig. 5.2 and 5.3.). Firstly, all of the participants performed all types of the single and dual tasks in the practice, which lasted for around 15 minutes.



Figure 5-2 shows visual and auditory single task experimental design



Figure 5-3 Shows dual tasks experimental design along response mapping manipulation

In the single tasks, the participants were presented with the visual and auditory single tasks. A trial in the VIS condition started with a blank grey screen for 300 ms, followed by a fixation period of 300 ms. The digits were presented for 300 ms. The participants had to respond with the right index finger to the 1 by pressing the N button, and with the right middle finger to the 2 by pressing the M button on the keyboard for the two choice visual reaction tasks. Thus, the trial duration depended on the response speed of the participant.

Then, if their response was wrong, the participants saw error feedback ("Error") displayed on the screen. If their response was correct they saw a fixation cross.

The trial in the auditory condition was the same as in chapter 4. The condition started with an identical blank screen and fixation period as in the visual single-task. After the fixation period, a beep tone was presented for 300ms. In the auditory task, the participants had to respond to the high beep tone with their left index finger by pressing C and to the low beep tone with the left middle finger by pressing the X button on the keyboard. The other characteristics were the same as in the two choice visual tasks.

In the dual task condition, both the visual and auditory tasks were presented either simultaneously or in rapid succession, separated by the stimulus-onset-asynchrony (SOA). The two choice dual tasks consisted of visual and auditory single tasks. Thus, the response procedure for key mapping was the same as in single tasks for the two choice dual tasks. The procedure for the dual task conditions regarding the response order and auditory task was always the same as in the two choice dual tasks. However, in the visual task, the participants had to respond with the right index finger to the 1 by pressing the N button, with the right middle finger to the 2 by pressing the M button, and to the 3 with the ring finger by pressing the coma (,) button for the three choice visual reaction tasks. Furthermore, the participants had to respond with the right index finger to the 1 by pressing the N button, with the right middle finger to the 2 by pressing the M button, with the ring finger to the 3 by pressing the coma (,) button, and to the 4 with the little finger by pressing the full stop (.) button for the four choice visual reaction tasks. A special instruction about the upcoming choice dual task was given immediately before each block. In other words, before each task, they were told whether the task had 2, 3 or 4 choices and whether it was degraded or non-degraded. For example, if the task was a 3 choice dual task the instruction was '3 digits non-degraded'. The participants were instructed to respond to both tasks as fast and as accurately as possible. Furthermore, they were strongly encouraged to respond to both tasks in the order of presentation. This part of the instruction favoured the first over the second task during dualtask processing. To ensure equal trial duration under each SOA condition, the time available to respond to the second stimulus was adjusted depending on the SOA variations. For the long SOA tasks, to avoid 'grouping the stimuli' (stimuli grouping: after both stimuli presented and then they respond stimuli), the participants were required to respond to the digits and, after 1000ms SOA, to respond to the beep tone as quickly as possible.

Additionally, after completion of the experiment, the participants scored the stressfulness and difficulty of each task by marking it from 1 (very easy) to 9 (very difficult) on a paper sheet. For example, if the tasks were perceived as very easy the participant marked 1, 2 or 3 and if the task was moderately difficult then the participant marked it 4, 5 or 6. On the other hand if the task was very difficult, then the participants marked it 7, 8 or 9 for each task. At the end of the study all of the participants were given a debriefing form.

Overall the study took one hour for each participant to complete the study.

# 5.2.4.2 Data analysis

If not otherwise noted, in the following analyses, an independent t test or analysis of variance (ANOVA) mixed design was used. The significant effects for the ANOVA tests were reported at p < .05 unless otherwise stated. For the t test the significant effects were p < .05 two tailed. The between-subject independent variable was Neuroticism (High-N vs. Low-N). The within-subject variables were the different task conditions and these vary between the analyses. They will be described in the results section. The dependent variables were the response times and the error rates.

## 5.3 Results

## 5.3.1 Single Task

Descriptive Statistics						
Single Tasks	Groups	No	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error Mean	
Response times	HIGH N	21	477	55.79	12.17	
	LOW N	20	457	65.66	14.68	
Error rates	HIGH N	21	.049	.044	.009	
	LOW N	20	.057	.038	.008	

Table 5-1 Response times for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N,) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Single Task is the average of both single tasks.

Independent t tests were performed to present the performance of the high and low neurotics on the single tasks regarding reaction times and error rates for testing first hypothesis (The high and low neurotics will not significantly differ regarding processing efficiency in single tasks (general pattern as in previous single tasks)). The results showed that although the high neurotics were numerically slower, the high and low neurotics did not differ significantly in terms of the reaction times in the single tasks [t (41) = 1.35; p > .05]. Regarding the error
rates, the independent t test showed that although the low neurotics made more errors numerically, the high and low neurotics did not significantly differ regarding the error rates in the processing of the single tasks [t (41) = -.69; p >.05] (see table 5.1). Overall, the results indicate that the high neurotics and low neurotics were not differing regarding processing efficiency. The results confirm my first hypothesis that indeed high and low neurotics do not statistically and significantly differ regarding single task processing.

Descriptive Statistics					
	Groups	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν	
	HIGH N	348	108	21	
	LOW N	262	95	20	
PRP3ND	HIGH N	356	100	21	
	LOW N	287	101	20	
PRP3DD	HIGH N	402	143	21	
	LOW N	341	120	20	
PRP4ND	HIGH N	440	191	21	
	LOW N	417	125	20	

#### 5.3.2 PRP Effect Regarding Response Mapping (S-R loading) Manipulation

Table 5-2 Response times of PRP effects for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). PRP Effect is derived by subtraction of long SOA dual-task response orders from Short SOA response orders (response times were taken from the second task).

In the analyses of the dual tasks, there are more variables than in other studies. Because I will use these variables frequently, I prefer to use abbreviations as follows: Dual task (0 SOA) two choices: DT02N; Dual task (0 SOA) three choices: DT03N; Dual task (0 SOA) four choices: DT04N; Dual task (0 SOA) three choices with degraded stimuli: DT03DD. The abbreviations for the long SOA tasks are identical to the short SOA tasks except for the duration of the SOA. For example, Dual task (1000 SOA) with two choices: DT10002N.

To test the second hypothesis (The PRP effect cost differences between the high and low neurotics will not become considerably larger as the load increases, as is evident in similar processing efficiencies), I performed a 2x3 factorial ANOVA with the within-subject factor PRP effect for the S-R loading manipulation (DT2N vs DT3N vs DT 4N) and the between

subject factor group (High N vs Low N). Note that the PRP effect is derived by subtracting DT0 (RT2) from DT1000 (RT2) for each task: PRP 2N (RT2; DT02N - DT10002N); PRP 3N (RT2; DT03N-DT10003N) and PRP 4N (RT2; DT04N-DT10004N). The results show that on average the high neurotics had a greater PRP effect than the low neurotics [neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40) = 4.13; p < .05]. Furthermore, the PRP-effect for the S-R mapping manipulation was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs in the short SOA compared to the long SOA [S-R loading with PRP main effect, F(1, 40) = 17.15; p < .05] in all of the tasks. This indicates that regardless of the group differences, the PRP effects were getting larger as the task load increased from 2 to 3 and 4 four S-R loads. However, the results demonstrate that manipulation of the S-R mapping regarding the PRP effects in high and low neurotics did not reach significance [S-R load X group interaction, F (1, 40) = 1.04; p > .05]. Contrast analyses along the S-R mapping regarding the PRP effects again show that the cost differences between the high and low neurotics did not significantly differ as the load increased: within subject factor PRP (DT2N vs DT4N) and between subject factor (high vs low) [F (1, 40) = 1.75; p > .05]; within subject factor PRP (DT2N vs DT3N) and between subject factor (high vs low) [F (1, 40) = 1.37; p > .05]. The results indicate that although the high neurotics had a greater cost in the form of a PRP effect in all tasks (see table 5.2.), as the load increased the differences between the groups in terms of the PRP effect did not reach a statistically significant level (p>.05) (see figures 5.4). Taken together, the results are in line with my second hypothesis, in that they show that the PRP cost differences between the high and low neurotics do not significantly became larger as the S-R load increase for both groups.



Figure 5-4 shows the interaction effects between the groups and S-R mapping manipulation. PRP effect is derived by subtracting the long SOA RT2 from the short SOA RT2 for each dual task along the S- R manipulation.

<b>Descriptive Statist</b>	ics			
	Groups	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν
DTO AND DT1	HIGH N	710	149	21
DIU 2ND KII	LOW N	620	94	20
DTO 2ND DT1	HIGH N	722	163	21
DIU SND KII	LOW N	642	121	20
DT0 2DD DT1	HIGH N	815	184	21
D10 3DD K11	LOW N	691	100	20
	HIGH N	801	183	21
DIU 4ND KII	LOW N	706	102	20
	HIGH N	1029	169	21
DIU 2ND KI2	LOW N	872	123	20
DTO 2ND DTO	HIGH N	1078	200	21
DIU SND KIZ	LOW N	925	158	20
	HIGH N	1179	278	21
D103DD K12	LOW N	1006	123	20
DTO AND DTO	HIGH N	1206	259	21
D104NDK12	LOW N	1055	192	20

# 5.3.3 Effect of Stimuli and Response Mapping (S-R loading) Manipulation Regarding Dual Task Combination Costs

Table 5-3 Response times of short SOA for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Short SOA response times were presented from the first and second task (visual=>auditory) in the dual-task.



Figure 5-5 mean and SD of response time for each dual task condition in the form of boxplots for participants high (pink box) and low (blue box) in neuroticism level. Note that each result has been presented with a different scale

In this section, I presented the interaction effects between the dual task combination costs across the S-R loading manipulation and neuroticism levels. Regarding the dual task combination costs, I presented analyses of RT1 as well as RT2 because I increased the load in the first task. It is known that increasing the load in the first task influences task 1 as well as task 2 (Pashler, 1993; Pashler, 1994b). To examine the effect of neuroticism on the S-R load, I calculated a 2x3 factorial ANOVA along the dual task cost variables. To test the third hypothesis (The dual task combination cost differences between the high and low neurotics should not be greater regarding RTs and error rates as the load increases in short SOA tasks (i.e. the differences between the high and low neurotics regarding processing efficiency will not be significantly larger as the load increases)) for the RT1 with short SOA task; the withinsubject factor was dual task combination costs across S-R loads (RT1; DT02N vs DT03N vs DT04N) and the between subject factor was groups (High N vs Low N). The results showed that on average the high neurotics were slower than the low neurotics [neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40) = 4.39; p < .05]. Furthermore, the cost in RT1 was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs as the S-R loads increased in the short SOA [S-R mapping (short SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 22.47; p < .05]. However, the dual task combination cost differences between the high and low neurotics did not become larger as the demand

increased along the S-R loading manipulation (RT1), as is evident from the non-significant interaction between the groups and RT1 S-R manipulation [F (1, 40) = .12; p > .05].

Similarly, to test the third hypothesis for RTs2, I calculated the same analysis for RT 2 with a short SOA; the within-subject factor was dual task combination costs along S-R loads (RT2; DT02N vs DT03N vs DT04N) and the between subject factor was groups (High N vs Low N). The results showed that on average the high neurotics were slower than the low neurotics [neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40) = 5.34; p < .05]. Furthermore, the cost in RT2 was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs in the short SOA as the task load increased [S-R loading (short SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 45.75; p < .05]. However, the dual task combination cost (RT2) differences between the high and low neurotics did not become larger as the demand increased along the S-R loading manipulation, as is evident from the non-significant interaction between the group and S-R mapping manipulation [F (1, 40) = .01; p > .05].

These results indicate that although the high neurotics had a greater dual task combination cost in DT02N, DT03N and DT04N, the cost differences between the high and low neurotics did not become larger as the load was increased by S-R loading manipulation during the short SOA in RT1 and RT2 (see table 5.3). Taken together, these results confirm my third hypothesis and show that indeed the dual task combination cost differences between the high and low neurotics did not become greater as the load increased.

Descriptive Statistics					
	Groups	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν	
DT1000 2ND PT1	HIGH N	667	285	21	
	LOW N	591	231	20	
DT1000 2ND PT1	HIGH N	732	323	21	
	LOW N	607	199	20	
DT1000 3DD PT1	HIGH N	841	365	21	
D11000 3DD K11	LOW N	681	231	20	
DT1000 4ND PT1	HIGH N	832	325	21	
	LOW N	642	134	20	
DT1000 2ND RT2	HIGH N	681	186	21	
D11000 210D K12	LOW N	609	118	20	
DT1000 3ND RT2	HIGH N	722	184	21	
D11000 510D K12	LOW N	637	131	20	
DT1000 3DD RT2	HIGH N	776	253	21	
D11000 3DD K12	LOW N	665	146	20	
DT1000 4ND RT2	HIGH N	766	213	21	
	LOW N	637	108	20	

Table 5-4 Response times of long SOA for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Long SOA is the average of both 1000 SOA dual-task response orders (response times were presented from the first and second task visual/auditory in the dual-task).



Figure 5-6 shows mean and SD of dula task long SOA response times (RT1 and RT2) in the form of boxplots for participants with high (pink box) and low (blue box) neuroticism level. Note that each result has been presented with a different scale.

To test the fourth hypothesis (The dual task combination cost differences between the high and low neurotics should considerably increase as the load increases both for RTs and error rates in long SOA tasks (i.e. lower processing efficiency as the load increases in high neurotics)) regarding RT1 with long SOA, I performed the same analysis for dual tasks with long SOA as well: the within-subject factor was dual task combination costs for S-R loads (RT1; DT10002N vs DT10003N vs DT10004N) and the between subject factor group (High N vs Low N). The analysis of dual the task combination cost with a long SOA revealed that the high neurotics were numerically slower than the low neurotics, although this result did not reach statistical significance [neuroticism main effect, F(1, 40) = 2.07; p > .05 (p = .15)] (see table 5.4). Furthermore, the cost in RT1 was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs as the task load increased in the long SOA [S-R loading (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 13.35; p < .05]. Finally, in contrast to the short SOA results, the dual task combination cost (RT1) along the S-R mapping manipulation was larger for the high neurotics than for the low neurotics as the load increased, as is evident from the interaction between the groups and S-R loading manipulation [F (1, 40) = 4.16; p < .05]. Contrast analyses show that increasing the load was a significant moderator on the high and low neurotics when the load increased from (2nd vs 4nd) and (3nd vs 4nd) as is evident from the

significant interaction for the within subject task S-R loading manipulation (2nd vs 4nd) and the between subject (High N vs Low N) [F (1, 40) = 6.76; p < .05] and within subject task S-R loading manipulation (3nd vs 4nd) and between subject (High N vs Low N) [F (1, 40) = 4.94; p < .05]. The significant interaction shows that indeed the cost differences of RT1 between the high and low neurotics as the load increased were evident from the slower RTs in the high neurotics compared to the low neurotics as the load increased in the form of dual task combination costs (see figure 5.5, panel A).

To test fourth hypothesis regarding RT2 with long SOA, , a 2x3 Anova was performed: the within-subject factor was dual task cost (RT2; DT10002N vs DT10003N vs DT10004N) and the between subject factor was groups (High N vs Low N). A comparable analysis of the dual task cost with a long SOA revealed the same general pattern of the results (RT1 long SOA) i.e. that high neurotics are slower than low neurotics [neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40 = 3.75; p< .05] (see table 5.4). Furthermore, the cost in RT2 was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs as the task load increased with a long SOA [S-R loading (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 12.11; p < .05]. Finally, the dual task cost (RT2) along the S-R loading manipulation was larger for the high neurotics than for the low neurotics as the load increased, as is evident from the interaction between the groups and S-R loading manipulation [F (1, 40) = 3.42; p < .05]. Up close the results from the contrast analyses show that the cost differences between the high and low neurotics became larger when the load increased from DT10002N to DT10004N and DT10003N to DT10004N. The cost differences in RT2 were evident regarding the differences in the high and low neurotics, as illustrated by the interaction effects: within subject S-R loading (DT10002N vs DT10004N) and between subject (High N vs Low N) [F (1, 38) = 5.10; p < .05] and within subject S-R loading (3nd vs 4nd) and between subject (High N vs Low N) [F(1, 40) = 4.92; p < .05] (see figure 5.5. panel B).

Taken together, the significant interaction confirms my fourth hypothesis and shows that the dual task combination cost differences between the groups considerably increased as the S-R mapping increased, as is evident from the slower RTs in the high neurotics than in the low neurotics.



Figure 5-7 dual task cost is derived by subtracting single tasks from dual tasks. Thus the dual task cost is created for RT1 and RT2 respectively. In both panels the differences between the dual task costs from 2 to 3; 3 to 4 and 2 to 4 are compared to present the interactions between the group and SR mapping manipulation. Panel A shows the interaction effects between the group and S-R mapping manipulation for RT 1. Panel B shows the interaction effects between the group and response mapping manipulation for RT 2.

Overall, these results indicate that when SOA was '0' the increased load in the working memory influenced both groups to a similar degree. Both the high and low neurotics took a longer time to complete the tasks and the high neurotics were always worse than the low neurotics along the tasks. However, the differences between the high and low neurotics regarding their reaction times remained below the significance threshold. On the other hand, when the SOA was set to 1000 ms, the increased load in task 1 and task 2 affected the high neurotics more significantly. Therefore, the dual task combination cost differences between high and low neurotics became higher as the load was increased by S-R loading manipulation.

# 5.3.4 Effect of stimuli degradation regarding PRP effect and combination of dual task costs

To examine the effect of stimuli degradation on neuroticism regarding PRP effects (fifth hypothesis), I calculated a 2x2 Anova: within subject factor PRP Effect (3nd vs 3dd) and between subject factors neuroticism (High N vs Low N). The results showed that on average the high neurotics had a greater PRP effect than the low neurotics [neuroticism main effect, F(1, 40) = 4.16; p < .05] (see table 5.2). Furthermore, a PRP-effect was evident, as illustrated by the on average slower RTs in the short SOA compared to the long SOA [SOA main effect,

F (1, 40) = 7.46; p < .05]. However, the differences regarding the PRP-effects between high and low neurotics were similar along the degraded and non-degraded tasks, as is evident from the interaction between the groups and PRP effects [F (1, 40) = .04; p > .05].

To examine the effect of neuroticism on stimuli degradation in the RT1, similarly I calculated a 2x2 Anova: within subject factor RT1 short SOA (3nd vs 3dd) and between subject factors Neuroticism (High N vs Low N). The results showed that on average the high neurotics were slower than the low neurotics [neuroticism main effect, F(1, 40) = 3.29; p =.07]. Furthermore, the cost in RT1 for the degraded task was evident, as is illustrated by the on average slower RTs in the degraded task RT1 compared to the non-degraded task RT1 [degradation with a short SOA main effect, F (1, 40) = 13.73; p <.05]. However, the dual task cost differences (RT1) between high and low neurotics were similar on both tasks, as is evident from the non-significant interaction between the groups and SOA [F (1, 40) = 1.20; p > .05] (see figure 5.6. Panel A). Similarly, the analyses of RT2 with a short SOA regarding the degraded versus non-degraded dual task cost revealed the same pattern of results (neuroticism main effect: [F (1, 40) = 5.55; p < .05]; [degradation with short SOA main effect, F(1, 39) = 14.04; p < .05]; interaction: [F(1, 40) = .17; p > .05]) (see figure 5.6. Panel B). The same analyses were performed for the long SOA tasks. RT1 (neuroticism main effect: [F(1, 40) = 2.33; p > .05]; [degradation with long SOA main effect, F(1, 40) = 6.60; p < .05]; interaction: [F (1, 40) = .50; p > .05]) (see figure 5.6. Panel A) and RT2 (neuroticism main effect: [F (1, 40) = .10; p > .05]; [degradation with long SOA main effect, F (1, 40) =2.76; p > .05]; [interaction, F (1, 40) = .54; p > .05]) (see figure 5.6. Panel B). These results regarding the task difficulty indicate that increasing the difficulty (degrading effect) in the perceptual stage influenced both the high and low neurotics to approximately the same degree and thus both groups took a longer time to complete the tasks. However, the task difficulty did not influence the differences in dual task costs between the high and low neurotics.

Taken together, the results indicate that increasing the difficulty (degrading effect) in the perceptual stage influenced both the high and low neurotics to the same degree and thus both groups took a greater PRP effect and dual task combination costs to complete the tasks. However, this did not influence the bottleneck processing differently in the high and low neurotics. Therefore, the non-significant interaction confirms my fifth hypothesis and shows that indeed neuroticism is not a considerable moderator on task difficulty at the perceptual level (see figure 5.6).



Figure 5-8 the dual task cost is derived by subtracting the single tasks from the dual tasks 3nd and 3dd separately, and thus the dual task cost is created for RT1 and RT2 respectively. In both panels the difference between the dual task costs from 3dd to 3nd for the short and long SOA tasks is compared to present the interactions between the groups and degradation effect. Panel A shows the interaction effects between the groups and degraded stimuli manipulation for RT 1. Panel B shows the interaction effects between the groups and degraded stimuli manipulation for RT2.

Descriptive Statistics					
	Groups	Mean	Std. Deviation	N	
DTO AND DT1	High N	.025	.029	21	
DIU 2ND KII	Low N	.031	.030	20	
DTO 2ND DT1	High N	.011	.015	21	
DIU SND KII	Low N	.030	.029	20	
DT0 2DD DT1	High N	.091	.155	21	
DIU SDD KII	Low N	.037	.081	20	
DTO AND DT1	High N	.038	.036	21	
D104 MD K11	Low N	.053	.079	20	
	High N	.088	.080	21	
D10 2ND K12	Low N	.100	.057	20	
DT0 2ND PT2	High N	.080	.104	21	
DIU JIND KIZ	Low N	.101	.086	20	

# 5.3.5 Error rates in dual tasks

	High N	.128	.128	21
DIO JDD RIZ	Low N	.092	.062	20
DT0 AND RT2	High N	.108	.099	21
	Low N	.121	.087	20
DT1000 2ND RT1	High N	.038	.054	21
DT1000 2ND KTT	Low N	.022	.029	20
DT1000 3ND RT1	High N	.021	.026	21
DT1000 SND KTT	Low N	.028	.025	20
DT1000 3DD RT1	High N	.131	.192	21
D11000 3DD K11	Low N	.042	.062	20
DT1000 4ND RT1	High N	.049	.032	21
	Low N	.032	.023	20
DT1000 2ND RT2	High N	.105	.133	21
D11000 2ND K12	Low N	.091	.078	20
DT1000 3ND RT2	High N	.132	.134	21
DT1000 SND K12	Low N	.079	.081	20
DT1000 3DD RT2	High N	.082	.082	21
D11000 3DD K12	Low N	.073	.061	20
DT1000 4ND RT2	High N	.120	.110	21
DI 1000 HND KIZ	Low N	.081	.061	20

Table 5-5 Error rates of short SOA and long SOA for participants with high levels of neuroticism (High-N) and low levels of neuroticism (Low-N). Response times were taken from the first and second tasks in the dual-task.

I performed a 2x3 ANOVA to examine the error rates along the dual task variables: the within subject error rates for S-R loads in the short SOA tasks (first task) (DT02N vs DT03N vs DT04N) and between the groups (High N vs Low N). The analysis of the error rates did not always reach statistical significance [neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40) = .06; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (short SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 4.97; p <.05]; interaction: [F (1, 40) = .46; p > .05]). The results showed that the high and low neurotics did not significantly differ as the load increased across the tasks. The same pattern of results was found for the short SOA (second task) (DT02N vs DT03N vs DT04N) and between the groups (High N vs Low N) [neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40) = 1.87; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (short SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 1.87; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (short SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 1.87; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (short SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 1.87; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (short SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 1.87; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (short SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 1.87; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (short SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 1.87; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (short SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 5.34; p <.05]; interaction: [F (2, 78) = .35; p > .05]). Taken together,

regarding the error rates, in line with my third hypothesis, the results showed that the high and low neurotics did not significantly differ as the load increased across the tasks (see table 5.5).

A comparison of the error rates in the first task long SOA with the analyses of the RTs in the dual task combination costs revealed the same general pattern of results, which, however, did not always reach statistical significance [neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40) = 1.41; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 4.59; p <.05]; interaction: [F (1, 40) = 2.27; p > .05 (p= .12)]). The same pattern of results was found for the long SOA second tasks as well [neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40) = .50; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = .50; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = .50; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = .50; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = .50; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = .50; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = .50; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = .50; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = .50; p > .05]; [S-R mapping (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 4.59; p <.05]; interaction: [F (1, 40) = 2.35; p > .05 (p= .12)]). Taken together, although the results were not significant, the high neurotics always made more errors than the low neurotics, which supports my fourth hypothesis (see table 5.5).

Regarding the error rates in the degraded and non-degraded tasks in short SOA tasks, I performed a 2x2 Anova: the within subject factor was error rates in the dual tasks (DT03N vs DT03DD) and between the groups was (High N vs Low N). The results showed that the high and low neurotics did not differ regarding the error rates [neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40) = .14; p > .05]; [degradation (short SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 3.28; p <.05]; interaction: [F (1, 40) = .17; p > .05]) (see table 5.6). Regarding the error rates in the long SOA the results were not significant: the within subject error rates in the dual tasks (DT10003N vs DT10003DD) and between the groups (High N vs Low N) [neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40) = 2.59; p > .05]; [degradation (long SOA) main effect, F (1, 40) = 1.27; p >.05]; interaction: [F (2, 78) = .57; p > .05]). The results support my fifth hypothesis and thus show that the error rates differences between the high and low neurotics did not become larger as the task difficulty was increased by the degradation effect.

5.3.6	<b>Perceived Stress</b>	level rega	rding high	and low	neurotic	participants
		iever rega			mearome	par norpant,

Descriptive Statistics						
	Groups	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν		
ST	High N	1.73	1.03	21		
	Low N	1.38	.63	20		

DT 2ND	High N	4.23	1.22	21
	Low N	3.31	.77	20
DT 3DD	High N	5.38	1.46	21
	Low N	4.09	1.15	20
DT 3ND	High N	6.90	1.75	21
	Low N	5.00	1.63	20
DT 4ND	High N	6.6667	1.65	21
	Low N	5.4545	1.59	20

Table 5-6 shows average score for perceived stress level for High N and Low N participants along dual tasks.

Independent t test analyses showed no differences between the high and low neurotics in terms of their perceived stress level during the processing of the single tasks p> .05.

To examine the effect of perceived stress level along the single and dual tasks (sixth hypothesis), I performed a 2x3 Anova: the within subject perceived stress score for S-R manipulation (DT2N vs DT3N vs DT4N) and between the groups (High N vs Low N). The results showed that on average the high neurotics perceived a greater stress level than the low neurotics [neuroticism main effect, F (1, 40) = 12.01; p < .05] (see table 5.6). Furthermore, perceived stress level was a strong moderator in the dual tasks, as illustrated by the on average higher perceived stress in the dual tasks as the task load increased [perceived stress level, F (1, 40) = 84.02; p < .05]. Finally, the perceived stress level along the S-R loading manipulation was higher for the high neurotics than for the low neurotics as the load increased, as is evident from the interaction between the groups and the perceived level along the response loading manipulation [F (1, 40) = 3.24; p < .05]. The significant interaction confirms my sixth hypothesis and shows that indeed the high neurotics perceived a higher stress level than the low neurotics as the load increased, whereas both the high and low neurotics had approximately the same stress level in the single tasks (see figure 5.7).

I also explored the effect of stimuli degradation in relation to perceived task difficulty by performing a 2x2 Anova: the within subject perceived stress score (dt3nd vs dt3dd) and between the groups (High N vs Low N). The results showed that on average the high neurotics perceived the task more stressful and difficult than low neurotics [neuroticism main effect, F(1, 40) = 13.96; p < .05] (see table 5.6 and figure 5.7). Furthermore, perceived stress level was a strong moderator on the effect of degradation, as illustrated by the on

average higher perceived stress in the degraded dual tasks as the task load increased [degradation main effect, F (1, 40) = 84.02; p < .05]. Finally, the high neurotics perceived a greater stress level and difficulty than the low neurotics as the load was increased by S-R loads, as illustrated by the interaction between the groups and the perceived level along the degraded versus non-degraded tasks [F (1, 40) = 3.23; p < .05]. This result indicates that the task difficulty was higher in all of the participants and the high neurotics perceived higher stress than the low neurotics in the degraded tasks.



Figure 5-9 shows perceived stress level scores in high and low neurotics along the S-R mapping manipulation

# 5.4 Discussion

The results showed that the high and low neurotics did not differ regarding processing efficiency in the single task processing. Furthermore, the results demonstrated that the high neurotics had lower processing efficiency than the low neurotics in all of the dual tasks, as is evident from their slower RTs and higher error rates. The PRP effect cost differences between the high and low neurotics became larger as the load increased from two to three and four choice reaction tasks. However the results did not reach the statistical significance level. Regarding the short SOA tasks, the differences in dual task combination costs between the high and low neurotics did not increase as the load was increased by S-R loading manipulation. However, regarding the long SOA tasks, the differences in dual task combination costs between the high and low neurotics became as the load was increased by S-R loading manipulation. However, regarding the long SOA tasks, the differences in dual task combination costs between the high and low neurotics became considerably larger as the load was increased by S-R loading manipulation. The results regarding the interaction between degradation effect and neuroticism demonstrate that the cost differences between

the high and low neurotics were similar regarding their response times and error rates. Finally, the high neurotics perceived a higher stress level as the load was increased by S-R loading manipulation. Altogether, the results confirm my hypotheses by demonstrating that the high neurotics had lower processing efficiency than the low neurotics to a certain degree as the load increased only on the CES functions whereas the high neurotics perceived higher stress and difficulty as the task became demanding either by S-R mapping manipulation or degradation. Below, I discuss the results in terms of each hypothesis in turn.

My first hypothesis was that the high and low neurotics would not differ on single task processing regarding processing efficiency. The results regarding the response times and error rates in the single tasks showed that the high and low neurotics did not significantly differ. Considering that both the RTs and error rates are not significant, combining these results in processing efficiency indicates that they actually performed similarly on the single task (Flehmig et al., 2010). The results are in line the arousal based theory of neuroticism (1967), PET (1992) and ACT (2007) regarding single task performance in high and low neurotics. According to the theories, high and low neurotics perform similarly on easy tasks (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) and non-CES demand tasks (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). According to Eysenck (1967), because easy tasks are not stressful the arousal level does not exceed the activation threshold in either high or low neurotics and thus they perform similarly. In line with what PET and ACT suggest, if a task is simple and does not requires much in the way of CES demand, high and low neurotics will perform similarly due to the absence of task irrelevant activities (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Furthermore, a number of empirical results have confirmed that high and low neurotics do not differ on simple tasks by showing a similar pattern in the results (Robinson & Tamir, 2005; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003).

The results showed that the interaction between neuroticism level and S-R mapping manipulation regarding the PRP effect costs did not reach a significant level. In the present study, the task demand did not increase in the second task and thus the second task always remained as a two choice reaction task. Therefore, these results in terms of the PRP effects are predictable because the PRP effect is usually derived by subtraction of RT2 in a short SOA from RT2 in a long SOA task. Therefore, it is actually the additional delay in the short SOA compared to the long SOA task. One reason why the interaction effect did not reach a significant level is because the task in the short SOA was very difficult for both high and

low neurotics, and task irrelevant activities consumed cognitive resources in both groups. Because the results in terms of the PRP effect and short SOA tasks are very similar, the discussion below, regarding the short SOA tasks, is valid for the PRP effect results as well.

The third hypothesis was that the cost differences between the high and low neurotics would not differ as the load was increased by S-R loading manipulation in the short SOA tasks, as is evident from the similar processing efficiency in both groups. Although I increased the demand in the first task, I found slower RTs in all of the participants not only in the first task but also in the second task. The results showed that the high neurotics were always slower than the low neurotics. However, the cost differences (measured by RTs and error rates) between the high and low neurotics did not become significantly larger as the load increased in both tasks. These results indicate that the cost differences between the high and low neurotics were not influenced by S-R mapping manipulation in the short SOA tasks. The potential reason for that is because I increased the task demand by SOA as well as S-R loading manipulation. It is known that decreasing short SOA is one important way to increase demand on the CES because short SOA give no time for preparation processes. Therefore, the switching and inhibition functions are often impaired in demanding short SOA dual task processing. S-R mapping manipulation in dual tasks also requires more preparation processes (Stelzel et al., 2008a) and it places demand on the switching, inhibition and updating functions (Szmalec et al., 2005). Because the CES has limited capacity, when the demand increases on the CES functions the cognitive resources have to be shared (Dirnberger & Jahanshahi, 2010). Therefore, in dual tasks, as the task demand increases on the CES functions, slower processing can be observed as the expense of task demand (Dirnberger & Jahanshahi, 2010). In this context, increasing the demand from two to three and four choices in the task with short SOA might make it quite difficult for both the high and low neurotics. Higher demand on the CES functions increases worry and arousal level, which causes task irrelevant activities similarly in both groups. Task irrelevant activities interfere with attention during cognitive processing, and thus cognitive resources are consumed in both groups. Consequently, although the high neurotics were always slower than low neurotics, the cost differences between the groups were like two parallel lines that went up as the load increased. In other words, when greater demand was placed by increasing the S-R load, although the participants in both groups took more time to complete the tasks, the dual task cost differences were similar in the short SOA dual task processing. Therefore, increasing the demand by S-R loading failed to be a significant moderator between the high

and low neurotics during processing of the short SOA dual tasks. This may be because in addition to S-R loading manipulation, the short SOA was set to 0, which exacerbated the task competition in the bottleneck and caused, relatively, the greatest cost (Jiang, 2004; Pashler, 1994b; Szameitat et al., 2011). Moreover, two choice dual tasks with 0 SOA may have been a threshold for the working memory capacity of the low neurotics and thus the task demand was over the working memory capacity of both the high and low neurotics in the three and four choice dual tasks. When the tasks exceeded the WM capacity of both groups the dual task cost differences remained constant even when the load increased. The cost differences between the high and low neurotics were analogous to two competing cars, one with a 120 km maximum speed and the other with a 220 maximum speed. If they compete from a starting point with their maximum speed the distance between the two cars will increase but after a while (after one hour) the distance between the two cars will always be the same (100 km) regardless of how long they drive for.

The fourth hypothesis was that the cost differences between the high and low neurotics would increase considerably as the load increased in long SOA tasks, as is evident from the slower RTs and higher error rates in the high neurotics. The results showed that the cost differences between the high and low neurotics became larger as the load increased, as is evident from the slower RTs in the high neurotics. Similarly, there was a trend that showed that the high neurotics always made more errors than the low neurotics as the load increased. The potential reason for this is that a higher demand on the CES functions causes greater impairment in task processing in high neurotics compared to low neurotics (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Increasing the task demand by S-R loading manipulation requires permanent supervisory control for switching, inhibition and updating (Jahanshahi & Dirnberger 1999). Stelzel et al., (2008) suggest that in dual tasks, four S-R loads for a task require more cognitive control and preparation processes and it is more demanding than dual tasks with two S-R mappings. In line with that, it has been suggested that because response selection is a decisional process, it is associated with the executive functions (Allain et al., 2004; Bunge et al., 2000; Szmalec et al., 2005) particularly switching, inhibition and updating (Szmalec et al., 2005). In this context, the greater task impairment in high neurotics seems to be due to the higher demand on the three CES functions because it has been suggested that high neurotics have higher task impairment only if the task is associated with CES demand (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). It seems that worry

and arousal level exceed the activation threshold and increase progressively as the load increases whereas the arousal level remains below the activation threshold in low neurotics during task processing (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012). Therefore, while cognitive resources are consumed in high neurotics because of higher task irrelevant activities, low neurotics still have relatively available cognitive resources during the task processing because their arousal level does not pass the activation threshold (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; Studer-Luethi et al., 2007; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012).

My fourth hypothesis is confirmed in the analysis of tasks 1 and 2 regarding both the response times and error rates in high and low neurotics. Although I increased the load in task 1 only, I found the interaction effects regarding the response loading and neuroticism in both task 1 and task 2. According to Pashler (1994) greater demand in task 1 prolongs RT1 as well as RT2 to the same degree because the second task has to wait until the first task is processed in the bottleneck. Pashler (1994, 1993) explains this with an analogy of a bank teller (bottleneck) and two customers (first and second tasks). If there are two customers in the queue and one bank teller on the duty, the bank teller has to deal with the customers one by one. If the first customer dawdles with bank teller for 5 minutes, both customers will be delayed for five minutes because the second customer has to wait until the first customer leaves. I observed that a higher load in the first task caused a delay in the second task in all of the participants. In addition, because the arousal level easily increases and it causes greater task irrelevant activities in high neurotics in demanding tasks, these higher task irrelevant activities probably place additional demand on the tasks, and thus the cost differences between high and low neurotics increase as the load increases in long SOA tasks. In detail, while the high neurotics were 69ms RT1 and 79ms RT2 slower than the low neurotics during the processing of the two choice dual tasks, they were considerably slowed down compared with the low neurotics during the processing of the three choice dual tasks (118ms RT1 and 86ms RT2) and four choice dual tasks (171ms RT1 and 123ms RT2). Increasing the demand by insertion of additional S-R mappings led to greater dual task cost differences between the high and low neurotics from the two to four and three to four choice dual tasks.

One important result is that a greater load on the updating function may cause considerable task impairment in high neurotics. In the previous tasks (chapter 3), the task demand increased on the three functions. However a higher proportion of the demand was on switching and inhibition because in each switching trial the participants were required to reschedule the task order (Luria & Meiran, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2002). There were always

two S-R mappings that had to be updated. In the present experiment, there was also higher demand on the three functions as the load increased but the proportion of the demand on the functions may have changed. The participants still needed to inhibit the second task processing until the first task had been processed in the bottleneck and then inhibit the first task for the second task processing (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003). They have to switch focus of bottleneck from first task to the second task (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003). Thus, when the load increased, more tasks related information had to be involved in the switching and inhibition functions. From this point of view, demand on the switching and inhibition functions increased. Moreover, because the S-R load increased in a progressive manner, the participants were required to maintain more stimuli and response choices in the CES as the load increased (Stelzel et al., 2008a). Therefore, a higher proportion of demand was placed on the updating function compared to the previous experiments (chapters 3 and 4). The results showed that increasing the demand on the updating function as well may maximize the demand on the three CES functions, which becomes very difficult for both high and low neurotics in short SOA tasks. However, in long SOA tasks, the task might be very difficult in high neurotics but not so much in low neurotics therefore, the dual task costs was greater for high neurotics compared to low neurotics as the load increase.

So far, I have shown that the cost differences between high and low neurotics did not become larger when the demand was increased by the SOA (0 SOA) and S-R loading manipulation, either in terms of the RTs or the error rates. However, the cost differences between the high and low neurotics considerably increased when the demand was increased by S-R loading manipulation with a long SOA (1000 SOA). Probably, the task became very difficult in the short SOA tasks and the arousal level exceeded the activation threshold in both groups. Therefore, higher task irrelevant activities interfered with the attention and cognitive resources consumed in both the high and low neurotics. In the graphs, it can be seen that the two lines go up in parallel as the load increases. However, in the long SOA tasks, the arousal level exceeds the activation threshold in high neurotics only and higher task irrelevant activities cause task impairment because of a scarcity of cognitive resources whereas the low neurotics still have cognitive resources to process the task faster than the low neurotics. In the graphs, the gap between the two lines that go up becomes larger as the S-R load increase.

To understand whether the increasing cost differences between the groups were specific to increasing the demand on the central executive system, I also designed a dual task with a

degraded stimulus in which the task was made more demanding in the perceptual stage but not in terms of working memory (Barch et al., 1997). The formulated hypothesis was that high and low neurotics would not differ in terms of the task difficulty at the perceptual stage. In other words, if the impairment was due to the load on the CES then no dual task cost differences would be found between high and low neurotics regarding processing of the degraded and non-degraded three choice dual tasks. The results demonstrated that both the high and low neurotics completed the tasks with longer response times in the degraded version compared with the non-degraded version, which indicated that the degraded version of the dual task was more difficult and fitted the research purpose (Barch et al., 1997; Rubinstein et al., 2001). Furthermore, I observed that the dual task cost differences between the high and low neurotics remained constant as the task difficulty increase by stimuli degradation (i.e. from the non-degraded to degraded dual task processing). These results are in line with the assumption of ACT, which suggests that impairment during the processing of a dual task is caused by the demand placed on the central executive system whereas demand on other processes does not influence task processing in high neurotics (Eysenck et al, 2007). Because two tasks can be processed together in the perceptual and motor execution stages, higher demand caused by stimuli degradation does not influence the CES in the bottleneck (Marois & Ivanoff, 2005; Meyer & Kieras, 1997a; Pashler, 1993; Pashler, 1994b).

With respect to the relationship between perceived stress and neuroticism level in dual task processing, the results confirmed the formulated hypothesis. Accordingly, I found that both the high and low neurotics perceived the single task as easy and non-stressful. Therefore, no differences were found in terms of the perceived stress level in the single task processing between the groups. On the other hand, the high neurotics felt more stressful and difficult in the dual task processing compared to the low neurotics as the load increased. The results are in line with Eysenck (1967), Eysenck & Calvo (1992) and Eysenck et al., (2007) who suggest that high neurotics perceive a higher stress level in demanding task processing. In particular, these results provide evidence that perceptually high neurotics feel higher stress and difficulty than low neurotics.

Also, high neurotics perceive higher stress and difficulty in degraded stimuli, which may lead to a new argument. Eysenck (1967) suggests that high neurotics perceive higher stress and difficulty in demanding tasks, which is as indication of a higher arousal level. If a higher arousal level causes task impairment, then why did the high and low neurotics not differ considerably as the load increased due to the degradation effect? Some empirical studies have found that when stimuli are negative they may cause higher arousal, and that high neurotics had a higher impairment compared to when the task included neutral stimuli (Bishop et al., 2004; Dolcos & McCarthy, 2006; Mogg et al., 1993). One possible reason for this is that in those studies threatening emotional stimuli were used that are directly associated with worry and inner words in high neurotics. M. W. Eysenck et al., (2007) suggested that inner words contribute to task irrelevant activities and may influence task processing. However, in the current study, degradation was not directly associated with worry and inner words because there were no emotional cues that may have contributed to negative affectivity in high neurotics. Another possible reason is that subjective measures are different from objective measures (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992). For example, one may perceive a task as very stressful and difficult. However in an objective measure both high and low neurotics may be the same physiologically i.e. regarding their electro dermal responses (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992). I took the prediction of Eysenck (1967) regarding subjective measures, and the current evidence showed that indeed the degraded task was stressful and difficult; however, higher perceived stress and difficulty as an indication of a higher arousal level in high neurotics did not increase the cost differences between high and low neurotics when the demand was increased by stimuli degradation.

In conclusion, the results demonstrate that because short SOA tasks are very difficult the cost differences between high and low neurotics do not become larger as S-R mapping increases due to a scarcity of cognitive resources in both high and low neurotics. However, in short SOA tasks, the cost differences between high and low neurotics dramatically increase because the arousal level exceeds the activation threshold in high neurotics but not in low neurotics. Furthermore, the results show that the cost differences did not become larger as the task difficulty was increased by stimuli degradation (degraded vs non-degraded tasks). Finally, I found that high neurotics perceived higher stress and difficulty as the task demand was increased either by S-R mapping manipulation or stimuli degradation. Taken together, the results are sufficient to show that greater task impairment in high neurotics is associated with CES demand but is not associated with other demands such as at the perceptual stage or VSSP. Therefore, this study confirms that the detrimental effect of neuroticism impairs the CES functions whereas it has no major effect on the other systems. In the final study, I explore neural correlations of greater impairment in high neurotics compared with low neurotics in dual task processing.

# 6 Chapter – Neuroticism related differences in the functional neuroanatomical correlates of dual task processing. An fMRI study

#### 6.1 Introduction

Eysenck (1967) proposed that high neurotics perform worse than low neurotics on difficult tasks rather than easy tasks. Because high neurotics are inclined towards negative affectivity, they are literally 'worriers', so their arousal level, which can cause task impairment, easily increases in difficult tasks (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967).

ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) more specifically suggests that high level neuroticism mainly impairs the CES functions in demanding cognitive task processing. A key feature of greater task impairment in high neurotics is a higher worry and arousal level, which causes greater task irrelevant activities in cognitively demanding tasks (M. W. Eysenck, 1985; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). This means that high neurotics experience on average higher worry and arousal and consequently higher task irrelevant activities than low neurotics (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). During demanding task processing the CES functions require higher sustained attention and therefore the major focus of attention is allocated to the CES functions. Because high neurotics have to deal with task irrelevant activities as well as task related activities the focus of their attention has to be shared between them and thus higher task impairments occurs because of investing less efficient mental effort (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003).

One distinctive way to test the effect of neuroticism in relation to the CES functions is the dual-task paradigm of the psychological refractory period (PRP) because it allows for high experimental control (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Pashler, 1994a). The task demand can be easily manipulated in regard to the CES functions (Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). It has been found that PRP dual task performance requires extensive use of the switching, inhibition and updating functions of the CES (De Jong, 1993; De Jong, 1995a; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2016). For example, in PRP dual tasks, when both tasks are performed simultaneously, the tasks can only be processed one at a time in the response selection, which maps the presented stimuli onto the required button presses, i.e. they constitute a processing bottleneck (Pashler, 1994a). This bottleneck results in demands for additional executive control functions to coordinate the processing of the tasks, e.g. by

sequencing the task order, by inhibiting the second task, which has to wait while the bottleneck processes the first task, and by switching the bottleneck mechanism towards the second task once the processing of the first task processing has finished (De Jong, 1993; De Jong, 1995a; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2016). Also, the task related rules and contexts have to be updated during the task processing (Stelzel et al., 2008b). These demands all arise due to the presence of a processing bottleneck, so they are dual-task specific and not present during the performance of single tasks (Pashler, 1994a). Based on this argument, my previous behavioural studies (chapter 3-5) showed that high neurotics had higher dual task combination costs and PRP effects compared to low neurotics when the demand on the three CES functions increased. For example, high and low neurotics did not differ in terms of single task processing because single tasks require almost no the CES functions. Similarly, the high and low neurotics did not significantly differ when the task demand increased in other ways i.e. demand on the storage systems such as in the VSSP by SWM task (chapter 2) or demand on the perceptual stage by stimuli degradation in the dual task (chapter 5). However, the high neurotics had greater task impairment in the dual task processing as the SOA decreased because this placed considerable demand on the CES functions. Therefore, I conclude that high neurotics perform worse than low neurotics on dual tasks, which require extensive use of the CES functions (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) compared to single tasks, which require almost no CES functions because the detrimental effect of high neuroticism mainly impairs the CES functions during dual task processing (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007).

While these mechanisms are well understood in terms of my behavioural findings, which are also supported by cognitive models and previous empirical studies, knowledge about their functional neuroanatomical correlates is sparse. More generally, neuroimaging studies have demonstrated that high neurotics have decreased activation of the fronto-parietal executive control network, which links the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) to the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and parietal lobe, e.g. during a working memory N-back task (Dima et al., 2015). In addition, high neurotics were found to have decreased grey matter volume in the prefrontal areas compared with low neurotics (Bjørnebekk et al., 2013; DeYoung et al., 2010). Some studies have also shown that the functional connectivity between the prefrontal cortices and other brain regions is weaker in high neurotics than in low neurotics (Bjørnebekk et al., 2013). These lateral-prefrontal areas have frequently been associated with

the executive functions, and so it seems likely that high levels of neuroticism will be associated with a deficit in the executive functions (Rottschy et al., 2012).

The dual mechanism of control (DMC) theory explains that the reason for decreased activation in the cognitive control regions is due to high task irrelevant activities, which cause the activation of reactive control mechanism (see section 1.4.5). In detail, as a reminder, DMC proposes two control mechanisms, proactive and reactive control mechanisms, during cognitive task processing (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Burgess & Braver, 2008) (see section 1.4.5). The proactive control mechanism keeps the focus of attention on task related information and thus it helps to process the task efficiently (Braver et al., 2007; Broyd et al., 2009). It is associated with increased activation in the cognitive control regions such as the LPFC (DLPFC, VLPFC) and ACC. The reactive control mechanism keeps the focus of attention on task irrelevant activities, which is a consequence of a threatening situation. Therefore, it activates when task irrelevant activities are increased and negatively influences cognitive task processing (Braver, 2012) because task irrelevant activities are associated with a default mode network (i.e. the medial frontal cortices such as the anterior regions (BA 10) and temporal parietal regions such as the posterior cingulate cortices (BA 31), and the left inferior temporal lobe (BA 37) (Broyd et al., 2009; Burgess & Braver, 2008; Gray et al., 2002; Uddin, Clare Kelly, Biswal, Xavier Castellanos, & Milham, 2009). In this context, when a cognitively demanding task has to be processed efficiently, which requires proactive control, the cognitive control regions are activated and the default network regions tend to be less active (Braver, 2012; Burgess & Braver, 2008; Drevets & Raichle, 1998). However, because worry and a higher arousal level increase task irrelevant activities in high neurotics, they are inclined to use a reactive control mechanism, which leads to decreased activation in the cognitive control regions during demanding task processing (Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002). Therefore, under a demanding condition, an increased worry related arousal level leads to higher task irrelevant activities, which activate reactive control in high neurotics. Thus, in high neurotics, high task irrelevant activities disrupt task processing due to having to perform tasks concurrently that are demanding (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002). At first, they fail to employ cognitive resources efficiently for task related activities (Burgess & Braver, 2008; Power & Dalgleish, 1997). Taken together, high neurotics may be inclined towards reactive control and, therefore, in demanding tasks they perform worse during task processing (Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002) because they cannot implement cognitive resources for task relevant

activities (Bishop et al., 2004; Bishop, 2009; Braver, 2012). Low neurotics may be inclined towards proactive control and therefore they select task relevant activities earlier because they have a lower arousal level and less worry (Braver, 2012; Gray et al., 2002). Consequently, high neurotics may have higher costs with lower activation in the cognitive control regions compared to low neurotics during demanding cognitive tasks (Bishop et al., 2004; Bishop, 2009; Braver, 2012).

Decreased activation, which is accompanied by higher dual task cost, has been found in a few PRP studies. For example, in some PRP studies, two groups were compared: one with higher cognitive functioning and the other with lower cognitive functioning (such as younger vs older) (Erickson et al., 2007; Hartley, Jonides, & Sylvester, 2011). Higher dual task cost and at the same time decreased activations have been reported within a group with low cognitive functioning (Erickson et al., 2007; Hartley et al., 2011). It has been suggested that decreased activation in low cognitive functioning groups might be due to inefficient recruitment of cognitive resources (Hartley et al., 2011). Although the research interest of such studies is not related to the current study, they support the current hypothesis by showing that higher dual task costs can often be associated with decreased activations.

More recently, Szameitat et al., (2016), found this pattern of results i.e. decreased dual task specific activation accompanied by higher dual task cost in normal healthy controls. One potential reason for such a correlation is less preparation during task performance (Szameitat et al., 2016). In other words, some participants might not put efficient mental effort into the task during the performance of concurrent tasks because they may be less prepared during the task performance (Szameitat et al., 2016). Preparation was previously defined as mental processes for switching tasks just before task execution (Szameitat et al., 2016). As explained in section (1.3.3) the preparation process has a considerable effect on interference (De Jong, 1995a; Szameitat et al., 2016). During dual task performance, participants require more and better preparation to reduce the dual task cost. However, if they do not prepare well, a high dual task cost may be accompanied by lower neural activation in dual task specific areas (De Jong, 1995a; Szameitat et al., 2016). In other words, less preparation may cause a higher dual cost (De Jong, 1995a) and be followed by lower neural activations in dual task related areas (Szameitat et al., 2016). For example, in dual task processing as compared to single tasks, higher preparation is required to implement the switching, inhibition and updating functions in an appropriate time and context (De Jong, 1995a; Luria & Meiran, 2003). However, when the SOA is short there is not time for preparation (De

Jong, 1995a; Luria & Meiran, 2003). Therefore, additional demand is placed on the CES functions beyond the demand incurred by the bottleneck (De Jong, 1995a; Luria & Meiran, 2003). Although neuroticism was not controlled in the study of Szameitat et al., (2016), the results support my current statement by showing higher dual task cost with decreased activation in dual task specific areas. Translating this into the current study, a worry related increased arousal level may prevent high neurotics from carrying out better preparation compared to low neurotics during dual task performance. As a result, high neurotics may put less mental effort into the task due to less preparation, which exacerbates the interference in dual tasks.

The present study aimed to evaluate the influence of neuroticism on the functional neuroanatomical correlates of the PRP dual task. I compared the brain activation patterns of high and low neurotics during single- and dual-task performance. More specifically, I employed the dual-task paradigm of the psychological refractory period because of its strong association with the three CES functions (De Jong, 1995a; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016) and the high level of experimental control that it allows (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Meyer & Kieras, 1997a; Pashler, 1994b). In the current study, this paradigm consisted of two forced-choice response tasks (one auditory-manual and one visual-manual), which were performed either separately as single-tasks or concurrently as dual-tasks. Thus, the task demand increased from the single task to the dual task. Consequently, I tested high and low neurotics on a single task, and a dual task with a short SOA. Based on the arguments made in the above paragraphs, I proposed a general pattern of behavioural results in the previous experiment (chapter 3-4) regarding dual task combination costs in high and low neurotics. In detail, I proposed that due to the difficulty and nature of the additional processes, the high neurotics would show performance impairments in the dual-task conditions, but these would be less evident for the single-task performance. This can be assessed by so-called behavioural dual-task costs, i.e. by the performance difference between both types of tasks, dual-tasks and single-tasks.

Regarding the functional neuroanatomical correlates, it is important to determine brain activation that is specific to dual-task processing because this activation cannot simply be explained by single task processing and thus it is only related to dual task processing. Generally, in the literature review chapter, I mentioned that in PRP dual task studies such dual-task specific activations are in the lateral and medial prefrontal cortices (Sigman &

Dehaene, 2005; Stelzel et al., 2008b; Szameitat et al., 2002). In detail, it has been shown that dual task specific areas are often associated with greater neural activation in the lateral prefrontal cortices (LPFC) (for task coordination: middle frontal gyrus (MFG), inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), inferior frontal sulcus (IFS)) (Dux et al., 2006; Erickson et al., 2005; Schubert & Szameitat, 2003; Stelzel et al., 2008a; Szameitat et al., 2002), and medial prefrontal cortex (medPFC) (maintenance and error execution, anterior cingulate cortex; (ACC)) (Carter et al., 2000; MacDonald et al., 2000; Szameitat et al., 2006) during dual task processing. Based on previous evidence of functional neuroanatomical correlates of the executive functions in highly neurotics, I expected that the high neurotics would show decreased dual-task specific activation in the lateral and medial prefrontal cortices compared to the low neurotics.

To assess the dual task specific areas, I have used a cognitive subtraction method to compose the contrasts. In the behavioural studies, I have calculated the dual task combination costs by subtracting the average of the single tasks from the average of the dual tasks i.e. DT0-ST. Therefore, with respect to the functional neuroanatomical correlates, I have composed a contrast to assess the dual task specific areas, which cannot simply be explained by the performance of the single tasks (Szameitat et al., 2011). The contrasts are [DT 0– ST_{Auditory} – ST_{Visual}]_{Low Neurotics} – [DT0 – ST_{Auditory} – ST_{Visual}]_{High Neurotics}.

Taken together, I aim to investigate the effects of neuroticism on the functional neuroanatomical correlates of a single task, and dual tasks with short SOA. To do so I have formulated a hypothesis as follows:

I. High neurotics will show higher dual task combination costs and at the same time decreased dual-task specific activations compared to low neurotics.

#### 6.2 Methods

## 6.2.1 Participants

To create extreme groups of high- and low-neurotics (High-N and Low-N, respectively), I screened participants using the 24-item neuroticism scale of the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ; Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975). One participant was excluded because of claustrophobia. From the N (24-item neuroticism scale of EPQ) screened people, 32 participants took part in the final MRI experiment: 15 (7 women) in the High-N group (mean

EPQ score=18, range=16–24) and 17 (8 women) in the Low-N group (mean EPQ score= 3.89, range=0–6). The two groups were roughly matched for age (High-N = 21.36 and Low-N=23.50) and gender. All of the participants were right-handed, as assessed by the Edinburgh Inventory (Oldfield, 1971) and had normal or corrected to normal vision. None of them were known to have any neurological or psychiatric disorders. Before participation each participant gave their written informed consent. The participants were paid £20 for 40 minutes participation. The study was approved by the Department of Life Sciences ethics committee at Brunel University.

I employed the same exclusion criteria as indicated in the previous chapters (see chapter 2) such as scoring over 15 in the Beck depression inventory (BDI), and the presence of any past or current major medical, neurological or psychiatric illness etc.

#### 6.2.2 Tasks

Generally, the tasks were very similar to the behavioural dual task experiment in chapter 3 except for the random-order task, which was not included in this experiment. The block and trial numbers; registered time durations; and experimental conditions were also changed and adapted for efficient data acquisition in the scanner. Therefore, I will explain the methods to clarify all points. The participants had to perform an auditory and a visual two-choice reaction task. These tasks were performed block-wise either alone (single-task conditions) or together (dual-task conditions). While lying in the fMRI scanner, the participants viewed a projection screen via a mirror. They responded on two separate fMRI-suitable keypads, each with four keys.

#### 6.2.2.1 Single Tasks

There were two single task conditions, visual and auditory conditions.

The visual single task to be performed by the participants was gender discrimination (female vs. male). The visual single task consisted of male and female faces. Each face stimulus was randomly drawn from a set of 120 different faces (60 males, 60 females; black-and-white images with an oval mask covering most of the hair except for the fringe). A male face required a fast button-press response with the right index finger and a female face required a button press with the right middle finger.

The tasks were presented in blocks of 8 trials, lasting 26.6s. Before each block the task of the upcoming block was presented for 5.9s. Each condition was presented 8 times in an individually randomized order. A trial in the VIS condition started with a blank grey screen for 150 ms followed by a fixation period of 250 ms. After the fixation period, a picture of either a male or a female face was presented for 345 ms. From the start of the stimulus presentation, the participants had 3075ms to respond. Afterwards, either error feedback ('Error') or a fixation cross was presented for 250ms.

The auditory single task (syllable task) was identical to the visual task in terms of the blocks, trials and time durations. The auditory single task to be performed by the participants was syllable discrimination (ha-ha vs. ya-ya). Each syllable was randomly drawn from a set of 30 different syllables (15 /haha/, 15 /yaya/) recorded from several different speakers. Key mapping for the syllable 'ha ha' was to be done with their left index finger and for 'ya ya' with their left middle finger by pressing the second button next to the first key on the keypad. the other characteristics of the auditory task were identical to the visual condition.

## 6.2.2.2 Dual Tasks

In the dual-task conditions, the two single tasks (visual and auditory) indicated above had to be performed together. For this purpose, both stimuli (auditory and visual) were presented simultaneously with 0 ms SOA. A special instruction that indicated the task order was presented just before the stimulus presentation. The order of the task presentation was constant within a block and was balanced across blocks, so that an equal number of trials started with a task order either (visual=> auditory) or (auditory=>visual). Dual tasks with short SOA had two separate conditions (visual=> auditory) and (auditory=>visual). Thus, in total there were two fixed dual-task conditions.

Similar to the single tasks, each dual task condition was presented 8 times in an individually randomized order. In dual tasks with a short SOA, the trial started with a blank grey screen for 150 ms followed by a fixation period of 250 ms. After the fixation period the visual and auditory stimuli were presented simultaneously for 345 ms. The trial lasted for 3325 ms in total and the selection of stimuli was fully random. The key mapping was always identical to the visual and auditory single tasks.

#### 6.2.2.3 Base

In addition to the dual task conditions, a resting baseline condition (BASE) was also included. The participants were required to keep still and look at a white fixation cross that was presented in the middle of the screen. The base condition was randomized among all of the other conditions.

#### 6.2.3 Design of measurement

In this study, I applied a block design approach. The tasks consisted of 56 blocks. Overall, there were 5 conditions which are relevant to current report: auditory single task; visual single task, DT (0 SOA) Auditory=> Visual; DT (0 SOA) Visual => Auditory; and BASE. Each condition consisted of 8 blocks and each block (except for the BASE) consisted of 8 trials. One block lasted 32.5 seconds. 5 seconds of these 32.5s was an interval that separated the blocks and served as an instruction period. The rest of the time (27.5 second) was used for the tasks. All of the conditions were randomly distributed and counterbalanced throughout the experiment.

#### 6.2.4 Scanning Procedure

The image acquisition took place in a 3 tesla fMRI scanner (Trio, Siemens, Erlangen, Germany) equipped with a 12-channel array head coil at Royal Holloway University, Egham, Surrey, UK. The participants lay on the scanner bed and wore a headphone that was used to both reduce the noise and present the audio tasks. Furthermore, two cushions were placed, one on each side of the head, to minimize head movement. The sounds were tested through the headphones to confirm that they worked properly just before the scanning began. The participants were encouraged to keep still while they were in the scanner.

A Sanyo LCD projector (PLC XP1000L, native resolution =  $1024 \times 768$ ) was used to project the visual stimuli onto the screen. The participants viewed the visual stimuli through an angulated mirror equipped with an above of the head coil in the bore of the magnet. 35 axial slices ( $192 \times 192 \text{ mm FOV}$ ,  $64 \times 64 \text{ matrix}$ , 3x3 mm in-plane resolution, 3 mm thickness, no gap, interleaved slice acquisition) were acquired using a BOLD-sensitive gradient echo EPI sequence (TR 2.5 s, TE 31 ms,  $85^\circ$  flip angle). The experiment consisted of two functional runs and one anatomical scan. In between the functional runs, the participants were informed that no tasks were to be performed for 5 mins and they were asked to keep still during this time in order to acquire anatomical T1 weighted images. High-resolution whole-brain images were acquired from each participant using a T1-weighted MPRAGE sequence (TR 1900 ms, TE 3.03 ms, 11° flip angle, 176 slices,  $256 \times 256$  mm FOV,  $1 \times 1 \times 1$  mm voxel size). Two functional runs with 364 volumes each were acquired, with each volume sampling all 35 slices. Each functional session lasted for approximately 15 mins (7 conditions x 4 repetitions each x 32.5 seconds each = 910 s / 60s = 15.166 min). At the end of the study all of the participants were given a debriefing form (appendix J).

#### 6.2.5 Data Analysis

The MRI data were analysed using SPM 12. First, the origin of the structural as well as functional images was manually aligned with the anterior commissure. Next, the head motion was corrected (Realign & Unwarp). The anatomical and functional images were normalized to MNI space using unified segmentation. Finally, the functional data were spatially smoothed using a Gaussian kernel with an FWHM of 8mm. The normalization and registration success was validated by visual inspection.

The statistical analysis was based on a voxel-wise least-squares estimation using the general linear model for serially auto-correlated observations (Friston et al., 1994). Because the current study used a blocked fMRI design, a boxcar function, convolved with a canonical HRF without derivatives, was used to model the BOLD response. A temporal high-pass filter with a cut-off frequency of 1/170 Hz was applied. Individual contrast maps were calculated for all contrasts of interest (see "Results" section), and the second-level analysis was based on independent-sample *t*-tests. All of the resulting *t*-maps were thresholded at p < .005 (uncorrected) and only clusters significant with p < .05 (FWE corrected) were considered. A recent study has shown that cluster level inference using these parameters, i.e. rather strict thresholding for generating the cluster map, is generally accurate (Eklund, Nichols, & Knutsson, 2016). The anatomical locations and Brodmann's areas were determined using the Automated Anatomical Labeling toolbox (Eickhoff et al., 2005; Tzourio-Mazoyer et al., 2002). The contrast was Dual Task SOA 0 – Auditory Single-Task – Visual Single Task, i.e. [1-1-1] for high and low neurotics for all of the comparisons of interest.

Also, the correlations were calculated to examine any relationships between the bold signal in the dual task specific areas and the participants' EPQ scores or dual task costs, either in the whole group (high and low neurotics together) or separately for each group. To do that, I used the beta-values of each individual participant taken at the group-peak voxel derived from the first-level stats. Thus, the correlations between these beta-values and the neuroticism scores or behavioral dual task costs were calculated.

#### 6.3 Result

#### 6.3.1 Behavioural Results

To test whether the level of neuroticism affected behavioural performance in the dual-task situation, I calculated two 2x2-factorial ANOVAs (one for response times (RTs) and one for error rates) with the within-subject factor task (single tasks vs. dual task) and the between subject factor neuroticism (Low-N vs. High-N). For the RT analysis, I averaged the RTs of the two single tasks, and I also averaged the RTs of the first task (RT2s) of the two dual-task orders. The results showed that the RTs in the dual-task were significantly slower than in the single-tasks (main effect task; F (1, 30) = 325.8. p < .001), and that the RTs were significantly slower for the High-N group than for the Low-N group (main effect neuroticism was also significant, indicating that the dual-task costs were higher for the High-N group than the Low-N group (F (1, 30) = 5.9, p < .05). The error rates showed the same pattern, but some of the effects did not reach statistical significance (main effect task: F (1, 30) = 65.6, p < .001; main effect neuroticism: F (1, 30) = 1.9, p = .18; interaction: F (1, 30) = 3.1, p = .087).

Generally, the results show that the high neurotics had a higher dual task cost than the low neurotics. In addition, it might be considered whether there is a correlation between the dual task cost and the N scores i.e. as one increase so does the other. Therefore, I also examined the correlations between the dual task cost and the EPQ score, which were calculated in two ways. First, when calculating the correlations across the whole sample (i.e. high and low neurotics so that the EPQ scores span the whole range of the scale), the EPQ score is positively correlated with dual-task performance as such (i.e. response times (RT1) of two dual tasks (RT1) in the dual-task condition, r = .586, p < .001) as well as dual-task costs (i.e. dual-task RTs minus single-task RTs, r = .880, p < .001). Second, when calculating the separate correlations for the high and low neurotics (i.e. EPQ scores are much more restricted to a narrow range of only either high or low scores, respectively), these correlations are not significant when they are calculated individually for each group (all p > .590).

#### 6.3.2 FMRI Data

I used the cognitive subtraction method to assess dual-task specific activation, and thus I calculated one contrast, the Dual Task SOA 0 – Auditory Single-Task – Visual Single Task, i.e. [1 -1 -1] (Szameitat et al., 2011), individually for each participant during the first level statistics. During the second level statistics, I tested for group differences by comparing the contrast images of the above contrast of the High-N participants with those of the Low-N participants using an independent sample t-test. Thus, these contrasts test whether the high and low neurotic participants differed in their dual-task specific activation. The results regarding the contrast indicate dual task specific activations compared to single tasks. If the contrast reveals activation, it is dual-task specific activation, i.e. it cannot be explained by the summed activation of the single-tasks (Szameitat et al., 2011).

#### 6.3.3 Neuroimaging Results

The results regarding the contrast [DT 0–  $ST_{Auditory} – ST_{Visual}]_{Low Neurotics} – [DT0 – <math>ST_{Auditory}$  –  $ST_{Visual}]_{High Neurotics}$  i.e. [1-1-1] showed higher activations in the lateral and medial prefrontal cortices in low neurotics compared to high neurotics (Figure 6.1). In more detail, the cluster in the lateral prefrontal cortex is extended mainly along the mid-to-anterior middle frontal gyrus (BA 46), extending into the inferior frontal sulcus/gyrus (BA 47) and superior frontal sulcus/gyrus (BA 10). The cluster in the medial prefrontal cortex extended from the medial superior frontal gyrus (BA 8/9) inferiorly into the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC, BA 32) (see table 6.1). The reversed contrast (i.e. higher dual-task specific activation in High-N as compared to Low-N) did not reveal any significant voxels in the frontal brain regions, even at a lowered voxel level threshold of p < .05 (uncorrected).



Figure 6-1 Imaging data. higher dual-task specific activation in the left lateral prefrontal cortex (left panel, circled area) and medial prefrontal cortex (right panel) for low compared to high neurotics as assessed by the contrast [DT – ST

Auditory – ST Visual] low Neurotics – [DT – ST Auditory – ST Visual]high Neurotics. Maps thresholded at p < .005 (uncorrected), clusters significant at p < .05 (FWE corrected).

Anatomical area	BA	<i>x</i> , <i>y</i> , <i>z</i>	<i>t / p(uncorr)</i>	Cluster-level	Cluster
				p(FWE)	volume
					$(mm^3)$
<u>Cluster 1</u>				.049	5656
middle frontal	46	-32, 46, 12	4.52 /		
gyrus			.00004		
superior frontal	10	-28, 56, 24	4.17 /		
gyrus			.00012		
inferior frontal	46	-44, 44, 6	3.85 /		-
gyrus			.00029		
<u>Cluster 2</u>				.004	10096
medial superior	8/9	2, 52, 44	4.45 /		
frontal gyrus			.00005		
anterior cingulate	32	4, 38, 20	4.25 /		
cortex			.00012		
medial superior	9	-10, 42, 28	3.88 /		
frontal gyrus			.00027		

Table 6-1 Areas exhibiting significantly higher dual-task specific activation in low neurotics compared to high neurotics (contrast [DT0 – ST Auditory – ST Visual] low Neurotics – [DT0 – ST Auditory – ST Visual] high Neurotics). Notes. BA Brodmann's area. x, y, z MNI coordinates of local peaks. t/p(uncorr) voxel-level t-value and uncorrected p-value of local peaks.

#### 6.3.3.1 Correlations between neuroticism level and dual task specific brain activations

If the correlations are calculated across the whole sample, then the main driver of any correlation between the EPQ scores and the beta values in the six lateral and medial frontal areas is the profound group difference in the neuroticism scores of the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ). Indeed, the EPQ correlates negatively with all six of the reported lateral and medial prefrontal areas (all *r* between -.438 (p < .05) and -.574 (p < .001), indicating that high neurotics show lower beta values. However, these correlations seem to be driven by the group difference between the high and low neurotics, because when the high and low neurotic groups are analysed separately, not one correlation (with r-values distributed around 0) was significant (p-values typically > .4).

Moreover, if correlations are calculated across the whole sample, then the dual-task costs correlate negatively with all six prefrontal areas (r-values -.382 - -.547, all p < .05), indicating higher dual task cost accompanied with lower beta values. Again, these correlations are not significant when calculated individually for each group. This pattern is observed for all of the lateral and medial prefrontal local peaks.

## 6.4 Discussion

The behavioural results demonstrated that while all of the participants, low and high neurotics, were slower in the dual-task condition compared to the single-task condition, this slowing down was significantly more pronounced in the high neurotics compared with the low neurotics. These higher behavioural dual task combination costs were accompanied by higher dual-task specific activation in the prefrontal cortices in the low neurotics compared to the high neurotics. In more detail, regarding the dual task combination costs, the neuroticism related group differences showed higher activations in the low neurotics compared to the high neurotics in the left lateral prefrontal cortex mainly along the middle frontal gyrus, extending into the inferior and superior frontal gyri, as well as the medial prefrontal areas reaching from the anterior cingulate gyrus into the medial superior frontal gyrus. Finally, when calculating the correlations there was a strong positive correlation between the EPQ scores of the participants and their dual task costs and these variables (EPQ scores, and dual task cost) were negatively correlated with the bold signals in the dual task specific regions. However, when the correlations were performed separately for each group,
none of these (EPQ, dual task cost and bold signals) variables were correlated at the significance level. Taken together, the results confirm my hypotheses by showing lower activations in the dual task specific areas in high neurotics compared with low neurotics.

The anatomical areas in the first contrast, the lateral and medial prefrontal cortices, have repeatedly been reported to be involved in the performance of PRP dual-tasks (Sigman & Dehaene, 2005; Stelzel et al., 2008b; Szameitat et al., 2002; Szameitat et al., 2016). It has been suggested that these areas are involved in the executive functions, which resolve interference and coordinate the processing of the tasks at the stage of the processing bottleneck (Szameitat et al., 2002; Szameitat et al., 2016). For example, it has been suggested that inhibition of the first task until the second task is processed is often associated with IFG activations (Konishi et al., 1999; Levy & Wagner, 2011; Schubert & Szameitat, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2006; Szameitat et al., 2002; Szameitat et al., 2016), and therefore it is assumed to be associated with the inhibition function of the central executive system (Konishi et al., 1999; Levy & Wagner, 2011; Szameitat et al., 2016). Various studies have reported that switching between tasks and sets repeatedly is associated with activation in MFG, and therefore it is assumed to be associated with the switching function of the CES (Brass, Derrfuss, Forstmann, & von Cramon, 2005; Brass & von Cramon, 2002; Dove, Pollmann, Schubert, Wiggins, & von Cramon, 2000; Sohn, Ursu, Anderson, Stenger, & Carter, 2000). Dual task studies have found that the medial prefrontal areas, including the ACC, are associated with task set maintenance and monitoring, which indicates the updating function in cognitive processing (Dosenbach et al., 2006, 2008; Fleck, Daselaar, Dobbins, & Cabeza, 2006; MacDonald, Cohen, Stenger, & Carter, 2000; Rowe, Hughes, Eckstein, & Owen, 2008). The ACC is also frequently reported to be associated with error execution and task coordination. That means that the ACC may also be associated with the inhibition function because making errors during task processing indicates an inability to inhibit a dominant response that should be suppressed (Carter et al., 1998; Cohen, Botvinick, & Carter, 2000).

Taken together, these identified dual task areas in the contrast are frequently assessed as an indicator of the executive functions i.e. switching, inhibition and updating (Szameitat et al., 2011). Therefore, the current findings, which demonstrated decreased dual task specific activations in high neurotics, may be evidence that the dual-task specific executive functions are involved to a lesser extent.

Moreover, the results showed strong correlations between the neuroticism scores, dual task costs and activation level in the brain when calculated for the whole sample, i.e. across groups. This is not surprising, because in this instance the correlation is mathematically closely related to the t test calculated in the fMRI analysis. However, when the correlation was calculated for each group separately, the result was not significant. One possible reason for such a non-significant correlation is that by creating extreme groups of high and low neurotics, the variance within each group is strongly limited, which therefore makes it hard to detect correlations. In other words, in the small samples, after having a certain EPQ score, the arousal level may influence the related brain areas to a similar degree because the arousal level may rise in all participants to a similar extent (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Because the sample is relatively small for a correlational analysis, small variations between the participants regarding brain activations could not be observed. Thus, the activation differences between an individual who scored 16 and another one who scored 18 on the EPQ scale seem to be affected by the demanding task to a similar degree with slight variations because both are in the top quartile in a small sample and are called high neurotics either regarding sample size (Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003) or EPQ scale (Chan et al., 2007). The same logic is valid for low neurotics because they were selected from the bottom quartile. Individuals scored 5 or 4 on the neuroticism scale, and they probably had similar bold signals with small variations in task processing because the arousal level remained below the activation threshold in the low neurotics (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Consequently, because the variation in the EPQ scores is too small and the correlation is rather weak, a much bigger sample would be needed to show a significant correlation between neuroticism score, dual task cost and the bold signals.

I observed a similar pattern of dual-task specific activation in the low and high neurotics, which differed only in the strength of the activation, which suggests that the underlying mental operations in both groups are qualitatively similar. It is interesting to note that a recent study found a very similar pattern, i.e. increased behavioural dual-task cost associated with decreased dual-task specific activation in normal healthy controls (Szameitat et al., 2016). Although the authors did not control for neuroticism level in the study, it seems likely that the 17 participants are more clustered around the mean of the EPQ than the sample of the present study, in which I formed two extreme groups (total N = 32) based on an initial screening of more than 700 people. Combining these two findings, i.e. the same pattern of dual-task related brain areas in high and low neurotics and the same gradual relationship

between performance and brain activation in normal controls and neurotics, suggests that neuroticism does not alter the neuro-cognitive processing of a dual-task qualitatively, but rather gradually. In other words, the current findings suggest that high neurotics multitask rather comparably to low-performing controls. A potential reason for this may be higher demand on the CES functions due to the existence of a bottleneck and the preparation processes.

This interpretation is in line with the assumed role of these areas in dual task processing. I mentioned above that these areas are associated with the switching, inhibition and updating functions to resolve interference and coordinate task processing. It has been argued that lower activity in these areas indicates less efficient mental processing, and consequently behavioural performance suffers (Brass & von Cramon, 2002; Hartley et al., 2011; Szameitat et al., 2016). This is exactly what neuroticism related models commonly predict as high neurotics are likely to perceive a demanding task (i.e. dual-task) as considerably more stressful than low neurotics, so their arousal levels are increased, which causes higher task irrelevant activities (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Therefore, task irrelevant activities interfere with attention, so that in high neurotics attention must be divided for task related and task irrelevant activities, which lead to the allocation of less mental resources to task processing (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Because CES functions require greater sustained attention (De Jong, 1995a; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Miyake et al., 2000), this detrimental effect of neuroticism mainly impairs the CES functions during dual task processing (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). I mentioned in the previous paragraphs that high dual task cost is accompanied by decreased activation in the specific areas that seem to be associated with the three CES functions (switching, inhibition, and updating) (De Jong, 1995a; Stelzel et al., 2008b; Szameitat et al., 2016). This fits well with my previous findings (chapter 2-5), which showed that the main cause of higher task impairment is specifically higher CES demand in high neurotics.

Regarding functional neuroanatomical correlates in neuroticism related group differences; DMC (Braver, 2012) also seems to be approachable for the interpretation of the current results. DMC suggests that higher task irrelevant activities caused by arousal and worry in high neurotics may prevent them from using a proactive control mechanism to employ cognitive resources for efficient task processing because task relevant activities are perceived as a threatening factor for task processing (Braver et al., 2007; Burgess & Braver, 2008; Gray et al., 2002). Therefore, high neurotics are inclined to use a reactive control mechanism, which causes suppression in the cognitive control regions to deal with threatening situations (Braver et al., 2007). Consequently, reduced activation occurs in the cognitive control regions (Braver, 2012; Burgess & Braver, 2008; Gray et al., 2002). This argument is supported by previous empirical studies, which show reduced activation in the cognitive control network regions in high neurotics compared with low neurotics in the processing of WM tasks (Bishop, 2009; Dima et al., 2015). Accordingly, this situation may cause higher costs, which are accompanied by decreased activation due to inefficient employment of cognitive resources during task processing (Bishop et al., 2004; Bishop, 2009).

In conclusion, to my knowledge, this is the first study to explore neuroticism related differences regarding the functional neuroanatomical correlates of dual task processing. I found that high neurotics showed higher behavioral dual-task costs and at the same time lower dual-task specific brain activation compared with low neurotics. I interpret the results as evidence that high level neuroticism causes impairment particularly in higher cognitive functions, such as the functions in dual task processing, located mainly in the lateral and medial prefrontal cortices. The impairment may be caused by an overly increased level of arousal, which leads to greater task irrelevant activities during dual task processing, which are associated with higher demand being placed on the switching, inhibition and updating functions.

# 7 Chapter – General discussion

## 7.1 Overview

Neuroticism is a personality trait characterized by an inclination towards negative emotional states and high levels of anxiety (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967; Jorm, 1989; Zawadzki et al., 1998). Behavioural studies in the field of cognitive psychology have shown that neuroticism impairs cognitive performance mostly in difficult tasks, but not so much in easier tasks (Corr, 2003; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). One pervasive situation of this type is multitasking, in which the combination of two simple tasks creates a highly demanding dual-task (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Pashler, 1994a), and consequently high neurotics show higher dual-task costs than low neurotics (Studer-Luethi et al., 2012). While the existing data is highly informative, there is a paucity of research about where and how task impairment occurs during cognitive task processing. Therefore, in this thesis, I have investigated neuroticism related group differences during cognitive task processing that mainly included dual task experiments regarding behavioural performance and functional anatomical dual task specific activities in the brain. As a starting point (in chapter 2), I used single standard WM tasks, which tested the effect of neuroticism on both the central executive system (CES) and WM storage system (i.e. visuospatial sketchpad). The remainder of the empirical studies consisted of PRP dual tasks to investigate the specific effect of neuroticism on the CES functions. The purpose of this thesis was to provide a more accurate account of the effect of neuroticism on cognitive task processing both regarding behavioural performance and functional anatomical correlates. More specifically, I explored whether the detrimental effect of neuroticism causes lower processing efficiency in all difficult tasks or whether it is specific to certain tasks associated with the switching, inhibition and updating functions. In chapters 2 and 5, part of the research investigates this issue. In addition, there was a need to control the experiment at a high level to investigate the effect of neuroticism on the CES functions in detail. Therefore, in most of the chapters (3, 4, 5), I used a PRP dual task paradigm to investigate this issue (i.e. the effect of neuroticism on the CES) by increasing the demand specifically on the CES functions. Also, in chapter 5, perceived stress and difficulty level were explored to find out whether arousal level increases as the task demand increases. Finally, in chapter 6 functional anatomical correlates of neuroticism related group differences were investigated during PRP dual task processing.

In all of the empirical chapters, the studies consisted of two stages: screening and testing. The testing stage provides the most important results. Nonetheless, the screening stage determined several exclusion criteria related to the validity and reliability of the results at the testing stage. Therefore, before I discuss the empirical findings, I discuss this issue (i.e. screening) below so I will develop the discussion through the stages respectively.

# 7.2 Neuroticism scale and selection of study sample

To select high and low neurotics for this study, I used the neuroticism scale of EPQ (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1975). Although the EPQ is a continuum scale, I used a cut-off based on previous studies to select the high and low neurotic participants (Chan et al., 2007; Di Simplicio et al., 2014; Portella, Harmer, Flint, Cowen, & Goodwin, 2005). Therefore, in this section, I discuss the advantages of using such a cut-off in the EPQ scale to select extreme groups of high and low neurotics instead of just using a median split. Furthermore, I discuss the creation of extreme groups of high and low neurotics using some exclusion criteria.

By using this approach, firstly, I aimed to determine clear differences between the high and low neurotics regarding their behavioural performance and neural correlates during the task processing (Chan et al., 2008; Chan, Norbury, Goodwin, & Harmer, 2009). In contrast to my approach, a few studies have used a median split of the EPQ scale to create groups of high and low neurotics (Osorio et al., 2003). However, this approach does not allow determination of clear differences between high and low neurotics regarding either their behavioural performance or neural correlates during the task processing (Chan et al., 2009). It has been suggested that using a median split does not clearly indicate that the top group is high and the bottom group is low neurotics (Francis et al., 1992) because neuroticism symptoms start with a score of 10 on the EPQ scale (Karanci et al., 2007). Therefore, if I had used the median as a cut-off, in this case an unclear situation would have occurred, because the participants with neurotic symptoms may have been included in low neurotic group. I assumed that this might be a factor that could lead to inconclusive results as in some of the previous studies e.g. (Osorio et al., 2003).

Eysenck (1967) proposed inverted U curves to explain the performance of high and low neurotics. Accordingly, high and low neurotics perform differently during task processing depending on the task difficulty and increased arousal level (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Individuals who score very high on the neuroticism scale perform worse than individuals who score very low on the scale on demanding tasks because in

highly neurotic individuals the arousal level easily increases and after it reaches a certain activation threshold their performance is impaired (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Because low neurotics have a higher activation threshold compared to high neurotics, the performance of low neurotics is relatively better than high neurotics in demanding tasks (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). However, a moderate neuroticism level (i.e. a score in middle range of EPQ scale) may follow an optimal arousal level and best performance during moderately demanding tasks (H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Based on this argument, I considered selecting high and low neurotics from the top and bottom quartiles of the neuroticism scale because this method of selection has also been repeatedly applied in previous studies (Chan et al., 2007; Di Simplicio, Norbury, Reinecke, & Harmer, 2014b; Portella et al., 2005; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003).

Moreover, it can be seen that the cut-off values are not symmetrical (Low N= 0-6, High N= 16-24). Instead of these cut-off scores, one could consider using a more symmetrical cut-off such as Low N=0-8, High N=16-24. However, the reason for my preference for the current cut-off values (i.e. Low N=0-6, High N=16-24) is that people who score over 10 on the EPQ may show neurotic symptoms and I wanted to determine a cut-off that was relatively far away from 10 for low neurotics. Because my aim was to select extreme groups of high and low neurotics, I considered selecting people who scored very low on the neuroticism scale. In addition, several reliable studies have used these cut-off scores to select high and low neurotics (Chan et al., 2007; Chan et al., 2009; Portella et al., 2005). Therefore, I preferred to select groups of high neurotics (score above 16) and very low neurotics (score below 6). This approach seemed to be plausible, because it would allow for finding clearer differences between the groups (Chan et al., 2007; Portella et al., 2005). Consequently, the selection of high and low neurotics in this way allowed me to obtain reliable and valid results that are consistent with neuroticism related theories that show that high and low neurotic participants differ considerably regarding demanding tasks while they are usually similar in terms of simple task performance (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007).

In addition, another issue was that several studies have randomly recruited high and low neurotics by applying the EPQ only (Corr, 2003; Osorio et al., 2003; Robinson & Tamir, 2005; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). This might be another reason why some of these studies remain inconclusive. It has been shown that psychological disorders such as depression also cause some cognitive deficits (Chan et al., 2007; Portella et al., 2005).

Because depressed people usually score higher on the neuroticism scale (Chan et al., 2007; Chan et al., 2009), if a depressive participant is not excluded, one will never know whether the impairment was caused by the effect of depression or neuroticism (Chan et al., 2009). In addition, arousal level may be influenced by caffeine, alcohol or mood state in high neurotics (Chan et al., 2007; Chan et al., 2009). For example, it was found that caffeine may have a greater effect on arousal in high neurotics than low neurotics so the consumption of caffeine may negatively affect performance in high neurotics (Craig et al., 1979). To deal with such issues, which may affect the results, I used several tests as exclusion criteria to recruit the high and low neurotics that were not associated with other typical factors that may affect cognitive processing. In other words, I aimed to minimize the contamination effect of other factors such as psychiatric and neurological history; colour blindness; alcohol and caffeine consumption; and recent depressive mood by using related tests. Therefore, the results in this thesis seem to show the effect of neuroticism and are not due to other typical factors indicated above.

In the next section, I discuss the effect of neuroticism on processing efficiency across cognitive tasks. The discussion is developed to answer the question of whether neuroticism affects processing efficiency in all cognitive tasks or whether this effect is revealed only in certain tasks.

#### 7.3 Effect of neuroticism and processing efficiency

Processing efficiency is assessed based on response times and accuracy so a higher processing efficiency refers to performing tasks with faster response times and higher accuracy (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). In this context, lower processing efficiency would indicate actual task impairment (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). This is of particular interest for this thesis in terms of understanding what task impairment is between high and low neurotics. The reason for that is, in most of the experiments, the performance of the participants was measured regarding both response times and error rates. For example, sometimes the participants performed certain tasks with a faster response time and lower accuracy or vice versa. This type of observation does not usually indicate a better processing efficiency; rather it indicates they may use different speed accuracy trade-off strategies (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; Flehmig et al., 2010). In addition, it was noted that sometimes the response time was considerably shorter in one group but the error rates did not significantly differ between the groups (M.

W. Eysenck et al., 2007). In such a situation, the group with considerably shorter response times has better processing efficiency (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; Flehmig et al., 2010).

Based on the argument above, the high neurotics had lower processing efficiency in the IED (chapter 2) set shifting task and dual task performance (chapter 3-6) compared with the low neurotics. In particular, in the dual tasks, the high neurotics had lower processing efficiency as the demand increased on the CES functions. This was always evident in their slower response times and usually the execution of a higher number of errors. However, the high and low neurotics did not differ in the single tasks (in dual task studies), SWM task and SOC tasks. In addition, the neuroticism related group differences were not influenced by the task difficulty in terms of stimuli degradation in the dual task. These results were evident from the similar response times and error rates.

It should be noted that in the single tasks (chapter 3-5) and SOC task (chapter 2) performance, high and low neurotics may use different speed accuracy criterion. Therefore, despite the non-significant results, numerically, sometimes the high neurotics seem to have lower accuracy or faster response times. For example, the high neurotics, numerically, had faster RTs and lower accuracy than the low neurotics in the SOC task performance in chapter 2. Also, in long SOA dual tasks, high neurotics were had slower RTs and numerically had higher accuracy than low neurotics. Such results are at least partially due to a different speed accuracy strategy (Flehmig et al., 2010). However, in chapter 3, because the task demand was considerably higher on the CES functions in short SOA dual tasks, the high neurotics were slower and had a higher number of errors so the effect of neuroticism clearly cannot be explained by the groups using different speed accuracy strategies. Easterbrook (1959) suggests that if a task is not demanding enough, high neurotics may narrow their attention either to response times or accuracy. Therefore, they may be observed to have either faster response times or higher accuracy (Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003) but they cannot become better in terms of both response times and accuracy, which indicates higher processing efficiency (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; Flehmig et al., 2010; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003).

Taken together, the results indicate that the high neurotics had lower processing efficiency than low neurotics in the IED set shifting task and dual tasks. However, neuroticism related group differences did not influence certain standard WM tasks, the SWM and SOC tasks. In addition, neuroticism related group differences did not influence single task processing and task difficulty by stimuli degradation in the dual task. The results indicate that the detrimental effect of neuroticism may impair only certain tasks and not all cognitive tasks (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). In the next sections, I discuss the reason why a high level of neuroticism impairs only certain tasks.

# 7.3.1 Does the effect of neuroticism cause lower processing efficiency in all difficult cognitive tasks?

The arousal based theory of Eysenck (1967) suggests that high neurotics perform worse than low neurotics in difficult tasks whereas they perform similarly on easy tasks because task difficulty causes worry related increased arousal level, which impairs task processing. However, what is meant by term 'difficult task' is not clearly explained. The question of interest then is whether the detrimental effect of neuroticism impairs performance in all difficult tasks? For example, a cognitive task could be difficult due to increasing the demand in the VSSP i.e. a SWM task or it could be difficult at a perceptual level in dual task performance i.e. due to stimuli degradation.

In contrast, attentional control theory (ACT) (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007), which evolved from PET (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992), proposes detailed assumptions about task impairment due to worry related increased arousal. It has been suggested that the detrimental effect of neuroticism impairs the three CES functions, i.e. switching, inhibition and updating, during demanding task processing whereas it does not have a significant influence on the storage systems of WM (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). The reason for that is that a worry related increased arousal level causes task irrelevant activities (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Therefore, high neurotics must deal with task related activities as well as task irrelevant activities (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Because the three CES functions require the highest sustained attention for efficient task processing, increasing task irrelevant activities limits the investment of efficient mental effort in these functions (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). However, empirical studies testing this assumption are sparse in relation to showing the effect of neuroticism on cognitive processing. In these studies, the effect of neuroticism is usually tested in dual tasks, which are a combination of two standard WM tasks e.g. (Corr, 2003; Poposki et al., 2009; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003). These studies

usually conclude that high neuroticism impairs WM demand (Poposki et al., 2009; Studer-Luethi et al., 2012) and do not provide specific knowledge about the effect of neuroticism on the switching, inhibition and updating functions. It was therefore important to conduct a study that circumvents such arguments and resolves this issue. Therefore, some of results in chapter 2 (i.e. SWM), and chapter 5 (stimuli degradation in dual task) shed light on this issue.

In chapter 2, I found that high neurotics had greater task impairment in a demanding task that required extensive use of the switching and inhibition functions, i.e. WSCT. However, the results showed that the high and low neurotics did not differ in any conditions of the SWM tasks that demanded the VSSP. The results seem to be in line with ACT, which proposes that the detrimental effect of neuroticism does not influence the VSSP, because neutral visuospatial representations are not involved in inner words activities which associate with worry (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011).

Furthermore, in the dual task chapters (3-6), I found that generally the high neurotics had higher dual task costs (i.e. slower responses and lower accuracy) than the low neurotics, which indicates lower processing efficiency as the demand increases on the CES functions. Also, in chapter 5, a part of the study consisted of two versions of three choice dual tasks. In one dual task the stimuli degraded and in the other the identical stimuli were non-degraded. These two versions of the dual tasks were identical so that the demands on the CES functions were not varied because it has been found that stimuli degradation is not associated with WM demand (Barch et al., 1997). The results showed that both the high and low neurotics had higher dual task costs and PRP effect in the degraded version compared with the nondegraded version of the dual task. That indicates that the degraded task was more difficult than the non-degraded task. However, the differences in the DT-costs between the high and low neurotics were similar in the degraded and non-degraded dual tasks. If the task difficulty causes a higher impairment in high neurotics compared to low neurotics, the cost differences between the groups will be larger in a dual task with degraded stimuli. It seems that neuroticism related group differences do not influence this type of task difficulty. The potential reason for that is, in dual task studies two tasks can be handled in parallel during perceptual and motor stages, whereas in response selection stage each task can be handled one by one (Marois & Ivanoff, 2005; Pashler, 1994a; Sigman & Dehaene, 2005). Therefore, because the perceptual stage is not associated with the executive functions (Dux et al., 2006),

high neuroticism does not impair task processing, even if the task demand is increased at the perceptual stage. Therefore, the result seems to be in line with the assumption of ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) again. However, in this assumption, task impairment is assessed in the scope of WM by suggesting that neuroticism impairs the CES functions but not the storage systems (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Previously, I highlighted that task difficulty by degrading stimuli is disassociated from WM demand (Barch et al., 1997). Therefore, this is a new contribution that shows that task difficulty, which is disassociated from WM demand, may not be associated with the effect of neuroticism in task processing.

In this thesis, a few tasks such as the SOC tasks and long SOA tasks with 2 S-R loads might not have been sufficiently difficult in terms of the CES demand. The demand on the CES functions is important because the related arousal level increases easily in high neurotics (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). For example, the SOC (chapter 2) task and two choice dual tasks with a long SOA (chapter 3-5) are both associated with the CES functions. However they may not have been demanding enough to trigger an arousal level that exceeded the activation threshold. My interpretation regarding the performance of these tasks is that the task demand was not high enough. For example, I mentioned that the SOC task is associated with inhibition functions under the two and three moves conditions (Miyake et al., 2000; Ozonoff et al., 2004). However when task demand increases to the four and five moves conditions, it is associated with the planning function (Ozonoff et al., 2004). Consequently, because the demand on the inhibition function remained lower, the arousal level did not exceed the activation threshold in the high neurotics and thus the high and low neurotics did not differ in terms of task performance. Similarly, in the two choice dual tasks with a long SOA, the task demand on the CES functions was lowered by 1000 ms SOA (Luria & Meiran, 2005). Therefore, the high and low neurotics showed little difference in terms of the task processing. This interpretation fits well with the theoretical accounts, because the arousal based theory of neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967) and ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) states that a cognitive task should be optimally demanding to increase the worry related arousal level in high neurotics and therefore impair task processing (Corr, 2003; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). This is quite important because a task may be associated with the CES functions but if it is not demanding enough to increase the arousal level, the task processing may not be impaired (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007).

Taken together, I propose that the effect of neuroticism does not impair task processing in all difficult tasks. Therefore, the arousal based theory of neuroticism could be valid for certain tasks associated with the CES functions. The results seem to be consistent with ACT because the high neurotics had lower processing efficiency than the low neurotics in demanding tasks that required extensive use of the CES functions. However, when the task was simple and not associated with the three CES functions i.e. it was associated with the storage systems or another CES function, the high and low neurotics often perform similarly (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Consequently, these findings corroborate my hypotheses, which indicate that high neurotics perform considerably worse than low neurotics in demanding tasks associated with the switching, inhibition and updating functions whereas they perform similarly on tasks dissociated from the CES demand (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007).

To conclude the discussion in section 7.3, two important factors are necessary to reveal the detrimental effect of neuroticism. First, the task should be associated with the switching, inhibition and updating functions (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Second, the demand should be high enough to increase the worry related arousal level and therefore cause higher task irrelevant activities and task impairment (H. J. Eysenck, 1967). In the next section, I discuss the effect of neuroticism on the CES function across standard WM tasks and dual task performance in high and low neurotics.

#### 7.4 Effect of high neuroticism level on CES functions

Collectively, the results reported in this thesis make several novel and important contributions that advance our understanding of the effect of neuroticism on the CES functions during cognitive task processing. Probably, the most novel results were provided by the dual task studies. Because I have already discussed chapter 2 in the previous section, I will only discuss the implications briefly that are related to this chapter, which leads me to the design of the PRP dual task studies.

#### 7.4.1 Effect of neuroticism on standard WM tasks performance

The main implication of chapter 2 is that a high level of neuroticism may impair the CES functions whereas it seems to have no influence on the VSSP demand. Moreover, even if a task is associated with one of the three CES functions, high neuroticism may not impair task processing because the task may not be demanding enough in terms of the three main functions. These findings provided a guide for the next experimental paradigms. To my

knowledge, this is the first study conducted with single standard WM tasks to specifically investigate the effect of neuroticism level on the CES functions.

These findings can act as a guide for possible future studies. Thus as ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) suggests, the experimental design for future studies should involve the switching, inhibition and updating functions. In addition, it has been suggested that when a task requires divided attention this will lead to greater demand on these functions (Baddeley, 1996a; Della Sala et al., 1995) and thus high neurotics will show impaired task processing compared to low neurotics. Taken together, these descriptions in terms of task processing that involves the switching, inhibition and updating functions and updating functions of the CES and requires divided attention fit well with the PRP dual task paradigm (Szameitat et al., 2016).

In the next section, I discuss the findings of the dual task experiments. Because I manipulated the task demand on the CES functions using task coordination and task set maintenance, I discuss this in two subsections: dual task coordination and dual task set maintenance.

#### 7.4.2 Effect of neuroticism on dual task performance

Eysenck et al. (2007) indicate that there is a paucity of dual task studies relating the effect of neuroticism to CES functions and that this limitation is preventing us from making precise predictions about the detrimental effect of neuroticism on dual task processing. Therefore, it has been suggested that dual task studies of extremely important to investigate the effect of neuroticism on cognitive processing (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). The reason for that is that dual task paradigms may provide new insights into where and how the impairments occur during demanding task processing in high neurotics (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). The current findings seem to corroborate this theory through the employment of a PRP dual task paradigm in relation to the effect of neuroticism on the switching, inhibition and updating functions.

PRP dual tasks can be designed to manipulate task order coordination (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2002) and task set maintenance (Stelzel et al., 2008b), and thus the strength of the demand can be manipulated differently on the CES functions (Stelzel et al., 2008b; Szameitat et al., 2002). These advantages allowed for testing my predictions about the effect of neuroticism on the switching, inhibition and updating functions during task processing in depth.

#### 7.4.2.1 Effect of neuroticism in dual task coordination

As I mentioned in the literature review chapter, task order coordination is one of the most prominent mechanisms that distinguishes the processing of dual tasks from single tasks (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Stelzel et al., 2008b). Thus, it is needed when two tasks compete in the capacity limited stage called bottleneck processing (Jiang, 2004; Marois & Ivanoff, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). In short SOA tasks and in random order dual tasks, task competition increases and a greater dual task cost is revealed (De Jong, 1995b; Jiang, 2004; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Mayer, 1977; Pashler, 1994a). In such situations, participants require better switching, inhibition and updating functions to successfully achieve the task processing (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). Based on this information, to explore the effect of neuroticism on switching, inhibition and updating, the first dual task experiment (chapter 3) involved task order coordination.

First, I increased the task demand from a single task to a dual task because the single task did not require much in terms of the CES functions and the dual task required extensive use of the CES functions (De Jong, 1995b; Szameitat et al., 2016). For example, the participants were required to switch the focus of the bottleneck from the first task to the second task (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). Similarly, they required the inhibition function to avoid the second task until the first task had been processed in the bottleneck (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). Also, the task processing involved the updating function because they needed to maintain task related orders and other stimuli content (Cowan, 1999; Miller, 2000; Stelzel et al., 2008b). Based on this argument, the results show that the high neurotics had a higher impairment in the dual task processing compared to the single task than the low neurotics. I argue the potential reason for this is that high-level neuroticism may impair the CES functions in bottleneck processing because when performing two tasks simultaneously, the two tasks can only be processed one at a time in the response selection stage (Dux et al., 2006; Marois & Ivanoff, 2005; Sigman & Dehaene, 2005).

It has been suggested that the insertion of additional stimuli may increase the demand on the storage systems of WM (Szameitat et al., 2002). Although I confirmed that a high neuroticism level is not associated with demand on the VSSP, ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) proposes that demand in the phonological loop may partly impair task processing

because this storage system may be associated with inner words, which are related to worry. Therefore, one way to see the direct effect of neuroticism on the CES functions is by increasing the task demand without the insertion of additional stimuli. Based on this argument, increasing the task demand through SOA manipulation is one way to increase the demand on the CES functions (Luria & Meiran, 2005). It has been suggested that a greater dual task cost can be observed by setting the SOA to 0 whereas increasing the SOA to 1000 ms will reduce the dual task cost to the minimum level in normal healthy people (Logan & Gordon, 2001; Pashler, 1994a). In other words, processing of short SOA involves a higher demand on the switching, inhibition and updating functions (Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005). In this situation, the task processing is prolonged mainly due to the existence of the bottleneck (i.e. increased RT2 at short SOA, which refers to the second task waiting at the bottleneck stage) (Pashler, 1993; Pashler et al., 2001). In addition, in short SOA task processing, there is no time for the preparation process, which leads to considerable demand on the CES functions (De Jong, 1993; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). However, in long SOA tasks, there is more time so the participants typically get the second stimulus only after they have responded to the first stimulus. Thus, the demand on the bottleneck is considerably reduced (De Jong, 1993; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016). In this context, there is higher demand on the CES functions (switching, inhibition) in the response selection during short SOA tasks than long SOA tasks (De Jong, 1993; Luria & Meiran, 2005; Szameitat et al., 2016).

With respect to neuroticism related group differences, the results showed that the high neurotics had higher dual task RTs costs in the short SOA task compared to the long SOA task, as is evident from the higher dual task combination costs and PRP effect. However, the results regarding the error rates in the high and low neurotics were comparable and did not differ significantly. This situation still indicates that the high neurotics had lower processing efficiency than the low neurotics because in terms of the response times the high neurotics were considerably slower whereas in terms of the error rates the high neurotics had very slightly lower error rates, which was not significant at all (Flehmig et al., 2010). It has been suggested in dual tasks that the task order be prepared automatically (De Jong, 1993; De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003). This automaticity may lead to some benefits regarding task performance in fixed dual task, the order of the tasks does not change; when the first task comes, the second task is prepared automatically (e.g. DT-AV, then "A" is prepared

for the next trial) (De Jong, 1993; De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003). Based on this argument, high neurotics may narrow their attention to task accuracy (Easterbrook, 1959; Flehmig et al., 2010; Szymura & Wodniecka, 2003) and therefore they may get more benefit from that automaticity in dual task processing. However, because of the detrimental effect of neuroticism, which considerably impairs task processing, they cannot compensate for the higher impairment due to task irrelevant activities (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011).

Moreover, to maximize the demand on the three CES functions, I created a random dual task to be performed by the high and low neurotics. The distinctive feature of this condition was that it was another way to increase the demand on the CES functions without the insertion of another stimulus (De Jong, 1995b; Szameitat et al., 2002) and it was rather more demanding than the fixed dual task (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2005). While in the fixed dual task conditions the participants performed the component tasks in a constant order (e.g., A-V, A-V, A-V, etc.), in the random dual task the participants had to perform the tasks in a randomly changing order (e.g. A-V, V-A, V-A, A-V, etc.) (De Jong, 1995b; Szameitat et al., 2002). Therefore, in this condition, the participants could not get any benefit from the task being set automatically (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2005). In detail, in the random task, sometimes the task order was repeated and sometimes it was switched (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2005). It has been suggested that the bottleneck mechanism is automatically set, i.e. prepared, for the task that came first in the last trial (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005). Therefore, when the task order is altered in the present trial, a wrong task will be prepared in the bottleneck and this must be altered again to set the correct task (De Jong, 1993; De Jong, 1995b). For example, in the switching trials, the stimuli presentation was visual =>auditory and then auditory=>visual. In this case, when the trial was switched, the visual condition would have been set in the bottleneck because the second task from the previous order was the visual task. Therefore, this had to be switched once more to set the auditory task (Luria & Meiran, 2005). This switching may involve inhibition of the task and an update of the S-R mapping (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003; Luria & Meiran, 2005). It has been noted that the highest demand is on the switching and inhibition functions rather than the updating function (De Jong, 1995b) because the number of stimuli and responses that involve the updating function is always identical as in the fixed dual tasks.

The results showed that the high neurotics had a considerably higher impairment than the low neurotics in the switching trials compared with the repeated trials both regarding the response times and the error rates. The results are quite important in that they show an effect of neuroticism mainly on the switching and inhibition functions. Because the task demand was quite high compared to the single tasks and fixed dual tasks, the worry related arousal level was considerably increased in the random dual task condition. Therefore, a lower processing efficiency was observed in the high neurotics compared with the low neurotics. The task was demanding for the low neurotics as well because they had a higher response time and lower accuracy compared to the repeated trials. However, the worry related arousal level may not have exceeded the activation threshold as in the high neurotics because low neurotics have a higher activation arousal threshold.

In addition to slower RTs, the high neurotics had a significantly higher number of errors compared with the low neurotics. These results support my interpretation regarding the comparable error rates in the fixed dual task in high and low neurotics (i.e. getting higher benefit from automaticity in the fixed dual task by narrowing attention to accuracy). In the switching trials, because the benefit of automaticity was removed, using a different speed accuracy criterion i.e. narrowing attention to either accuracy or speed, did not work and thus they made more errors as well.

So far, I have discussed how high level neuroticism impairs the switching, inhibition and updating functions either in IED set shifting or dual task processing. In particular, I have demonstrated that the high neurotics had a higher dual task cost than the low neurotics as the demand increased mainly on the switching and inhibition functions. The reason for that is that while the task demand increased progressively on the switching and inhibition functions due to the SOA and task order manipulations, the demand on the updating function remained constant i.e. they were always two 2-choice response tasks with the same stimuli. The findings are consistent with ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007), which predicts that high neurotics will have lower processing efficiency than low neurotics as the demand increases on the CES functions because the worry related arousal level causes task irrelevant activities and these in turn limit the investment of efficient mental effort in the task (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011).

However, these findings from the dual task need to be replicated by using non-emotional stimuli in a dual task (chapter 4). The reason for that is that in the dual task I used male and

female faces for the visual task and syllables for the auditory task. Although these stimuli were not selected intentionally to be emotional and they are actually rather neutral, they still may include some social components that may influence arousal level in high neurotics. It has been suggested that using emotional stimuli (i.e. happy or sad faces) may cause slower RTs due to attentional bias in high neurotics (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; MacLeod & Rutherford, 1992; Mogg et al., 1993). It has also been suggested that emotional stimuli such as negative faces may trigger worry that may in turn cause an increase in arousal level (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). In addition, it should be noted that according to Eysenck et al., (2007) main cause of task impairment due to emotional stimuli is selective attention toward negative stimuli in high neurotics. Because high neurotics cannot disengage from negative emotional stimuli, they had slower RTs in the related tasks (Canli et al., 2001; Chan et al., 2009). Therefore, to confirm that the results in the dual task are really due to a higher demand on the CES functions, which increases the worry related arousal level, I conducted a dual task study with non-emotional stimuli. The results were very similar to the previous dual task, which showed that the high neurotics had both higher dual tasks costs and PRP effect. Therefore, I interpret these findings as meaning that the higher task impairment in high neurotics is caused by higher task demand on the CES functions and it is not associated with any effect of potential emotional stimuli (M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011).

So far, in the current section, I have discussed the effect of neuroticism on the dual task coordination. To reinforce these findings, in chapter 5, I asked whether the demand on the CES functions is specific to task coordination which generally higher proportion of the task demand was associated with switching and inhibition functions and the demand on updating relatively remained constant. What if I increased the task demand on the three CES functions in a different way such as by task set maintenance? In the next section, I discuss the effect of neuroticism on the CES functions by using a different manipulation called dual task set maintenance.

#### 7.4.2.2 Effect of neuroticism on task set maintenance

The manipulation in the dual task coordination showed that high neurotics seem to suffer due to demand mainly on the switching and inhibition functions. However, another question of interest is whether, if we place demand on the central executive system by manipulation using task set maintenance, likewise, does this lead to a much higher dual task cost in high neurotics? To test the effect of neuroticism on task set maintenance, I increased the S-R mapping in the dual tasks from two to three and four choices. The S-R mapping was increased only in the visual tasks because increasing the S-R mapping in an auditory task (i.e. phonological loop) may influence task processing (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). In this section, increasing the demand by S-R mapping manipulation is named the S-R load. Also, in this study, the dual tasks were presented with two SOA (short and long SOA) as before. Below, as a reminder, first I give a brief summary of the results and then I discuss the effect of the S-R load in high and low neurotics in the long and short SOA tasks respectively.

The results confirmed the previous findings (chapters 3 and 4) by showing that the high neurotics had a higher dual task cost than the low neurotics for all of the numbers of the S-R mappings (S-R load). In addition, the results show a higher difference in the DT-costs between the high and low neurotics as the demand increases due to the S-R load (from 2 to 3 to 4) in the long SOA tasks. In detail, the difference in the DT-costs between the high and low neurotics becomes larger as the demand increases in the long SOA task. Although the high neurotics were still considerably slower than the low neurotics in the short SOA tasks, the difference in the DT-costs between the high and low neurotics remained similar as the demand increased due to S-R load manipulation regarding the short SOA and the PRP effect.

It has been suggested that task set maintenance via manipulation of the S-R load is associated with the response selection stage, which is the center of decisional processes related to the executive functions (Allain et al., 2004; Bunge et al., 2000; Hegarty et al., 2000; Stelzel et al., 2008b; Szmalec et al., 2005). Therefore, increasing the S-R load is associated with the central executive system (Szmalec et al., 2005) and causes a higher dual task cost during the task processing such as manipulation in the task order coordination (Stelzel et al., 2008b). However, the strength of the demand on the three CES functions changes in the S-R load manipulation compared to manipulation in the task order coordination (Stelzel et al., 2008b). Previously, I indicated that in a random task order, the demand is associated more with the switching and inhibition functions and less with the updating in the bottleneck. However, in task set maintenance (increasing S-R load) a higher proportion of the demand is placed on the updating function as well (Allain et al., 2004; Stelzel et al., 2008a) in addition to the demand on the switching and inhibition functions (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003). The reason for that is that the two choice dual task processing is associated with the inhibition, switching and updating functions (De Jong, 1995b; Luria & Meiran, 2003). Thus,

if the task demand is increased in terms of the S-R load from two to three and four choice dual tasks, the task demand on the updating function considerably increases because more stimuli and response sets should be updated as the load increases (Stelzel et al., 2008b). Likewise, this manipulation naturally places a demand on the switching and inhibition functions as well because a higher number of stimuli and response sets must be shifted and inhibited in the response selection stage when needed during the dual task processing (Szmalec et al., 2005).

Based on the argument above, both the high and low neurotics showed increased performance decrements (slower RTs and lower accuracy) as the S-R load increased. However these decrements were more pronounced in the high neurotics as the S-R load increased in the long SOA tasks. Therefore, the difference in the DT-costs between the high and low neurotics became larger with a higher S-R load because high level neuroticism impairs the three CES functions during task processing. Increasing demand on the updating function, like the demand on the switching and inhibition functions, causes a higher impairment in high neurotics compared to low neurotics (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011)

One reason for this observation in long SOA tasks with an increasing S-R load might be that in this dual task condition, compared to the short SOA, there is some time for preparation to implement the switching, inhibition and updating functions in the second task (De Jong, 1993; Herath et al., 2001; Luria & Meiran, 2005). However, it seems that the increasing S-R load is quite demanding for high neurotics even with 1000ms SOA. Therefore, when the S-R load is increased, 1000 ms SOA might not be a sufficiently enough time to deal with task irrelevant activities for high neurotics. Because the arousal activation threshold is lower in high neurotics compared to low neurotics, a worry related increased arousal level leads to higher task irrelevant activities, which then in turn limit the cognitive resources invested in high neurotics (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Because the arousal level activation threshold is higher in low neurotics (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967), they might not have such increased task irrelevant activities (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) so they can benefit from the long SOA in implementing the three CES functions more than high neurotics. Consequently, the high neurotics had lower processing efficiency as the S-R load increased compared with the low neurotics in the long SOA tasks (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007).

The results regarding the short SOA tasks demonstrated that the high neurotics had higher dual task costs than the low neurotics in all of the S-R loads. For the short SOA, the effect of the S-R load manipulation on the dual-task cost was the same for the high and low neurotics. This means that although the high neurotics always had higher DT costs than the low neurotics, the difference in the DT-costs between the high and low neurotics always remained similar as the S-R load increased. The potential reason for this discrepancy is that the task may have been very demanding for both the high and low neurotics (H. J. Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967) because the tasks demand increased in two ways, S-R load manipulation and SOA manipulation. Therefore, the limited resources of the cognitive system were easily impoverished in both groups (Bishop, 2009) and thus the differences between the high and low neurotics regarding the dual task costs remained constant (H. J. Eysenck, 1967).

These results confirm ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) in terms of the detrimental effect of neuroticism impairing the CES functions. In particular, I confirmed that a higher proportion of demand on the updating function impairs task processing in high neurotics (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). However, ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) does not assess the extent to which high neurotics have a higher impairment than low neurotics. The results showed that neuroticism related group differences are to a certain extent influenced by increasing demand on the CES functions. More specifically, when the task became very difficult regarding the demand on the CES functions, the S-R load manipulation affected both groups in the same way (at short SOA). The potential reason for that is limited capacity in bottleneck processing (Marois & Ivanoff, 2005; Sigman & Dehaene, 2005). If a task is highly demanding and exceeds the capacity, the difference between the groups remains constant because the worry related increased arousal level exceeds the activation threshold in both groups (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967).

Regarding the interaction between the increasing arousal level and performance, the results fit well with the U-shaped function, i.e. performance is optimal at an intermediate level of arousal and deteriorates if arousal becomes too high or too low (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). High neuroticism results in a lower arousal activation threshold (Eysenck, 1967), so the inverted U-shaped function is skewed to the left, i.e. in the direction of lower arousal. Translating this into the current results, in the long SOA tasks, the high

neurotics became considerably slower than the low neurotics as the demand increased via S-R load manipulation because the tasks were difficult for the high neurotics and therefore their arousal level increased to exceed the activation threshold, which resulted in deteriorated performance. For the low neurotics, the task might not have been as difficult as it was for the high neurotics. Their arousal level may have remained below the activation threshold because the low neurotics have a higher activation threshold for arousal (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Finally, the differences between the high and low neurotics regarding the dual task cost and PRP effects remained constant across all of the short SOA tasks. The reason for that is that both the high and low neurotics felt that the task was extremely difficult so the arousal level exceed their activation threshold in both groups (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967). Therefore, in both high and low neurotics, a worry related increased arousal level limits investing efficient mental effort into a task (Bishop, 2007; Bishop, 2009).

In the next section, I discuss the scores for perceived stress and difficulty level in the high and low neurotics in terms of the task difficulty across the dual tasks in chapter 5. I discuss whether any increase in task demand with increased perceptual difficulty affected the high and low neurotics differently, or whether this was specific to increased demand on the CES functions. The discussion is based on the perceived stress and difficulty scores in the high and low neurotics as an indication of higher arousal in dual task performance (chapter 5) (H. J. Eysenck, 1967).

#### 7.4.3 Does increased arousal level always impair demanding task processing?

The neuroticism related theories (ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007), PET (M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992), arousal based theory of neuroticism (H. J. Eysenck, 1967) are all agreed that the main cause of task impairment is a worry related increased arousal level. It has been suggested that as an indication of a higher level arousal, high neurotics often score higher on stress and difficulty in subjective measures (e.g. questions that measure perceived stress level and difficulty) compared with low neurotics (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). Empirical studies have confirmed this prediction by showing that high neurotics report higher perceived stress and difficulty in subjective measures (Poposki et al., 2009). However, the findings of this report did not provide information about whether the high neurotics reported a higher perceived stress and other the high neurotics reported a higher perceived stress and other the high neurotics reported a higher perceived stress and other the high neurotics reported a higher perceived stress and other the high neurotics reported a higher perceived stress and other the high neurotics reported a higher perceived stress and difficulty level in relation to the demand on the CES functions and other

task difficulty disassociated from the CES. To rectify this issue, in chapter 5, after the experiment had been completed, the participants completed a questionnaire that asked them how stressful and difficult they felt each task had been. The results showed that the high and low neurotics experienced similar stress and difficulty in the single task processing. Furthermore, as soon as the task demand increased via S-R load manipulation or stimuli degradation, the high neurotics perceived higher stress and difficulty compared to the low neurotics. These results confirm my hypothesis regarding perceived stress and difficulty in high neurotics compared with low neurotics during task performance.

In the single tasks, the perceived stress level and task performance differences between the groups were similar because the task was easy so the arousal level did not increase in the high neurotics or the low neurotics. Combining these two findings, the results fit well with the neuroticism related theories (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). They all predict that if a single task is easy (H. J. Eysenck, 1967) or does not require much in the way of the CES functions (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007), the arousal level does not increase in either groups so the task performance is similar in both groups (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007).

Moreover, the perceived stress and difficulty differences between the high and low neurotics became larger as the demand increased due to the S-R load manipulation. This was similar to the graph in chapter 5 (figure 5.5), which shows the cost differences between the high and low neurotics in the long SOA tasks. In other words, the differences between the groups regarding perceived stress level and dual task cost became larger in parallel as the task demand increased via the S-R load manipulation. These results corroborate the hypothesis that suggests that a difficulty increase in the CES functions causes a worry related arousal level increase (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007).

Interestingly, this (i.e. the argument in the above paragraph) was not the case regarding increasing the task difficulty by stimuli degradation. In detail, the high neurotics perceived considerably higher stress and difficulty than the low neurotics as the task demand increased from a non-degraded dual task to a degraded one. Despite this situation, regarding task performance, the dual task cost differences between the high and low neurotics did not differ. It should be noted that the dual tasks were identical so the tasks were equally demand regarding the CES functions except for the stimuli degradation in the difficult task, which

was disassociated from WM demand (Barch et al., 1997). In this case, because the high neurotics might have had a higher arousal level as the demand increased (H. J. Eysenck & Eysenck, 1986; H. J. Eysenck, 1967), in the dual task with degraded stimuli the cost differences would have been larger than the dual task with non-degraded stimuli. However, the dual task cost differences between the high and low neurotics remained similar in both dual tasks. Thus, a higher arousal level due to stimuli degradation did not influence the neuroticism related group differences by causing an additional impairment in the CES functions in the dual task with degraded stimuli.

According to Eysenck et al., (2007) stressful and difficult conditions that are not threat related stimuli (e.g. negative emotional images or videos) may not lead to task irrelevant activities because these conditions may not associate with worry related increased arousal. Although it has been suggested that it is difficult to interpret such a statement without sufficient empirical data (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007), it has been indicated in an unpublished study by Eysenck and Santos (2006) that despite higher perceived difficulty scores in high neurotics, high and low neurotics do not differ clearly in stressful conditions compared with non-stressful conditions that are not associated with the WM demand and emotionality in dual task. In detail, according to ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007), there are two ways in which higher task impairment is caused in high neurotics: through increasing the CES demand and through the insertion of an emotional stimulus into the tasks that are associated with the CES functions. The reason why negative emotional stimuli causes higher task impairment in high neurotics compared with low neurotics is because selective attention toward negative emotional stimuli associates with worry which lead disengagement from the stimuli in high neurotics (Chan et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; Haas et al., 2007). Therefore high neurotics become slower during task processing (Canli et al., 2001; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). However, the stimuli degradation in our dual task was not associated with either CES demand or emotional stimuli. Therefore, one possible reason for this result might be that the degraded stimuli were neutral and did not contain any emotional valence so this type of perceptual difficulty was not associated with the worry related arousal level that causes task irrelevant activities. In addition, one study conducted a series of experiments to shed light on whether the detrimental effect of neuroticism impairs only CES functions when task difficulty increases in regard to either the CES or VSSP (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2005). It has been reported that if one of the tasks involves the central executive system (i.e. dual task A: Corsi block and WCST) in dual task performance, high neurotics show higher

task impairment compared with when the dual task consists of two tasks that are associated with the slave systems (i.e. dual task B: corsi block and articulatory suppression) during dual task processing (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2005). Also, in both dual tasks A and B, the task difficulty is increased in Corsi block task. It has been found high and low neurotics do not differ as the load increase when demand increase in VSSP. However, when task difficulty increase in WCST (CES demand), high and low neurotics considerably differ as the difficulty increase. It should be noted that performing two tasks in a rapid succession is known to be associated with CES functions (Baddeley et al., 2011; Baddeley, 1996a; Della Sala et al., 1995). Based on this view, the results indicates when task demand increase out of the CES in the dual tasks, the cost differences between high and low neurotics do not become larger (no significant interaction effects). Although in this study (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2005), perceived stress and difficulty scores has not been investigated, in high and low neurotics, it seems to be in support of the current results in dual task with degraded stimuli. Consequently, it seems the effect of increasing perceptual task demand in dual tasks (which is not associates with CES) is not affected by neuroticism.

The results also fit well with the PRP dual task paradigm. It has been suggested that two tasks can be processed in parallel in the perceptual stage during dual task processing. Because degraded stimuli are associated with the perceptual stage, despite the higher difficulty caused by degradation, the cost difference in high and low neurotics does not increase compared to non-degraded DT tasks.

Taken together, the high neurotics reported higher perceived stress and difficulty compared with the low neurotics as the task demand was increased either by S-R loading manipulation or stimuli degradation. The increased perceived stress and difficulty and dual task performance differences between the high and low neurotics were in parallel. In other words, as the demand increased the dual task cost and perceived stress levels increased in high neurotics compared with low neurotics in the S-R loading manipulation. The results confirm neuroticism related theories in so much as when arousal level increases, task impairment increases (H. J. Eysenck, 1967; M. W. Eysenck & Calvo, 1992; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007). However, although high neurotics have a higher arousal level, as the demand increased from a dual task with non-degraded stimuli to a dual task with degraded stimuli, the cost differences between the high and low neurotics did not differ as the difficulty increased via stimuli degradation. This may indicate that the arousal level is specifically caused by demand on the switching, inhibition and updating functions and it may impair these CES functions.

Therefore, I conclude that a worry related increased arousal level, as a manifestation of the detrimental effect of neuroticism, may be associated neither with the storage systems nor other types of task difficulty that are disassociated from the CES demand. It may be mainly associated with demand in the central executive system and bottleneck processing that involves the switching, inhibition and updating functions.

# 7.5 Neuroimaging findings

Part of the original research aim was to examine functional neuroanatomical correlates of neuroticism during dual task processing. This study has made a considerable contribution to the current literature for two reasons. One is that research about functional neuroanatomical correlates of neuroticism regarding cognitive processing is very limited. Recently, one study has shown lower activation in the fronto-parietal executive control network in high neurotics compared to low neurotics during N-back task processing (Dima et al., 2015). Although the study is informative, it has been criticized with regard to the selection of the participants, i.e. instead of comparing high and low neurotics, the authors compared neurotics and consciousness (see section 1.2.2) (Bianchi & Laurent, 2016). The second reason why the current study makes a valuable contribution is that acquiring this data (i.e. current study) allows for drawing a precise conclusion in terms of which brain areas show specific sensitivity to the detrimental effect of neuroticism that impairs the CES functions during task processing. Taken together, the findings in this research provide new insights into the cognitive mechanism in relation to neuroticism related group differences during cognitive task processing.

The results show that the high neurotics had higher dual task costs and PRP effects and at the same time lower dual task specific activations such as in the lateral (IFG, SFG, MFG) and medial (ACC, medSFG) prefrontal cortices. Previously, I highlighted that these anatomical areas are associated with dual task performance (Sigman & Dehaene, 2005; Stelzel et al., 2008b; Szameitat et al., 2002; Szameitat et al., 2016). More specifically, it has been suggested that activation in these areas is related to the switching, inhibition and updating functions for resolving interference by maintaining and coordinating the processing of the tasks at the stage of a processing bottleneck (Szameitat et al., 2002; Szameitat et al., 2002; Szameitat et al., 2002; Szameitat et al., 2002; Szameitat et al., 2003; Szameitat et al., 1999; Levy & Wagner, 2011; Schubert & Szameitat, 2003; Szameitat et al., 2006; Szameitat et al., 2002; Szameitat et al., 2016). MFG is activated to

switch the focus of the bottleneck from one task to another one (Brass et al., 2005; Brass & von Cramon, 2002; Dove et al., 2000; Sohn et al., 2000). ACC activations have been shown during the updating of task sets and contexts and during error execution in task processing (Dosenbach et al., 2006, 2008; Fleck, Daselaar, Dobbins, & Cabeza, 2006; MacDonald, Cohen, Stenger, & Carter, 2000; Rowe, Hughes, Eckstein, & Owen, 2008).

Lower activity in these areas is suggested to indicate less efficient mental processing, which consequently means that behavioural performance suffers (Bishop, 2009; Dima et al., 2015). This interpretation is consistent with my behavioural findings (chapter 3-5). I have shown that high level neuroticism impairs performance in demanding tasks that are strongly associated with the CES functions. However, it does not impair task processing when the demand is increased in other ways such as in the VSSP or in the perceptual stage of a dual task. Therefore, the cause of task impairment seems to be due to demand on the CES functions. Based on this information, decreased activations in the reported areas in high neurotics seem to be associated with impairment in the switching, inhibition and updating functions.

ACT (M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007) agrees with the argument that neuroticism is associated with a broad impairment of the switching, inhibition and updating functions. Originally, ACT suggested evidence of a higher impairment on these CES functions, and that greater activation would be observed in cognitive control regions in high neurotics compared with low neurotics. However, following a study by Bishop, (2009) showing that a worry related increased arousal level may cause lower activations in the cognitive control regions, a recent theoretical paper on ACT (M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011) has revised the prediction. Accordingly, ACT, suggested that the detrimental effect of neuroticism may lead to decreased activation in the cognitive control regions, if high neurotics cannot invest efficient mental effort into the task (M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). Translating this into the current findings, high neurotics were observed to have decreased activations in the dual task specific regions while they had a higher behavioural dual task cost and PRP effect in the dual task performance, which required extensive use of the switching, inhibition and updating functions. The reason for that may be that the worry related increased arousal level causes greater task irrelevant activities that in turn overlap with task related activities and limit the investment of efficient mental effort in the CES functions (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011). This situation seems to impoverish the prefrontal control of attention (Bishop, 2009; Dima et al., 2015) in dual task specific areas.

In line with the above paragraph, DMC theory (Braver, 2012; Burgess & Braver, 2008) suggests that lower activity in these areas indicates less efficient mental processing, so that consequently behavioural performance suffers. In detail, in high neurotics, a worry related increased arousal level causes higher task irrelevant activities (Braver, 2012; Burgess & Braver, 2008; Sarason et al., 1990). In such situations, a reactive control mechanism, which is associated with task irrelevant activities, becomes more dominant (Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Burgess & Braver, 2008). Because using this mechanism often suppresses the cognitive control regions (Bishop, 2007; Bishop, 2009; Braver, 2012), it causes lower activations in the cognitive control regions by limiting the recruitment of efficient cognitive resources (Bishop, 2009; Braver et al., 2007; Braver, 2012; Burgess & Braver, 2008).

To my knowledge this is the first study to investigate the effect of neuroticism on the functional neuroanatomical correlates of dual task processing. The findings seem to provide sufficient evidence about the effect of neuroticism on the CES functions regarding brain activations in the cognitive control regions. I suggest that lower activations in dual task specific areas are associated with an impairment of the CES functions during dual task processing. This is because decreased dual task specific activations were shown at the same time with higher behavioural costs in high neurotics compared with low neurotics. In support of that, my previous behavioural studies (chapter 1-5) showed a higher behavioural dual task cost and that high level neuroticism impairs only the three CES functions and does not influence the demand on the storage system i.e. VSSP and perceptual stages.

### 7.6 Conclusion and further directions

The purpose of this thesis was to provide a more accurate description of behavioural and neural correlates of neuroticism related group differences during dual task processing. Through the use of behavioural experiments, the detrimental effect of neuroticism was shown on the CES functions in both standard WM tasks and dual tasks. As evidence that the detrimental effect of neuroticism impairs the switching, inhibition and updating functions, the studies have shown that neuroticism related group differences become larger through increasing the demand either by task order coordination or task set maintenance. However, the neuroticism related group differences were not influenced when the task demand was increased in the storage systems i.e. the VSSP and perceptual stage of dual task processing.

The perceived higher stress and difficulty level in relation to the neuroticism related group differences refers to an increased arousal level, which caused a higher task impairment in the high neurotics, which might be specific to higher CES demand. Finally, through the use of an FMRI study, lower dual task specific activations and at the same time higher dual task costs were observed in the high neurotics compared to the low neurotics. This indicates that decreased activations in dual task specific areas may be associated with an impairment to the switching, inhibition and updating functions. The behavioural and neuroimaging results seem to be sufficient to suggest that high neuroticism impairs the three main CES functions (Derakshan & Eysenck, 2009; M. W. Eysenck et al., 2007; M. W. Eysenck & Derakshan, 2011), which are associated with inefficient recruitment of cognitive resources in dual task specific areas (Bishop, 2009; Dima et al., 2015).

Collectively, behavioural and neural correlates of neuroticism related differences are most likely to contribute to the cognitive impairments revealed due to the detrimental effect of neuroticism during demanding tasks associated with the main functions of the CES. Thus, the results presented here should be considered as a platform for future studies to build upon. The continued investigation in terms of neuroticism related differences during demanding cognitive tasks is fundamental to draw near to a more consolidated conceptualization of cognitive impairments in high neurotics. Hopefully, this will then allow for the development of treatments that can help to alleviate the deficits associated with neuroticism.

#### References

- Adcock, R. A., Constable, R. T., Gore, J. C., & Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (2000). Functional neuroanatomy of executive processes involved in dual-task performance. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 97(7), 3567-3572.
- Allain, S., Carbonnell, L., Burle, B., Hasbroucq, T., & Vidal, F. (2004). On-line executive control: An electromyographic study. *Psychophysiology*, *41*(1), 113-116.

Allport, G. W. (1961). Pattern and growth in personality.

- Aron, A. R., Robbins, T. W., & Poldrack, R. A. (2004). Inhibition and the right inferior frontal cortex. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 8(4), 170-177.
- Atkinson, R. C., & Shiffrin, R. M. (1968). Human memory: A proposed system and its control processes. *The Psychology of Learning and Motivation*, 2, 89-195.
- Avila-Pires, T. C. (1995). Lizards of brazilian amazonia (reptilia: Squamata). Zoologische Verhandelingen, 299(1), 1-706.
- Baddeley, A. (1986). Oxford psychology series, no. 11. working memory.

Baddeley, A. (1992). Working memory. Science, 255(5044), 556.

- Baddeley, A. (1996). Exploring the central executive. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology: Section A*, 49(1), 5-28.
- Baddeley, A. (1998). The central executive: A concept and some misconceptions. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *4*(05), 523-526.

- Baddeley, A. (1998). Random generation and the executive control of working memory. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology: Section A*, *51*(4), 819-852.
- Baddeley, A. (2000). The episodic buffer: A new component of working memory? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *4*(11), 417-423.
- Baddeley, A. (2003). Working memory: Looking back and looking forward. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 4(10), 829-839.
- Baddeley, A. (2007). Working memory, thought, and action OUP Oxford.
- Baddeley, A. (2012). Working memory: Theories, models, and controversies. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 63, 1-29.
- Baddeley, A. D. (1997). Human memory: Theory and practice Psychology Press.
- Baddeley, A. D., Allen, R. J., & Hitch, G. J. (2011). Binding in visual working memory: The role of the episodic buffer. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(6), 1393-1400.
- Baddeley, A. D., & Hitch, G. (1974). Working memory. The Psychology of Learning and Motivation, 8, 47-89.
- Baddeley, A. (1996). The fractionation of working memory. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(24), 13468-13472.
- Baddeley, A., & Della Sala, S. (1996). Working memory and executive control. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London.Series B, Biological Sciences, 351(1346), 1397-403; discussion 1403-4. doi:10.1098/rstb.1996.0123 [doi]

- Baddeley, A. D., Bressi, S., Della Sala, S., Logie, R., & Spinnler, H. (1991). The decline of working memory in alzheimer's disease. A longitudinal study. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, 114 (Pt 6)(Pt 6), 2521-2542.
- Badre, D., & Wagner, A. D. (2005). Frontal lobe mechanisms that resolve proactive interference. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991)*, 15(12), 2003-2012. doi:bhi075 [pii]
- Baeken, C., De Raedt, R., Ramsey, N., Van Schuerbeek, P., Hermes, D., Bossuyt, A., . . . Luypaert, R. (2009). Amygdala responses to positively and negatively valenced baby faces in healthy female volunteers: Influences of individual differences in harm avoidance. *Brain Research*, 1296, 94-103.
- Baker, S. C., Frith, C. D., Frackowiak, R. S., & Dolan, R. J. (1996). Active representation of shape and spatial location in man. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991)*, 6(4), 612-619.
- Barch, D. M., Braver, T. S., Nystrom, L. E., Forman, S. D., Noll, D. C., & Cohen, J. D. (1997). Dissociating working memory from task difficulty in human prefrontal cortex. *Neuropsychologia*, 35(10), 1373-1380.
- Barnhofer, T., & Chittka, T. (2010). Cognitive reactivity mediates the relationship between neuroticism and depression. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *48*(4), 275-281.
- Basten, U., Stelzel, C., & Fiebach, C. J. (2011). Trait anxiety modulates the neural efficiency of inhibitory control. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *23*(10), 3132-3145.

- Beck, A. T., Epstein, N., Brown, G., & Steer, R. A. (1988). An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: Psychometric properties. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 56(6), 893.
- Bertelson, P. (1967). The time course of preparation. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 19(3), 272-279.
- Bianchi, R., & Laurent, E. (2016). Depressive symptomatology should be systematically controlled for in neuroticism research. *Neuroimage*, 125, 1099-1100. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.07.088 [doi]
- Bishop, S. J. (2007). Neurocognitive mechanisms of anxiety: An integrative account. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 11(7), 307-316.
- Bishop, S. J. (2009). Trait anxiety and impoverished prefrontal control of attention. *Nature Neuroscience*, *12*(1), 92-98.
- Bishop, S., Duncan, J., Brett, M., & Lawrence, A. D. (2004). Prefrontal cortical function and anxiety: Controlling attention to threat-related stimuli. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7(2), 184-188.
- Bishop, S. J., Duncan, J., & Lawrence, A. D. (2004). State anxiety modulation of the amygdala response to unattended threat-related stimuli. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 24*(46), 10364-10368. doi:24/46/10364 [pii]
- Bjørnebekk, A., Fjell, A. M., Walhovd, K. B., Grydeland, H., Torgersen, S., & Westlye, L.T. (2013). Neuronal correlates of the five factor model (FFM) of human personality:Multimodal imaging in a large healthy sample. *Neuroimage*, 65, 194-208.

- Blankstein, K. R., Flett, G. L., Boase, P., & Toner, B. B. (1990). Thought listing and endorsement measures of self-referential thinking in test anxiety. *Anxiety Research*, 2(2), 103-112.
- Botvinick, M. M., Braver, T. S., Barch, D. M., Carter, C. S., & Cohen, J. D. (2001). Conflict monitoring and cognitive control. *Psychological Review*, 108(3), 624.
- Brass, M., Derrfuss, J., Forstmann, B., & von Cramon, D. Y. (2005). The role of the inferior frontal junction area in cognitive control. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(7), 314-316.
- Brass, M., & von Cramon, D. Y. (2002). The role of the frontal cortex in task preparation. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991), 12*(9), 908-914.
- Braver, T. S. (2012). The variable nature of cognitive control: A dual mechanisms framework. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *16*(2), 106-113.
- Braver, T. S., Gray, J. R., & Burgess, G. C. (2007). Explaining the many varieties of working memory variation: Dual mechanisms of cognitive control. *Variation in Working Memory*, , 76-106.
- Bredemeier, K., Berenbaum, H., Most, S. B., & Simons, D. J. (2011). Links between neuroticism, emotional distress, and disengaging attention: Evidence from a singletarget RSVP task. *Cognition & Emotion*, 25(8), 1510-1519.
- Broyd, S. J., Demanuele, C., Debener, S., Helps, S. K., James, C. J., & Sonuga-Barke, E. J. (2009). Default-mode brain dysfunction in mental disorders: A systematic review. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 33(3), 279-296.

- Bruya, B. (2010). Effortless attention: A new perspective in the cognitive science of attention and action.
- Bunge, S. A., Klingberg, T., Jacobsen, R. B., & Gabrieli, J. D. (2000). A resource model of the neural basis of executive working memory. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 97(7), 3573-3578.
- Burgess, G., & Braver, T. (2008). Proactive interference effects on working memory can be modulated by expectancy: Evidence for dual mechanisms of cognitive control. *Manuscript Submitted for Publication*,
- Bush, G., Luu, P., & Posner, M. I. (2000). Cognitive and emotional influences in anterior cingulate cortex. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 4(6), 215-222.
- Byrne, A., & Eysenck, M. W. (1995). Trait anxiety, anxious mood, and threat detection. Cognition & Emotion, 9(6), 549-562.
- Calvo, M. G., Szabo, A., & Capafons, J. (1996). Anxiety and heart rate under psychological stress: The effects of exercise-training. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, 9(4), 321-337.
- Canli, T. (2008). Toward a neurogenetic theory of neuroticism. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1129*(1), 153-174.
- Canli, T., Zhao, Z., Desmond, J. E., Kang, E., Gross, J., & Gabrieli, J. D. (2001). An fMRI study of personality influences on brain reactivity to emotional stimuli. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 115(1), 33.
- Carter, C. S., Braver, T. S., Barch, D. M., Botvinick, M. M., Noll, D., & Cohen, J. D. (1998). Anterior cingulate cortex, error detection, and the online monitoring of performance. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 280(5364), 747-749.
- Carter, C. S., Macdonald, A. M., Botvinick, M., Ross, L. L., Stenger, V. A., Noll, D., & Cohen, J. D. (2000). Parsing executive processes: Strategic vs. evaluative functions of the anterior cingulate cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(4), 1944-1948. doi:97/4/1944 [pii]
- Carver, C. S., Sutton, S. K., & Scheier, M. F. (2000). Action, emotion, and personality: Emerging conceptual integration. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 26(6), 741-751.

Cattell, R. B. (1990). Advances in cattellian personality theory.

- Cattell, R. B. (1969). Comparing factor trait and state scores across ages and cultures. *Journal of Gerontology*, 24(3), 348-360.
- Cazalis, F., Valabregue, R., Pélégrini-Issac, M., Asloun, S., Robbins, T., & Granon, S. (2003). Individual differences in prefrontal cortical activation on the tower of london planning task: Implication for effortful processing. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *17*(10), 2219-2225.
- Chan, S. W., Goodwin, G. M., & Harmer, C. J. (2007). Highly neurotic never-depressed students have negative biases in information processing. *Psychological Medicine*, 37(09), 1281-1291.

- Chan, S. W., Harmer, C. J., Goodwin, G. M., & Norbury, R. (2008). Risk for depression is associated with neural biases in emotional categorisation. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(12), 2896-2903.
- Chan, S. W., Norbury, R., Goodwin, G. M., & Harmer, C. J. (2009). Risk for depression and neural responses to fearful facial expressions of emotion. *The British Journal of Psychiatry : The Journal of Mental Science, 194*(2), 139-145. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.107.047993 [doi]
- Clark, L. A., & Watson, D. (1991). Tripartite model of anxiety and depression: Psychometric evidence and taxonomic implications. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *100*(3), 316.
- Cohen, J. D., Botvinick, M., & Carter, C. S. (2000). Anterior cingulate and prefrontal cortex: Who's in control? *Nature Neuroscience*, *3*, 421-423.
- Colom, R., & ángeles Quiroga, M. (2009). Neuroticism, intelligence, and intra-individual variability in elementary cognitive tasks: Testing the mental noise hypothesis. *Psicothema*, 21(3), 403-408.
- Corr, P. J. (2003). Personality and dual-task processing: Disruption of procedural learning by declarative processing. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *34*(7), 1245-1269.
- Corr, P. J., Pickering, A. D., & Gray, J. A. (1995). Personality and reinforcement in associative and instrumental learning. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 19(1), 47-71.
- Cosand, L. D., Cavanagh, T. M., Brown, A. A., Courtney, C. G., Rissling, A. J., Schell, A. M., & Dawson, M. E. (2008). Arousal, working memory, and conscious awareness in contingency learning. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 17(4), 1105-1113.

Costa, P. T., & McCrae, R. R. (1985). The NEO personality inventory.

- Cowan, N. (1999). An embedded-processes model of working memory. *Models of Working Memory: Mechanisms of Active Maintenance and Executive Control, 20, 506.*
- Cox-Fuenzalida, L., Swickert, R., & Hittner, J. B. (2004). Effects of neuroticism and workload history on performance. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 36(2), 447-456.
- Craig, M. J., Humphreys, M. S., Rocklin, T., & Revelle, W. (1979). Impulsivity, neuroticism, and caffeine: Do they have additive effects on arousal? *Journal of Research in Personality*, 13(4), 404-419.
- Cremers, H. R., Demenescu, L. R., Aleman, A., Renken, R., van Tol, M., van der Wee, Nic JA, . . . Roelofs, K. (2010). Neuroticism modulates amygdala—prefrontal connectivity in response to negative emotional facial expressions. *Neuroimage*, 49(1), 963-970.
- Cunningham, W. A., Arbuckle, N. L., Jahn, A., Mowrer, S. M., & Abduljalil, A. M. (2010). Aspects of neuroticism and the amygdala: Chronic tuning from motivational styles. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(12), 3399-3404.
- Darke, S. (1988). Anxiety and working memory capacity. *Cognition and Emotion*, 2(2), 145-154.
- Davis, R. (1956). The limits of the "psychological refractory period". *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 8(1), 24-38.
- De Jong, R. (1993). Multiple bottlenecks in overlapping task performance. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 19(5), 965.

- De Jong, R. (1995). The role of preparation in overlapping-task performance. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 48(1), 2-25.
- De Jong, R. (1995). Strategical determinants of compatibility effects with task uncertainty. *Acta Psychologica*, 88(3), 187-207.
- Delbridge, K. A. (2000). Individual differences in multi-tasking ability: Exploring a nomological network
- Delis, D. C., Kaplan, E., & Kramer, J. H. (2001). *Delis-kaplan executive function system (D-KEFS)* Psychological Corporation.
- Derakshan, N., & Eysenck, M. W. (2009). Anxiety, processing efficiency, and cognitive performance: New developments from attentional control theory. *European Psychologist*, 14(2), 168-176.
- Derakshan, N., & Eysenck, M. W. (2010). Introduction to the special issue: Emotional states, attention, and working memory. *Cognition and Emotion*, 24(2), 189-199.
- Derakshan, N., & Koster, E. H. (2010). Processing efficiency in anxiety: Evidence from eyemovements during visual search. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 48(12), 1180-1185.
- Derakshan, N., Smyth, S., & Eysenck, M. W. (2009). Effects of state anxiety on performance using a task-switching paradigm: An investigation of attentional control theory. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 16(6), 1112-1117.
- D'Esposito, M., Detre, J. A., Alsop, D. C., Shin, R. K., Atlas, S., & Grossman, M. (1995). The neural basis of the central executive system of working memory. *Nature*, *378*(6554), 279-281.

- D'Esposito, M., & Postle, B. R. (2002). The neural basis of working memory storage, rehearsal, and control processes: Evidence from patient and functional magnetic resonance imaging studies.
- D'Esposito, M., & Postle, B. R. (2002). The organization of working memory function in lateral prefrontal cortex: Evidence from event-related functional MRI.
- D'Esposito, M. (2007). From cognitive to neural models of working memory. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London.Series B, Biological Sciences, 362*(1481), 761-772. doi:981626GM5578885M [pii]
- Devinsky, O., Morrell, M. J., & Vogt, B. A. (1995). Contributions of anterior cingulate cortex to behaviour. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology, 118 (Pt 1)*(Pt 1), 279-306.
- DeYoung, C. G., Hirsh, J. B., Shane, M. S., Papademetris, X., Rajeevan, N., & Gray, J. R. (2010). Testing predictions from personality neuroscience. brain structure and the big five. *Psychological Science*, 21(6), 820-828. doi:10.1177/0956797610370159 [doi]
- Di Simplicio, M., Norbury, R., Reinecke, A., & Harmer, C. (2014). Paradoxical effects of short-term antidepressant treatment in fMRI emotional processing models in volunteers with high neuroticism. *Psychological Medicine*, 44(02), 241-252.
- Di Simplicio, M., Doallo, S., Costoloni, G., Rohenkohl, G., Nobre, A. C., & Harmer, C. J. (2014). 'Can you look me in the face & quest; 'Short-term SSRI administration reverts avoidant ocular face exploration in subjects at risk for psychopathology. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 39(13), 3059-3066.

- Di Simplicio, M., Norbury, R., & Harmer, C. J. (2012). Short-term antidepressant administration reduces negative self-referential processing in the medial prefrontal cortex in subjects at risk for depression. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 17(5), 503-510.
- Dickinson, W. J., Potter, G. G., Hybels, C. F., McQuoid, D. R., & Steffens, D. C. (2011). Change in stress and social support as predictors of cognitive decline in older adults with and without depression. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 26(12), 1267-1274.
- Dima, D., Friston, K. J., Stephan, K. E., & Frangou, S. (2015). Neuroticism and conscientiousness respectively constrain and facilitate short-term plasticity within the working memory neural network. *Human Brain Mapping*, 36(10), 4158-4163.
- Dirnberger, G., & Jahanshahi, M. (2010). Response selection in dual task paradigms: Observations from random generation tasks. *Experimental Brain Research*, 201(3), 535-548.
- Dolcos, F., & McCarthy, G. (2006). Brain systems mediating cognitive interference by emotional distraction. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 26(7), 2072-2079. doi:26/7/2072 [pii]
- Donohue, S. E., Wendelken, C., & Bunge, S. A. (2008). Neural correlates of preparation for action selection as a function of specific task demands. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 20(4), 694-706.
- Dove, A., Pollmann, S., Schubert, T., Wiggins, C. J., & von Cramon, D. Y. (2000). Prefrontal cortex activation in task switching: An event-related fMRI study. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 9(1), 103-109.

- Drevets, W. C. (2001). Neuroimaging and neuropathological studies of depression: Implications for the cognitive-emotional features of mood disorders. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 11(2), 240-249.
- Drevets, W. C., & Raichle, M. E. (1998). Reciprocal suppression of regional cerebral blood flow during emotional versus higher cognitive processes: Implications for interactions between emotion and cognition. *Cognition and Emotion*, *12*(3), 353-385.
- Duncan, J. (1980). The locus of interference in the perception of simultaneous stimuli. *Psychological Review*, 87(3), 272.
- Dux, P. E., Ivanoff, J., Asplund, C. L., & Marois, R. (2006). Isolation of a central bottleneck of information processing with time-resolved fMRI. *Neuron*, *52*(6), 1109-1120.
- Dux, P. E., Tombu, M. N., Harrison, S., Rogers, B. P., Tong, F., & Marois, R. (2009). Training improves multitasking performance by increasing the speed of information processing in human prefrontal cortex. *Neuron*, 63(1), 127-138.
- Easterbrook, J. A. (1959). The effect of emotion on cue utilization and the organization of behavior. *Psychological Review*, *66*(3), 183.
- Eaves, L., & Eysenck, H. (1975). The nature of extraversion: A genetical analysis. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 32(1), 102.
- Eggenberger, P., Wolf, M., Schumann, M., & De Bruin, E. D. (2016). Exergame and balance training modulate prefrontal brain activity during walking and enhance executive function in older adults. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 8

- Eickhoff, S. B., Stephan, K. E., Mohlberg, H., Grefkes, C., Fink, G. R., Amunts, K., & Zilles, K. (2005). A new SPM toolbox for combining probabilistic cytoarchitectonic maps and functional imaging data. *Neuroimage*, 25(4), 1325-1335.
- Eid, M., & Diener, E. (1999). Intraindividual variability in affect: Reliability, validity, and personality correlates. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76(4), 662.
- Eisenberger, N. I., Lieberman, M. D., & Satpute, A. B. (2005). Personality from a controlled processing perspective: An fMRI study of neuroticism, extraversion, and self-consciousness. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience, 5*(2), 169-181.
- Eklund, A., Nichols, T. E., & Knutsson, H. (2016). Cluster failure: Why fMRI inferences for spatial extent have inflated false-positive rates. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 201602413.
- Engle, R. W. (2002). Working memory capacity as executive attention. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *11*(1), 19-23.
- Engler, B. (2009). Theories of personality.
- Engler, B. (2013). Personality theories Nelson Education.
- Erickson, K. I., Colcombe, S. J., Wadhwa, R., Bherer, L., Peterson, M. S., Scalf, P. E., . . . Kramer, A. F. (2007). Training-induced plasticity in older adults: Effects of training on hemispheric asymmetry. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 28(2), 272-283.
- Erickson, K. I., Colcombe, S. J., Wadhwa, R., Bherer, L., Peterson, M. S., Scalf, P. E., & Kramer, A. F. (2005). Neural correlates of dual-task performance after minimizing taskpreparation. *Neuroimage*, 28(4), 967-979.

- Erickson, K. I., Colcombe, S. J., Wadhwa, R., Bherer, L., Peterson, M. S., Scalf, P. E., & Kramer, A. F. (2005). Neural correlates of dual-task performance after minimizing taskpreparation. *Neuroimage*, 28(4), 967-979.
- Etkin, A., Egner, T., Peraza, D. M., Kandel, E. R., & Hirsch, J. (2006). Resolving emotional conflict: A role for the rostral anterior cingulate cortex in modulating activity in the amygdala. *Neuron*, 51(6), 871-882.
- Eysenck, H. J. (1985). Personality, cancer and cardiovascular disease: A causal analysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 6(5), 535-556.

Eysenck, H. J. (1991). Manual of the eysenck personality scales (EPS adult).

- Eysenck, H. J. (1992). Four ways five factors are not basic. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 13(6), 667-673.
- Eysenck, H. J. (1992). A reply to Costa and McCrae. P or A and C—the role of theory. *Personality and Individual Differences, 13*(8), 867-868.
- Eysenck, H. J., & Gudjonsson, G. H. (1989). The causes and cures of criminality Springer Science & Business Media.

Eysenck, H. J. (1967). The biological basis of personality, Transaction publishers.

- Eysenck, H. J. (1983). Is there a paradigm in personality research? *Journal of Research in Personality*, 17(4), 369-397.
- Eysenck, H. J., & Eysenck, S. B. G. (1975). *Manual of the Eysenck personality questionnaire* (*junior and adult*) Hodder and Stoughton.

- Eysenck, H., & Eysenck, M. (1986). Arousal based theory of neuroticism. In C. Coopers (Ed.), *Personality and individual differences* (pp. 196-209)
- Eysenck, H. (1947). Student selection by means of psychological tests—a critical survey. British Journal of Educational Psychology, 17(1), 20-39.
- Eysenck, M. W. (1979). Anxiety, learning, and memory: A reconceptualization. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *13*(4), 363-385.
- Eysenck, M. W. (1985). Anxiety and cognitive-task performance. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 6(5), 579-586.
- Eysenck, M. W., & Byrne, A. (1992). Anxiety and susceptibility to distraction. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 13(7), 793-798.
- Eysenck, M. W., & Calvo, M. G. (1992). Anxiety and performance: The processing efficiency theory. *Cognition & Emotion*, 6(6), 409-434.
- Eysenck, M. W., & Derakshan, N. (2011). New perspectives in attentional control theory. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 50(7), 955-960.
- Eysenck, M. W., Derakshan, N., Santos, R., & Calvo, M. G. (2007). Anxiety and cognitive performance: Attentional control theory. *Emotion*, 7(2), 336.
- Eysenck, M. W., & Graydon, J. (1989). Susceptibility to distraction as a function of personality. *Personality and Individual Differences, 10*(6), 681-687.
- Eysenck, M., Payne, S., & Derakshan, N. (2005). Trait anxiety, visuospatial processing, and working memory. *Cognition & Emotion*, *19*(8), 1214-1228.

- Eysenck Michael W., Nazanin Derakshan (1998). Working memory capacity in high traitanxious and repressor groups. *Cognition & Emotion*, *12*(5), 697-713.
- Eysenck, S. B., & Eysenck, H. J. (1978). Impulsiveness and venturesomeness: Their position in a dimensional system of personality description. *Psychological Reports*, 43(3f), 1247-1255.
- Eysenck, S. B., Eysenck, H. J., & Barrett, P. (1985). A revised version of the psychoticism scale. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 6(1), 21-29.

Fahrenberg, J. (1992). Psychophysiology of neuroticism and anxiety.

- Fales, C. L., Barch, D. M., Rundle, M. M., Mintun, M. A., Snyder, A. Z., Cohen, J. D., . . . Sheline, Y. I. (2008). Altered emotional interference processing in affective and cognitive-control brain circuitry in major depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 63(4), 377-384.
- Fernandez-Duque, D., & Johnson, M. L. (1999). Attention metaphors: How metaphors guide the cognitive psychology of attention. *Cognitive Science*, *23*(1), 83-116.
- Fitts, P. M. (1954). The information capacity of the human motor system in controlling the amplitude of movement. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 47(6), 381.
- Flehmig, H. C., Steinborn, M. B., Westhoff, K., & Langner, R. (2010). Neuroticism and speed-accuracy tradeoff in self-paced speeded mental addition and comparison. *Journal* of Individual Differences,

- Forbes, C. E., Poore, J. C., Krueger, F., Barbey, A. K., Solomon, J., & Grafman, J. (2014). The role of executive function and the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in the expression of neuroticism and conscientiousness. *Social Neuroscience*, 9(2), 139-151.
- Francis, L. J. (1992). Neuroticism and intensity of religious attitudes among clergy in england. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 132(5), 577-580.
- Francis, L. J., Brown, L. B., & Philipchalk, R. (1992). The development of an abbreviated form of the revised eysenck personality questionnaire (EPQR-A): Its use among students in england, canada, the USA and australia. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 13(4), 443-449.
- Friedman, N. P., & Miyake, A. (2004). The relations among inhibition and interference control functions: A latent-variable analysis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 133(1), 101.
- Friston, K. J., Holmes, A. P., Worsley, K. J., Poline, J., Frith, C. D., & Frackowiak, R. S. (1994). Statistical parametric maps in functional imaging: A general linear approach. *Human Brain Mapping*, 2(4), 189-210.
- Gamboz, N., Borella, E., & Brandimonte, M. A. (2009). The role of switching, inhibition and working memory in older adults' performance in the wisconsin card sorting test. *Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition, 16*(3), 260-284.
- Gathercole, S. E., & Baddeley, A. D. (1990). Phonological memory deficits in language disordered children: Is there a causal connection? *Journal of Memory and Language*, 29(3), 336-360.

- Gathercole, S. E., Pickering, S. J., Hall, M., & Peaker, S. M. (2001). Dissociable lexical and phonological influences on serial recognition and serial recall. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology: Section A*, *54*(1), 1-30.
- Goldberg, T. E., Berman, K. F., Fleming, K., Ostrem, J., Van Horn, J. D., Esposito, G., . . .Weinberger, D. R. (1998). Uncoupling cognitive workload and prefrontal cortical physiology: A PET rCBF study. *Neuroimage*, 7(4), 296-303.
- Goldberg, T. E., & Gold, J. M. (1995). Neurocognitive functioning in patients with schizophrenia: An overview. *Psychopharmacology: The Fourth Generation of Progress*, , 1171-1183.
- Goldman-Rakic, P. S. (1996). The prefrontal landscape: Implications of functional architecture for understanding human mentation and the central executive. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London.Series B, Biological Sciences, 351*(1346), 1445-1453. doi:10.1098/rstb.1996.0129 [doi]
- Goodwin, A. H., & Sher, K. J. (1992). Deficits in set-shifting ability in nonclinical compulsive checkers. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 14(1), 81-92.
- Gottsdanker, R., Broadbent, L., & Van Sant, C. (1963). Reaction time to single and to first signals. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 66(2), 163.
- Grant, D. A., & Berg, E. (1948). A behavioral analysis of degree of reinforcement and ease of shifting to new responses in a weigl-type card-sorting problem. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 38(4), 404.

- Gray, J. A. (1970). The psychophysiological basis of introversion-extraversion. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 8(3), 249-266.
- Gray, J. A. (1981). A critique of Eysenck's theory of personality. *A model for personality* (pp. 246-276) Springer.
- Gray, J. A. (1982). On mapping anxiety. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 5(03), 506-534.
- Gray, J. (1981). The transaction concept: Virtues and limitations. Vldb, , 81 144-154.
- Gray, J. R., Braver, T. S., & Raichle, M. E. (2002). Integration of emotion and cognition in the lateral prefrontal cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(6), 4115-4120. doi:10.1073/pnas.062381899 [doi]
- Greicius, M. D., Krasnow, B., Reiss, A. L., & Menon, V. (2003). Functional connectivity in the resting brain: A network analysis of the default mode hypothesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 100*(1), 253-258. doi:10.1073/pnas.0135058100 [doi]
- Gusnard, D. A., & Raichle, M. E. (2001). Searching for a baseline: Functional imaging and the resting human brain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *2*(10), 685-694.
- Haas, B. W., Omura, K., Constable, R. T., & Canli, T. (2007). Emotional conflict and neuroticism: Personality-dependent activation in the amygdala and subgenual anterior cingulate. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 121(2), 249.
- Halvorsen, M. B., Casper, B. M., Woodley, C. M., Carlson, T. J., & Popper, A. N. (2012).Threshold for onset of injury in chinook salmon from exposure to impulsive pile driving sounds. *PLoS One*, 7(6), e38968.

- Halvorson, K. M., Ebner, H., & Hazeltine, E. (2013). Investigating perfect timesharing: The relationship between IM-compatible tasks and dual-task performance. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 39*(2), 413.
- Hamilton, M. (1967). Development of a rating scale for primary depressive illness. *British Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 6(4), 278-296.
- Hare, T. A., Tottenham, N., Galvan, A., Voss, H. U., Glover, G. H., & Casey, B. (2008).
  Biological substrates of emotional reactivity and regulation in adolescence during an emotional go-nogo task. *Biological Psychiatry*, 63(10), 927-934.
- Hare, T. A., O'Doherty, J., Camerer, C. F., Schultz, W., & Rangel, A. (2008). Dissociating the role of the orbitofrontal cortex and the striatum in the computation of goal values and prediction errors. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 28(22), 5623-5630. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1309-08.2008 [doi]
- Hartley, A. A., Jonides, J., & Sylvester, C. C. (2011). Dual-task processing in younger and older adults: Similarities and differences revealed by fMRI. *Brain and Cognition*, 75(3), 281-291.
- Hartley, A. A., Maquestiaux, F., Brooks, R. D., Festini, S. B., & Frazier, K. (2012). Electrodermal responses to sources of dual-task interference. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience, 12*(3), 543-556.
- Hazeltine, E., Ruthruff, E., & Remington, R. W. (2006). The role of input and output modality pairings in dual-task performance: Evidence for content-dependent central interference. *Cognitive Psychology*, *52*(4), 291-345.

- Heaven, P. C., & Shochet, I. M. (1995). Dimensions of neuroticism: Relationships with gender and personality traits. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *18*(1), 33-37.
- Heffner, C. L. (2004). Research method. *Education, Psychology, and the Social Sciences.Florida: Heffner Media Group,*
- Hegarty, M., Shah, P., & Miyake, A. (2000). Constraints on using the dual-task methodology to specify the degree of central executive involvement in cognitive tasks. *Memory & Cognition*, 28(3), 376-385.
- Hirsh, J. B., & Inzlicht, M. (2008). The devil you know: Neuroticism predicts neural response to uncertainty. *Psychological Science*, 19(10), 962-967. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02183.x [doi]
- Humphreys, M. S., & Revelle, W. (1984). Personality, motivation, and performance: A theory of the relationship between individual differences and information processing. *Psychological Review*, 91(2), 153.

Ishihara, S. (1987). Test for colour-blindness Kanehara Tokyo, Japan.

Jaeggi, S. M., Seewer, R., Nirkko, A. C., Eckstein, D., Schroth, G., Groner, R., & Gutbrod, K. (2003). Does excessive memory load attenuate activation in the prefrontal cortex? load-dependent processing in single and dual tasks: Functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neuroimage*, 19(2), 210-225.

James, W. (1890). The consciousness of self. The Principles of Psychology, 8

Jiang, Y. (2004). Resolving dual-task interference: An fMRI study. *Neuroimage*, 22(2), 748-754.

- Jonides, J., Smith, E. E., Koeppe, R. A., Awh, E., Minoshima, S., & Mintun, M. A. (1993). Spatial working-memory in humans as revealed by PET.
- Jorm, A. F. (1989). Modifiability of trait anxiety and neuroticism: A meta-analysis of the literature. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 23(1), 21-29.
- Kane, M. J., & Engle, R. W. (2002). The role of prefrontal cortex in working-memory capacity, executive attention, and general fluid intelligence: An individual-differences perspective. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 9(4), 637-671.
- Kapogiannis, D., Reiter, D. A., Willette, A. A., & Mattson, M. P. (2013). Posteromedial cortex glutamate and GABA predict intrinsic functional connectivity of the default mode network. *Neuroimage*, 64, 112-119.
- Karanci, A. N., Dirik, G., & Yorulmaz, O. (2007). Reliability and validity studies of turkish translation of eysenck personality quesonnaire revised-abbreviated. *Turkish Journal of Psychiatry*, 18(3), 1-8.
- Kennis, M., Rademaker, A. R., & Geuze, E. (2013). Neural correlates of personality: An integrative review. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37(1), 73-95.
- Kieras, D. E., & Meyer, D. E. (1997). An overview of the EPIC architecture for cognition and performance with application to human-computer interaction. *Human-Computer Interaction*, 12(4), 391-438.
- Klingberg, T. (1998). Concurrent performance of two working memory tasks: Potential mechanisms of interference. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991)*, 8(7), 593-601.

- Klingberg, T., O'Sullivan, B. T., & Roland, P. E. (1997). Bilateral activation of frontoparietal networks by incrementing demand in a working memory task. *Cerebral Cortex* (*New York, N.Y.: 1991*), 7(5), 465-471.
- Kofman, O., Meiran, N., Greenberg, E., Balas, M., & Cohen, H. (2006). Enhanced performance on executive functions associated with examination stress: Evidence from task-switching and stroop paradigms. *Cognition & Emotion*, 20(5), 577-595.
- Konishi, S., Nakajima, K., Uchida, I., Kikyo, H., Kameyama, M., & Miyashita, Y. (1999).
  Common inhibitory mechanism in human inferior prefrontal cortex revealed by event-related functional MRI. *Brain*, *122*(5), 981-991.
- Kumari, V., ffytche, D. H., Williams, S. C., & Gray, J. A. (2004). Personality predicts brain responses to cognitive demands. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 24(47), 10636-10641. doi:24/47/10636 [pii]
- Lahey, B. B. (2009). Public health significance of neuroticism. *American Psychologist*, 64(4), 241.
- LeMonda, B. C., Mahoney, J. R., Verghese, J., & Holtzer, R. (2015). The association between high neuroticism-low extraversion and dual-task performance during walking while talking in non-demented older adults. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 21(07), 519-530.
- Leon, M. R., & Revelle, W. (1985). Effects of anxiety on analogical reasoning: A test of three theoretical models. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *49*(5), 1302.

- Levy, B. J., & Wagner, A. D. (2011). Cognitive control and right ventrolateral prefrontal cortex: Reflexive reorienting, motor inhibition, and action updating. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1224(1), 40-62.
- Liefooghe, B., Barrouillet, P., Vandierendonck, A., & Camos, V. (2008). Working memory costs of task switching. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition*, 34(3), 478.
- Logan, G. D., & Gordon, R. D. (2001). Executive control of visual attention in dual-task situations. *Psychological Review*, *108*(2), 393.
- Logan, G. D., & Schulkind, M. D. (2000). Parallel memory retrieval in dual-task situations:I. semantic memory. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 26(3), 1072.
- Logan, G. D., & Zbrodoff, N. J. (1982). Constraints on strategy construction in a speeded discrimination task. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 8(4), 502.
- Logie, R. H., & D'Esposito, M. (2007). Working memory in the brain. Cortex, 43(1), 1-4.
- Luria, R., & Meiran, N. (2003). Online order control in the psychological refractory period paradigm. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 29(3), 556.
- Luria, R., & Meiran, N. (2005). Increased control demand results in serial processing:
  Evidence from dual-task performance. *Psychological Science*, 16(10), 833-840.
  doi:PSCI1622 [pii]

- Luu, P., Flaisch, T., & Tucker, D. M. (2000). Medial frontal cortex in action monitoring. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 20*(1), 464-469.
- MacDonald, A. W.,3rd, Cohen, J. D., Stenger, V. A., & Carter, C. S. (2000). Dissociating the role of the dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex in cognitive control. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 288(5472), 1835-1838. doi:8537 [pii]
- MacLean, M. H., & Arnell, K. M. (2010). Personality predicts temporal attention costs in the attentional blink paradigm. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, *17*(4), 556-562.
- MacLeod, C., & Donnellan, A. M. (1993). Individual differences in anxiety and the restriction of working memory capacity. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 15(2), 163-173.
- MacLeod, C., & Rutherford, E. M. (1992). Anxiety and the selective processing of emotional information: Mediating roles of awareness, trait and state variables, and personal relevance of stimu. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *30*(5), 479-491.
- Maddock, R. J. (1999). The retrosplenial cortex and emotion: New insights from functional neuroimaging of the human brain. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *22*(7), 310-316.
- Maddock, R. J., Garrett, A. S., & Buonocore, M. H. (2003). Posterior cingulate cortex activation by emotional words: FMRI evidence from a valence decision task. *Human Brain Mapping*, 18(1), 30-41.
- Marois, R., & Ivanoff, J. (2005). Capacity limits of information processing in the brain. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 9(6), 296-305.

- Matthews, G., Saklofske, D. H., Costa Jr, P. T., Deary, I. J., & Zeidner, M. (1998).
   Dimensional models of personality: A framework for systematic clinical assessment.
   *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 14(1), 36.
- Mayer, R. E. (1977). Problem-solving performance with task overload: Effects of self-pacing and trait anxiety. *Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society*, *9*(4), 283-286.
- McCann, R. S., & Johnston, J. C. (1992). Locus of the single-channel bottleneck in dualtask interference. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 18*(2), 471.
- Mckiernan, K. A., Kaufman, J. N., Kucera-Thompson, J., & Binder, J. R. (2003). A parametric manipulation of factors affecting task-induced deactivation in functional neuroimaging. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *15*(3), 394-408.
- Meyer, D. E., & Kieras, D. E. (1997). A computational theory of executive cognitive processes and multiple-task performance: Part I. basic mechanisms. *Psychological Review*, 104(1), 3.
- Miller, E. K. (2000). The prefontral cortex and cognitive control. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 1(1), 59-65.
- Miller, G. A. (1956). The magical number seven, plus or minus two: Some limits on our capacity for processing information. *Psychological Review*, *63*(2), 81.
- Miltner, W. H., Braun, C. H., & Coles, M. G. (1997). Event-related brain potentials following incorrect feedback in a time-estimation task: Evidence for a "generic" neural system for error detection. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *9*(6), 788-798.

- Mischel, W., Shoda, Y., Smith, R. E., & Mischel, F. W. (2004). Introduction to personality. University of Phoenix: A John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., Publication,
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T. D. (2000). The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "frontal lobe" tasks: A latent variable analysis. *Cognitive Psychology*, 41(1), 49-100.
- Miyake, A., & Shah, P. (1999). *Models of working memory: Mechanisms of active maintenance and executive control* Cambridge University Press.
- Mogg, K., Bradley, B. P., Williams, R., & Mathews, A. (1993). Subliminal processing of emotional information in anxiety and depression. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 102(2), 304.
- Monsell, S. (2003). Task switching. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 7(3), 134-140.
- Most, S. B., Chun, M. M., Johnson, M. R., & Kiehl, K. A. (2006). Attentional modulation of the amygdala varies with personality. *Neuroimage*, *31*(2), 934-944.
- Mullane, J. C., & Corkum, P. V. (2007). The relationship between working memory, inhibition, and performance on the wisconsin card sorting test in children with and without ADHD. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*,
- Navon, D., & Miller, J. (1987). Role of outcome conflict in dual-task interference. *Journal* of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 13(3), 435.
- Navon, D., & Miller, J. (2002). Queuing or sharing? A critical evaluation of the singlebottleneck notion. *Cognitive Psychology*, 44(3), 193-251.

- Newton, T., Slade, P., Butler, N., & Murphy, P. (1992). Personality and performance on a simple visual search task. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *13*(3), 381-382.
- Norman, D. A., & Bobrow, D. G. (1975). On data-limited and resource-limited processes. *Cognitive Psychology*, 7(1), 44-64.
- Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: The edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia*, 9(1), 97-113.
- Orem, D. M., Petrac, D. C., & Bedwell, J. S. (2008). Chronic self-perceived stress and setshifting performance in undergraduate students: Research report. *Stress*, *11*(1), 73-78.
- Osorio, L. C., Cohen, M., Escobar, S. E., Salkowski-Bartlett, A., & Compton, R. J. (2003). Selective attention to stressful distracters: Effects of neuroticism and gender. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 34(5), 831-844.
- Oswald, F. L., Hambrick, D. Z., & Jones, L. A. (2007). Keeping all the plates spinning: Understanding and predicting multitasking performance. *Learning to Solve Complex Scientific Problems*, , 77-97.
- Ozonoff, S., Cook, I., Coon, H., Dawson, G., Joseph, R. M., Klin, A., . . . Pennington, B. F. (2004). Performance on cambridge neuropsychological test automated battery subtests sensitive to frontal lobe function in people with autistic disorder: Evidence from the collaborative programs of excellence in autism network. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 34(2), 139-150.
- Pannebakker, M. M., Band, G. P., & Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2009). Operation compatibility:
  A neglected contribution to dual-task costs. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 35(2), 447.

- Pashler, H. (1984). Processing stages in overlapping tasks: Evidence for a central bottleneck. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 10(3), 358.
- Pashler, H. (1989). Dissociations and dependencies between speed and accuracy: Evidence for a two-component theory of divided attention in simple tasks. *Cognitive Psychology*, 21(4), 469-514.
- Pashler, H. (1993). Dual-task interference and elementary mental mechanisms. Attention and Performance XIV: Synergies in Experimental Psychology, Artificial Intelligence, and Cognitive Neuroscience, , 245-264.
- Pashler, H. (1994). Dual-task interference in simple tasks: Data and theory. *Psychological Bulletin*, 116(2), 220.
- Pashler, H., & Johnston, J. C. (1989). Chronometric evidence for central postponement in temporally overlapping tasks. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 41(1), 19-45.
- Pashler, H., Johnston, J. C., & Ruthruff, E. (2001). Attention and performance. Annual Review of Psychology, 52(1), 629-651.
- Paulesu, E., Frith, C. D., & Frackowiak, R. S. (1993). The neural correlates of the verbal component of working memory. *Nature*, 362(6418), 342-345. doi:10.1038/362342a0 [doi]
- Paus, T., Koski, L., Caramanos, Z., & Westbury, C. (1998). Regional differences in the effects of task difficulty and motor output on blood flow response in the human anterior cingulate cortex: A review of 107 PET activation studies. *Neuroreport*, 9(9), R37-R47.

- Petersen, S. E., & Posner, M. I. (2012). The attention system of the human brain: 20 years after. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 35, 73-89. doi:10.1146/annurev-neuro-062111-150525 [doi]
- Petrides, M., Alivisatos, B., Evans, A. C., & Meyer, E. (1993). Dissociation of human middorsolateral from posterior dorsolateral frontal cortex in memory processing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 90(3), 873-877.
- Poposki, E. M., Oswald, F. L., & Chen, H. T. (2009). Neuroticism Negatively Affects Multitasking Performance through State Anxiety,
- Portella, M. J., Harmer, C. J., Flint, J., Cowen, P., & Goodwin, G. M. (2005). Enhanced early morning salivary cortisol in neuroticism. *American Journal of Psychiatry*,
- Posner, M. I., & DiGirolamo, G. J. (1998). Conflict, target detection and cognitive control. *The Attentive Brain*, 401-423.
- Posner, M. I., & Petersen, S. E. (1989). The Attention System of the Human Brain,
- Power, M., & Dalgleish, T. (1997). Cognition and emotion: From order to disorder
- Raichle, M. E., MacLeod, A. M., Snyder, A. Z., Powers, W. J., Gusnard, D. A., & Shulman,
  G. L. (2001). A default mode of brain function. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 98(2), 676-682. doi:10.1073/pnas.98.2.676
  [doi]

- Reuter, M., Stark, R., Hennig, J., Walter, B., Kirsch, P., Schienle, A., & Vaitl, D. (2004).
  Personality and emotion: Test of gray's personality theory by means of an fMRI study. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 118(3), 462.
- Revelle, W., & Michaels, E. J. (1976). The theory of achievement motivation revisited: The implications of inertial tendencies. *Psychological Review*, 83(5), 394.
- Richards, A., French, C. C., Keogh, E., & Carter, C. (2000). Test-anxiety, inferential reasoning and working memory load. *Anxiety, Stress and Coping*, *13*(1), 87-109.
- Robinson, M. D., & Tamir, M. (2005). Neuroticism as mental noise: A relation between neuroticism and reaction time standard deviations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(1), 107.
- Robinson, M. D., Wilkowski, B. M., & Meier, B. P. (2006). Unstable in more ways than one: Reaction time variability and the neuroticism/distress relationship. *Journal of Personality*, 74(2), 311-344.
- Rogers, C. R. (1951). *Client-centered therapy: Its current practice, implications, and theory, with chapters* Houghton Mifflin.
- Rottschy, C., Langner, R., Dogan, I., Reetz, K., Laird, A. R., Schulz, J. B., . . . Eickhoff, S.
  B. (2012). Modelling neural correlates of working memory: A coordinate-based metaanalysis. *Neuroimage*, 60(1), 830-846.
- Rubinstein, J. S., Meyer, D. E., & Evans, J. E. (2001). Executive control of cognitive processes in task switching. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 27(4), 763.

- Ruthruff, E., Miller, J., & Lachmann, T. (1995). Does mental rotation require central mechanisms? *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 21(3), 552.
- Saggino, A., & Lauriola, M. (1999). The construction of an anxiety scale for personnel selection and recruitment. Poster Presented at the 5th European Conference on Psychological Assessment. Patrasso (GR),
- Sala, S. D., Baddeley, A., Papagno, C., & Spinnler, H. (1995). Dual-task paradigm: A means to examine the central executive. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 769(1), 161-172.
- Salmon, E., Van der Linden, M., Collette, F., Delfiore, G., Maquet, P., Degueldre, C., . . . Franck, G. (1996). Regional brain activity during working memory tasks. *Brain : A Journal of Neurology*, 119 (Pt 5)(Pt 5), 1617-1625.
- Salvucci, D. D., & Taatgen, N. A. (2008). Threaded cognition: An integrated theory of concurrent multitasking. *Psychological Review*, 115(1), 101.
- Sanders, B. (1983). Insulin-like peptides in the lobster homarus americanus II. insulin-like biological activity. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, *50*(3), 374-377.
- Sarason, I. G. (1988). Anxiety, self-preoccupation and attention. *Anxiety Research*, 1(1), 3-7.
- Sarason, I. G., Sarason, B. R., & Pierce, G. R. (1990). Anxiety, cognitive interference, and performance. *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality*, *5*(2), 1.

- Schubert, T. (2008). The central attentional limitation and executive control. *Frontiers in Bioscience*, *13*, 3569-3580.
- Schubert, T., & Szameitat, A. J. (2003). Functional neuroanatomy of interference in overlapping dual tasks: An fMRI study. *Cognitive Brain Research*, *17*(3), 733-746.
- Schumacher, E. H., Lauber, E. J., Glass, J. M., Zurbriggen, E. L., Gmeindl, L., Kieras, D.
  E., & Meyer, D. E. (1999). Concurrent response-selection processes in dual-task performance: Evidence for adaptive executive control of task scheduling. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 25(3), 791.
- Schumacher, E. H., Seymour, T. L., Glass, J. M., Fencsik, D. E., Lauber, E. J., Kieras, D. E.,
  & Meyer, D. E. (2001). Virtually perfect time sharing in dual-task performance: Uncorking the central cognitive bottleneck. *Psychological Science*, *12*(2), 101-108.
- Schwerdtfeger, A., & Kohlmann, C. (2004). Repressive coping style and the significance of verbal-autonomic response dissociations.
- Servaas, M. N., Geerligs, L., Renken, R. J., Marsman, J. C., Ormel, J., Riese, H., & Aleman, A. (2015). Connectomics and neuroticism: An altered functional network organization. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 40(2), 296-304.
- Shallice, T. (1982). Specific impairments of planning. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London.Series B, Biological Sciences, 298*(1089), 199-209.
- Shipstead, Z., Harrison, T. L., & Engle, R. W. (2015). Working memory capacity and the scope and control of attention. *Attention, Perception, & Psychophysics*, 77(6), 1863-1880.

- Shipstead, Z., Redick, T. S., & Engle, R. W. (2012). Is working memory training effective? *Psychological Bulletin*, 138(4), 628.
- Sigman, M., & Dehaene, S. (2005). Parsing a cognitive task: A characterization of the mind's bottleneck. *PLoS Biol*, 3(2), e37.
- Simpson, J. R., Jr, Drevets, W. C., Snyder, A. Z., Gusnard, D. A., & Raichle, M. E. (2001). Emotion-induced changes in human medial prefrontal cortex: II. during anticipatory anxiety. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(2), 688-693. doi:10.1073/pnas.98.2.688 [doi]
- Smith, E. E., & Jonides, J. (1999). Storage and executive processes in the frontal lobes. Science (New York, N.Y.), 283(5408), 1657-1661.
- Smith, E. E., Jonides, J., & Koeppe, R. A. (1996). Dissociating verbal and spatial working memory using PET. Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991), 6(1), 11-20.
- Sohn, M. H., Ursu, S., Anderson, J. R., Stenger, V. A., & Carter, C. S. (2000). The role of prefrontal cortex and posterior parietal cortex in task switching. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(24), 13448-13453. doi:10.1073/pnas.240460497 [doi]
- Spielberger, G. (1983). Jacobs (1983) CD spielberger, RL gorsuch, RE lushene, PR vagg,GA jacobs. Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (Form Y) ConsultingPsychologists Press, Palo Alto, CA,
- Stahl, J., & Rammsayer, T. (2007). The point of no return in motor response: Extraversionrelated differences. *Psychology Science*, 49(1), 58.

- Stawski, R. S., Sliwinski, M. J., & Smyth, J. M. (2006). Stress-related cognitive interference predicts cognitive function in old age. *Psychology and Aging*, 21(3), 535.
- Steele, S. D., Minshew, N. J., Luna, B., & Sweeney, J. A. (2007). Spatial working memory deficits in autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *37*(4), 605-612.
- Steinborn, M. B., Rolke, B., Bratzke, D., & Ulrich, R. (2009). Dynamic adjustment of temporal preparation: Shifting warning signal modality attenuates the sequential foreperiod effect. *Acta Psychologica*, 132(1), 40-47.
- Stelmack, R. M. (1981). The psychophysiology of extraversion and neuroticism. *A model for personality* (pp. 38-64) Springer.
- Stelmack, R. M., Houlihan, M., & McGarry-Roberts, P. A. (1993). Personality, reaction time, and event-related potentials. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 65(2), 399.
- Stelzel, C., Kraft, A., Brandt, S. A., & Schubert, T. (2008). Dissociable neural effects of task order control and task set maintenance during dual-task processing. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 20(4), 613-628.
- Sternberg, S. (1969). The discovery of processing stages: Extensions of donders' method. *Acta Psychologica*, *30*, 276-315.
- Stratta, P., Daneluzzo, E., Prosperini, P., Bustini, M., Mattei, P., & Rossi, A. (1997). Is Wisconsin card sorting test performance related to 'working memory' capacity? *Schizophrenia Research*, 27(1), 11-19.

- Studer-Luethi, B., Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., & Perrig, W. J. (2012). Influence of neuroticism and conscientiousness on working memory training outcome. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 53(1), 44-49.
- Sweeney, J. A., Mintun, M. A., Kwee, S., Wiseman, M. B., Brown, D. L., Rosenberg, D. R., & Carl, J. R. (1996). Positron emission tomography study of voluntary saccadic eye movements and spatial working memory. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 75(1), 454-468.
- Szameitat, A. J., Lepsien, J., von Cramon, D. Y., Sterr, A., & Schubert, T. (2006). Taskorder coordination in dual-task performance and the lateral prefrontal cortex: An eventrelated fMRI study. *Psychological Research*, *70*(6), 541-552.
- Szameitat, A. J., Schubert, T., & Müller, H. J. (2011). How to test for dual-task-specific effects in brain imaging studies—an evaluation of potential analysis methods. *Neuroimage*, *54*(3), 1765-1773.
- Szameitat, A. J., Schubert, T., Müller, K. U., & Von Cramon, D. Y. (2002). Localization of executive functions in dual-task performance with fMRI. *Cognitive Neuroscience*, *Journal of*, 14(8), 1184-1199.
- Szameitat, A. J., Vanloo, A., & Müller, H. J. (2016). Central as well as peripheral attentional bottlenecks in dual-task performance activate lateral prefrontal cortices. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience, 10*
- Szmalec, A., Vandierendonck, A., & Kemps, E. (2005). Response selection involves executive control: Evidence from the selective interference paradigm. *Memory & Cognition*, 33(3), 531-541.

- Szymura, B., & Nęcka, E. (1998). Visual selective attention and personality: An experimental verification of three models of extra version. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 24(5), 713-729.
- Szymura, B., & Wodniecka, Z. (2003). What really bothers neurotics? in search for factors impairing attentional performance. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 34(1), 109-126.
- Telford, C. W. (1931). The refractory phase of voluntary and associative responses. *Journal of Experimental Psychology, 14*(1), 1.
- Tombu, M., & Jolicœur, P. (2005). Testing the predictions of the central capacity sharing model. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 31(4), 790.
- Tzourio-Mazoyer, N., Landeau, B., Papathanassiou, D., Crivello, F., Etard, O., Delcroix, N.,
  . Joliot, M. (2002). Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI single-subject brain. *Neuroimage*, 15(1), 273-289.
- Uddin, L. Q., Clare Kelly, A., Biswal, B. B., Xavier Castellanos, F., & Milham, M. P. (2009).
  Functional connectivity of default mode network components: Correlation, anticorrelation, and causality. *Human Brain Mapping*, *30*(2), 625-637.
- Ulrich, E. L., Akutsu, H., Doreleijers, J. F., Harano, Y., Ioannidis, Y. E., Lin, J., . . . Markley,
  J. L. (2008). Biomagresbank. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *36*(Database issue), D402-8.
  doi:gkm957 [pii]

- Vandierendonck, A., Kemps, E., Fastame, M. C., & Szmalec, A. (2004). Working memory components of the corsi blocks task. *British Journal of Psychology*, *95*(1), 57-79.
- Wager, T. D., & Smith, E. E. (2003). Neuroimaging studies of working memory. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience, 3*(4), 255-274.
- Wagner, A. D., Maril, A., Bjork, R. A., & Schacter, D. L. (2001). Prefrontal contributions to executive control: FMRI evidence for functional distinctions within lateral prefrontal cortex. *Neuroimage*, 14(6), 1337-1347.
- Watson, D., & Clark, L. A. (1984). Negative affectivity: The disposition to experience aversive emotional states. *Psychological Bulletin*, 96(3), 465.
- Welford, A. T. (1952). The 'psychological refractory period'and the timing of high-speed performance—a review and a theory. *British Journal of Psychology.General Section*, 43(1), 2-19.
- Wilkowski, B. M., & Robinson, M. D. (2008). The cognitive basis of trait anger and reactive aggression: An integrative analysis. *Personality and Social Psychology Review : An Official Journal of the Society for Personality and Social Psychology, Inc, 12*(1), 3-21. doi:10.1177/1088868307309874 [doi]
- Yerkes, R. M., & Dodson, J. D. (1908). The relation of strength of stimulus to rapidity of habit-formation. *Journal of Comparative Neurology and Psychology*, 18(5), 459-482.
- Young, G. C., & Martin, M. (1981). Processing of information about self by neurotics. British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 20(3), 205-212.

- Zald, D. H., Mattson, D. L., & Pardo, J. V. (2002). Brain activity in ventromedial prefrontal cortex correlates with individual differences in negative affect. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(4), 2450-2454. doi:10.1073/pnas.042457199 [doi]
- Zarantonello, M., Slaymaker, F., Johnson, J., & Petzel, T. (1984). Effects of anxiety and depression on anagram performance, ratings of cognitive interference, and the negative subjective evaluation of performance. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *40*(1), 20-25.
- Zawadzki, B., Strelau, J., Szczepaniak, P., & Śliwińska, M. (1998). Personality inventory NEO-FFI by costa and McCrae. *Textbook.Warsaw: Psychological Test Lab PTP*,

# **APPENDICES**

Appendix A: a screening sheet that includes participant's information and psychiatric and neurologic history of participants

### **SCREENEND BY:**

SCREENING DATE:

## SCREENING QUESTIONNAIRE

Name:	Occupation:		
Date of Birth:	Age:		
Sex: M / F	Handedness: R/ L/ Both:		
School leaving age:	Further education:		
1. Are fluent in English? Not very well 1—2 3—4—5 6 7 – English is my first language			
<ol><li>Do you drive? (if yes, please state ho many hour/per week you drive)</li></ol>	Do you drive? (if yes, please state how many years you have been driving for and how many hour/per week you drive)		
<ol> <li>Have you ever visited a psychiatrist, details)</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>Have you ever visited a psychiatrist, psychologist or neurologist? (if yes, please give details)</li> </ul>		
<ol> <li>Do you have a history of epilepsy or</li> <li>Are you currently taking medication?</li> </ol>	diabetes? ? (if yes, then please give details)		
6. Do you smoke? (if yes, how many cig	garettes/ per day)		
7. Do you have any sight or hearing problems?			
8. Do you have any difficulties with rea	ding or writing such as dyslexia?		
9. Are you (do you think you may be) p	regnant? Y/N N/A		
10. Is there any relevant medical/other i	information you have not told us about?		
(E.g. completed psychology tests, far	miliar with computer games)		
Appendix B: alcohol and caffeine survey that	t is used for exclusion criteria		

Date:_____

### Alcohol Survey

1.	Have you ever felt you ought to cut down your drinking?	Yes / No
	, , , , , ,	
2.	Have people annoyed you by criticising your drinking?	Yes / No
3.	Have you ever felt bad or guilty about your drinking?	Yes / No
	Very service band a deich first thing is the second standard service service and sid of	
4.	Have you ever hand a drink first thing in the morning to steady your nerves or get hid of	
	hangover?	

### Caffeine Survey

<ul> <li>2. How many cups of coffee do you drink per day?</li> <li>Do you drink decaffeinated coffee? Y / N</li> <li>3. How many cups of hot chocolate do you drink per day?</li> <li>4. How many cans of fizzy soft drinks (caffeinated) e.g. coke, do you drink per day?</li> <li>5. How many cans of sports drink e.g. Lucozade do you drink per day?</li> </ul>	1.	How many cups of tea do you drink per day?	
Do you drink decaffeinated coffee?       Y / N         3. How many cups of hot chocolate do you drink per day?       Image: Comparison of the third of	2.	How many cups of coffee do you drink per day?	
<ul> <li>3. How many cups of hot chocolate do you drink per day?</li> <li>4. How many cans of fizzy soft drinks (caffeinated) e.g. coke, do you drink per day?</li> <li>5. How many cans of sports drink e.g. Lucozade do you drink per day?</li> </ul>		Do you drink decaffeinated coffee? Y / N	
<ul> <li>4. How many cans of fizzy soft drinks (caffeinated) g.g. coke, do you drink per day?</li> <li>5. How many cans of sports drink e.g. Lucozade do you drink per day?</li> </ul>	З.	How many cups of hot chocolate do you drink per day?	
5. How many cans of sports drink e.g. Lucozade do you drink per day?	4.	How many cans of fizzy soft drinks (caffeinated) g.g coke, do you drink per day?	
	5.	How many cans of sports drink e.g. Lucozade do you drink per day?	

Appendix C: an example of Ishara colour blind test that is used for exclusion criteria


Appendix D: Neuroticism scale of EPQ which is used for recruitment of high and low neurotics.

INSTRUCTIONS: Please answer each question by putting a circle around the "YES" or "NO" following the questions. There are no right or wrong answers, and no trick questions. Work quickly and do not think too long about the exact meaning of the questions.

### PLEASE REMEMBER TO ANSWER EACH QUESTION

- 1. Does your mood often go up and down? YES / NO
- 2. Do you ever feel 'just miserable' for no reason? YES / NO
- 3. Do you often worry about things you should not have done or said? YES / NO
- 4. Are you an irritable person? YES / NO
- 5. Are your feelings easily hurt? YES / NO
- 6. Do you often feel 'fed up'? YES / NO
- 7. Are you often troubled about feelings of guilt? YES / NO
- 8. Would you call yourself a nervous person? YES / NO
- 9. Are you a worrier? YES / NO
- 10. Do you worry about awful things that might happen? YES / NO
- 11. Would you call yourself tense or 'highly strung'? YES / NO
- 12. Do you worry about your health? YES / NO
- 13. Do you suffer from sleeplessness? YES / NO
- 14. Have you often felt listless and tired for no reason? YES / NO
- 15. Do you often feel life is dull? YES / NO
- 16. Do you worry a lot about your looks? YES / NO
- 17. Have you ever wished that you were dead? YES / NO
- 18. Do you worry too long after an embarrassing experience? YES / NO
- 19. Do you suffer from nerves? YES / NO
- 20. Do you often feel lonely? YES / NO
- 21. Are you easily hurt when people find a fault with you or the work you do? YES / NO
- 22. Are you sometimes bubbling over with energy and sometimes very sluggish? YES / NO
- 23. Are you touchy about some things? YES / NO
- 24. When your temper rises, do you find it difficult to control? YES / NO

Appendix E: An example of consent form which is used in the cantab and dual task experiments.



## CONSENT FORM

# Neuroticism Related Differences on Cognitive Processing of Dual Task in Healthy Volunteers

The participant should complete the whole of this sheet			
Please tic	ise tick the appropriate box		
	YES	NO	
Have you read the Research Participant Information Sheet?			
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?			
Have you received satisfactory answers to all your questions?			
Do you understand that you will not be referred to by name in any report <u>concerning</u> the study?			
Do you understand that you are free to withdraw from the study:			
<ul> <li>at any time?</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>without having to give a reason for withdrawing?</li> </ul>			
Do you agree to take part in this study?			
Signature of Research Participant:			
Date:			
Name in capitals:			

Researcher name: Rahmi Saylik	Signature:
Supervisor name: André Szameitat	Signature:

Appendix F: An example of debriefing form for dual tasks that is given to participants after completion of the experiments.

#### DEBRIEFING FORM:

#### The effects of neuroticism on dual task cognitive processing in healthy volunteers

There are a number of findings related to why neurotics may have cognitive impairments. For example, stress and working memory load may cause slower processing of cognitive tasks (Eysenck, Derakshan, Santos, and Calvo, 2007). This interference may be caused by limited resources of WM system (Eysenck, Derakshan, Santos, and Calvo, 2007). However, no studies to date have assessed effect of working memory load on cognitive processing in the context of psychological refractory period (PRP) dual-task paradigm in highly neurotic never depressed group. The present study is aimed to explore Neuroticism-related differences in the PRP-paradigm.

Dual task is defined as performing two tasks concurrently. Dual-task can take place when someone tries to perform two tasks simultaneously, switch from one task to another, or perform two or more tasks in rapid succession.

The Eysenck Personality questionnaire (EPQ) is a questionnaire used to assess personality traits. It is measured along three dimensions: Extraversion/Introversion, Neuroticism/Stability, and Psychoticism/Socialization.

The hypothesis to be tested is that individuals with high scores on the neuroticism scale of the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ) will have higher dual task cost compared to individuals with lower scores on neuroticism when working memory load increases in dual task PRP paradigm.

#### The following studies, on the above topic, might be of interest to you:

Matthews, G., & Davies, D. R. (2001). Individual differences in energetic arousal and sustained attention: A dual-task study. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 31(4), 575-589.

Studer-Luethi, B., Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., & Perrig, W. J. (2012). Influence of neuroticism and conscientiousness on working memory training outcome. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 53(1), 44-49

We would like to thank you again for your participation in this study. Please feel free to contact Rahmi SAYLIK <u>hspgrrs@brunel.ac.uk</u> via email.